Where Goes the Housing Ladder? Residential Mobility and Housing Tenure Outcomes Among Canadian Households

by

Meryn Severson Mason

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Arts

Department of Sociology

University of Alberta

© Meryn Severson Mason, 2023

Abstract

Canada has a highly tenure-discriminatory housing system where ownership has been privileged and supported in policy while renting has been discouraged and disinvested, contributing to widening social and economic inequality based on housing tenure. Residential mobility, or moving homes, is a key mechanism of change in housing outcomes both in our individual lives and in the housing market. However, despite the key role of housing in patterns of inequality and the importance of residential mobility in achieving housing outcomes, the relationship between residential mobility and housing is underexplored in Canada. This thesis seeks to explore the unequal relationship between mobility experiences and housing tenure outcomes for Canadian households. Drawing from broader life course theory and specifically from the housing transitions framework, I use new data from the 2018 Canadian Housing Survey in a series of descriptive figures and multinomial regression models to explore how residential mobility patterns differ across housing tenure; how past tenure and mobility experiences are associated with current tenure outcomes; and how this relationship differs across income quintiles, age groups, and differences in health status.

I highlight the discrepancy between the normative and idealized conceptualization of the housing ladder that underpins Canadian housing policy and the reality of households' housing and mobility experiences. While there was a clustering of more positive and controlled mobility experiences and owned tenures and more negative and involuntary mobility experiences and rental tenures, there were also differences based on the presence of a mortgage or renting in social and affordable housing. The results reinforce the housing and mobility process as a contributor and reflection of growing inequality between owners and renters, but also within

ii

owners based on mortgage status – which is particularly important in light of rising interest rates and increasing risks in the housing market. The results also highlight how income, age, and health status mediates the relationship between past tenure and mobility experiences and current tenure, with households who face more structural constraints having a different choice set than households who face fewer structural constraints. This has important repercussions considering how housing and mobility experiences accumulate across of cumulative advantage and disadvantage. Housing and mobility experiences accumulate across the life course, enabling and constraining future opportunities. Further, the relationship between housing and mobility is produced by the tenure discriminatory housing system, and not inherent to the behaviour of owners and renters, nor to housing tenure itself, and thus can be changed. I suggest several policy implications, overall suggesting that Canadian housing policy should seek to enable choice in the housing and mobility relationship – both the choice to move or to stay and the choice of where and how to live – both of which aligns with a more tenure equal housing system.

Acknowledgements

I have been supported and uplifted throughout the process of writing this thesis.

I have been so fortunate to have amazing mentors throughout my academic and applied career. Thank you to my undergraduate and graduate thesis supervisor, Dr. Michelle Maroto, who supported me from when we met in in Introduction to Social Statistics as a second-year undergraduate student, offered me RA and TA-ships to further my experiences, and worked with me to find a way to do graduate school that fit with the rest of my life. Thank you to my former director, Esther de Vos, who welcomed me into the social and affordable housing sector, encouraged and developed my policy analysis and applied research skills, and whose own doctoral dissertation inspired and informed this thesis work. And thank you to my current manager, Jody Wolfe, who welcomed me into the broader social sector, allows me to explore new topics and ideas, and encourages and coaches my strategic thinking and problem-solving skills. Thank you all for your patience and support and for being so flexible and accommodating throughout this process!

Thank you to my thesis committee, Dr. Nicole Denier and Dr. Rob Aitken, for your thoughtful engagement in this process that has improved this thesis.

Thank you to my many friends and colleagues who checked in with me on how the writing was going, were always up to talk through findings, and encouraged me that this work was meaningful.

Thank you to my family – to my parents, Truman and Kim, my sister Thaya, my in-laws Dean and Lorraine, and my sister-in-law Courtney who supported me and Denver in balancing life and work and graduate school for the past three years.

Thank you most of all to my husband, Denver, whose experience literally shaped this thesis (see section 1.2 of chapter 1). Thank you for your support and encouragement and for always helping me remember my priorities in life.

This work was supported by a SSHRC CGS-M Award.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	iv
Table of Contents	v
List of Tables	viii
List of Figures	ix
Executive Summary	
Key Findings	
Policy Implications	
1 Introduction	1
1.1 Research Questions and Approach 1.2 Situating Myself: Positionality and Reflexivity in Quantitative Research	
1.2 Structure Myself. Positionality and Reflexivity in Quantitative Research	
2 Conceptual Framework – Residential Mobility and Housing Tenure	
2.1 Life Course Theory, Housing, and Residential Mobility	
2.1.1 Why the life course?	
2.1.2 Why life course theory and residential mobility?	
2.1.3 Life course perspectives on residential mobility and housing	
2.2 The Housing Choice Process	
2.3 Residential Mobility, Housing Outcomes, and Inequality	
2.3.1 Residential Mobility and Housing	
2.3.2 Housing and Inequality	
2.4 Summary of Conceptual Framework	
3 Policy Context – The Housing System in Canada and Residential Mobility	
3.1 Residential Mobility and Policy: Impacts and Orientations	
3.2 Canadian Context – Housing System and Residential Mobility	
3.2.1 Ownership	
3.2.2 Private Rental	
3.2.3 Social and Affordable Housing	
3.3 Residential Mobility, Housing, and Policy Development Implications	
4 Analysis Strategy	55
4.1 Data	
4.2 Methods	
4.3 Measures	
4.3.1 Dependent Variable	
4.3.2 Predictor Variables	
4.3.3 Control Variables	-
4.4 Summary of Analytical Strategy	
5 Residential Mobility Patterns by Housing Tenure	
5.1 When did people move and when are they planning to move?	
5.1.1 Residency Length by Current Housing Tenure	
5.1.2 Mobility Intentions by Current Housing Tenure	
5.2 How have people moved and how are they planning to move?	
5.2.1 Past Tenure by Current Tenure	

	5.2.2	Future Tenure Expectations by Current Tenure	
	5.2.3	Future Tenure, Past Tenure, and Current Tenure Pathways	83
	5.3	Why have people moved?	
	5.3.1	Reasons for Moving by Current Housing Tenure	
	5.3.2	Housing Reasons by Current Tenure Outcomes	89
	5.3.3	Family Reasons by Current Tenure	91
	5.3.4	Work and Other Reasons by Current Tenure	
	5.4	Bringing it together – Mobility Patterns by Housing Tenure	
6	Explo	ring the Relationship Between Residential Mobility and Current Tenure Outcomes	97
	6.1	Composition of Current Housing Tenure Groups	
	6.1.1	Owners without a mortgage	100
	6.1.2	Owner with a mortgage	
	6.1.3	Renters in private rental tenure	103
	6.1.4	Renter in social & affordable housing	
	6.1.5	Summary of Current Tenure Groups	
	6.2	Model Results - Current Tenure Outcomes	
	6.2.1	Residential Mobility and Previous Tenure (Housing History) Variables	
	6.2.2	Other Housing Transitions Factors (Interaction Variables)	
	6.2.3	Controls	
	6.3	Predicted Probabilities of Current Tenure Outcomes by Key Variables	
	6.3.1	Housing History Variables	
	6.3.2	Housing Transitions Proxies (Interaction Variables)	
	6.4	Summary – Past tenure and mobility experiences and current tenure outcomes	
7	Diffe	rences in Housing Tenure Outcomes and Residential Mobility Across Groups	134
	7.1	Current Tenure Outcomes by Income Quintile	
	7.1.1	Composition of Income Quintile	
	7.1.2	Predicted Probabilities by Income Quintile	
	7.1.3	Summary of Differences by Income Quintile	
	7.2	Current Tenure Outcomes by Age Groups	
	7.2.1	Composition of Age Groups	
	7.2.2	Predicted Probabilities by Age Group	
	7.2.3	Summary of Differences by Age Group	
	7.3	Current Tenure by Health Status	
	7.3.1	Composition of Health Status Groups	
	7.3.2	Predicted Probabilities by Health Status	
	7.3.3	Summary of differences by health status	
	7.4	Summary of differences in tenure outcomes across groups	
8	Discu	ssion – Choice, Control and Agency in the Housing and Mobility Relationship	
	8.1	The (unequal) fallacy of housing choice and the distribution of constraints	
	8.2	To move or not to move? Who even gets to ask	
	8.3	Health status: constraining or enabling housing and mobility	
	8.4	Where goes the "housing ladder"? The unequal housing transitions of Canadians	
9	Conc	lusion	193
	9.1	Policy Implications	
	9.1.1	Housing policy is not just housing policy	
	9.1.2	Consider housing holistically	
	9.1.3	The unequal distribution of risks and vulnerabilities	199
	9.1.4 <i>9.2</i>	The inadequacy of the housing ladder Limitations and Future Research	

References	207
Package Citations	224
Appendix A – Average Marginal Effects for Interaction Models Presented in Chapter 7	227
A.1 Income Quintiles	
9.2.1 First Income Quintile	227
9.2.2 Third Income Quintile	229
9.2.3 Fifth Income Quintile	231
A.2 Age Groups	233
9.2.4 Youngest 9.2.5 Middle	233
9.2.5 Middle	235
9.2.6 Oldest	237
A.3 Health Status	
9.2.7 Health rated excellent, very good or good	239
9.2.8 Health rated fair or poor	

List of Tables

Table 2.1: Summary of Models of Housing and Residential Mobility over the Life Course	16
Table 3.1 Summary of Canadian Housing Policy Instruments by Level of Government	41
Table 4.1 Descriptive Statistics for Total Sample, Canadian Housing Survey, 2018	58
Table 4.2 R packages used in the analysis	62
Table 4.3 Summary of Research Questions and Methods	63
Table 6.1 Weighted Descriptive Statistics By Current Tenure Outcomes	98
Table 6.2 Multinomial Regression Results Predicting Current Tenure Outcomes, Odds Ratios	107
Table 6.3 Average Marginal Effects for Multinomial Model Predicting Current Tenure Outcomes	108
Table 7.1 Weighted Descriptive Statistics By Income Quintiles	136
Table 7.2 Weighted Descriptive Statistics By Age Groups	149
Table 7.3 Weighted Descriptive Statistics By Self-Reported Health Status	161
Table A.1: Average Marginal Effects for Multinomial Model Predicting Current Tenure For First Income Qu	uintile
	227
Table A.2 Average Marginal Effects for Multinomial Model Predicting Current Tenure Outcomes for the T	hird
Income Quintile	229
Table A.3 Average Marginal Effects for Multinomial Model Predicting Current Tenure Outcomes for the Fi	ifth
Income Quintile	231
Table A.4 Average Marginal Effects for Multinomial Model Predicting Current Tenure Outcomes for Youn	gest
Age Group	233
Table A.5 Average Marginal Effects for Multinomial Model Predicting Current Tenure Outcomes for Midd	le Age
Group	235
Table A.6 Average Marginal Effects for Multinomial Model Predicting Current Tenure Outcomes for Oldes	it
Group	237
Table A.7 Average Marginal Effects for Multinomial Model Predicting Current Tenure Outcomes Where H	ealth
Rated Excellent, Very Good or Good	239
Table A.8 Average Marginal Effects for Multinomial Model Predicting Current Tenure Outcomes Where H	ealth
Rated Fair or Poor	241

List of Figures

Figure 5.1: Percentage Of Households By Housing Tenure And Residency Length	78
Figure 5.2 Percentage Of Households By Housing Tenure And Intentions To Move	79
Figure 5.3 Percentage Of Households By Current And Past Housing Tenure	81
Figure 5.4 Percentage Of Households By Current Tenure Outcomes And Future Housing Tenure Expectations	83
Figure 5.5 Flow Of Households From Past Tenure Outcomes To Current Tenure Outcomes And To Future Ten	ure
Expectations	84
Figure 5.6 Percentage Of Households By Reasons For Moving And Current Tenure Outcomes	88
Figure 5.7 Percentage Of Households By Housing-Related Reasons For Moving And Current Tenure Outcome	s 90
Figure 5.8 Percentage Of Households By Family-Related Reasons For Moving And Current Tenure Outcomes	91
Figure 5.9 Percentage Of Households By Work And Other Related Reasons For Moving And Current Tenure	93
Figure 6.1 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Previous Housing Tenure	121
Figure 6.2 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Length Of Time In Current Dwelling	123
Figure 6.3 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure Outcomes By Reasons For Moving	124
Figure 6.4 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Income Quintiles	126
Figure 6.5 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Age (Years)	128
Figure 6.6 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Self-Rated Health	130
Figure 7.1 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Previous Housing Tenure Separated By Income Quintil	e139
Figure 7.2 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Length Of Time In Current Dwelling Separated By Income	
Quintile	141
Figure 7.3 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Reasons For Moving Separated By Income Quintile	143
Figure 7.4 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Age (Years) Separated By Income Quintile	145
Figure 7.5 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Self-Reported Health Status Separated By Income Quin	ntile
	147
Figure 7.6 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Previous Housing Tenure Separated By Age Group	152
Figure 7.7 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Length Of Time In Current Dwelling Separated By Age	
Group	154
Figure 7.8 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Reasons For Moving Separated By Age Group	155
Figure 7.9 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Income Quintiles Separated By Age Group	157
Figure 7.10 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Self-Reported Health Status Separated By Age Group	159
Figure 7.11 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Previous Housing Tenure Separated By Self-Rated Health	
Status	165
Figure 7.12 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Length Of Time In Current Dwelling Separated By Self	f-
Rated Health Status	167

Figure 7.13 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Reasons For Moving Separated By Self-Rated Health		
Status	168	
Figure 7.14 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Income Quintiles Separated By Self-Rated Health Status		
	170	
Figure 7.15 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Age (Years) Separated By Self-Rated Health Status	171	

Executive Summary

Housing and residential mobility are closely linked and implicated in broader patterns of social and economic inequality across the life course. They are mechanisms of cumulative advantage and disadvantage across the life course, so that households that move for more positive reasons tends to experience other positive outcomes and are then better placed to make another positive move, while households that move for more negative or involuntary reasons tend to experience other negative outcomes which accumulate over time – and which is unequally linked to housing tenure. Across a number of Western countries with similar tenure-discriminatory systems as Canada, renters are more likely to move more often for more negative outcomes a result, while homeowners tend to move more slowly into more advantaged neighbourhoods, exacerbating social and economic inequality between owners and renters.

These differences are *structurally produced* by the way that tenure is treated in housing policy, not by compositional or behavioural difference inherent to owners and renters. Research highlights that differential patterns of mobility across housing tenure are produced by the differential way that tenure is treated in housing policy, so in countries with more tenure-equal policies and more protections for renters, households display more similar mobility patterns and outcomes across housing tenure. Conversely, in tenure discriminatory countries like Canada, where ownership is privileged over renting, renting is made into a more precarious tenure and renters move more frequently for more forced and involuntary reasons.

However, the housing and residential mobility relationship has rarely been explored explicitly in the Canadian context in policy or in research due to data gaps. This knowledge gap is important in part because the relationship between housing and mobility is so intwined, it have become implicit or expected. For example, the "housing career" or "housing ladder" concept that underpins Western, Anglophone housing systems like Canada highlights the housing outcomes of moves, while the movement part itself is implicit – despite mobility being the actual mechanism of these outcomes and thus the pivot that is being affected by context and by policy.

The thesis explores the relationship between residential mobility and housing tenure outcomes with a focus on connections to inequality and implications for housing policy. More specifically, I address five research questions:

- 1. How do residential mobility patterns differ by housing tenure?
- 2. How are past tenure and mobility experiences associated with current housing tenure?
- 3. How does the relationship between past tenure and mobility experiences and current housing tenure vary based on income, age, and health status?
- 4. How does the relationship between residential mobility and housing contribute to inequality in Canada?
- 5. What are the implications for housing policy and practice?

I use new Statistics Canada data from the 2018 Canadian Housing Survey in a series of descriptive figures and multinomial regression models. I focus on current housing tenure outcomes that move beyond the owning-renting binary, exploring four current housing tenures: owning without a mortgage, owning with a mortgage, renting in the private market, and renting in social and affordable housing. I draw from life course theory and from the housing transitions framework, considering how housing and mobility are embedded within the life course and connected across micro-, meso-, and macro-level opportunities and constraints that shape how people move through the housing system.

Key Findings

- When looking at tenure trajectories across past, current, and future tenure, there is very little tenure change experienced or expected. Most current owners were previously owners and are planning to stay as owners, while most renters were previously renters and are planning to stay as renters. This is reinforced through the positive associations between past and current tenure in the multinomial models that demonstrate how difficult it is to change tenures, which have been treated as distinct forms of housing in most Canadian housing policy.
- Despite the precarity of renting both in the private market and in social and affordable housing, an estimated 2.8 million privately renting households and over 415,000 renters

in social and affordable housing are not planning to move or to move and rent again. These households will not be assisted by the myriad of policies to support owneroccupiers and to encourage the development of owned homes. This also challenges the conceptualization of private renting as a transitional, time-limited stop on the way to homeownership.

- More positive variables such as higher rated satisfaction, having moved for housing reasons, and having a higher income – are usually positively associated with owning and negatively associated with renting. More negative aspects – such as having moved for forced reasons, being dissatisfied or very dissatisfied with their dwelling and having lower income – are both more often positively associated with private renting but also tended to have larger average marginal effects. This indicates not only that renters experience more negative or involuntary moves and more negative housing experiences than owners but also that these negative experiences have bigger effects for renters compared to owners.
- Further, in many cases, the average marginal effects are larger among private renters than renters in social and affordable housing, suggesting that it is renting privately that has become more precarious and more residualized compared to renting in social and affordable housing in the tenure-discriminatory context of the Canadian housing system.
- There are clear signs of income segregation in the relationship between mobility and housing on either side of the income distribution. For most variables, it is only in the third (middle) income quintile that the relationships with the mobility, tenure, and interaction variables that was illustrated at the population level become apparent.
- There was greater disparity in the predicted tenure outcomes across income quintiles in the youngest age group compared to the oldest age group. This highlights issues of intragenerational inequality along intergenerational tenure lines and how housing transitions have impacts not only on the life course of current generations but of future generations through linked lives.

Poorer rated health had a depressing effect on many of the variables so that the
predicted probabilities of renting, both in the private market and in social and
affordable housing, are always elevated relative to households with better rated health.
This is not to say that renting is inherently negative or problematic, but in a tenure
discriminatory housing system where ownership is privileged and associated with other
rights and positive outcomes, limited access to ownership and concentration in rental
tenures contributes to broader disparities across the life course.

Policy Implications

The uneven distribution of the housing and residential mobility relationship is also important as the implicit (and explicit) conception of how this relationship should work is built into social and economic policy. The findings in this thesis problematize the idea of the "housing ladder", instead demonstrating more diverse housing transitions that are unequally shaped by structural constraints and opportunities.

For some households, there are signs of the normative housing ladder, but even then, there are disparities that are structured by housing and demonstrate the cumulative effects of housing and mobility. This appears to be the case for middle income households, younger households, and households with better rated health. In other words, for these households, the differential treatment of housing tenure in the Canadian housing system is clearly demonstrated, with the structural differences in how secure or precarious tenure has been made playing a key role in the patterns across past tenure and mobility experiences.

For many households, the ladder is missing rungs, making it increasingly difficult to move into an owned home, and the rungs keep changing as the cumulative effects of their housing and mobility experiences intersect with the macro-level housing system. This is the experience for many low-income households, many older households, and households with poorer reported health, who are more likely to be renting in private rental or social and affordable housing. In other words, these households had more constraints and fewer resources to overcome structural and contextual factors in the housing system and had been made more vulnerable to unplanned and reactive moves, the outcomes of which accumulate across the life course.

And then for some households, there is no ladder, because there is no need for a ladder. This is the case for high-income households and for many middle-aged households. The housing outcomes of high-income households who face fewer constraints and more opportunities vary little across any variable, almost always resulting in owning with a mortgage. In other words, these households had fewer constraints and more resources to express their agency and overcome structural and contextual factors in the housing system, including high housing prices. These households thus had the most opportunities to take advantage of the differential treatment of ownership and enter the housing market, pay down their mortgage, and transfer wealth to future generations – increasing inequality within generations along tenure lines.

The (lack of) housing ladder for many Canadian households is particularly important because the idea of the housing ladder and its normative and discursive relationship between housing and mobility underpins Canadian housing policy. This suggests that policy based on this conceptualization is and will be inadequate to meet Canadians' housing needs. This premise has important implications considering the cumulative effects of housing and mobility outcomes across the life course as part of processes of cumulative advantage and disadvantage. Based on this, I suggest four high level policy implications:

- Housing policy is not just housing policy. It is not just housing policy that is visible in these findings. Finance policies, labour market policies, land use policies, transportation policies, and health policies are all implicated as households respond to pressures in these policy areas through their housing and mobility choices, which are unevenly available to households.
- Consider housing holistically. Not only is the housing system interdependent with other policy areas, but the housing system is interdependent across housing tenure groups which has not traditionally been the way Canadian policy has been developed.
- The unequal distribution of risks and vulnerabilities. While renters have faced more of the risks of the transformation of social policy towards housing-based asset-based

welfare for many years, there are also increasing and unequal risks among homeowners. Newer and younger homeowners with mortgages now face a very different economic and social context than previous homeowners. These vulnerabilities are not intrinsic to these more mortgaged households but are also produced by this tenure discriminatory housing system where households have been discursively and materially encouraged to own, and in doing so, may have traded temporary security for longer term insecurity.

 The inadequacy of the housing ladder. The main implication is the idea of the "housing ladder" that is core to asset-based welfare and the Canadian policy system and is implicitly and explicitly build on the conceptualization of a linear housing and mobility relationship is not meeting the needs of many Canadians.

Overall, Canadian housing policy should seek to enable choice in the housing and mobility relationship – both the choice to move or to stay and the choice of where and how to live – both of which aligns with a more tenure equal housing system. This involves both material and ideological changes to our relationship with housing and the relationship between housing and residential mobility embedded in our housing system. Changes in the housing system will have wide-ranging effects across our social and economic systems. These are very real and very practical and very complex challenges, but the alternative is ongoing, cumulative social and economic inequality that is rooted in our relationship to housing and reinforced through the mobility process.

1 Introduction

Residential mobility and housing are closely linked, both in our communities and in our individual lives, and are key to change at macro, meso, and micro scales. Housing is both a major driver and outcome of the residential mobility process (Clark, 2012). Residential mobility is a key mechanism of change in our individual lives and in our communities. It is the 'engine of the housing market' (Clark, 2012, p. 2) and critical to well-functioning and efficient labour and housing markets (Caldera Sánchez & Andrews, 2011; Ong et al., 2017). Residential mobility drives population growth, especially in aging countries and cities with low to no natural increase, and is important for economic growth (Frost, 2020). It is also important in our individual lives. Where we live – both the housing and neighbourhoods we live in – impacts our life chances, our health, and our wealth (Galster & Sharkey, 2017). Housing is also generally part of a bigger life plan (see e.g., Severson & Collins, 2020), and mobility is one of the mechanisms that enables housing change in our lives.

Critically, mobility is both affected by and reinforces inequality (Galster & Sharkey, 2017; Lee et al., 2015). Moving is not inherently positive or negative but differential mobility outcomes occur in large part due to the discursive and normative way that residential mobility is tied to housing and housing tenure particularly (Coulter et al., 2016). Renters are more likely to move than homeowners across many Western countries (Clark, 2012, 2013; Clark et al., 2014). This is partly as a function of other household characteristics that influence mobility and housing choices, including age, marital status, parental status, and economic security (Clark, 2012). However, this relationship is also mediated by broader policy decisions on tenure, housing stock availability, costs of housing, and security of tenure (Dieleman, 2001; Mulder & Hooimeijer, 1999). While housing tenure might technically refer to the legal relationship to the housing we occupy and has most often been defined through the owner-renter binary, tenure has come be more broadly materially and discursively associated with a host of outcomes (Zavisca & Gerber, 2016; Zhang, 2021) – including mobility.

As such, it is not just that renters are more likely to move, but that they are more likely to move into more disadvantaged places (Baker et al., 2016; Clark et al., 2014; Denier, 2017). Renters

are also more likely to move for forced or involuntary reasons (Hatch, 2021) and face more economic insecurity and negative health outcomes as a result (Desmond & Kimbro, 2015). Homeowners, however, tend to move more slowly, for voluntary reasons, and into more advantaged neighbourhoods (Baker et al., 2016; Clark et al., 2006), exacerbating inequalities between owners and renters. Housing itself drives mobility – such as the desire to move a bigger home, to change neighbourhoods, to change tenures – as well as structuring the choices and resources available to make these moves (Clark, 2012; Clark & Maas, 2015; Coulter et al., 2016; Coulter & Scott, 2015). Households do not have the same housing choices available and many make constrained housing choices that may not reflect their preferences (Preece et al., 2020).

Importantly, it is not just current housing outcomes that impact mobility and our choices, but the accumulation of housing experiences over our life course (Beer & Faulkner, 2011). These mobility and housing experiences accumulate and impact future housing outcomes unequally across housing tenure. At the same time, housing tenure exists beyond the owner-renter binary, and the experience of housing tenure is changing in the context of neoliberalism and financialization (Zavisca & Gerber, 2016; Zhang, 2021). Housing is therefore strongly implicated in structuring these outcomes of mobility and as an outcome itself with impacts on inequality, with implications across the life course.

The link between mobility and housing, especially tenure, is important in the context of tenure discriminatory housing systems that privilege one form of housing tenure over another and provide different rights and benefits based on tenure (Arundel & Ronald, 2021; Christophers, 2019; Hulchanski, 2004). As homeowners have been privileged in housing policy (Christophers, 2019), they tend to live in better quality and better located housing than private renters or renters in social and affordable housing (Claveau, 2020). Homeowners also hold more wealth than renters (Causa et al., 2019). Wealth inequality, which is higher and more durable than income inequality (Causa et al., 2019; Maroto, 2016), is largely driven by housing wealth (Arundel, 2017). In homeowning societies like Canada, residential property is the most commonly held and usually the largest asset, and it has grown as a proportion of net worth (Walks et al., 2018). As housing is spatially located in neighbourhoods, wealth inequality is

embedded in our neighbourhoods and communities. Neighbourhoods in Canada are increasingly unequal and polarized along income and wealth lines which maps onto housing tenure lines (Walks, 2013, 2014b, 2016). Thus, the differential treatment of housing tenure in policy has led to socio-tenure segregation and increasingly different experiences based on tenure (Suttor, 2015), which links to broader economic and social inequality (Christophers, 2019).

Housing (and tenure) inequality has increasing importance in light of welfare state restructuring where access to homeownership has become critical to support economic wellbeing and security (Doling & Ronald, 2010; Malpass, 2008). Most Western countries have built their housing systems around the idea of a housing career that ends in homeownership, while also restructuring the welfare state towards housing- and asset-based welfare that relies on access to homeownership and wealth for wellbeing (Christophers, 2019; Doling & Ronald, 2010; Ronald, 2008; Walks, 2014a). The idea of housing careers which underpins this system implicitly favours one relationship between residential mobility and housing – linearly and planfully moving in the pursuit of homeownership into bigger and better dwellings, until eventually downsizing out of choice – which is increasingly out of touch with the life course of Western households now (Arundel & Ronald, 2021; Beer & Faulkner, 2011; Smith et al., 2022).

This is important to consider in the context of Canada's tenure discriminatory housing system that favours homeowners over renters (Hulchanski, 2004; Loptson, 2017). Canada has aggressively pursued the norm of owner-occupied housing, resulting in a tenure discriminatory housing system with much more support for homeownership (Hulchanski, 2004). Unlike the UK, US, Australia, and New Zealand, Canada did not see major declines in prices nor homeownership rates after the 2008/2009 Global Financial Crisis and sub-prime mortgage crisis brought on by the financialization of housing (Aalbers, 2008). Instead, part of the response to the Global Financial Crisis in Canada was to increase access to homeownership and maintain housing prices through increased financialization (Walks, 2014a; Walks & Clifford, 2015). Canada has since seen some of the largest increases in homeownership rates, housing prices, and household debt amongst OECD countries (Cheung, 2014) and has not (yet) seen major declines in young adult homeownership rates (Maroto & Severson, 2020; Walks et al., 2018). Conversely, households who are renting often face high rents, low vacancy rates, limited protections, and aging housing in need of repairs (Suttor, 2015) with less choice and policy support in the decision to move or not compared to owners. Issues of affordability, quality, and overcrowding are also centralized among renters (Claveau, 2020), who have not had the same policy focus as homeowners (Christophers, 2019; Hulchanski, 2004). Renters in social and affordable housing face a disconnected and outdated regulatory system that was not designed to support wellbeing, increasing conditionality to access and maintain housing, and housing with significant deferred maintenance needs (de Vos, 2022; Suttor, 2016).

Overall, while residential mobility is not only about housing, it is *always* about housing. People move for many reasons, but moving will always involve choices about housing, which are structurally and unequally shaped by the housing system they are part of and which accumulates over their life course. However, the housing and residential mobility relationship has rarely been explored explicitly in the Canadian context in policy or in research. There have been substantial data gaps in exploring this relationship, as residential mobility data in Canada has often not been linked to detailed housing characteristics nor reasons for moving (e.g., Pendakur & Young, 2013). Housing research has mostly used point-in-time census data (e.g., Hou, 2010) or focused on specific-sub populations such as immigrants (e.g., Haan, 2007) to explore housing over the life course. Where housing characteristics like housing tenure have been included, they have had important impacts on the odds of having moved and moving into disadvantaged neighbourhoods (Denier, 2017; Edmonston & Lee, 2014). However, we have also lacked detailed housing data in Canada, and so where housing has been included, it is has typically been limited to renting or owning. Housing is a composite good and cannot be reduced to just tenure (Clark, 2012) and experiences of tenure vary beyond just owning and renting particularly in this socioeconomic context (Zavisca & Gerber, 2016). Further research is needed to explore the relationship between housing and residential mobility beyond the owningrenting binary and consider how this relationship contributes to inequality in Canada, and perhaps more importantly, how this relationship is shaped by and shapes policy so that we can develop policy differently.

1.1 Research Questions and Approach

This thesis addresses the research gap on the relationship between housing and residential mobility in Canada with goals to inform housing policy. The overarching question guiding this thesis considers who wins and who loses through the mobility process, how housing structures this process, and what the implications for policy might be. More specifically, I address five research questions:

- 1. How do residential mobility patterns differ by housing tenure?
- 2. How are past tenure and mobility experiences associated with current housing tenure?
- 3. How does the relationship between past tenure and mobility experiences and current housing tenure vary based on income, age, and health status?
- 4. How does the relationship between residential mobility and housing contribute to inequality in Canada?
- 5. What are the implications for housing policy and practice?

To explore these questions, I use new data collected through the 2018 Canadian Housing Survey (Statistics Canada, 2019b). The Canadian Housing Survey is administered by Statistics Canada in partnership with the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC) that collects information about the housing experiences of a sample of Canadians. Topics covered include core housing need, dwelling and neighborhood satisfaction, housing moves or intentions to move, and other aspects of wellbeing related to housing. Importantly, it is the only Canadian data to include detailed information about previous moves and moving intentions and enables a more detailed analysis of the residential mobility process. For practical reasons, I use the Public Use Microfiles (PUMF), which comes with a few caveats as there are some missing variables and the bootstrap weights are only available in the restricted Research Data Centres. This is discussed in detail in chapter 4.

I explore these five questions both descriptively and inferentially using R Statistical Software in a series of multinomial logistic models that focus on predicting the probability of residing in one of four current housing tenures: owning without a mortgage, owning with a mortgage, renting in the private market, and renting in social and affordable housing. I then disaggregate this model and explore the probability of current housing tenure separately by income groups, age groups, and health status of the household referent person. I analyse these data in R using several packages, including the tidyverse, survey, srvyr, nnet, marginaleffects, and ggeffects packages. More details, including all packages used, are available in chapter 4.

This thesis is broad in nature, as an exploration of the relationship between housing and residential mobility through the Canadian Housing Survey. I intentionally take a holistic, interdependent approach in thinking about housing by exploring multiple forms of tenure (owning with and without a mortgage, renting in the private market, and renting in the social affordable housing sector). I draw on multiple perspectives on the relationship between housing and mobility over the life course, interrogating the dominant and often implicit framework of housing careers (Clark et al., 2003; Kendig, 1984) and drawing from alternatives like the housing pathways model (Clapham, 2002) and primarily the housing transitions framework (Beer & Faulkner, 2011). I also use multiple methods, including a focused chapter on descriptive statistics, multiple multinomial models, and a focused discussion about policy context and implications. However, in taking this broad approach, I recognize that I lose some specificity and sub-analyses that will be very interesting – such as who makes tenure transitions. I also am not taking an internationally comparative approach, which would add to our knowledge of the housing experiences of Canadians. These related questions, while interesting and important, are out of scope for this thesis.

1.2 Situating Myself: Positionality and Reflexivity in Quantitative Research

Reflexive practice as researchers is core to qualitative methods, recognizing how our standpoint and experiences shape our relationship to our research, including the research questions asked, methods used, and themes developed (Gray, 2008), but has not typically been included in the process of quantitative research. There is some work in sociology and geography, my two home disciplines, to bring that reflexive practice to quantitative research as well – particularly in bridging critical and quantitative approaches (Babones, 2016; Barnes, 2009; Jamieson et al., 2023; Kwan & Schwanen, 2009).

I come to this research with many experiences contributing to my decision to study housing and mobility. Before and while working on this thesis, I worked in the affordable housing sector as a policy and research analyst within a policy environment that experienced many challenges including increasing demand, years of disinvestment, and a regulatory framework that has not been updated in more than 30 years, while at the same time providing an important social good for households who are not supported in market housing. I was actually at a housing conference in November 2018 when Statistics Canada presented on the Canadian Housing Survey, which was itself an outcome from the 2017 National Housing Strategy. The new data that was going to made available through the Canadian Housing Survey prompted me to apply for graduate school. This thesis work is directly shaped by this experience of working in and thinking about housing policy and motivated by a desire for a different housing system – one that is more equal and supports more people. In this way, this thesis has a normative and critical lens, and I am being explicit about that and my goals.

I also have worked on this thesis in the ongoing impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, which has sharply illustrated the centrality of housing and health both systemically and personally. I personally have had a dichotomous experience of the pandemic. I own my home (with a mortgage) with my husband. As a privileged homeowner who had space in our 1200 square foot condo in downtown Edmonton, we were able to mitigate many pandemic risks easier than others. I had space to work from home. Partway through the pandemic, my husband developed an auto-immune disorder and was in the hospital, now managing chronic disease. He is immunocompromised and faces far more risks in the pandemic now. Our housing is even more important now in a context of limited pandemic mitigation measures and increased infections. This personal experience has sharply placed health at the forefront of our housing decisions. I am certain that this experience has shaped how I saw the results and the decision to look at mobility and housing across health differences in more detail in chapter 7.

I have also made practical decisions about how to approach this research that has shaped the results. I had initially intended to complete this research using the Canadian Housing Survey in the Research Data Centre because I had intended to look more at neighbourhood-related outcomes, which were only available in the Research Data Centre. This involved applying for access and going through security screening. This process, which is already a limiting factor for researchers (Andrew-Gee & Grant, 2019) was delayed by the pandemic and the Research Data Centre was closed at times. Combined with a changing health situation, my own new role as a

caregiver, and a return to work while completing this thesis, accessing the data in the Research Data Centre was impractical and unfeasible. I revised my research questions to focus more specifically on the housing-mobility relationship, or in other words, the housing transitions of Canadians and how these varied across income, age, and health status.

1.3 Thesis Structure

This thesis is split into nine chapters. Chapter 1 is this chapter, which introduces this thesis, myself as the researcher, and frames the scope and structure of this thesis. In chapter 2, I discuss the conceptual framework guiding this thesis. Just as housing is a composite good and sits at the intersection of diverse policy and research areas, this thesis sits at the intersection of multiple research areas. It addresses residential mobility, housing careers and transitions, and housing inequality, connected by the overarching concept of the life course. Drawing from Maxwell (2013), the conceptual framework includes both theoretical work and previous research in the areas of the life course, residential mobility, and housing. Particularly, I focus on the housing transitions framework developed by Andrew Beer and Debbie Faulkner (2011), recognizing the contextual and constrained housing choice process, including the decision to move, and which is embedded in the life course.

In chapter 3, I discuss the Canadian housing system in more depth. Both mobility and housing choices are strongly shaped by the policy environment, and the housing system is (implicitly) built upon conceptualizations of the typical housing – mobility relationship in Western countries – the housing career ladder. I outline initial policy implications, which I return to in the discussion of housing policy in chapter 9.

In chapter 4, I outline the analysis strategy to explore these research questions, using a mix of descriptive statistics, inferential statistics, and policy analysis.

Chapters 5 through 7 present the results. Chapter 5 explores research question 1, how do mobility patterns differ across housing tenure, highlighting a series of figures focusing on when households moved, why they moved, and how (from which housing tenure) they moved and how this varies across housing tenure. Chapter 6 focuses on research question 2, exploring the relationship between past tenure and mobility experiences and current tenure outcomes.

Chapter 7 extends this question to explore how the relationship between past tenure and mobility experiences and current tenure outcomes varies across income, age, and health status, which are included as key ways that systemically produced constraints are expressed in the life course and the housing transitions framework.

In chapter 8, I discuss how the relationship between residential mobility and housing contributes to and is a reflection of inequality. It is clear that the relationship between housing and mobility is distributed unevenly, with private renters more likely to experience more negative and involuntary mobility processes and owners more likely to experience more positive and voluntary mobility processes. At the same time, this relationship is also complex and contradictory, with renter households also demonstrating stability in their housing transitions and highlighting that renting is not a transitional, time-limited "stop" on the way to the normative endpoint of homeownership. Homeowners are also not a homogenous group, with clear distinctions based on the presence of a mortgage. Further exploring this relationship between mobility and housing by age, income, and health status demonstrates additional inequities intersecting with housing tenure – primarily by constraining or enabling choice and agency in the housing system due to tenure discrimination and other systemic barriers.

In chapter 9, I conclude this thesis by returning to the discussion of housing policy from chapter 3 and discuss the implications of the results for housing policy and practice, highlighting that the idea of the housing ladder and its normative housing – mobility relationship is and will be inadequate to meeting the housing needs of Canadians. I also provide some thoughts on the scholarly and practical significance of this research, discuss limitations, and discuss future research opportunities. The appendices contain detailed tables of model results referenced in chapter 7.

2 Conceptual Framework – Residential Mobility and Housing Tenure

In this chapter, I discuss the conceptual framework guiding this thesis, beginning first by discussing the life course framework. Life course theory has become the dominant theoretical perspective for studying housing and residential mobility. However, within this idea of the life course, there are still varying conceptualizations of the housing – residential mobility relationship, including housing careers, housing pathways, and more recently, housing transitions. I then explore research on the housing choice process, considering how housing outcomes over the life course reflect a series of housing choices, but also how choices are constrained and unevenly available. I end this chapter by reviewing research on residential mobility, housing outcomes, and inequality. Although there is substantial international research highlighting how mobility and housing are key mechanisms of inequality, there is limited Canadian research, which presents a key gap considering that the Canadian housing system is highly tenure discriminatory and unequal (Hulchanski, 2004).

2.1 Life Course Theory, Housing, and Residential Mobility

2.1.1 Why the life course?

Life course theory explores the interaction of individual lives with social structures over time within socially mediated life course scripts (Elder Jr., 1994; Macmillan, 2005; Mayer, 2004). Glen Elder Jr. is largely credited with developing this framework and describes the life course as "the interweave of age-graded trajectories, such as work careers and family pathways, that are subject to changing conditions and future options, and to short-term transitions ranging from leaving school to retirement" (1994, p. 5). Canadian research has illustrated that the life course perspective is an effective policy lens because it necessarily sees individual lives connected to the social and policy context in which they are lived (McDaniel & Bernard, 2011). The life course perspective also recognizes that individuals occupy multiple and interconnected roles across their lives, and thus works to break down silos of policy. Life course roles and trajectories are influenced by micro and macro-factors and cross spatial scales and time, which also makes life course theory effective for studying mobility, as the outcomes of the residential mobility process are not intrinsic but produced by policies and structural forces (Coulter et al., 2016).

Five general principles guide life course research (Elder Jr. et al., 2003) and which connect to the relationships between housing and residential mobility. These five principles are: (1) life span development; (2) constrained agency, (3) time and place; (4) timing; and (5) linked lives, each of which are discussed in turn.

The first, *life span development*, recognizes that development and changes do not end at 18 years old, and that lives must be analyzed over longer periods of time. Earlier experiences can shape later experiences in life, or as Mortimer writes, "under-standing any given phase of life must take into account the experiences that preceded it" (2019, p. 3). This links to residential mobility, which is also an active and dynamic process that must be considered over time (Coulter et al., 2016), including how the impact of mobility and its housing outcomes accumulates across the life course.

Second is the idea of *constrained agency* and which closely connects to the residential mobility process. Rather than being the mere recipients of the effects of social structure or the complete author without regard to the greater social world, individuals make choices within socioeconomic, generational, historical, and biographical constraints (Elder Jr., 1994). People make choices within the constraints and opportunities of the systems they are a part of, but also within the constraints and opportunities provided by previous life experiences and previous generations (Elder Jr., 1994; Mayer, 2004). The idea of constrained agency is crucial to the relationship between residential mobility and housing, as housing choices are also constrained and not all households have the same choices available (Preece et al., 2020).

Third, the principle of *time and place* highlights how life courses are embedded within geographic scales, socioeconomic conditions, and historic events that colour the life course (Elder Jr. et al., 2003). The life course perspective understands lives as lived in context. The current context is one of "growing inequality at the societal level, which engenders variation in life-course opportunities and progressions by social class, gender, race, and ethnicity. [...] as inequality increases, life courses become more differentiated" (Mortimer, 2019, p. 2). Social inequality is also spatial (Galster & Sharkey, 2017) and linked to housing (Christophers, 2019). Thus, housing and neighbourhoods that our homes are part of are critical way we experience

and are connected to the context and broader macro-level structural changes (Browning et al., 2016; Coulter et al., 2016).

Fourth, the principle of *timing* refers both to the social understanding of timing and that life course transitions and trajectories will have different impacts on the life course depending on their timing (Elder Jr. et al., 2003; Mortimer, 2019). The social understanding of timing recognizes the norms surrounding role sequencing and the age-grading that constitute life course scripts (Elder Jr. et al., 2003; Macmillan, 2005). "Timing" is especially linked to housing. Housing is often considered its own life course trajectory with its own age-graded and normative transitions, while at the same time, influencing and influenced by other trajectories (Mayer, 2004). Housing plays a key role in the timing of lives, especially for young adults during the transition to adulthood, a collection of linked transitions associated with increasing independence and stability. Rising housing costs combined with larger debt and lower or stagnate incomes for young adults are one factor in the delayed and elongated and stratified transition to adulthood, linked to delays in leaving the parental home (e.g., Bleemer et al., 2017), delayed home purchase (e.g., Andrew, 2012), and delayed fertility (e.g., Flynn, 2017).

Fifth, *linked lives* reinforces the interdependence between different individuals' lives (between parent and child, for example) and the interdependence between different areas of individual lives (between work and family for example) (Elder Jr. et al., 2003). This is especially important for thinking about housing and residential mobility, as housing outcomes are strongly linked across generations as housing wealth is transferred between generations (Arundel, 2017; Christophers, 2018) and as previous housing experiences and the neighbourhoods that we live in provide different life course opportunities (Browning et al., 2016). Linked lives is also important in recognizing the social networks that are part of neighbourhoods and connected to housing and which are strongly impacted through the residential mobility process (Coulter et al., 2016).

Considering these five general principles, the life course also provides a framework for thinking about inequality. Central to the idea of the life course is that experiences, resources, and vulnerabilities accumulate across the life course, creating processes of cumulative advantage and disadvantage (DiPrete & Eirich, 2006; Mayer, 2004). Further, in this context of broader

economic and social change, the increasing precarity of employment, rising housing costs, and changing educational pathways, life courses are changing (Côté & Bynner, 2008). Life courses are *de-standardized*, in that fewer people follow normative age graded time-tables and role trajectories; *individualized*, in that life courses are more variable; and (not necessarily new, but certainly increasingly), *stratified* by patterns such as gender, race and ethnicity, and social class (Furstenberg, 2010; Macmillan, 2005; Shanahan, 2000). Fewer young adults follow the normative and linear path of school-work-marriage-homeownership, and there is increasing disparity between high and low socioeconomic status young adults (Furstenberg, 2010; Shanahan, 2000). We could add to this list as stratified by housing which, thinking about the life course perspective, impacts individuals' own life courses and that of future generations as housing wealth is transferred between generations (Christophers, 2018). It is worth highlighting when considering how the life course has become increasingly stratified, it is *not* due to inherent characteristics, but due to systems and structures that have unequal impacts along lines of gender, race and ethnicity, and housing tenure.

The concept of the life course thus links individuals across the micro-, meso-, and macro-levels and across space and time, providing an effective theoretical framework for studying housing, neighbourhoods, and mobility which are also spatially, temporally, and socially situated and contingent. It also provides a framework for thinking about how mobility and its outcomes are linked to inequality across the life course as part of processes of cumulative advantage and disadvantage. The concept of the life course is core to models of residential mobility, lifetime housing outcomes, and the housing choice process, as will be discussed in the rest of this section.

2.1.2 Why life course theory and residential mobility?

Life course theory is the dominant theoretical perspective for studying residential mobility partly because residential mobility has generally not been included as a part of migration studies. Residential mobility has traditionally been seen as a permanent move of residence. It has come to mean 'internal migration', the movement of people within a geographic space such as country, rather than 'international migration,' which has been defined as the movement of people across national borders (Crowder & Hall, 2007). Migration studies has tended to focus

on international migration, while residential mobility is seen as the realm of urban studies, housing scholars, and geographers (Wimmer & Glick Schiller, 2002). There is also generally more international migration research than residential mobility research (Coulter et al., 2016), particularly in the Canadian settler-colonial context as immigration is closely linked to the building of nation-state (Wimmer & Glick Schiller, 2002). These different disciplinary backgrounds for residential mobility (or internal migration) and international migration are also reflected in the different theoretical perspectives. International migration theories often focus on macro-level differences between countries, such as labour markets and political systems (Massey et al., 1993), but residential mobility is predominately explored using the life course (Clark, 2012; Coulter et al., 2016; Dieleman, 2001; van Ham, 2012; Winstanley et al., 2002).¹

"Mobility" is also often used in conjunction with other terms, such as social mobility, labour mobility, and career mobility, which highlights the idea of moving 'up' a social or career or income ladder (Schaefer, 2017). I am interested in spatial or residential mobility rather than occupation or income mobility – but importantly, spatial mobility and social mobility are often linked and spaces reinforce and reflect social categories and divisions, particularly through housing (Clark et al., 2014).²

Residential mobility is also often separated into short distance or intra-urban moves and longer distance moves crossing internal borders, with scholars theorizing different factors driving these different distanced moves. Generally, longer distance moves are more related to employment and labour markets while shorter distance moves are more related to housing decisions (Clark, 2012; Clark & Maas, 2015; Frost, 2020). For example, in Canada, there is a strong education gradient for inter-provincial migration where the likelihood of moving provinces increases with education level (Ram & Shin, 2007). This is in part because higher educated individuals have better opportunities to integrate into new labour markets (van Ham,

¹ Research on residential mobility has also been impacted by behavioural and rational utility models that drew from economics; however, life course perspectives have become dominant (Clark, 2012; Winstanley et al., 2002).

² In the context of this thesis, I am also not considering mobility in terms of day-to-day movement and transportation studies.

2012). However, housing still plays an important role in longer distance moves and interacts with education and labour force status. Research from the UK and from Australia illustrates that the motivations and reasons for moving are much more complex and multi-faceted and cannot be reduced to a single reason, with housing playing a role for both long and short distance mobility (Clark & Maas, 2015; Coulter & Scott, 2015).

A focus on movement alone masks important complexities in our experiences of mobility, including times of immobility or stability, which has generally been seen as the absence of movement (Hanson, 2005). However, the outcomes of mobility differ based on choice and control and whether the decision to move or not to move was voluntary or forced. Further, this conceptualization of 'immobility' portrays people as passive and without agency in their mobility decisions, including the decision to stay, while also missing the experience of households who are 'stuck', who wish to move and are unable to (see Cresswell, 2012). In their foundational work on housing moves over the life course, Clark and colleagues (2003) demonstrated that many households are stable for long periods of time in their housing careers and who are thus missed in most mobility research, highlighting the importance of considering both mobility and immobility. Migration scholar Hein de Haas calls for a reimagining of human mobility "not by the criterion of actual movement but as people's capability (freedom) to choose where to live," including the decision to stay (de Haas, 2021, p. 22 emphasis in original). Similarly, Coulter, van Ham and Findlay (2016) call for a reconceptualization of residential mobility and immobility as active, relational practices that are embedded within structural conditions and which aligns with the life course perspective.

2.1.3 Life course perspectives on residential mobility and housing

Bringing together the discussion of life course theory and residential mobility, the relationship between housing and residential mobility over the life course has been conceptualized in different ways, including housing careers (Clark et al., 2003; Kendig, 1984), housing histories (Forrest, 1987), housing pathways (Clapham, 2002), and more recently, housing transitions (Beer & Faulkner, 2011). These models of the life course and housing are connected and build from each other and thus are important to consider together. Additionally, these conceptualizations of how households move through the housing system are also important as

they implicitly and explicitly inform policy makers, developers, and people alike (Grant & Scott, 2012; Lauster, 2016; Severson & Collins, 2020).

These conceptualizations vary with their relative considerations of the relationship between individual characteristics and structural constraints, the importance and inclusion of aspirations and subjective meanings associated with housing, and their normative underpinnings. Across all of these models is the understanding that movement through the housing system has cumulative effects. This includes both at the level of individuals and households, whose ability to move through the housing system is strongly impacted by previous housing arrangements (Beer & Faulkner, 2011; Clark et al., 2003). But this also includes at the meso-level of neighbourhoods and cities, where neighbourhood segregation and inequality reflect the accumulation of housing-related moves and spatial sorting (Baker et al., 2016; Lee et al., 2015) and at the macro-level of housing systems that reflect processes of socio-tenure segregation and residualization (Hulchanski, 2004; Suttor, 2015).

For this study, I draw primarily from the housing transitions framework with additional considerations for sociodemographic and socioeconomic factors (like gender and ethnicity), while at the same time, comparing and contrasting these other perspectives on housing and residential mobility over the life course. These four conceptualizations are summarized in Table 2.1 below and discussed in more detail in the remainder of this section.

Model	Key Scholars	Main Drivers of Housing Outcomes
Housing Careers	Hal Kendig, William Clark	Life cycle stages and associated economic resources
Housing Histories	Ray Forrest	Labour markets and housing markets
Housing Pathways	David Clapham	Aspirations and meaning associated with housing
Housing Transitions	Andrew Beer, Debbie	Demographics, economic resources, health,
	Faulkner	tenure/housing history, aspirations within context of
		housing system
Summarized from: Kendig (1984), Clark et al. (2003), Forrest (1987), Clapham (2002), Beer & Faulkner (2011)		

Table 2.1: Summary of Models of Housing and Residential Mobility over the Life Course

Housing careers has been and continues to be the dominant way of conceptualizing housing over the life course, where different life stages were associated with different forms of housing (Kendig, 1984). Kendig argues that "the most important aspect of a housing career is the ability to attain, retain, or regain homeownership" (1984, p. 77), and notes that as households move through life cycle stages, they usually also increase their economic resources which supports the ability to move into ownership. Clark, Dieleman and Deurloo describe housing careers as "the sequencing of housing states defined in terms of tenure and the quality/price of dwellings that households occupy while they make parallel careers in family status and the job market" (2003, p. 144). This model supports the idea of the housing ladder or housing life cycle, where housing choices are typically thought of as "moving up" from renting to the superior option of homeownership, and from smaller housing units to larger housing units as households acquire more resources through the labour market (Kendig, 1984; Morrow-Jones & Wenning, 2005). This idea of "moving up" reflects social norms and life course scripts about the acceptable type and tenure of housing for different life stages. Smaller units, such as apartments, are considered more appropriate for singles and young couples without children, while owned detached housing is considered most appropriate for families with children (Grant & Scott, 2012). This model was originally conceptualized with a focus on owner-occupation and clearly establishes a hierarchy of housing – both tenure and dwelling type.

The concept of the "housing career" has been critiqued on several factors. These normative, linear assumptions of how people move through housing are based on a heteronormative, nuclear family (Winstanley et al., 2002). There is also increasing variability and disparity in life course trajectories and transitions, in part due to changes in housing markets, and this model does not clearly include other factors that may influence how households make housing decisions, including their aspirations and constraints (Beer & Faulkner, 2011; Clapham, 2002). Further, concepts such as the housing career and housing ladder are problematic in that they are conceptualized based on heteronormative and settler-colonial understandings of housing in Anglophone contexts (Beer & Faulkner, 2011).

Recognizing these limitations, scholars have developed other conceptualizations of housing over the life course. The concept of housing histories expands from housing careers to include structural factors that influence housing outcomes, particularly housing markets which vary across geography (Forrest, 1987). Forrest describes that housing careers "conveys intendedness, suggests a series of moves towards a particular goal, an upward trajectory through the housing market, and a certain autonomy of housing processes" while housing

histories is a more neutral term that better encompasses experiences that are "chaotic and characterizes by constraints and coping strategies" or households who "immobile or relatively immobile" (1987, p. 1624). Labour market participation and outcomes are seen as the main determinant of being able to make choices within the housing market rather than life stage as in the housing career model.

However, the concepts of housing careers and housing histories still share many key characteristics, including a focus on movement through the housing market over the agegraded life course and a focus on labour market outcomes as enabling those moves (Beer & Faulkner, 2011). The 'housing histories' conceptualization in some ways is a reimagining of the housing career model to include a more explicit consideration of housing market constraints and opportunities.

The 'housing pathways' conceptualization fundamentally differs from the housing careers and housing histories models. This model draws from social constructionism and focuses on the subjective elements of why households move through the housing system. Mostly associated with David Clapham's (2002) work on young people in the UK, the housing pathways approach focuses on the social construction of meaning associated with home and different housing arrangements. Clapham describes housing pathways as "the continually changing set of relationships and interactions, which [the household] experiences over time in its consumption of housing" (2002, p. 64). Most research using the 'housing pathways' model has used ethnographic or narrative qualitative analysis, which expands our understanding of the relationships between people and housing over time. However, the main critique for this model is the difficulty in operationalizing the model and that it is more difficult to apply at broader scales (Beer & Faulkner, 2011). There have been some advances in exploring the housing pathways model using quantitative and mixed methods approaches (e.g., Baker et al., 2020), but this research remains largely qualitative.

Reflecting the increasing variability in the life course and combining the population-level focus of housing careers with the structural influences of housing histories and the subjective elements from housing pathways approach, Beer and Faulkner (2011) developed the concept of "housing transitions". This concept reflects the ongoing and changing relationship between

households and housing outcomes over time. It recognizes that housing decisions are made within the context of housing systems that differentially provide opportunities and constraints across the life course. They describe housing transitions as:

"a series of housing decisions about whether to move or not move, the quality and quantity of housing to occupy, location relative to employment and social networks. These decisions are shaped by both opportunities and constraints, with the five dimensions [...] playing a determinant role. [...] it reflects the complexity of that decision making environment and the intersection with aspects of individual and household life course. Critically, decisions about housing are undertaken within the context of housing systems that are structured by geography, the balance between social and private systems of supply, and the quality of the housing stock." (Beer & Faulkner, 2011, p. 31).

This housing transitions framework links housing characteristics with individual lives and the time and place that they make their housing choices and includes five main dimensions that influence housing choice: (1) demographics (or stage in life course), (2) health and wellbeing, (3) housing history (with a focus on tenure), (4) economic resources (with a focus on employment), and (5) aspirations. This concept does not imply a particular (or normative) direction like others that focus on "housing careers" or the housing ladder and it maintains a broad, population-level lens unlike other concepts such as "housing pathways". It enables both quantitative and qualitative analysis of the ways that people move through the housing system (Beer & Faulkner, 2011).

Although this model addresses many of the shortcomings of the other conceptualizations of housing over the life course, it has not had the same traction as the 'housing careers' or 'housing pathways' approach in research or in policy. Further, while this framework includes more consideration for structural constraints regarding economic resources and health and wellbeing on housing decisions, the housing transitions framework does not include direct consideration for other axes of inequality, including gender, race and ethnicity, and immigration status.

In this thesis, I primarily draw on the housing transitions framework, reflecting how it has been developed from the foundations of the housing careers, housing histories, and housing pathways models and in developed in this current socioeconomic context, while also including

consideration for broader life course theory, particularly the stratification of the life course, and broader research on residential mobility and the life course. At the same time, I draw attention to the ways that these other models of housing and mobility over the life course continue to have influence – most particularly, the housing careers model.

2.2 The Housing Choice Process

All four of these conceptualizations discussed above also highlight the role of (constrained) housing choice and the role of aspirations and preferences in shaping the residential mobility process (Beer & Faulkner, 2011; Clark & Dieleman, 1996; Mulder, 1996). These concepts of housing choice, preferences, expectations, and aspirations have their own research traditions and are fields in and of themselves (Preece et al., 2020). In this section, I address how these concepts shape relationships to housing over our life course and the residential mobility process.

Constrained agency is a key principle of life course research (Elder Jr. et al., 2003), and this concept is very clearly seen in the constrained housing choice process. Like so much housing research, the housing choice process operates across the micro, meso, and macro levels and across the life course (Clark, 2012; van Ham, 2012). The study of housing choice is strongly impacted by behavioural economics and rational utility models of choosing (Clark, 2012; Mulder, 1996). Researchers focus on specific aspects of the housing choice process, including preferences, the process of searching for housing, the process of choosing between housing choices, and the outcomes of housing choice (Mulder, 1996; Mulder & Hooimeijer, 1999). However, sociological approaches to housing choice, while still affected by traditions of behavioural economics, move beyond demand and supply elasticities to consider the social, spatial, and temporal dimensions of how we make decisions about our housing (Clark & Dieleman, 1996; Mulder, 1996; Mulder & Hooimeijer, 1999).

The dominant conceptualization of the housing choice process was developed by Mulder and Hooimeijer (1999). According to this model, housing choice is embedded in the life course and interrelated with other life course trajectories, including education and the labour market. "Triggers" are life course events that often initiate the housing search; these include processes such as household change and formation, job change, and completing education. Housing
choices are informed by the preferences of the household, broadly the types of housing that households prefer. Further, housing choice is impacted by household level resources, which determine affordability, and restrictions, such as location and household size. Importantly, in this conceptualization, while people may have preferences for different housing, actual housing behaviour is predicated on that trigger event which causes imbalance between current housing and housing preferences (Mulder & Hooimeijer, 1999). This "imbalance" is often measured as dissatisfaction or residential stress; however, researchers are quick to note that this is not always the trigger for moving (Clark & Dieleman, 1996; Mulder, 1996).

Opportunities and constraints, which impact the housing choice process, also exist at the macro- and meso- levels. This includes tenure structures, housing stock, availability and vacancy rates, and prices, but also norms and discursive practices that shape life course scripts about which housing is desirable and connected to different life course trajectories. Opportunities and constraints vary across groups, which reinforces the interaction between people's life course and enabling and constraining social structures (Mulder & Hooimeijer, 1999). For example, if someone is moving for retirement compared to moving for a job, they will consider different opportunities and constraints in the choice process.

Key constraints and opportunities include affordability and availability of housing, which is where the housing system is perhaps most clearly seen. For example, the housing stock is influenced by zoning and building codes which impacts the type of housing being built. Governments also regulate the affordability of housing both directly through subsidies and indirectly through tax law and mortgage market access, which has predominately supported homeownership (Christophers, 2019). Importantly, there is a lag between policy decisions and change in the context in which people make housing decisions. The housing system is also slow to change, as housing typically lasts for many decades and housing policy is path dependent (Loptson, 2017).

The concept of "choice" is also slippery, as households do not have "true" choice. Instead, most households make housing choices within constraints imposed by the housing system and their own individual preferences and resources (Beer & Faulkner, 2011; Mulder, 1996; Mulder & Hooimeijer, 1999; van Ham, 2012). Choice more accurately means choosing from a "choice set,"

which varies by geography, time, and household characteristics. For examples, households can only choose from among vacant housing units, which represents a small proportion of the total housing stock (Mulder, 1996; van Ham, 2012). Choice is also strongly impacted by the reason for the move or the "trigger event" and whether the motivation to move is voluntary or involuntary (Clark & Maas, 2015; Clark & Onaka, 1983; Coulter & Scott, 2015). Often involuntary moves have more urgency and are reactionary (DeLuca & Jang–Trettien, 2020). Thus, not all households have the same choices available, and are instead making constrained choices that may not reflect their true preferences (Preece et al., 2020). This has also led some researchers to refer to the illusion or fallacy of choice instead (e.g., McKee et al., 2017).

Although this conceptualization of housing choice describes housing behaviour in the context of constrained agency, many underpinning concepts remain fuzzy. What exactly are preferences and how are these formed? How are preferences different than expectations or aspirations? Preece and colleagues (2020) discuss these different terms and suggest four main concepts. *Housing choice* broadly covers the range of housing behaviour from tenure choice to the actual process of choosing. This field has been dominated by tenure choice as a specific sub-choice and remains informed by behavioural economics models. Housing choices are conceptualized "as individual decisions relating to choosing a house to live in" (2020, p. 90). *Housing preferences* are "conceptualized as the expression of a desire or 'want' for a particular form of housing" (2020, p. 90). *Housing expectations* are "conceptualized as the likely housing outcomes that people anticipate, regardless of their desirability" (2020, p. 90). Housing expectations are "conceptualized as referring to desires to achieve housing-related ambitions in the future, encapsulating optimistic assessments of what can be realized" (2020, p. 90). Aspirations are seen as more long-term views of housing.

Both housing choice and housing aspirations research has been dominated by studies of tenure, reflecting and reinforcing the privileging of homeownership in tenure discriminatory housing systems (Preece et al., 2020; van Ham, 2012). However, tenure is not the only way we experience housing. Housing is a unique or composite good and cannot be separated into its individual parts (Clark, 2012). When households choose their housing, they are choosing a

bundle of attributes – including size, cost, location, type of dwelling, quality and tenure type – which are influenced by their housing aspirations – their values and preferences – which are in turn influenced by norms. Households also make housing choices in the context of the different ways we conceptualize housing, including as a concrete structure, market commodity, cultural identity, and regulatory creature (Lauster, 2016). Households cannot experience a single part of their housing in isolation from each other, and research that focuses on a single housing variable such as tenure masks the bundle of attributes that households are choosing (van Ham, 2012). Thus, just as our experience of housing cannot be reduced to a single variable, choices about housing cannot be reduced to a single reason.

Tenure does have important impacts on our experience of housing, especially in tenure discriminatory housing systems (Christophers, 2019). The concept of housing tenure is increasingly conceptually fuzzy in this current socioeconomic context. While housing tenure is often described in discrete, binary categories of owner or renter, particularly in tenurediscriminatory housing systems like Canada, the experience of tenure is more complex. Housing tenure, at a basic level, describes an occupant's legal relationship to their housing, but in social and historical context, that legal relationship has become associated with differential access to a bundle of rights and privileges, exposure to systems of financialization and commodification, and ideological and symbolic meaning (Ronald, 2008; Zhang, 2021) – which is changing in this current context. Being a homeowner without a mortgage, who experienced significant increase in housing wealth over the past 20 years is very different than being a mortgaged homeowner with high debt-to-income and debt-to-asset ratios and who are much more vulnerable to housing insecurity (Aalbers, 2008). Similarly, being a renter on the private market with increasingly high costs and limited support is very different than being a renter receiving a subsidy, where tenants are significantly regulated and subject to ongoing eligibility requirements (de Vos, 2022; Suttor, 2016; Watts & Fitzpatrick, 2018).

As will be discussed more in chapter 3, housing policy also impacts the experience of housing tenure, so that the experience and meaning of tenure varies between countries but also within countries (e.g., Acolin, 2020). Overall, this highlights that tenure is not a substantiative category but is mutable and relational (Barlow & Duncan, 1988; Zhang, 2021) – and increasingly a

fulcrum through which our experiences of housing are centered. While there are many other housing qualities that impact our experience of housing including quality and affordability (Zavisca & Gerber, 2016) tenure remains associated with different rights, privileges, and risks and structures the housing options available to households (Hulchanski, 2004; Zhang, 2021).

Further, housing choice and aspirations are contextual – and the current context is one characterized by ongoing social, demographic, economic, and environmental change. Within this context, it is becoming increasingly difficult to attain what has become a naturalized aspiration of homeownership in many Western countries (Beer & Faulkner, 2011; Ronald, 2008). Many Western Anglophone countries are characterized by declining rates of homeownership among young adults and the rise of private renting, such as the United Kingdom, the United States, and Australia (Burke et al., 2020; Goodman & Mayer, 2018; McKee, 2012), leading some to describe young adults as "Generation Rent" (McKee et al., 2017). In other countries where homeownership is increasingly unattainable, an "aspirations gap or lag" exists where aspirations – the longer-term desires for housing – have yet to change with new material contexts, but expectations – which are more short term – are changing potentially as an adaption to more difficult contexts characterized by high prices, labour insecurity and precarity, and changing life course trajectories (McKee et al., 2017; Preece et al., 2020). This includes Canada. In recent Canadian research, young adults highlighted how despite increasing difficulties in achieving normative housing outcomes of homeownership, they still felt that homeownership was an expectation, including an expectation from their parents (Severson & Collins, 2020). This is also an important factor to consider in this study of residential mobility and housing.

2.3 Residential Mobility, Housing Outcomes, and Inequality

2.3.1 Residential Mobility and Housing

People move for many reasons but moving always involves housing and housing decisions. Consequently, housing is both a predictor and an outcome of residential mobility. Housing tenure is one of the biggest correlates of residential mobility (Clark, 2012). Housing also dominates expressed reasons for and motivations to move (Clark & Maas, 2015; Coulter & Scott, 2015). Renters are more likely to move than homeowners across a variety of Western

countries, including Canada (Denier, 2017; Edmonston & Lee, 2014), the US (Clark & Dieleman, 1996), Australia (Baker et al., 2016; Clark, 2013), and the UK (Clark et al., 2014; Coulter & Scott, 2015). This is partly a function of other household and life course characteristics that influence mobility and housing choices, including age, marital status, parental status, and economic security (Clark, 2012). Moving itself brings both material and intangible costs in terms of disruptions to social networks and ties to place (Mulder & Hooimeijer, 1999), there are "sunk costs" of homeownership and having to sell a home to move, while renting is more flexible (Clark, 2012).

Further, tenure interacts across many other dwelling and household characteristics to influence mobility. For example, age is negatively associated with mobility (Clark, 2013), but positively associated with homeownership (Hou, 2010). However, even amongst seniors, renters were more likely to move than homeowners (Edmonston & Lee, 2014). Room stress or overcrowding is a major correlate of mobility, so that households who are overcrowded are more likely to move (Clark, 2012). Overcrowding is centralized amongst renters who tend to live in smaller dwellings (Claveau, 2020) and many of whom face barriers in the housing market (Novac et al., 2002).

It is not just that renters are more likely to move. They are more likely to move for involuntary or forced reasons compared to homeowners (Hatch, 2021) and experience more negative outcomes when they move (Baker et al., 2016). This distinction between voluntary and involuntary moves crucially mediates the outcomes of mobility and is unevenly linked to housing tenure. Moving for positive or voluntary reasons is often associated with upward social mobility into better neighbourhoods, which can expand access to services, schools, and green spaces, improving education outcomes and wellbeing (Baker et al., 2016; Clark et al., 2014). The corollary is also true, where forced or involuntary moves are associated with downward mobility into disadvantaged neighbourhoods. Evictions and other forms of forced and involuntary moves are more common amongst renters with negative effects across multiple domains, including health and wellbeing (Desmond & Kimbro, 2015). More frequent moves are also associated with economic insecurity and are more common amongst renters (Desmond et al., 2015).

Similarly, residential stability is associated with positive outcomes, including life satisfaction, civic participation, and physical and mental health (Acolin, 2020), and children's education and wellbeing outcomes (Scanlon & Devine, 2001). Increasingly, scholars are pointing to residential stability as the mechanism that supports homeownership's positive outcomes such as life satisfaction and civic engagement (Acolin, 2020; Lindblad & Quercia, 2015). However, this is mediated by being stable in neighbourhoods with access to opportunities and in housing that is secure and affordable. For example, studying homeownership and residential stability, Harkness and Newman (2002) found that the positive effects were reduced in distressed neighbourhoods. Being 'stuck' – undesired residential immobility – is also associated with negative outcomes (Coulter, 2013; F. Ferreira et al., 2010; P. Ferreira & Taylor, 2008).

Homeownership is associated with residential stability in part because homeownership has been made into more secure tenure that provides access to better neighbourhoods and in better quality housing. In Baker and colleagues (2016) work in Australia on housing and residential mobility, they describe two speed mobility – where advantaged households who are more often homeowners move more slowly into improved locations and disadvantaged households who are more often renters move more often into disadvantaged locations. In tenure discriminatory systems (such as Canada), households receive more support to move into and stay in homeownership, while rental support is more means tested and time limited (Kemeny, 1981). Thus, homeowners tend to experience the benefits of both mobility and stability while renters are more likely to experience the negative outcomes of both mobility and stability.

Housing and mobility also interact across neighbourhoods, both as an attribute (increasingly) connected to housing tenure but also as an independent factor. In the Netherlands, Clark, Dielemen, and Deurloo (2006) examined the relative choice between housing quality and neighbourhood quality, with quality assessed both by socioeconomic status and by environmental exposure. They found that movers often improve both their housing and neighbourhood quality, but that neighbourhoods are an independent and important part of the choice process in residential mobility. Further, increases in housing and neighbourhood quality were concentrated amongst high income earners, speaking to inequality and the role of

resource constraints. In the UK, Clark and colleagues (2014) describe how the social and the spatial are linked through mobility and reflected in neighbourhood outcomes. Using the Index of Multiple Deprivation to describe neighbourhoods, they note that homeowners experienced better gains through the mobility process and moved into better neighbourhoods. The exception was for households that moved into homeownership from disadvantaged neighbourhoods who experienced worse outcomes. They argue that this is indicative of norms of homeownership that prioritize homeownership regardless of anything else (Clark et al., 2014).

Similarly, in Australia, Baker and their team (2016) focus on the relationship between locational disadvantage and housing through the residential mobility process. They describe how mobility is polarized along affordability lines, so that households in affordable situations more often move for voluntary or positive reasons into better neighbourhoods while the opposite is true for unaffordable housing (Baker et al., 2016). In Canada, Denier (2017) explored the socio-geographic outcomes of job loss in Canada, noting that job loss was associated with moves into less advantaged neighbourhoods. However, renters were actually the most likely to move into disadvantaged neighbourhoods (Denier, 2017). This highlights the interconnected nature of housing and neighbourhoods in the residential mobility process.

Despite the importance of housing to the residential mobility process as both a cause and an outcome, there is relatively little Canadian residential mobility research that includes housing. This partly relates to the level of analysis taken in some of these models, focusing on regional differences (Northcott & Petruik, 2013; Pendakur & Young, 2013; Ram & Shin, 2007). Likewise, mobility characteristics have not often been explicitly included in Canadian housing studies (e.g., Hou, 2010) or has focused on specific sub-populations such as immigrants (e.g., Haan, 2007). Additionally, missing from Canadian research is a discussion of motivations and reasons for moving, primarily due to data gaps where this question has not been asked. This is also an important research gap and misses the subjective aspect of housing choice as well as important differences between voluntary and involuntary moves.

Where housing characteristics are included though, they have important impacts. For example, in Denier's (2017) research on job loss and mobility, people who lost their job were more likely

to move, but renters were even more likely to move and to move into disadvantaged neighbourhoods. Similarly, in Edmonston and Lee's (2014) work on the residential mobility of seniors, renting seniors had the highest predicted probability of moving over a five-year period. It is important to note that these differential experiences of housing and mobility that increasingly lines up with tenure are not inherent. Rather, they are produced by policy decisions, and reflect and contribute to broader inequality – which is itself increasingly tied to housing and increasingly polarized along tenure lines, particularly in the Canadian context. This will be discussed more in the next section.

2.3.2 Housing and Inequality

Economic and social inequality has increased over the last 30 years internationally and in Canada, which is strongly tied to changes in housing over this time period. This includes wealth inequality, where gaps have grown between high and low wealth households (Keister & Moller, 2000; Maroto, 2016; Spilerman, 2000) increasingly along housing tenure lines. Rising wealth inequality is fundamentally connected to housing inequality, as with rising prices, housing makes up a bigger part of household wealth (Walks, 2016). House prices have increased over the past 30 years, primarily benefitting older homeowners who were already in the housing market (Christophers, 2018; Foster & Kleit, 2015). In 2016 in Canada, the top 10% of households held 38.23% of housing wealth, while the bottom 40% held only 2.51% (Causa et al., 2019). It is also harder for lower income households to move into ownership. In Canada in 1999, 25.5% of households in the lowest income quintile owned their home, compared to 81.7% of those in the highest. By 2016, this difference had grown, so that 88.2% of households in the highest income quintile owned their home (Uppal, 2019). Growing wealth inequality has additional implications as wealth is more durable than income, and wealth inequality increases intra-generationally as wealth is passed between generations (Causa et al., 2019; Christophers, 2018; Killewald et al., 2017). Wealth – and the (owned) housing that makes up a large part of wealth – is thus a part of processes of cumulative advantage and disadvantage across the life course which is unequally linked to housing tenure (see also Maroto & Severson Mason, 2022). Housing's role in wealth inequality is important because homeownership is also unequally accessible due to barriers and discrimination rooted in racism, heterosexism, ableism, ageism,

and colonialism. In Canada, as a settler-colonial state, discrimination and barriers on the housing market disproportionately impact people racialized as non-white, Indigenous peoples, and immigrants (Maroto, 2016; Maroto & Aylsworth, 2016; Novac et al., 2002; Teixeira, 2009). While many immigrants do become homeowners, there are continued disparities, especially for Black immigrants (Haan, 2007) and for immigrants from African and Middle Eastern countries (Maroto & Aylsworth, 2016). Research in Toronto highlights that Black Canadians have a lower likelihood of owning their home (Skaburskis, 1996) and face barriers and discrimination in the housing market, both owned and rented (Canadian Centre for Housing Rights, 2022; Dion, 2001). Due to the ongoing impacts of colonization and dispossession, Indigenous peoples have lower rates of homeownership in Canadian cities than non-Indigenous people (Anderson, 2019). Women and gender and sexual minorities are also over-represented among social and affordable renters and are more likely to face issues with affordability, adequacy, and suitability (Claveau, 2020). Women face more housing discrimination than men, which also interacts with other factors including race, ethnicity, and immigration status (Dion, 2001; Novac et al., 2002). Households where at least one person reported having a disability have lower wealth, lower rates of homeownership, and face more economic insecurity (Maroto, 2016; Maroto & Pettinicchio, 2020), and households with accessibility needs are over-represented among social and affordable renters (Claveau, 2020).

Homeownership has also become riskier, resulting in growing inequalities between homeowners. More recent homeowner households carry larger mortgage debt for longer periods of time, and thus are much more vulnerable to income and market changes (Walks, 2013). As a consequence of rising prices, younger and lower income households have higher relative debt and are more exposed to changes in household economic security and to housing market conditions (Aalbers, 2008; Causa et al., 2019; Walks et al., 2018). In Canada, mortgage debt accounted for a growing share of the total increase in debt between 1999 and 2016, from 68% of the growth in debt between 1999 and 2005, 82% between 2005 to 2012, and 100% between 2012 and 2016 (Uppal, 2019). At the same time, mortgage debt did not increase consistently across all groups, with variations across income quintile, household composition, and geography (Uppal, 2019). There are also larger differences between Millennial

homeowners and previous generations, where wealth is more concentrated at the top of the income distribution and in high-value cities like Toronto and Vancouver among Millennial homeowners, buoyed by larger housing equity (Heisz & Richards, 2019).

Groups also face disparities in the returns to homeownership. Racially discriminatory lending practices, redlining, and predatory mortgage lending differentially distribute access to and returns from homeownership (Grinstein-Weiss et al., 2015; Killewald et al., 2017; Shapiro, 2006). As a result, racial minorities and low-income households receive lower returns on housing, all else being equal (Mayock & Malacrida, 2018), and most lost greater shares of housing equity than white households during the 2008 recession (Grinstein-Weiss et al., 2015). In the US, Black homeowning households have higher interest rates on average than white households across the income distribution (Hanifa, 2021). Marginalized households who experience barriers and discrimination in mortgage access are more likely to receive unregulated high-risk mortgages that carry higher interest rates and less protection, again meaning that these households bear much more of the risks of the housing market (Aalbers, 2008; Foster & Kleit, 2015). In Canada, the fastest growing sector of the mortgage market were unregulated mortgage investment corporations which grew by 7.6% in 2019. Mortgage investment corporations are "alternative lenders [who] typically provide shorter term mortgages at higher fees and interest rates to borrowers who have difficulty qualifying for loans from more stringently regulated lenders" (CMHC-SCHL, 2020d, p. 16), which carries more risks and costs for the household.

Disparities in access to and returns from homeownership have additional implications in the context of the restructuring of the welfare state towards housing-based asset-based welfare (Christophers, 2019; Doling & Ronald, 2010). In tenure discriminatory or tenure unequal systems such as Canada, different tenures, usually homeownership, are privileged over others while renting is stigmatized and neglected (Hulchanski, 2004; Ronald, 2008). Christophers (2019) argues that it is fundamentally this tenure inequality – the unequal way that different housing tenures are treated in policy and the different rights and privileges that are afforded to them – that is driving housing inequality.

Housing inequality also includes housing affordability, quality, and insecurity disparities, which also have additional impacts on health and wellbeing (Dunn et al., 2006). Issues with housing affordability have increased in Canada over the past 30 years as housing costs, both owned and rented, have risen while investment in social housing declined (Suttor, 2016). Income inequality has also increased over this same time, where higher income households have seen increases in income while lower income households have seen their incomes stagnate and decline (Keeley, 2015). Critically, these other aspects of housing inequality are increasingly related to tenure due to tenure inequality and tenure discrimination. Housing affordability, adequacy, and suitability issues are centralized among renters (Claveau, 2020) who have not had the policy focus that homeowners have had in the face of rising housing costs (Christophers, 2019). While approximately one-fifth of Canadian households were living in unaffordable housing (spending 30% or more of their income on shelter costs) in Canada in 2018, this was unevenly distributed among tenure: only 16.7% of owners were in unaffordable housing, compared to 33% of renters (Claveau, 2020). Overall, in Canada in 2018, 24% of owners lived in housing that was unaffordable, inadequate, or unsuitable compared to 45% of renters (Claveau, 2020).

Tenure discrimination in the housing system intersects with and reinforces other forms of discrimination and barriers, so that differences between owners and renters are growing --- increasingly different forms of tenure are associated with different neighbourhoods, dwellings, and people (Claveau, 2020; Suttor, 2015). This process of increasing income, social class, and spatial differentiation by tenure is referred to as "socio-tenure segregation" (see Hamnett, 1987). Canada has gone from a country of relatively low socio-tenure segregation to relatively high socio-tenure segregation (Suttor, 2015). Although younger and low-income homeowners tend to be more vulnerable, as they carry higher debt-to-income and debt-to-asset ratios than previous generations (Aalbers, 2008), owners overall are increasingly higher income with higher wealth and suburbanized living in single detached dwellings (Suttor, 2015; Walks, 2016). Renters, conversely, are more often low-income, racialized minorities, and women. They also tend to live in older and smaller apartment units located in urban cores and in aging suburban neighbourhoods built during the 1960s apartment boom (Claveau, 2020; Suttor, 2015).

This socio-tenure segregation points to another impact aspect of housing inequality. Housing inequalities extend beyond the implications for wealth inequality. Housing inequalities are also spatial, and the places we live in affect our life chances (Galster & Sharkey, 2017). Neighbourhoods are becoming increasingly polarized along tenure, income, and wealth lines. As Hulchanski (2011) demonstrated, Toronto is highly income segregated. Between 1970 and 2005, the number of "middle income" neighbourhoods (defined as census tracts) decreased, while both high- and low-income neighbourhoods increased, with low-income neighbourhoods increasing the most. Hulchanski (2011) further points out that low-income neighbourhoods increasingly comprise renters, immigrants, and visible minorities.

Canada also demonstrates increasing spatial inequality along income, race, ethnicity, and tenure lines. High income neighbourhoods across Canadian cities have increased their share of total income, while low- and middle-income neighbourhoods have declined (Breau et al., 2018; Chen et al., 2012). Housing equity is concentrated in high-income and high-wealth neighbourhoods, but debt is concentrated in middle- and low-income neighbourhoods (Walks, 2013, 2014b, 2016). Housing wealth is also concentrated in high value cities of Toronto and Vancouver (Heisz & Richards, 2019), and so also is also distributed unequally geographically across cities and regions. Canadian neighbourhoods are thus not only growing more polarized but more unequal.

There are questions, however, of how to assess neighbourhood inequality. Common measures are the Index of Neighbourhood Deprivation or Disadvantage or in Canada, the Canadian Index of Multiple Deprivation (Statistics Canada, 2019a). However, measures of neighbourhood deprivation or disadvantage that use census data tend to reflect aggregates of the people who live in neighbourhoods rather than the systemic barriers that creates vulnerability or disadvantage (Deas et al., 2003; Fu et al., 2015). These models, such as the Neighbourhood Deprivation Index, reinforce deficit-based understandings and settler-colonial, age, and gender norms (Fu et al., 2015). In other words, these models focus on the demographic and socioeconomic characteristics of neighbourhoods instead of the structural, infrastructural, environmental, and proximity characteristics of neighbourhoods (Galster, 2001). However,

regardless of how they are measured, neighbourhoods remain systemically unequal in their characteristics and which has an impact on our life chances.

Housing and neighbourhood inequality is not just about homes and neighbourhoods, but it also concerns wealth inequality, income inequality, racial inequality, gender inequality, and more. Housing reflects social and economic inequality amongst households and neighbourhoods, and it also reinforces and exacerbates it (Foster & Kleit, 2015). These inequalities are further amplified through neighbourhood inequalities and the differential exposure to the 'spatial opportunity structure' (Galster & Sharkey, 2017). And, the key mechanism of change that spatially sorts people into housing and neighbourhoods is residential mobility (Clark & Dieleman, 1996). Thus, understanding this relationship between residential mobility and housing is critical to addressing inequality.

2.4 Summary of Conceptual Framework

Overall, the life course perspective presents an effective way to conceptualize the relationship between residential mobility, housing, and inequality. Housing and mobility are embedded within the life course and connected across micro-, meso-, and macro-level opportunities and constraints that shape how people move through the housing system. Housing and mobility have key spatial and temporal dimensions within the life course. This includes linked lives across space and time – both across trajectories but also from earlier events and from different generations. Spatial and temporal dimensions are also reflected in housing choice and aspirations, including how housing choice varies across space and time and how aspirations lag behind the material contexts that enable them. This also adds to the complexity in studying housing and socio-geographic mobility in that it is impacted by different geographic scales, including at the scale of the neighbourhood as both a constraint and as a choice in and of itself. Further, inequality is present at all points of this process. Residential mobility, embedded in the life course, forms part of the process of cumulative advantage and disadvantage as the outcomes and experiences of mobility accumulate across the life course. Mobility and its outcomes also stratify the life course, presenting different opportunities and life chances, as well as contributing to the de-standardization and individualization of the life course. Housing

inequalities both reflect and reinforce social and economic inequality. Particularly, in the

context of asset-based welfare restructuring and tenure discrimination, housing inequalities and the increasing divergence between households based on housing tenure map onto other forms of inequality and discrimination. And critically, residential mobility is a key mechanism of change in the housing market, which affects housing inequality.

Housing is a particularly important correlate and outcome of residential mobility in Western, Anglophone countries, with renters more likely to move than homeowners and more likely to experience more negative outcomes of residential mobility. Renters are also more likely to move for involuntary reasons, which has more negative outcomes, and move more often, which also has more negative outcomes. Homeowners move less frequently but experience better outcomes when they do, in part because they move more often for voluntary and positive reasons. Housing is also a composite good that cannot be reduced to a single variable and which varies spatially and temporally and socially. When households make housing choices, they make constrained choices that include choosing between neighbourhoods. Neighbourhoods are also part of the constraining element of housing choice and impact housing options available.

There is also real lack of Canadian research that explicitly focuses on this relationship between housing and residential mobility. Despite a tradition of residential mobility research in Canada, studies have often not included housing or only included tenure, mostly due to data gaps. These studies have also not typically included the reasons for moving due to data gaps, which again is an important mediating factor in the outcomes of mobility, particularly moving for involuntary/forced. This gap is important in part because the relationship between housing and mobility are so intwined, they have become implicit or expected. For example, the "housing career" or "housing ladder" concept that underpins Western, Anglophone housing systems like Canada highlights the housing outcomes of moves, while the movement part itself is implicit – despite mobility being the actual mechanism of these outcomes and thus the pivot that is being affected by context and policy. In the next chapter, I delve into the implicit part of this relationship between housing outcomes and mobility – how policy, particularly housing policy and normative ideas about the expected relationship between housing outcomes and mobility – structures this relationship, with a particular focus on the Canadian housing system.

3 Policy Context – The Housing System in Canada and Residential Mobility

Policy plays a role in patterns of residential mobility and housing outcomes by differentially providing opportunities and constraints regarding housing choices. However, part of the conceptual ambiguity when talking about residential mobility is that there is not necessarily policy explicitly aimed at mobility or a government department responsible for mobility in the same way that there is for immigration. Instead, residential mobility is impacted by a range of policies, including labour policy, immigration policy, education policy, and importantly for this discussion, housing policy. Equally, housing policy is impacted by a range of other policy areas – as will be discussed in this chapter, housing policy itself is sometimes only perceived as direct spend or policies for social and affordable housing.

In this section, I discuss the connections between housing, residential mobility and policy, focusing on housing policy. I first review previous research on housing policy and residential mobility, of which Canadian research is noticeably lacking.³ I then turn to a discussion of the Canadian housing system and how it implicitly and explicitly is built on a normative idea of the relationship between housing and residential mobility – the housing career ladder that ends in homeownership. Drawing from Coulter and colleagues (2016) work on mobility and the life course, it is through these social norms and life course scripts about who should be mobile when and for what reasons that become the focus of housing policy and which materially impact the ability to move or not. The intent of this analysis is not to fully outline the housing system in Canada and its history but to draw attention to key aspects of the housing system that shape the opportunities available to households and impact this relationship between housing, residential mobility, and inequality.

3.1 Residential Mobility and Policy: Impacts and Orientations

Residential mobility is impacted by both broad policy decisions and specific policies aimed at the mobility process. At the broader policy context, this includes policy decisions on mortgage

³ There is a growing body of research on housing policy in Canada and its history, including from David Hulchanski (2004), Greg Suttor (2016), Kristjana Loptson (2017), and Esther de Vos (2022).

market regulation and access to credit, housing stock availability and housing supply, costs of housing, taxation policy, security of tenure and rental market regulations, housing assistance and social housing supply, and job protection and social benefits (Caldera Sánchez & Andrews, 2011; Causa, 2020; Clark & Dieleman, 1996; Mulder & Hooimeijer, 1999). Research on the relationship between housing policy and mobility across OECD countries highlights that countries with stronger rental protections, including increased security of tenure for renters and rent control, have lower rates of mobility (Causa, 2020). They do not distinguish between differences in the outcomes of mobility, and they do not include Canada in their analysis. However, this research does highlight how the precarity of rental tenure that characterized many western, anglophone housing systems is produced and not inherent.

These policies also interact with each other to orient the housing system, affecting both the choice to move and the available housing choices. Research from the Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute on the relationship between housing policy and labour mobility found that owners had higher reservation wages and were less likely to move to respond to labour shocks, which is related to the broadly favourable policy environment for owners (Ong et al., 2017; Whelan & Parkinson, 2017). Whelan and Parkinson (2017) also note that rates of mobility are significantly lower amongst renters in social housing, which in part relates to the design of social housing programs that disincentivizes mobility because moving may result in the loss of affordable housing and security of tenure. Together, this policy environment has the potential to create "a distortion to the extent that the favoured treatment of owner-occupation limits the geographic mobility of individuals and households and, ultimately, the efficient functioning of labour markets." (Ong et al., 2017, p. 54). While Canada lacks comparable research, our policy environment is similar to the Australian context in many ways, with similar broad-based support for ownership and a similar rent-geared-to-income approach to social housing.

Some housing policy has specifically targeted mobility, but these policies have generally had mixed effects in part because these they typically do not address the broader institutional environment. This has been the intention of American policy interventions like Moving to Opportunity and Housing Choice Vouchers, which provide a rent subsidy to low-income households with the goal of deconcentrating poverty and moving households into more

advantaged neighbourhoods (Greenlee, 2019). However, these programs tend have to mixed effects. Although they can help with affordability, they do not usually result in long term moves to more advantaged neighbourhoods (Ellen, 2020; Kleit et al., 2016). This occurs in part because they are not accompanied with increases in housing supply, they often replace existing funding for affordable housing, and they do not address landlord discrimination (Greenlee, 2011). These policies also have problematic underlying assumptions, such as the paternalistic assumption that being close to more affluent neighbours will be positive for marginalized groups, including that more affluent neighbours will be 'role models' (Briggs, 1997). In practice, these policies focus on moving mostly non-white families into mostly white neighbourhoods rather than revitalizing the neighbourhoods that these families come from – neighbourhoods that have been systematically disinvested from and socially and economically excluded (Briggs, 1997).

Other policies, such as mixed income redevelopment of public/social housing, such through the HOPE IV program in the US, are place-based but have similar goals of poverty deconcentration through mobility by bringing in middle- and high-income households. However, these policies often result in gentrification, displacement, and reductions in affordable housing (Bolt et al., 2010). Even when low-income households are able to return their neighbourhoods, they often remain socially and economically excluded (Chaskin & Joseph, 2015). Canada has only recently started redeveloping social housing sites under mixed income programs, but it has had similar issues of economic and social exclusion (August, 2014, 2016). Part of the issue with these policies is that they do not address systematic barriers and discrimination that low income and racialized households face on the housing market. They also do not fundamentally enable more choice for households who have traditionally had very constrained choice sets.

Despite the importance of housing policy in shaping mobility opportunities and constraints, limited Canadian research explores this relationship. Canada was not included in the OECD research on housing policy and mobility (Caldera Sánchez & Andrews, 2011; Causa, 2020). Part of this may be due to Canada's tenure discriminatory housing system. Housing policy, especially in tenure discriminatory housing systems, is sometimes only thought of as direct spending or impacting social and affordable housing. However, housing does not exist in a vacuum. It is impacted by both indirect and direct policy decisions across tenure and across other policies

areas like income support, immigration, and employment and labour market protections (Christophers, 2019; Hulchanski, 2004; Loptson, 2017). There is also a tendency in tenure discriminatory systems to consider different tenures independently of one another, which is also partly linked in the Canadian context to our system of federalism, where different tenures are primarily governed by different levels of government (Hulchanski, 2004). To begin to address this gap, I now turn to a discussion of the current policy context and how the Canadian housing system differentially enables choice for owners and renters, both the choice to move or not and the choice of where and how to live.

3.2 Canadian Context – Housing System and Residential Mobility

The use of the term "housing system" is intentional. In tenure discriminatory housing systems like Canada, there is a tendency to separate the *housing market*, which is primarily perceived as owned, from the *housing sector or housing policy*, which is perceived as limited to social and affordable rental (Christophers, 2019; Hulchanski, 2004). However, market housing is equally impacted by housing policy and in many cases, owned-market housing receives far more (indirect) support than subsidized housing (Hulchanski, 2004). Further, separating the housing system by tenure or by support level creates a false dichotomy that does not recognize the dynamics of housing where policy decisions and trends in one area of the housing system impact the rest of the system (Christophers, 2019). I refer here to Loptson's definition of a housing system, where they write:

"A housing system can be understood, very broadly, as a system of institutionalized social (including political and economic) relations that define and organize housing within a society. It is a composite, formed through the interactions of formal institutional practices and informal social processes, which determines the very meaning of housing." (Loptson, 2017, p. 33).

Policy governs the housing system and determines its structure and orientation (Loptson, 2017). In Canada, our housing system is considered tenure discriminatory or tenure unequal (Hulchanski, 2004; Loptson, 2017). In tenure discriminatory housing systems, different tenures are treated as distinct and afforded different right and privileges. Because of the unequal way that different tenures are treated in policy, over time they become associated with different outcomes, which is then further used to support privileging certain forms of tenure of others

(Christophers, 2019). In most tenure discriminatory systems homeownership is privileged, or as Christophers describes it, homeownership has "been idealised; it has been lubricated, especially through the liberalisation of housing finance; and it has been subsidised, especially through the tax system" (2019, p. 7). However, it is not just that homeownership has been privileged, but that renting and other forms of tenure have been degraded. In the words of Christophers again, "Households have pursued home ownership, even when affordability has become increasingly stretched and onerous debt burdens increasingly required, partly because ownership has been actively encouraged but partly also because rental has been actively *dis*couraged" (2019, p. 9, emphasis in original). While Christophers is writing about the UK and Sweden, this tenure inequality – the active encouragement of ownership and the discouragement of rental – is true in Canada as well, as will be illustrated in this section.

As was discussed in chapter 2, tenure is not the only the characteristic of the housing system that impacts our experience of housing. Tenure encompasses a broad range of living arrangements beyond owning and renting, which are changing in the context of financialization and neoliberalism (Zavisca & Gerber, 2016). There are also co-operative housing arrangements and other forms of shared housing. However, a tenure discriminatory system reinforces tenure as dichotomous – as either owning or renting – and tenure remains critical to our experience of the housing system by differentially provided different rights and privileges based on tenure.

Further, the experience of tenure differs by place, particularly in Canada's system of federalism where most owner-occupation policy is addressed federally through tax policy and mortgage access and most rental policy is addressed provincially through landlord-tenant legislation and social housing legislation (Hulchanski, 2004). Municipalities also play a role through zoning and the permitting process (Lauster, 2016; Loptson, 2017). The housing system is also impacted by regional dynamics and urban and rural dynamics, so the housing system can have significant variation across the country while still maintaining the overall orientation towards homeownership (Loptson, 2017).

For this discussion, I focus on direct and indirect housing policy for owners, private market renters, and social and affordable housing renters at the national level, in the Alberta context, and in the two major Alberta cities of Edmonton and Calgary. I consider how these policies

impact residential mobility by differentially providing constraints and opportunities to move and the choices available when moving. An overview of these policies is provided in Table 3.1 below with detailed discussion of key policies by tenure following.

Government	Policy Instrument	Mechanism	Key Actors
	Home Buyers' Plan	tax protected retirement savings which can be used for first time home purchase	Home purchasers
	First Time Home Buyers Incentive	shared equity mortgage	Home purchasers
	Residential Mortgage Insurance	government backed mortgage insurance to enable lower down payments	Home purchasers
	Multifamily Mortgage Insurance	government backed mortgage insurance for multi-family rentals	Landlords
	Home Buyers' Amount	\$5000 non-refundable tax credit amount on home bought during tax year	Home purchasers
	Home accessibility tax credit	tax credit for renovation expenses for persons with disabilities	Homeowners
Federal	GST/HST new housing rebate	tax rebate for some of GST/HST paid on new home or renovations	Homeowners; Home purchasers
	Taxation Policy	Capital Gains Tax Exemption for Primary Residences	Homeowners
	Monetary Policy	interest rates	lending institutions; home purchasers; homeowners landlords
	CMHC-Bilateral Agreements	bilateral agreements on existing social housing funding and eligibility	provinces and territories
	NHS-Bilateral Agreements	bilateral agreements for new social and affordable housing programs with federal-provincial cost matching	provinces and territories
	NHS Programs	Programs under National Housing Strategy including the National Housing Co-Investment Fund and the Rental Construction Financing Initiative	Developers, landlords, social and affordable housing organizations
	Mortgage Stress Test and Financial Regulation	Mortgage market regulation	OFSI, lenders, home purchasers
Provincial	Landlord-Tenant Regulation	residential tenancy legislation for landlord-tenant relations, rent control if any, reasons for evictions and remedies	Landlords; renters

Table 2.1 Cummon	of Conselien Llev		ante hu Laval of Covernm	
Table 5.1 Summary	y ul Callaulall Huu	sing Folicy instrum	ents by Level of Governm	ient

	Taxation policy	Some provinces have home buyer grants and supports in their taxation policy (Saskatchewan, BC)	Homeowners; Home purchasers
	Building Codes		Home builders
	Affordable Housing Regulation	affordable housing regulation for eligibility, amounts, income limits, etc.	Social and affordable housing organizations; low-income renters
	CMHC-Bilateral Agreements	administers CMHC funding for social and affordable housing	Social and affordable housing organizations; low-income renters
	NHS-Bilateral Agreements	Administer NHS-Bilateral agreements	Social and affordable housing organizations; low-income renters
	Canada Housing Benefit / Portable Housing Benefit	cash payment to low-income renters; cost matching between province and federal government	Low-income renters
	Home Renovation Grants	cash subsidies to support home renovations for aging in place and disabilities	Low-income residents
	Affordable Homeownership Programs	Programs to support homeowners such as Attainable Homes Calgary or First Homes Edmonton	low-income homeowners first time homeowners
Municipal	Planning and land use regulation	land use decisions and zoning including development fees	Property owners; residents; council
	Property taxes	Taxes paid on property in municipality	Property owners; residents
	Social and affordable housing	Varies but can direct housing supply, offering public land at below market cost, funding to organizations	Social and affordable housing organizations; low-income renters

Sources: drawn from CMHC, Canada Revenue Agency, Hulchanski (2004)

3.2.1 Ownership

Homeownership is primarily governed federally and indirectly through taxation, mortgage markets, and financial regulation. Since the 1980s but increasingly over the 1990s, governments at all levels have increasingly supported ownership using these mechanisms as part of a turn to asset-based welfare (Hulchanski, 2004; Walks & Clifford, 2015). Asset based welfare refers to the restructuring of welfare state away from collective institutions and government to individuals through investments in assets which (hypothetically) accrue wealth over time. As housing is typically the largest asset owned by most households, support for asset-based

welfare has increasingly been in the form of supporting accumulation of property or housing assets particularly through the deregulation of the mortgage market (Doling & Ronald, 2010). In Canada, supports for homeownership as part of the turn to asset-based welfare included the development of the Home Buyer's Plan. Initially developed in 1992, this plan now enables first time home buyers to withdraw up to \$35,000 of tax protected savings from their Registered Retirement Savings Plan to form the down payment (Canada Revenue Agency, 2019).⁴ Although mortgage interest is not tax-deductible like in the US, many other tax supports for homebuyers and homeowners exist (Walks, 2014a). These include the Homebuyer's Amount, the Home Accessibility tax credit, and the GST/HST new housing rebate for homeowners and homebuyers (Canada Revenue Agency, 2021a). Some provinces also have homebuyer supports in their taxation policy (Canada Revenue Agency, 2021b). Correspondingly, between 1991 and 2016, the homeownership rate increased from 62.6% to 67.8% in 2016, down slightly from the peak of 69.0% in 2011 (Statistics Canada, 2017c) but still very high amongst OECD countries (Cheung, 2014).

Additionally, capital gains from housing equity from owner-occupied housing are exempted from capital gains tax and have been since 1972 (Department of Finance, 2021). This is a considerable indirect subsidy as housing equity makes up the biggest proportion of household's wealth and is the most commonly held asset. In Canada, real estate accounted for a large percentage of the increase in family-owned assets between 1999 and 2016, with principal residences contributing 39% and other real estate contributing 12% (Gellatly & Richards, 2019). In 2004, the Department of Finance estimated the capital gains tax exemption amounted to a \$3.7 billion subsidy to owners; in the same year, the total direct subsidy for social housing was \$1.8 billion (Hulchanski, 2004). Since this time, both the homeownership rate and the price of housing has increased substantially while funding for social housing has not, meaning that the indirect subsidy for homeowners is even larger now. The result of such policies is growing wealth inequality between owners and renters (see Christophers, 2019).

⁴ Note that this plan was initially capped at \$25,000 but was recently increased to \$35,000 with rising housing costs.

Homeowners are privileged through taxation policy and supported through the financial regulatory framework. Support for asset-based welfare has also included the de-regulation of the mortgage market (Doling & Ronald, 2010), coupled with the financialization of home – the transformation of homes and mortgages into financial products at both the individual level, where housing is seen as investment first and foremost, and at the macrolevel where mortgages are securitized and sold on financial markets to investors (Aalbers, 2008).

Canada has a unique system of state-led and supported mortgage insurance and mortgage securitization that has made the mortgage market more accessible (Walks, 2014a; Walks & Clifford, 2015). Mortgage insurance is required for mortgages originating from federally regulated lenders where the borrower has less than 20% down payment. Initially, mortgage insurance required a minimum of 10% down payment. In 1992, the federal government introduced what was then called the First Home Loan Insurance program which provided federally-backed mortgage insurance for up to 95% of the loan, meaning that prospective homebuyers could purchase with only 5% down payment (Hulchanski, 2004). In 1998, it was made permanent and expanded to all homebuyers (Hulchanski, 2004). In 2006, the minimum down payment was reduced to 0% and 40-year amortization periods to be eligible for CMHC mortgage insurance, as well as allowing interest-only mortgages, which resulted in a significant rise of household debt and house prices (Walks, 2014a).

After the 2008 Global Financial Crisis, the federal government introduced a series of changes to eligibility for mortgage insurance to reduce risk in the housing market (CMHC-SCHL, 2020d). However, CMHC continues to provide mortgage insurance for the majority of the market, and to support 'competition', provides guarantees for 90% of the mortgage insurance underwritten by the private market through Genworth and Canada Guaranty (Walks & Clifford, 2015). In 2019, 40% of outstanding residential mortgages originating from the chartered banks were insured (CMHC-SCHL, 2020d). In 2017, the average CMHC-insured loan amount was \$172,322 with total value of CMHC insurance in force of \$480 billion (CMHC-SCHL, 2018a). Again, this is significantly larger than the supports provided for private or social renters.

With the privileging of ownership in housing policy, the Canadian housing stock also predominantly comprises ownership options. In 2016, 53.6% of Canadian households and

61.9% of Albertan households lived in single detached housing (Statistics Canada, 2017a). This is linked to both mortgage lending practices and zoning practices. Single detached housing is primarily owned, and initially, mortgages were only available for single detached housing (Lauster, 2016). The role of zoning further permitted the spread of the owned house because suburban land was exclusively zoned for single-detached houses (Lauster, 2016). This meant the proliferation of the actual number of single-detached houses within the metropolitan area, so that the majority of residential land is exclusively zoned for single-detached housing (Walker & Carter, 2010). While this is starting to change with concerns about affordability and climate change (see Wegmann, 2020), the owned house remains privileged in land use decisions.

Overall, this review highlights that while these policies are not explicitly aimed at residential mobility, they are implicitly oriented towards the owner-occupied single detached housing being the "end stop" of a household's residential mobility journey – in other words, the end of the "housing ladder." Households are heavily supported through federal legislation to move into ownership and stay as an owner, particularly through the capital gains exemption, to fund their retirement. This relationship is core to asset-based welfare. In addition to policy supports through taxation policy and mortgage regulation, owned households face more available housing choice due to a policy environment that promoted building owned single detached homes.

3.2.2 Private Rental

While increasingly supporting homeownership through the 1990s, Canadian governments at all levels were also disinvesting from both private rental and social and affordable housing. Private rental makes up about one-third of the Canadian housing system, but private rental production has not kept up with demand, resulting in declining quality, limited vacancy, and rising prices. Most of Canada's purpose-built rental stock was built during the 1960-70s apartment boom as baby boomers left their parental homes, while rental production declined throughout the 1980s as tax supports for rental production were ended, including the Multi-Unit Residential Building tax incentive (Crook, 1998; Suttor, 2015). These apartment buildings are located in aging suburban neighbourhoods and are in need of repair, so that renters tend to be living in smaller, older housing than homeowners (Claveau, 2020; Suttor, 2015). Within the purpose-

built rental sector, in many Canadian cities, rental vacancy rates are very low, with particularly low vacancy rates in Vancouver and Toronto (CMHC-SCHL, 2021b). However, even in cities with higher vacancy rates, rents are still expensive and increasing. The rental units that are available tend to be newer and much more expensive because recent rental production has focused on high-end luxury units (Pomeroy & Maclennan, 2019). For example, in Edmonton, the average rents for new purpose-built rentals was \$1,513 per month, 31.2% higher than the average for all purpose-built rentals (CMHC-SCHL, 2021b).

With the further expansion of condominium or strata legislation, combined with increasing prices for single detached ownership, the condominium market has boomed and replaced much of the private rental production (Rosen & Walks, 2013). In 2016, approximately 13.3% or 1.9 million households lived in condominiums across Canada, growing by 16.6% in CMAs and 11.9% in non-CMAs. Of these households, approximately 67% were owners and 32% were renters, while condominiums represent a third of all dwellings built between 2011 and 2016 (Statistics Canada, 2017b). Further, condominium units are increasingly bought as investment properties and rented on the secondary rental market, so that the secondary market forms a much larger proportion of the rental market now that tends to be more expensive (Crook, 1998; Rosen & Walks, 2013). This trend in investment properties also reflects the financialization of housing where housing is seen as an investment first and foremost and thus reflects ongoing support for asset-based welfare by supporting owners as private landlords (Arundel, 2017; Hulse et al., 2020).

Renters have less security of tenure than owners. Tenure security for renters is primarily governed by landlord-tenancy regulation, and renting is primarily governed provincially, which effectively means that there are 13 different rental systems (Hulchanski, 2004). In Alberta, landlord-tenant relations are covered in the *Residential Tenancies Act*, which establishes reasons why a tenancy can be terminated. If a tenant is in arrears, they can be evicted with 14 days' notice without having to go to through a court system, and there are limited to no eviction prevention supports (Collins et al., 2021). There is no rent control in the regulatory framework under the *Residential Tenancies Act*, save that rent can only be increased once per year, and no regulation on additional costs and fees, such as late fees or pet fees. Conversely,

owners have much more stability of monthly shelter costs, as their costs are tied to mortgage underwriting practices, including mortgage amortization lengths, the original loan to value ratio, and interest rates (Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions, 2017). Further, the foreclosure process for homeowners is governed by a mix of contract law, the *Bank Act* (for mortgages originating from federally regulated banks), mortgage insurance requirements (for mortgages with loan-to-value ratio of less than 80%, i.e., a down payment of less than 20%), and the lenders' own policies. If a lender chooses to go forward on a foreclosure, they must go through the court system, which can take time (Calgary Legal Guidance, 2021). Mortgage lenders are overall incentivized to work with borrowers (e.g., CMHC-SCHL, 2020b), in a way that landlords are not.

Of the policy supports that do exist for private rental, most are not aimed at renters. Instead, they support landlords and owner-investors with the intent of increasing rental supply (e.g., CMHC-SCHL, 2018b, 2020c, 2021a). Some programs – like the Income Property Mortgage Insurance program – are actually aimed at investor-owners as part of the ongoing support for asset-based welfare (Walks & Clifford, 2015). Other programs under the National Housing Strategy aimed at rental supply, such as the National Housing Co-Investment Fund and the Rental Construction Financing Initiative have been slow to commit funding to new units (Macdonald, 2019; Pomeroy, 2021). Although the National Housing Strategy includes support for a new portable housing benefit for renters called the Canada Housing Benefit, it requires cost-matching from the provinces, and is aimed at providing a maximum of \$2,500 annually to eligible households. Economist David MacDonald (2019) suggests that the benefit may support at most 12% of the 2.4 million renter households who are spending more than 30% of their income on rent. Similarly, the Parliamentary Budget Officer notes in their analysis of the Canada Housing Benefit that few households will be removed from core housing need given the program design (Office of the Parliamentary Budget Officer, 2019).

As rental housing has not been a priority, and as the private and public investment has shifted towards the owned and high-income portions of the housing system, rental housing has become characterized by residualization and socio-tenure segregation (Suttor, 2015). "Residualization" refers to the way that renting and non-ownership forms of tenure have

become characterized by lower policy priority, lower levels of investment, lower quality housing, often in marginalized neighbourhoods, and disproportionately home to groups who have been made marginalized (Suttor, 2015). Where previously the income distribution was more even across tenures, rental housing has become increasingly low income as higher income households were able to move into the homeownership market as the mortgage market was made more accessible and while cuts to social and affordable housing means that more low-income households are forced onto the private rental market (Hulchanski, 2004; Suttor, 2015, 2016). As housing is a built structure that is spatially located in neighbourhoods, this has also resulted in the increasing concentration of poverty in aging suburban neighbourhoods, which may not have access to services and amenities including employment opportunities and affordable and accessible transportation (Hulchanski, 2011; Suttor, 2015). Increasing neighbourhood inequality and spatial polarization is driven by these sorting process across tenures, so that high-income, high-wealth, and high-homeownership neighbourhoods have become clustered (Walks, 2014b).

Comparatively to the review of ownership policy, like so many other Western Anglophone countries, private renting has been made more precarious and more scarce, including through removal of direct policy supports for renters, the removal of taxation supports for purpose-built rentals and the turn towards owned and high-income housing. Private rental is not seen as a long-term housing option for households, and rather as a "stop" when households are young on their way to owned housing, or as the unintended, negative outcome. Unlike owners, private renters thus face a housing system with far less choice in the decision to move and far less choices when households do move, out of choice or not, including making it more difficult to access other parts of the housing system, including owned housing and social and affordable housing, as will be discussed more in the next section.

3.2.3 Social and Affordable Housing

Social and affordable housing is a broad category without a clear definition. It generally refers to non-market housing supported by the government. It may have a rent-geared-to-income structure, where rents are set at a percentage of tenants' income, and may be provided by government, municipalities, public housing agencies, and non-profits (Suttor, 2016). Generally,

social and affordable housing is more integrated into neighbourhoods in Canada than in the US, where social and affordable housing was very concentrated. They also tend to be more centrally located in the 1960s to 1980s suburban rings around cities, reflecting the broader development of the city and when most funding was available (Suttor, 2016). Social and affordable housing is also governed primarily by provinces with some similarities due to the legacy social housing agreements (Suttor, 2016).

Canada has a distinct history of social and affordable housing amongst similar countries. Canada began scaling back social housing in the 1980s, and in 1993, the federal government stopped funding new social housing units. In 1996, the federal government transferred responsibility for social and affordable housing to the provinces through bilateral agreements (also called legacy social housing agreements) (Hulchanski, 2004; Suttor, 2016). During the "public housing heyday" from about 1965-1973, social housing rental units accounted for approximately 10% of total annual housing production (Suttor, 2016). Since cutting federal funding, limited new social and affordable housing has been built for the past 30 years, and social and affordable housing accounts for approximately 4% of the housing stock as of 2016, one of the lowest proportions amongst OECD countries (OECD Social Policy Division, n.d.). Existing units are aging and in need of repairs with significant deferred maintenance issues, while wait lists have increased as the cost of housing has increased while incomes have stagnated. In 2018, there were over 283,800 households on waiting lists for social and affordable housing, while approximately 628,700 households were living in social and affordable housing across Canada, about 1 in 10 renters (Statistics Canada, 2019c).

In 2017, the federal government released the National Housing Strategy with a variety of programs and policies to intended to support both the private and social rental sector (Government of Canada, 2017). The National Housing Strategy was originally described as a \$40 billion, ten-year strategy.⁵ The Parliamentary Budget Officer has noted in their independent

⁵ The National Housing Strategy is now described as a \$55+ billion strategy, reflecting an additional \$10 billion in loans announced in Budget 2019, but the Parliamentary Budget Officer's analysis is still relevant (Office of the Parliamentary Budget Officer, 2019).

analysis that the strategy includes relatively little new spending and is mostly a re-allocation of existing funds, combined with more loans, and requires cost-matching from the provinces for many initiatives. The strategy actually includes a decline in funding for affordable housing, declining from \$2.3 billion/year from 2008-2017 to \$2.0 billion/year between 2018-2027 (Office of the Parliamentary Budget Officer, 2019). They conclude that "it is not clear that the National Housing Strategy will reduce the prevalence of housing need relative to 2017 levels" (Office of the Parliamentary Budget Officer, 2019, p. 23).

Further, despite the federal government's re-engagement with social and affordable housing, the policy framework has not been significantly updated in over 30 years. As in other Anglophone countries like the UK, social housing in Canada is increasingly means-tested and time-limited compared to supports for homeowners that are much more universal with limited conditions (Fitzpatrick & Pawson, 2014; Hulchanski, 2004). Accessing social and affordable housing is highly conditional, where households must be under income and asset limits, often must meet behavioural conditions, and demonstrate need, which can be retraumatizing and stigmatizing (de Vos, 2022). Additionally, once accessed, tenants must remain continually eligible for social housing at all times, including remaining under the income limits, and they have an obligation to report any changes in their income or household composition to their housing management body, meaning that at any time, renters could lose their eligibility and their home (Collins et al., 2021; de Vos, 2022). As social and affordable housing has become more conditional, tenants have also become more complex with more vulnerabilities in a system that is not designed to support them, and social and affordable housing providers are faced with competing mandates as landlords and building managers and as social service providers, and households can thus face both unwanted mobility and immobility as a consequence of increasing conditionality.

Rents can also change month to month in social and affordable housing where rents are based on a percentage of income, which also acts as a disincentive to income mobility and reinforces social and affordable housing as distinct from the rest of the housing system (see Whelan & Parkinson, 2017 in the Australian context). There is limited stock, so opportunities to transfer social housing units and maintain security of tenure are very limited, and due to the

disinvestment and decline in private rental that results in limited and expensive stock, it is difficult to move from social rental to the private market (see Pomeroy, 2017). In both Calgary and Edmonton, the private rental market is highly unaffordable for lower income households. Only 15% of the stock in Edmonton and 11% in Calgary is affordable to households in the first income quintile (CMHC-SCHL, 2021b). Note that this is not limited to vacant and available units, which tend to be more expensive – meaning that less of the "available" stock is affordable to low-income households.

If private rental housing is considered a transitional tenure in most homeowning societies, social and affordable housing is considered an 'ambulance service', short-term assistance or safety net instead of a long-term home (see Fitzpatrick & Pawson, 2014). Households in social and affordable have very little choice and control, and the system is not designed in a way to support tenant wellbeing (de Vos, 2022). While they may have more security of tenure in some ways than private renters, the system of continual eligibility and lack of control undermines security of tenure. Overall, this approach to social and affordable housing induces both tenure precarity and immobility.

3.3 Residential Mobility, Housing, and Policy Development Implications

Overall, the housing system forms the bounding box in which housing choices are made. It establishes different constraints and different resources for different tenures, different locations, and different people. The Canadian housing system is heavily oriented towards owner-occupation, meaning that there are more choices in the market for owners, more supports for households to become owners, more supports once households are owners, and more supports when households sell their home. Conversely, policies aimed at renters are actually aimed at landlords and developers and increasing rental supply, which has mostly taken the form of high-income luxury rental units instead of affordable and moderate-income rentals. Although renters have more flexibility to be able to move to adjust to labour markets, they also have less choice in the housing market, less choice about their own mobility and face more issues with affordability, suitability, and adequacy. The out-of-date policy framework for social and affordable housing also creates disincentives to employment and mobility opportunities, coupled with still limited funding for new social housing supply. Both renters on

the private market and in social and affordable housing face much more constrained housing choice than owners.

Homeownership and homeowners are not inherently problematic. What is problematic is the privileging of ownership at the expense of other forms of housing who face far more insecurity, unaffordability, and quality issues. This is also at the expense of more recent and vulnerable homeowners who face higher debt to income and debt to asset ratios, more often receive unregulated mortgages with higher interest rates, and are a much greater risk of insolvency in the case of market correction (Macdonald, 2015; Walks, 2013; Walks et al., 2018), which can also create lock in effects and reduced mobility in the case of a housing bust (F. Ferreira et al., 2010).

Together, the Canadian housing system has the potential to create unwanted immobility and mobility in all housing tenures, even ownership where households receive significantly more support. This can also result in both housing and labour market distortions, as Ong and colleagues (2017) similarly noted in the Australian context. However, one of the many issues with the housing system is that it is path dependent. Housing is a built structure that typically lasts for 30 years or longer, and mortgages are amortized over very long periods of time, often 25 years. It takes years to develop new housing, especially higher density housing and social and affordable housing, and to acquire the financing, zoning, and permits. The orientation of the housing system towards ownership and the discursive prejudice that has been built up against renting has taken years to develop and has occurred against the backdrop of welfare state restructuring (Ronald, 2008).

With the restructuring of the welfare state, housing takes on a unique role as both the 'wobbly pillar' and the 'cornerstone' (Malpass, 2008). It is the wobbly pillar because housing is more connected to the market than other policy pillars of the welfare state, like education and health, but it is also the cornerstone because access to high quality housing, particularly homeownership is fundamental to our current and future welfare and provides differential access to the welfare state (Doling & Ronald, 2010; Hulchanski, 2004). Housing construction and housing wealth make up a large proportion of Canada's economy (Walks, 2014a), so much so that Lopston (2017) refers to it as the "housing economy." This also means that changes in

the housing system would require a fundamental rethinking not just of our approach to housing but our approach to our economic and social systems.

And importantly, I am writing this thesis in the ongoing context of the COVID-19 pandemic, which has shown in sharp contrast the importance of housing, the inequality in our housing system, and the very real human impacts of housing inequality. The COVID-19 pandemic and corresponding economic recession have illustrated just how unevenly we have approached the relationship between housing and mobility in the Canadian housing system. During the COVID-19 pandemic, CMHC and the chartered banks together implemented mortgage deferral programs for homeowners facing financial insecurity. At one point, over \$1 billion of mortgages were being deferred monthly (CMHC-SCHL, 2020d). However, no such similar income support or deferral program was implemented for renters. While there were some emergency limits on evictions and rent increases put in place, these were time-limited and required tenants to make payment arrangements with their landlords. In Alberta, tenants could still be evicted for failing to keep their payment arrangements on rent owing (Government of Alberta, 2021). Before the pandemic, renters were already more financially precarious than homeowners with less savings to drawn upon if any (Tranjan, 2020). Interest rates were heavily cut and fueled by higher rates of savings amongst high income Canadians, Canadian housing markets have been described as a 'frenzy' (The Globe and Mail Editorial Board, 2021), with house prices rising in nearly all markets (CMHC-SCHL, 2021c). Again, Canadians have been supported to move into homeownership and stay in homeownership, while renters have not been equally supported. Now, both owners and renters are struggling in the face of inflationary pressures, with mortgage interest rates and rents both increasing significantly in the past year combined with other inflationary pressures, including across food and utilities (Statistics Canada, 2023). These impacts are also uneven – with rising mortgage interest rates impacting newer, more vulnerable homeowners while older homeowners who have experienced the most wealth gains over time more protected.

This discussion of the Canadian housing system provides important context, as it is in this context that households make their housing and mobility choices. It demonstrates how approaches to housing tenure have become more unequal over time, especially since the 1990s

and the move to housing-based asset-based welfare. It also sets the scene to consider how these policy decisions structurally and unequally shape residential mobility patterns and housing outcomes, and what policy development options are available to intervene in this relationship and begin to address inequality. The policy context forms an important part of the analysis strategy outlined in the next chapter.

4 Analysis Strategy

This thesis explores five related research questions:

- 1. How do residential mobility patterns differ by housing tenure?
- 2. How are past tenure and mobility experiences associated with current housing tenure?
- 3. How does the relationship between past tenure and mobility experiences and current housing tenure vary based on income, age, and health status?
- 4. How does the relationship between residential mobility and housing contribute to inequality in Canada?
- 5. What are the implications for housing policy and practice?

In this chapter, I outline the analysis strategy to explore these guiding research questions. I first describe the data, drawn from the 2018 wave of the Canadian Housing Survey. I then outline the methods I use in this thesis, including descriptive statistics, a series of multiple regression models, and policy analysis. Lastly, I describe the dependent, predictor, and control variables I use to explore these research questions, drawing primarily from the housing transitions framework (Beer & Faulkner, 2011) and from broader life course theory.

4.1 Data

To analyze this relationship between housing, residential mobility, and inequality, I use 2018 Canadian Housing Survey data (Statistics Canada, 2019b). Housing choices and mobility occur within the life course and they are impacted by life course transitions that occur over time and space (Clark & Dieleman, 1996; Mulder & Hooimeijer, 1999). Recognizing this, the relationship between housing and mobility would be best explored with longitudinal data; however, Canada lacks longitudinal data especially of household events and housing characteristics. Housing and mobility research in Canada has been limited due, in part, to this lack of longitudinal or retrospective data on housing arrangements (Maroto & Severson, 2020). Previous work in Canada on housing over time has focused on specific sub-populations, such as older adults or immigrants (e.g., Haan, 2005; Haan & Perks, 2008) or large cohort-level analyses using census data (e.g., Hou, 2010; Northcott & Petruik, 2013). However, the new Canadian Housing Survey from Statistics Canada provides detailed housing data at the household level on why households move. It includes information on their past moving experiences and their moving intentions and detailed housing characteristics, enabling a more dynamic analysis of this relationship between mobility and housing. This survey was developed as an outcome of the 2017 National Housing Strategy. The Canadian Housing Survey is modelled after the American Housing Survey rather than other panel-based housing surveys in similar countries like the Household, Labour and Income Dynamics in Australia (HILDA) survey or the British Household Panel Survey in the UK. The survey uses a cross-sectional design and a stratified sampling frame based on the dwelling unit. The target population for the Canadian Housing Survey is private households living in the provinces and territories. The survey excludes households living in collective dwellings, such as people living in residences for senior citizens, people living full time in institutions, and people living on reserves. Further, the survey oversampled households on the low end of the income distribution and in social and affordable housing to enable more detailed analyses. As a new survey, data are only available for the first wave, collected in 2018.⁶

The full dataset is accessible as confidential but anonymized micro-data at the Statistics Canada Research Data Centre at the University of Alberta; however, it was logistically unfeasible to access the data at the Research Data Centre.⁷ For the purposes of this thesis, I use the public use micro-files (PUMF), which has a few caveats compared to the full dataset. There are survey weights in the PUMF but no bootstrap weights, which primarily affects the error estimations. Additionally, some variables have been supressed in the PUMF, including experiences of housing insecurity and homelessness, immigration status, marital status, and reasons for intending to move. However, despite these caveats, the PUMF still resembles the full dataset and provides for an exploration of these five research questions. Additionally, considering reproducibility and transparency, the process to access data in the Research Data Centres is

⁶ Collection for the 2020 wave of the Canadian Housing Survey was delayed until 2021 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Data is anticipated to be released in late Fall 2023. The 2022 wave of the survey is currently open until May 2023.

⁷ For more on this, see section 1.2 in the Introduction.
extensive and limiting, and thus most people – including applied researchers and policymakers would only have access to the PUMF – and thus this is the data that would be used to support policy decisions. There is an important but separate discussion about how we make data accessible or not (see Andrew-Gee & Grant, 2019).

The total dataset has 61,764 cases from across Canada. I restricted the analysis to households with a household referent person over 18 years or older. Additionally, households from the Territories were dropped as they were not asked some of the past mobility questions (n = 2,338). After dropping missing cases from the remaining variables, the total sample was reduced by 12,419 to 49,345 (20.11%). Most of the missing cases were in income (n=6,172, or 9.99% of the full 61,764 cases), affordability (n = 3,753 or 6.08%) which was related to the missing data for income, household composition (n = 3,607 or 5.84%), and dwelling type (n=3,398 or 5.50%). However, it is still a large dataset, at close to 50,000 cases.⁸ The sample is described in more detail in Table 4.1 below.

There are some limitations to the data. The survey mainly focuses on the 'reference person of the responding household', who is the household member responsible for housing decisions (Statistics Canada, 2019b). Although there is household level data, including if household members moved together or are planning to move together, most of the data, including reasons for moving and dwelling satisfaction are reflective of the reference person, not the household. Therefore, this analysis is limited to the 'reference person', which may obscure households with shared living arrangements, such as roommates. This also obscures adult children who may have moved back to their family home (e.g., Mitchell, 2006). Further, households who are currently experiencing homelessness or houselessness are not covered by the survey, who also experience distinct residential mobility patterns (Wiesel, 2014). Additionally, while research has demonstrated that there are gendered power dynamics in the decision to move among dual income, heterosexual couples (Winstanley et al., 2002), the CHS

⁸ I chose not to impute missing data as this is the first wave of this survey, there is no previous data to compare to; the survey over-sampled households in social and affordable housing; survey weights were available; and the sample size was still large after removing missing cases.

does not have data to be able to account for this at this time. Despite these limitations, this survey remains a key source, if not the only source, of information on the housing choice and mobility process in Canada. Future research should look to explore these dynamics in more detail.

By focusing on the 'reference person of the household', I effectively flatten variables that are measured at the household level, including tenure, dwelling type, and household income, to the individual level for the reference person. Other variables that are measured at the individual level include age, gender, education level, Indigeneity, visible minority status, and employment status. However, this is consistent with other approaches to studying residential mobility (see Baker et al., 2016; Clark, 2012; Pendakur & Young, 2013). All dependent, predictor, and control variables for all models are summarized in Table 4.1 below and described in more detail later in this chapter.

	Weighted N = 13,053,493; Unweighted n = 49,345 ¹	
Characteristic		
Current Housing Tenure		
Owner no mortgage	29% (0.0036)	
Owner with mortgage	41% (0.0040)	
Renter in private rental	27% (0.0034)	
Renter in social and affordable housing	3% (0.0008)	
Previous Housing Tenure		
Owned	44% (0.0039)	
Lived there rent free	9% (0.0024)	
Privately rented	45% (0.0039)	
Rented in social & affordable housing	2% (0.0011)	
Future Housing Tenure Expectations		
Not intending to move - same as current tenure	72% (0.0036)	
Own	19% (0.0032)	
Rent	9% (0.0022)	
Length of time in current dwelling		
Less than 2 years ago	12% (0.0025)	
2 years to less than 5 years ago	22% (0.0033)	
5 years to less than 10 years ago	20% (0.0032)	
10 or more years ago or always lived here	46% (0.0039)	
Length of time until planning to move		
Less than 2 years	12% (0.0025)	
2 years to less than 5 years	9% (0.0024)	
5 years to less than 10 years	7% (0.0021)	
10 or more years	6% (0.0018)	
No plans to move	47% (0.0039)	
Don't know	19% (0.0031)	
Moved for housing reasons	61% (0.0038)	
Moved for family reasons	34% (0.0038)	
Moved for work reasons	15% (0.0028)	
Moved for other reasons	10% (0.0023)	
Moved for forced reasons	4% (0.0015)	
Total Household Income	· · · ·	
Mean	99,565	

Table 4.1 Descriptive Statistics for Total Sample, Canadian Housing Survey, 2018

Characteristic	Weighted N = 13,053,493;	
Madian	Unweighted n = 49,345 ¹	
Median ncome Quintiles	77,500	
First Quintile	20% (0.0030)	
Second Quintile	20% (0.0030) 20% (0.0031)	
Third Quintile	19% (0.0031)	
Fourth Quintile	20% (0.0032)	
Fifth Quintile	20% (0.0032)	
	22% (0.0055)	
Age Mean	52.6	
Median	53.00	
Age Groups	55.00	
29 years or younger	8% (0.0023)	
30 to 39 years	18% (0.0032)	
40 to 49 years	17% (0.0030)	
50 to 59 years	20% (0.0032)	
60 to 69 years	19% (0.0032)	
70 to 79 years	12% (0.0030)	
80 years or older	6% (0.0024)	
Health Status	0% (0.0017)	
Health rated excellent, very good or good	86% (0.0028)	
Health rated excellent, very good of good Health rated fair or poor	14% (0.0028)	
Current Dwelling Type	14% (0.0026)	
Apartment building 5 stories and higher	11% (0.0027)	
Apartment building 5 stories and nigher Apartment building less than 5 stories	11% (0.0027)	
Apartment building less than 5 stories Rowhouse or townhouse	7% (0.0029)	
Semidetached or duplex	. ,	
	10% (0.0025)	
Single detached dwelling Unaffordable	52% (0.0039)	
	22% (0.0034)	
Unsuitable (overcrowded)	4% (0.0019) 7% (0.0020)	
Inadequate (major repairs needed)	7% (0.0020)	
Inaccessible (needs adaptations)	0.4% (0.0020)	
Does not need adaptations	94% (0.0020)	
Does not have adaptations	3% (0.0014)	
Has adaptations	3% (0.0015)	
Urban/Rural Status	21% (0.0020)	
Rural	21% (0.0029)	
Urban	79% (0.0029)	
Location of previous dwelling	2011 (0.0020)	
In different city/town, Indian reserve or outside Canada	36% (0.0038)	
In same city/town/village/township/Indian reserve	64% (0.0038)	
Province	200/ /0.00/41	
Ontario	39% (0.0041) 11% (0.0010)	
Alberta	11% (0.0019)	
Atlantic	6% (0.0009) 13% (0.0024)	
BC	13% (0.0024)	
Manitoba and Saskatchewan	6% (0.0010) 26% (0.0025)	
Québec	26% (0.0035)	
Gender		
Female	50% (0.0039)	
Male	50% (0.0039)	
Household Composition		
one couple no children	28% (0.0034)	
one census family plus others	6% (0.0023)	
one couple with children	25% (0.0036)	
one lone parent family	8% (0.0022)	
one person not in census family	29% (0.0035)	
two or more persons not in a census family	4% (0.0016)	
Household Indigeneity Status		
No household member is Indigenous	97% (0.0013)	
At least one household member is Indigenous	3% (0.0013)	
Household Visible Minority Status		
No household member belongs to a visible minority group	79% (0.0036)	
At least 1 hhld member belongs to a visible minority group	21% (0.0036)	

Characteristic	Weighted N = 13,053,493; Unweighted n = 49,345 ¹	
Characteristic		
Household Highest Education Level		
BA or higher	40% (0.0039)	
Less than BA	60% (0.0039)	
Household Employment Status		
At least one member of the household was employed	70% (0.0035)	
No member of the household was employed	30% (0.0035)	
Overall dwelling satisfaction		
Dissatisfied or very dissatisfied	5% (0.0017)	
Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied	11% (0.0026)	
Satisfied	46% (0.0039)	
Very satisfied	37% (0.0038)	

4.2 Methods

The analysis strategy for this project relies on four sets of analyses to address these five research questions. First, focusing on the first research question, **How do residential mobility patterns differ across housing tenure**, I start the analysis descriptively and explore when households moved, how (in what housing tenure) households moved, and why households moved across past, current, and future housing tenure. Housing tenure is both an important predictor and outcome of residential mobility (see Causa, 2020; Clark, 2012), and this may be especially so in Canada's tenure discriminatory housing system (see Hulchanski, 2004). Considering the lack of research on mobility and housing in Canada and that this is the first wave of the Canadian Housing Survey, these descriptive statistics will be relevant and of interest to the broader public. These results also help inform the variables used in the models. The results of this analysis are presented in Chapter 5.

Second, focusing on research question two, **How are past tenure and mobility experiences associated with current housing tenure**, I use a multinomial regression model to explore the process of residential mobility and its causes and consequences, including how the mobility process differs based on tenure and contributes to inequality. Multinomial regression extends logistic regression where there are more than two potential outcomes. Recognizing that tenure is an important socio-geographic outcome of residential mobility that is unequally distributed and linked to broader social and economic inequality, I draw from the housing transitions framework from Beer and Faulkner (2011) and assess the association between four current tenure outcomes and a household's housing history (past tenure and measures of mobility). However, considering the uneven distribution of constraints (discussed in chapter 2), I also assess the association between current tenure and three group characteristics: income, age, and health status. These results are presented in Chapter 6.

Third, focusing on research question three, **How does the relationship between past tenure and mobility experiences and current housing tenure vary based on income, age, and health status**, I disaggregate the multinomial regression models exploring the association between current tenure outcomes and housing history variables by (structural) constraints: income, age, and health status. These results are presented in Chapter 7.

Lastly, focusing on research questions four and five, **How does the relationships between residential mobility and housing contribute to inequality**, and, **What are the implications for housing policy and practice**, I discuss the results from the descriptive and multivariate analyses presented in chapters 5, 6, and 7 and discuss how the housing – residential mobility relationship contributes to inequality. This discussion is presented in Chapter 8. This part of the analytical strategy also involves a policy analysis of the barriers and opportunities to improve the residential mobility process by tenure and discussion of the implications of the results for housing policy and practice. This policy analysis begins in chapter 3 with a detailed discussion of the policy context that structures the results. In chapter 9, I discuss policy implications and options to address inequality and support choice in the mobility process.

All descriptive and inferential statistics are calculated using survey weights provided in the Canadian Housing Survey PUMF. The descriptive and inferential statistics are completed using R (R Core Team, 2022). All packages used are listed in Table 4.2 below; key packages are noted here:

- The descriptive analyses are completed using the tidyverse, survey, and sryvr packages.
- The multinomial models are fitted using the nnet package.
- The average marginal effects are calculated using the marginal effects package.
- The predicted probabilities are calculated using the ggeffects package.
- Summary tables were created using the gt, gtsummary, and flextable packages.

• Chapters 5, 6, and 7 were written in Quarto.

Package	Version	Citation
base	4.2.2	R Core Team (2022)
effects	4.2.2	Fox (2003); Fox and Hong (2009); Fox and Weisberg (2018); Fox and Weisberg (2019)
flextable	0.8.3	Gohel and Skintzos (2022)
ggalluvial	0.12.3	Brunson and Read (2020)
ggeffects	1.1.4	Lüdecke (2018)
ggfittext	0.9.1	Wilkins (2021)
glue	1.6.2	Hester and Bryan (2022)
grateful	0.1.11	Rodríguez-Sánchez, Jackson, and Hutchins (2022)
gt	0.8.0	lannone et al. (2022)
gtsummary	1.6.3	Sjoberg et al. (2021)
here	1.0.1	Müller (2020)
janitor	2.1.0	Firke (2021)
knitr	1.41	Xie (2014); Xie (2015); Xie (2022)
labelled	2.10.0	Larmarange (2022)
marginaleffects	0.8.1	Arel-Bundock (2022a)
modelsummary	1.2.0	Arel-Bundock (2022b)
nnet	7.3.18	Venables and Ripley (2002)
officer	0.5.0	Gohel (2022)
patchwork	1.1.2	Pedersen (2022)
performance	0.10.1	Lüdecke et al. (2021)
revealjs	0.9	El Hattab and Allaire (2017)
rmarkdown	2.2	Xie, Allaire, and Grolemund (2018); Xie, Dervieux, and Riederer (2020); Allaire et al. (2023)
scales	1.2.1	Wickham and Seidel (2022)
srvyr	1.1.2	Freedman Ellis and Schneider (2022)
survey	4.1.1	Lumley (2004); Lumley (2010); Lumley (2020)
tidyverse	1.3.2	Wickham et al. (2019)

Table 4.2 R packages used in the analysis

The five research questions and methods are summarized in Table 4.3 below. I describe all measures used in the analyses in more detail in the next section of this chapter.

Table 4.3 Summary of Research Questions and Methods

Research Question	Method	Outcome Variable	Predictor Variables	Results
1. How do residential mobility patterns differ by housing tenure?	Descriptive analysis	Past housing tenure Future housing tenure expectations Residency length Intentions to move Reasons for moving	Current housing tenure outcomes	Chapter 5
2. How are past tenure and mobility experiences associated with current housing tenure?	Multinomial logistic regression model	Current housing tenure outcomes	Past housing tenure Residency length Reasons for moving Income Age group Health status	Chapter 6
3. How does the relationship between past tenure and mobility experiences and current housing tenure vary based on income, age, and health status?	Multinomial logistic regression model run separately for income, age, and health status	Current housing tenure outcomes run separately for income, age, and health status	Past housing tenure Residency length Reasons for moving Income Age group Health status	Chapter 7
4. How does the relationship between residential mobility and housing contribute to inequality in Canada?	Discussion			Chapter 8
5. What are the implications for housing policy and practice?	Policy analysis			Chapter 3 and Chapter 9

4.3 Measures

Overall, aligning with chapter 2 and the conceptual framework I outlined, I draw primarily from the housing transitions framework (Beer & Faulkner, 2011) and the broader life course theory in determining the measures to include in the analysis. These include measures for the five factors in the housing transitions framework (housing history, economic resources, stage in the life course, health and wellbeing, and aspirations and motivations), measures that account for life course principles including context (time and place), other life course transitions (linked lives), and previous life course experiences (life span development). All measures are summarized in Table 4.1 and described in detail in this section.

4.3.1 Dependent Variable

I am interested in how mobility and its outcomes relate to previous and current housing experiences, especially tenure, and how tenure differentially structures the mobility process and its outcomes. Housing tenure outcomes are thus the focal variable of this analysis. As discussed in chapter 2, housing tenure, while not the only way households experience housing, is increasingly important to our experiences of housing in tenure discriminatory housing systems like Canada and tenure inequality reflects and reinforces broader social and economic inequality (Christophers, 2019; Suttor, 2015). I focus on tenure because it critically provides different rights and privileges to households, especially in the Canadian context, and is increasingly an axis of stratification in the life course (see Christophers, 2018). I also choose to focus on tenure broadly, not just homeownership, as these housing tenures do not exist in a vacuum separate from each other (Christophers, 2019). While tenure is often described using binary owner/renter categorization, there are differences within these categories, including based on the presence of a mortgage or the presence of subsidies (Acolin, 2020; Hulchanski, 2004; Zavisca & Gerber, 2016).

Primarily, I focus on **current housing tenure**, measured using four categories: owner without a mortgage, owner with a mortgage, renter in private rental, and renter in social and affordable housing. In the CHS, social and affordable housing is defined as "non-market rental housing

(i.e., where housing allocation and rent-setting mechanisms are not entirely dictated by the law of supply and demand)" (Statistics Canada, 2021). They further clarify that these are households who indicated their rent was subsidized or that they report their income to set their rent and their landlord is a co-operative, government, or non-profit. Portable rent supplements are not considered social and affordable housing, and this definition relies on the household knowing that their rent is subsidized and who their landlord is. As they further outline in the user guide, there is no consistent definition of social and affordable housing so estimates of social and affordable housing will vary by source and definition. As demonstrated in Table 4.1, most households are owners with a mortgage (41%), followed by owners without a mortgage (29%), private renters (27%), and social and affordable housing (3%).

When discussing tenure, I use the terms "tenure outcomes" and "tenure expectations" intentionally, drawing from Preece and colleagues' (2020) review of housing choices and aspirations (see chapter 3). Recognizing that housing 'choice' is often a fallacy or an illusion, I use the term "outcome" to refer to current and past tenure situations, highlighting that these situations are a result of constrained choice which is constrained by micro-, meso-, and macro-level factors. In terms of future tenure, I use the term "expectations" to refer to shorter term, anticipated housing outcomes regardless of their preference or desirability. Expectations are more adaptable to the socioeconomic context (Preece et al., 2020).

4.3.2 Predictor Variables

4.3.2.1 Housing History Variables

The key predictor variables of interest in this study are previous housing and mobility experiences, which Beer and Faulkner describe as housing-history related variables.⁹ This set of variables considers a household's previous housing and mobility experiences and how they are related to current housing outcomes, with a particular focus on previous housing tenure experiences. This is drawn from the housing transitions framework (Beer & Faulkner, 2011) and

⁹ Note that "housing history" here is used in the way that Beer and Faulkner refer to it as a household's previous housing and mobility experiences rather than referring to the conceptualization of housing over the life course developed by Ray Forrest (see chapter 2).

from broader life course theory and specifically the principle of life span development, considering how previous life course experiences accumulate across our life course and form part of processes of cumulative advantage and disadvantage. I include three key variables as measures of a household's housing history: **past housing tenure**, **residency length**, and **reasons for moving**.

First, considering past housing tenure, as discussed previously, housing tenure is both a driver of mobility and an outcome of mobility. As such, housing tenure is used as predictor variables in all models by including past housing tenure. Past tenure outcomes are reflective of the household referent person and the variable is measured in four categories: lived there rent free, privately rented, rented in social and affordable housing, and owned. Among all households, previous housing tenure is more evenly split between owned (44%), rented (45%), with the remaining households having moved from lived rent free (9%) and from social and affordable housing (2%). In chapter 5, exploring mobility patterns by housing tenure, I also explore **future tenure expectations**, which though not reflecting actual housing experiences, still forms part of the planned trajectory of housing for the household and aligns with the life course perspective considering linked lives and constrained agency. Future tenure expectations are only available for households who plan to move in the future and is measured using two categories: owning and renting. Prescence of a mortgage is not available for past or future tenure. I transform future tenure expectations to include those not planning to move and thus stay in the same tenure (72%), those planning to move and own (19%), and those planning to move and rent (9%).

I also include residency length (**recency of move**) as a key predictor variable. This categorical variable measures when the move to the current dwelling occurred, measured as: less than 2 years, two years to less than five years, five years to less than 10 years, and 10 years or more or always lived there. I combined some of the categories due to small cell sizes. As demonstrated in Table 4.1, most households have lived in their home for 10 or more years or always lived there (46%). By measuring residential mobility through residency length rather than restricting the analysis to only households that moved, as is common in many other mobility studies, I aim to include both mobility and immobility, which are both important aspects of residential

mobility (Coulter et al., 2016). Further, in chapter 5, I also look at **future mobility intentions**, that is when, households are planning to move in the future. This is measured in categories, from less than 2 years; 2 years to less than 5 years; years to less than 10 years; 10 or more years; no plans to move; and don't know. Most households have no plans to move (47%, Table 4.1). Like with future tenure expectations, future mobility intentions forms part of a household's planned housing trajectory and aligns with the life course perspective in considering lives over multiple points in time.

The third housing-history related variables are a group of variables that measure the **reasons for moving** at the most recent move. Reasons for moving also serve as proxies for subjective meaning and aspirations associated with housing, which aligns with both the housing transitions framework and the housing pathways model from David Clapham. Reasons for moving are crucial to exploring the outcomes of mobility specifically (Baker et al., 2016; Clark & Maas, 2015). The voluntary/involuntary aspect of mobility is an important consideration for inequality and differences by tenure (Coulter & Scott, 2015; Hatch, 2021), especially when thinking about constrained housing choices and that individuals do not have the same housing choices available (Preece et al., 2020).

In the survey, respondents are asked to select from 14 possible reasons for moving; respondents could select all that apply. One reason for moving is excluded from the PUMF, "moved due to natural disaster", resulting in a total of 13 reasons for moving. In the descriptive analysis in chapter 5, I explore all 13 reasons for moving. For the models in chapters 6 and 7, I transform reasons for moving variables into five dummy variables for: housing, family, employment, forced, and other reasons for moving. **Housing reasons** includes moving to become a homeowner, moving to reduce housing costs, moving to a bigger/better dwelling, and moving for a more desirable neighbourhood. As demonstrated in Table 4.1, this is most commonly selected reason for moving (61%). **Family reasons** includes moving to be closer to family, moving to form a new household, and moving because of a household size change. **Employment reasons** includes moving to reduce commuting time and moving for a new job or transfer. **Other reasons** include moving for school, moving for personal health reasons, and moving for other reasons. **Forced moves** are defined in the Canadian Housing Survey as "forced

to move by a landlord, bank or other financial institution, or the government." Approximately 4% of households indicated they were forced to move at their most recent move (Table 4.1).

4.3.2.2 Other housing transitions factors (interaction terms)

I include three non-housing measures as key predictors. These are **age**, **household income**, **and health status**, which are included as proxies for three of the other four factors in the housing transitions framework (Beer & Faulkner, 2011). These are the stage in the life course, proxied by age; economic resources, proxied by household income; and health and wellbeing, proxied by self-reported health status. I refer to these three variables as "other housing transitions factors", linking these characteristics to the broader conceptual framework. They are included in the models both as predictor variables in chapter 6, and as interaction terms in chapter 7. Each of these three variables are described in more detail below.

I study age differences because housing transitions vary across the life course and are impacted by other life course transitions which are often linked with age (Beer & Faulkner, 2011), younger generations are experiencing a very different housing context than previous generations (McKee, 2012), and are more vulnerable to housing market adjustments (Macdonald, 2015). At the same time, housing-based inequality is increasing within generations as high-income young adults with access to family wealth are more easily able to move into ownership (Christophers, 2018). Age is also negatively associated with mobility, so that young adults are more likely to be mobile – but at the same time, young adults are more likely to live in apartments and be renters which is also associated with mobility (Clark, 2012, 2013). In Canada, mobility amongst older adults has decreased, potentially as more older adults choose to "age in place", but older adults still move – particularly those who are renters (Edmonston & Lee, 2014). Age is measured in years and is representative of the "household reference person". For the models, I mean centre age and include a quadratic term. For the disaggregated multinomial models in chapter 7, I transform age to a categorical variable measured in three categories: younger households who are 18 years old to 39 years old; middle aged households who are 40 to 59 years old; and older households who are 60 years or older.

Further focusing on inequality, household income is an important predictor as it is one of the major constraints in the housing transition framework (Beer & Faulkner, 2011) and in the housing choice process specifically (Mulder & Hooimeijer, 1999; van Ham, 2012). Homeownership and renting are also increasingly income-segregated and wealth-segregated (Suttor, 2015; Walks, 2016).¹⁰ Income is also a key correlate of mobility as one of the main constraints or enablers in being able to move (Clark, 2012). Income is measured using **gross household income**, as dwelling costs and other household costs are often paid for using pooled household income rather than personal income. Gross (pre-tax) income is used instead of after-tax as gross income is used by CMHC to assess housing affordability (Statistics Canada, 2017d). I explored including income as both a mean centered interval ratio variable and as a categorical variable using income quintiles. I used income quintiles in the final model as the R² value for the models was higher using the categorical variable and the results conceptually make more sense as a categorical variable.

Third, while disability status is not available, I include a measure for self-reported **health status** of the household referent person as a key predictor variable. Disability, health, and wellbeing is a key decision factor and constraint in the housing transitions framework, and as Beer and Faulkner (2011) note, is it a uniquely 21st century phenomenon. Individuals with disabilities and health issues are also underrepresented amongst homeowners and face more barriers to economic security (Dunn et al., 2006; Maroto & Pettinicchio, 2020). Health status also emerged in the descriptive analyses as a key variable to explore further (see Chapters 5 and 6) and was influenced by my own personal experiences with health throughout the COVID-19 pandemic (see Chapter 1). Health status is measured as a dummy variable, with "Excellent, very good or good" being the referent category and "Fair or poor" being the indicator. As demonstrated in Table 4.1, most households reported their health as "Excellent, very good or good", at 86%.

¹⁰ While measures of wealth would have been welcome, as wealth is more durable than income, homeownership is the biggest asset for most Canadian households and is a key driver in wealth inequality (see chapter 2).

4.3.3 Control Variables

Drawing from the life course and housing transitions framework, housing transitions are interrelated with other life course transitions and influenced by structural constraints. Specifically considering the life course principle of time and place, lives are lived in geographic, socioeconomic, and historical context which varies. Further, housing is a composite good, and while housing tenure is increasingly a key aspect of housing, there are other dimensions including type, size, and quality.

Drawing from these conceptual frameworks, I include sets of control variables that account for:

- Housing characteristics including dwelling type, affordability, adequacy, suitability, and accessibility to consider the composite nature of housing as well as structural influences like housing quality;
- Geographic characteristics including province, urban/rural status, and previous location (distance of move), to consider the contextual and embedded nature of housing transitions;
- Sociodemographic characteristics including gender, household composition, and race and ethnicity, to consider both the interconnection of other life course transitions (the life course principle of linked lives) but also how life course transitions including housing are often stratified across sociodemographic characteristics due to structural constraints;
- 4. **Socioeconomic characteristics** including employment status and education level to consider how choice is differentially constrained by economic resources;
- 5. **Aspirations and motivations** measured by satisfaction with current dwelling to begin to consider the subjective connections to housing and mobility.

These sets of variables are associated both housing tenure and with mobility, and including these variables helps to isolate the relationship between housing tenure and residential mobility patterns. Each of these sets of variables will be described below and are also presented in Table 4.1.

4.3.3.1 Housing Characteristics

The first set of control variables focuses on housing characteristics. Housing is a composite good and includes more than just tenure. To account for this, I include the **structural dwelling type** to assess the built form of housing outcome, measured in four categories as single detached home (single family home), attached home (semi-detached, duplexes, and townhouses); apartment less than 5 stories, and apartment greater than 5 stories. As demonstrated in Table 4.1, most households are currently living in a single detached dwelling, at 52%.

Room stress or overcrowding is a major correlate of mobility, so that households who are overcrowded are more likely to move (Clark, 2012) but which is also centralized amongst renters who tend to live in smaller dwellings (Claveau, 2020). I also include variables to assess the quality of housing, including **dwelling condition/adequacy** – that is, whether the dwelling is in need of major repairs; **overcrowding/suitability** – that is, whether the dwelling has enough bedrooms for the household based on the household size and composition; and **affordability** – that is, whether or not the household is spending 30% or less of their pre-tax household income on monthly shelter costs. Among these three indicators, more households are struggling with affordability (22%) than suitability (4%) or adequacy (7%). Unique to this survey, I also include **accessibility** – that is, whether or not the household is living in a dwelling that meets the household's accessibility or adaptability needs. This is measured in three categories: does not need adaptations (94%), has the adaptations they need (3%) and needs adaptations and does not have them (3%).

These housing quality measures are derived from Statistics' Canada's definition of "core housing need" (Statistics Canada, 2017d) to allow for data comparability. However, knowing that young adults spend an increasing amount of time in higher education (Côté & Bynner, 2008), and anticipating that both age and education will have a relationship with mobility and with housing (Clark, 2012; Ram & Shin, 2007), I do not use the composite indicator of "core housing need." Students are excluded from this indicator because they are viewed to be "in a transitional phase, and low incomes earned by student households are viewed as being a temporary condition" (Statistics Canada, 2017d, para. 7), which could drop a number of cases

from this analysis. Further, I am interested in the relative associations of these different housing quality indicators rather than a combined indicator.

4.3.3.2 Geographic Characteristics

Key to the idea of the life course is that lives are lived in context. Geography is an important contextual factor in constraining or providing opportunities for housing (Dieleman, 2001). The cost of housing, both owned and rented, differs between cities and between urban and rural areas (CMHC-SCHL, 2020a). As Beer and Faulkner write, "Critically, decisions about housing are undertaken within the context of housing systems that are structured by geography, the balance between social and private systems of supply, and the quality of the housing stock" (2011, p. 31). Further, tenure is regulated differentially within the system of federalism, with ownership primarily governed at the federal level while rental, both private and social housing, are governed primarily provincially (see Chapter 3 of this thesis for a detailed discussion).

I address geography through three variables. The first is the **province of residence**. The second is the **urban/rural status** based on the census metropolitan area (CMA)/census agglomeration area (CA) of residence. Third, I include a variable for **location of previous dwelling**, as discussed chapter 2, the distance of the move also has impacts on and is impacted by housing. While in the survey, location of previous dwelling is assessed through four categories – same city/town, etc.; different city/town in the same province; different province; and outside of Canada – in the PUMF, it is condensed to a dummy variable of same city/town/province or different city/town/province, so there are less details available. As illustrated in Table 4.1, most households moved within the same area, at 64%.

4.3.3.3 Sociodemographic Characteristics

Sociodemographic characteristics include both proxies for life course transitions and trajectories as well as other characteristics linked to housing. This group of control variables includes both variables that account for the stage in life course (a dimension from the housing transitions framework, proxied by age as a key predictor variable) but also with a more specific accounting for race and ethnicity, which is not directly included in the five dimensions of the housing transitions framework.

Gender is an important correlate of housing tenure, with women and gender minorities overrepresented among social and affordable housing renters (Claveau, 2020). Gender is also an important consideration for family migration and labour force participation, with higher rates of women in the labour force. Research indicates that when different gendered couples move, women experience more disadvantages in labour market adjustments compared to men (Clark & Huang, 2006; Clark & Withers, 2002). Married couples and parents are also less likely to move – but are also more likely to be homeowners and live in single detached dwellings, who are also less likely to move (Clark, 2012).

I include several sociodemographic variables to account for these relationships. Unique to this survey, I include a variable for **gender**, as most Statistics Canada datasets only include sex. Gender is measured using three categories as self-reported by the household reference person: male, female, and other – however, other is suppressed in the PUMF. I also include variables for **household composition** to account for other life course transitions. Household composition is measured based on presence of married or common-law partner, presence of children, and presence of additional persons, and uses the Statistics Canada "census family" concept. As demonstrated in Table 4.1, households are fairly evenly distributed amongst one couple no children households (28%), one couple with children households (25%), and one person not in a census family household (29%), with the remainder distributed amongst the other categories.

Other socio-demographic factors are also associated with both mobility and housing. While immigrants are obviously mobile when they immigrate, some research highlights that they may continue to be more mobile once they are in the country (Newbold & DeLuca, 2007). Further, immigrants continue to face barriers to economic security, including wealth and housing (Dion, 2001; Maroto & Aylsworth, 2016) which may also impact mobility. Similarly, due to ongoing impacts of colonization, Indigenous peoples also have lower rates of homeownership and lower wealth (Maroto, 2016; Maroto & Aylsworth, 2016) and are more likely to be in dwellings in need of repair compared to non-Indigenous peoples (Anderson, 2019). Racialized people and Indigenous peoples face systemic barriers in the housing market and labour market (Novac et al., 2002) as well as being overrepresented amongst renters (Claveau, 2020), which may increase their likelihood of mobility.

To account for these sociodemographic factors, I include measures for **visible minority status**, a technical Statistics Canada term that "refers to where the person belongs to a visible minority group as defined by the Employment Equity Act [which] defines visible minorities as 'persons, other than Aboriginal peoples, who are non-Caucasian in race or non-white in colour'" (Statistics Canada, 2015). In the PUMF, visible minority status has been assessed at the household level, coded as 1 if any household member identifies with any visible minority group; and 0 if no household members identify with visible minority group. I also include **Indigeneity**, which is similarly assessed at the household level in the PUMF, where the household is coded as 1 if any household level in the PUMF.

4.3.3.4 Socioeconomic Characteristics

Socio-economic factors are also associated with mobility and housing across the life course and are key to constraints and choices in the housing transitions framework. Income is included as a proxy for economic resources as a key predictor variable, but I further account for these factors through two main variables. Current student status is unfortunately not included in the PUMF, but education level at the household level is included. In the survey, **highest level of completed education among the household** is measured through five categories of less than a high school diploma; high school diploma; trades certificate; less than a bachelor's degree; bachelor's degree; and higher than a bachelor's degree. After running the models with both education as a categorical and a binary variable, I transformed this to a binary variable, where the household is coded as 1 if any household member has a bachelor's degree. Education is associated with mobility in different ways, so students and higher educated households are often more mobile as they move for work opportunities, particularly over longer distances, while lower educated households have few options in the labour market and may be more "stuck" and less mobile (Clark, 2012; Pendakur & Young, 2013; Ram & Shin, 2007).

I also include **employment status** as a categorical variable. Job loss can be associated with residential mobility, particularly into more disadvantaged neighbourhoods (Denier, 2017). At the same time, employment can be associated with residential mobility as households move for

jobs and have more resources to make choices in the housing market (Clark & Withers, 1999, 2002). Employment and labour markets also interact with tenure, with owners in Australia associated with higher reservation wages, lower rates of job intensity search, and longer spells of unemployment compared to other tenures due in part to their lower residential mobility (Whelan & Parkinson, 2017). Like visible minority status and Indigeneity, employment status is measured at a household level, coded as 1 if any household member was employed in the previous week and 0 if otherwise.

4.3.3.5 Aspirations and Motivations

The last set of variables are also unique to this survey. These variables broadly move from assessments of quality and affordability and begin to include the subjective meaning and satisfaction association with the places we live in, which is strongly related to our housing pathways (Clapham, 2002). While the Canadian Housing Survey includes a number of possible variables for this factor, such as neighbourhood satisfaction and community belonging, I focus on **dwelling satisfaction** for this analysis, measured as dissatisfied or very dissatisfied, neither satisfied nor dissatisfied, satisfied, and very satisfied. As shown in Table 4.1, most households are satisfied (46%) or very satisfied (37%) with their dwelling, with very few dissatisfied or very dissatisfied or very dissatisfied or very dissatisfied (5%) Aspirations and motivations are also connected to reasons for moving (Clark & Maas, 2015; Coulter & Scott, 2015), which are included as key predictor variables.

4.4 Summary of Analytical Strategy

This chapter described the analytical strategy to explore five related research questions:

- 1. How do residential mobility patterns differ by housing tenure?
- 2. How are past tenure and mobility experiences associated with current housing tenure?
- 3. How does the relationship between past tenure and mobility experiences and current housing tenure vary based on income, age, and health status?
- 4. How does the relationship between residential mobility and housing contribute to inequality in Canada?
- 5. What are the implications for housing policy and practice?

This thesis takes a holistic and exploratory approach to studying the housing – mobility relationship in Canada, looking at housing tenure across more than the binary renting-owning categorization, including housing tenure at three different points in time, and including variables from across the five dimensions of the housing transitions framework as well as accounting for gaps in the housing transitions framework around race and ethnicity which are important in Canada's settler colonial context.

The remainder of this thesis presents the results of this analytical strategy. In chapter 5, 1 present a series of figures exploring how residential mobility patterns differ by housing tenure. In chapter 6, I present the results to the first multinomial regression model predicting the association between current housing tenure and a household's housing history. In chapter 7, I present the results to the second series of multinomial regression models, predicting the association between current housing tenure and a household's housing history by income, age, and health status. And lastly in chapter 8, I discuss the results in relation to the broader housing transitions and life course framework and consider the connections to inequality. And lastly, in chapter 9, I conclude the thesis and discuss the policy implications.

5 Residential Mobility Patterns by Housing Tenure

This chapter is the first in a series of results chapters exploring the following research questions:

- 1. How do residential mobility patterns differ by housing tenure?
- 2. How are past tenure and mobility experiences associated with current housing tenure?
- 3. How does the relationship between past tenure and mobility experiences and current housing tenure vary based on income, age, and health status?

This chapter focuses on question 1. Before moving to the model results, it is important to examine what is actually happening in the data, remembering that the data represent real people and real experiences. In this chapter, I describe residential mobility patterns by tenure, focusing on a series of descriptive figures and tables that demonstrate differential mobility experiences by current tenure.¹¹ In exploring how residential mobility patterns differ by housing tenure, I look at three overarching questions about mobility separated by housing tenure:

- When did people move? When are they planning to move?
- How did people move? How are they planning to move?
- Why did people move?

In other words, I aim to describe the housing transitions of Canadians across housing tenure outcomes.

5.1 When did people move and when are they planning to move?

5.1.1 Residency Length by Current Housing Tenure

Figure 5.1 below plots the percentage of households by current housing tenure and the length of time in their current residence (in other words, how long ago they moved to their current home). Housing tenure is separated into four categories - renting in social and affordable housing (social and affordable housing), renting on the private market, owning with a mortgage, and owning outright without a mortgage.

¹¹ These figures are inspired by the work of Nathanael Lauster and Jens Von Bergmann (2021)



Percentage Of Households By Housing Tenure And Residency Length

Figure 5.1: Percentage Of Households By Housing Tenure And Residency Length

As shown in Figure 5.1, in all tenures except private renting, more than 50% of households have lived in their current dwelling for 5 or more years. Owners without a mortgage are the most stable, with 79% of households having lived in their current residence for ten years or longer. Owners without a mortgage are also older, and as mortgages are amortized over extended periods of time, these longer residency lengths are more expected. Renters in social and affordable housing are also very stable, nearly as stable as owner with a mortgage, at 26% of renters in social and affordable housing who have lived in their home 5 years or longer, compared to 27% of owners with a mortgage. Considering that the social and affordable housing system in Canada has been conceived as a short-term ambulatory safety net like in many other Western Anglophone countries (see Fitzpatrick & Pawson, 2014), these longer residency lengths do *not* align with the normative conceptualization of housing and mobility through the housing ladder. Recent moves are centralized among renters in the private market, with nearly 25% having moved less than 2 years ago. At the same time, 20% have lived in their home for five years or more, challenging some of the ideas of renting as transitional and time limited.

5.1.2 Mobility Intentions by Current Housing Tenure

Figure 5.2 plots the percentage of households by the length of time they are planning to stay in their current dwelling separated by housing tenure. Including mobility intentions enables an analysis of both mobility and immobility, responding to Coulter and colleagues (2016) suggestion to consider mobility more broadly than just the act of moving and instead as active, relational processes.



Percentage Of Households By Housing Tenure And Intentions To

Figure 5.2 Percentage Of Households By Housing Tenure And Intentions To Move

As with Figure 5.1 exploring residency length, a few key patterns are apparent in Figure 5.2. First, in all tenures, most households are not planning to move in the future. This includes in private renting, again challenging perceptions of renting as a transitional and time-limited tenure and not a long-term home. The highest percentage of households who are unsure about their mobility intentions are in social and affordable housing, 27% of households unsure about their mobility intentions. As social and affordable housing has more regulations and continued eligibility requirements that can impact security of tenure (see de Vos, 2022), this could be influencing why so many more households are unsure about moving than in other tenures. A higher percentage of private renters than owners are also unsure about their mobility intentions. Despite the findings that renting is not a transitional tenure and demonstrates stability, renting is still a more precarious tenure with less security and regulatory protections than owning, which could be impacting these results.

The highest percentage of households who have no plans to move are in owners without a mortgage, at 58%. This is followed closely by renters in social and affordable housing, at 55%. The high rates of households not planning to move among owners without a mortgage aligns with ideas of the housing ladder that puts owned homes at the "top" or "end' of a household's housing career (Kendig, 1984; Morrow-Jones & Wenning, 2005). But these findings also again reinforce that social and affordable housing is not necessarily a short term, safety net housing tenure, and is instead a long-term home to many people. Additionally, as the gap between social and affordable housing and the rest of the housing system has grown so much, it has become more difficult for households to leave social and affordable housing and move to other parts of the housing system.

Looking at those planning to move, private renting stands out as having the highest percentage of households planning to move in the near future, with 26% planning to move in less than 2 years, compared to 9% of renters in social and affordable housing, 8% of owners with a mortgage and 4% of owners without a mortgage. Overall, among private renters, there appears to be a bifurcation of mobility intentions, with households clustered on either end of the spectrum (planning to move in less than 2 years or no plans to move). Comparatively, owners with a mortgage have the highest percentage of households planning to move in 5 years to less than 10 years, at 11%, which implies a planful-ness of the move in thinking five or more years in advance.

Considering both Figure 5.1 and Figure 5.2 together reinforces the importance of considering mobility *and* immobility when exploring residential mobility patterns. Immobility is not just the absence of movement – but ongoing, active processes which display differences in agency and control linked to the differential treatment of tenure in housing policy (Coulter et al., 2016; Hanson, 2005). Households in tenures that are more precarious with less security demonstrate higher rates of uncertainty about their future mobility, while households with more policy support, linked to discursive ideas about who should be mobile when, have more opportunities

to plan for future moves. These tenure connections are further explored in the next set of figures, focusing on tenure trajectories.

5.2 How have people moved and how are they planning to move?

Another important aspect of mobility experiences is the question of "how" people moved, exploring the tenure trajectories that households experience and imagine. This aligns with the housing transitions framework and life course theory, recognizing that events like moving have impacts through the rest of our life courses and contribute to processes of cumulative advantage or disadvantage (Beer & Faulkner, 2011; Coulter et al., 2016).

5.2.1 Past Tenure by Current Tenure

Figure 5.3 charts the percentage of households in the four tenure categories by their previous housing tenure at the time of their last move. Previous tenure is measured slightly differently than current tenure, with four categories: private renting, renting in social and affordable housing, owner (either with or without a mortgage, as mortgage status is not asked), and lived there rent free (which are likely households leaving their family home).



Percentage Of Households By Current And Past Housing Tenure Outcomes

Figure 5.3 Percentage Of Households By Current And Past Housing Tenure

Overall, <u>Figure 5.3</u> highlights that there is fairly small amount of tenure change happening, with most owners previously owners, at 47% of owners with a mortgage and 66% of owners without

a mortgage, and most renters previously renters, at 70% of private renters. However, while most current owners were also owners in their past tenure, there is a not unsubstantial percentage of renters were also previously owners. This is true both of renters in social and affordable housing, where 10% were owners previously, and of private renters, where 17% were owners previously. It is not clear if the move to renting was a planned, intentional move (i.e., to downsize) or if these households "fell" out of ownership but has important considerations for the current system of asset-based welfare where households are expected to rely on primarily housing-based assets to support retirement and old age (Doling & Ronald, 2010; Malpass, 2008).

Approximately 10% of both owners with a mortgage and private renters were previously living 'rent free'. These households are on average younger, with an average age of 37 years old for both owners and renters. The median age is also younger, with a median of 34 years old for owners with a mortgage who were previously living rent free, and 32 years old for private renters. These may be households who were previously living with their parents. However, households who move to owning directly from their family home have a different starting point in the housing market and in terms of lifetime wealth accrual than those who move into the private rental market first (see also Maroto & Severson, 2020).

5.2.2 Future Tenure Expectations by Current Tenure

Figure 5.4 plots future tenure expectations by current tenure expectations. Among those planning to move, the only options in the PUMF are rent or own. I have included the proportion of those not planning to move and remain in their current tenure, as this is a form of tenure expectations too.



Percentage Of Households By Current Tenure Outcomes And Future Housing Tenure Expectations

Figure 5.4 Percentage Of Households By Current Tenure Outcomes And Future Housing Tenure Expectations Like the exploration of past tenure and current tenure in <u>Figure 5.3</u>, <u>Figure 5.4</u> again demonstrates that there is relatively little tenure change expected in the future. For those that are planning to move, most are planning to stay in the same tenure, with 13% of owners without a mortgage and 25% of owners with a mortgage planning to move and remain an owner. Most renters are also planning to stay renters, with 59% of private renters not planning to move and 23% planning to move into rental. This again problematizes the idea that renters are just owners 'in waiting' or those who cannot become owners, and instead, there are many households planning to stay renters for extended periods of time.

5.2.3 Future Tenure, Past Tenure, and Current Tenure Pathways

One of the benefits of the Canadian Housing Survey is that it enables an exploration of mobility experiences and intentions and housing tenure over three points in time, retrospectively and prospectively.

Figure 5.5 now combines future tenure expectations, past tenure outcomes, and current tenure outcomes to explore tenure transitions at three points. I use an alluvial diagram to demonstrate the flow of households through these three tenure points. At each tenure point (past, current, and future), the size of the box is relative to the proportion of households with that status (e.g.,

approximately 44% of households were previously owners and 45% were previously privately renting when looking at past tenure). The coloured lines demonstrate the weighted counts of households as they move from one tenure point to the next. The larger the size of the line, the larger the frequency. The colours are reflective of the past tenure categories (owned, rented on the private market, rented in social and affordable housing (SAH), and lived there rent free).



Households by Past, Current, and Future Tenure

Figure 5.5 Flow Of Households From Past Tenure Outcomes To Current Tenure Outcomes And To Future Tenure Expectations

Looking at all three tenure points available in Figure 5.5 presents a unique way of looking at how Canadian households are moving, reinforcing housing as a trajectory with cumulative effects across the life course that are differentially structured by housing tenure. Generally, there is relatively little tenure change at each point. Figure 5.5 demonstrates that like Figure 5.2 which highlighted that most households were not planning to move, most households are not

expecting to change tenures. Among those who are planning to move, most are planning to live in their next home in the same tenure. For example, the majority of current owners, both with and without a mortgage, have been owners in the past and plan to remain owners in the future. Similarly, most renters in private rental were previously in private rental and are planning to stay as renters in the future.

The most common two pathways are owned to owning outright and then not moving and remaining an owner, followed by owned to owning with a mortgage to not moving and remaining an owner (the two largest blue flows). Respectively, these represent an estimated 2,039,800 households and 1,860,500 households. Among current owners, both with and without a mortgage, households who are planning to move are mostly planning to own. These results again show that the important thing is that initial move into ownership. After that, fewer households are planning to move and those who are planning to move are also planning to own again. Collectively, households that moved from an owned home to another owned home (with or without a mortgage) and plan to stay in another owned home (either by moving or not) represents an estimated 4,827,500 households, or 37% of all households.

Thinking about the connections to inequality, there are also two larger purple flows from living there rent free to owning (with or without a mortgage) and then remaining an owner. Again, these households that are likely moving from a family home to an owned home have a different starting point than households who move from their family home to private renting. This flow represents the fourth largest estimate of households, at an estimated 761,900 households. Further, while there is a large flow of households who moved from private renting to owning, most current renters in private rental were previously in private rental and are planning to stay as renters in the future, at an estimated 2,006,500 households, or 15% of all households. This represents the third largest flow of households – highlighting how despite the lack of policy support for renters and the residualization of the private rental sector at the focus on homeownership in housing policy, the rental sector is still home to millions of Canadians at multiple and repeated points in their life.

Additionally, there is more diversity in tenure pathways among households who previously privately rented (green flows), compared to owners (blue flows). For example, among

households who started as owners, 36% moved from owning to owning without a mortgage with no intentions to move, with another 33% of households owning with a mortgage. Collectively, this accounts for 69% of households who started as owners (blue flows). Seven of the possible 12 trajectories from owning result in shares of 2% or less of owning households. Comparatively, among households who started as private renters, 27% moved from private renting to owning with a mortgage, with no intentions to move, with another 24% moving from private rental to private rental. Collectively, these are the two largest proportions of households who started as private renters, accounting for 51%, an 18-percentage point difference. Similarly, renters in social and affordable housing also demonstrate more diversity of tenure trajectories, with their two largest flows (social and affordable housing to social and affordable housing and social and affordable housing to owning with a mortgage) accounting for 51% of households.

This again highlights the compounding and cumulative effects of housing and mobility across the life course. As there are more policy supports for owners, and owners are incentivized to move "up" the housing ladder, moving to an owned home makes the next move to an owned home easier. Comparatively, there is not the same support in policy for renter households for one particular tenure trajectory like there is for ownership. Instead, there is less dominance of one tenure trajectory among renter households, both in private rental and in social and affordable housing, compared to owning, which invokes consideration of housing and mobility as part of the destandardization and stratification of the life course - but primarily amongst renter households, with implications for intragenerational inequality (Arundel, 2017; Christophers, 2018).

Overall Figure 5.5 partially reinforces the idea of the housing ladder. The dominance of home ownership is clear, making up three out of the top four biggest flows of households. But we also can see that the housing ladder is not evenly distributed, with some people potentially "jumping" rungs of the ladder, such as those who move from living rent free to ownership, with important implications for inequality through processes of cumulative advantage. We can also see people who would be considered to have "fallen" down the ladder according to the normative housing career ladder conceptualization, such as those moved from private renting

or ownership to social and affordable housing, with implications for tenure and economic security in the context of asset-based welfare. The housing career conceptualization would miss the experiences of many households who do not make the normative housing moves into ownership. And overall, Figure 5.5 highlights the importance of exploring lives over multiple time points and including both mobility and immobility when exploring residential mobility patterns (Coulter et al., 2016).

5.3 Why have people moved?

The last set of figures in this section explore reasons for moving and begins to approximate the subjective experiences and motivations when households move, moving from questions of *when* households move to the question of *why* households move, highlighting the subjective and emotional connections between households and their housing and drawing from Clapham (2002) and Beer and Faulkner (2011).

5.3.1 Reasons for Moving by Current Housing Tenure

Figure 5.6 presents the percentage of households in each tenure category who indicated they moved for the given reason at their most recent move. Households could select more than one reason for moving. In the CHS 2018, there are 13 reasons provided, which I grouped into five broader categories:

- housing reasons, which includes moving to become a homeowner, moving for bigger/better dwelling, moving for a more desirable neighbourhood, and moving to reduce housing costs;
- **family reasons**, which includes moving to form a new household, moving to be closer to family, and moving for a household size change;
- work reasons, which includes moving to reduce commute times, moving for a new job;
- other reasons, which includes moving for school, moving for personal health reasons, and moving for other reasons; and,
- forced moves, which are moves where the respondent indicated they were forced to move by someone else.



Percentage Of Households By Reasons For Moving And Current Tenure

Figure 5.6 Percentage Of Households By Reasons For Moving And Current Tenure Outcomes

From Figure 5.6, it is clear that housing reasons dominate reasons for moving for all tenures, but there are again differences by housing tenure. Housing reasons are highest among owners, at 71% of owners with a mortgage and 60% of owners without a mortgage. Housing reasons, which include moving to become a homeowner, moving to a bigger/better dwelling, and moving to a more desirable neighbourhood, tend to be more positive and imply more planfulness in household moves.

Family reasons are the second most commonly selected reason for moving among all tenure types but are highest among owners with a mortgage and renters in private rental, both of whom also tend to be younger than renters in social and affordable housing and owners without a mortgage. Other research has demonstrated strong connections between parenthood and housing, especially the move to homeownership, which are tied to normative life course scripts (Mulder, 2013; Mulder & Lauster, 2010).

There is more diversity among reasons for moving among private renters. Work reasons are highest among private renters, at 19% of private renters indicating they moved for work reasons. Employment reasons are less common among renters in social and affordable housing, while "other" reasons are more common, at 22%. Other reasons include health reasons and other research highlights both that renters in social and affordable housing are more likely to have lower rated health (Claveau, 2020) and that those with health and disability concerns have lower economic security (Maroto & Pettinicchio, 2020), which could contribute to them moving to social and affordable housing. Similarly, research indicates that the rent-geared-to-income system of social housing used in countries like Canada, Australia, and the US where affordable rent is tied to the unit rather than the person and processes of continual eligibility could result in households losing their housing, combined with locational access issues and limited social housing stock, disincentivizes employment and mobility, as households risk losing their housing (see de Vos, 2022; Mendelson, 2016; Whelan & Parkinson, 2017). Australian research has also indicated that the privileged treatment of owned housing in the tax and financial system in the Australia and mirrored in other Western countries also disincentivizes employment-related mobility among owners, resulting in distortions in labour and housing markets (Ong et al., 2017; Whelan & Parkinson, 2017).

And importantly, when thinking about inequality and differential outcomes associated with housing tenure, a very low proportion of owners, either with or without a mortgage, indicated they were forced to move, at only 1% of owners without a mortgage and 2% of owners with a mortgage. This compares to 10% of private renters and 10% of social and affordable housing renters. As forced moves are also associated with more negative outcomes across life course domains, the differences in forced moves across tenure highlights possible mechanisms in differences in outcomes associated with tenure.¹²

While these aggregated reasons for moving illustrate differences across housing tenure, exploring the detailed reasons for moving provides another layer of insight into households' mobility experiences, and that is the focus of the next set of figures.

5.3.2 Housing Reasons by Current Tenure Outcomes

Housing reasons are the most commonly selected reason for moving across all tenures. Housing reasons includes moving to become a homeowner, moving for bigger/better housing, and

¹² For an analysis of forced moves among renters using the CHS, see Xuereb and colleagues (2021).

moving to reduce housing costs. However, it is likely that these sub-reasons are not evenly distributed among housing tenure.



Percentage Of Households By Housing–Related Reasons For Moving And Current Tenure Outcomes

Figure 5.7 Percentage Of Households By Housing-Related Reasons For Moving And Current Tenure Outcomes While Figure 5.6 highlighted that housing reasons were the most commonly selected reason for moving across all tenures, there are differences when looking at these reasons in more detail in Figure 5.7. As expected, moving to become a homeowner is centralized among current owners, with the highest percentage among owners with a mortgage who are also younger on average. Among owners with a mortgage, 40% selected moving to become a homeowner. As a point to consider from the survey design, there is no analogous response option for choosing to move to become a renter, reinforcing that ownership is socially and normatively constructed as a choice while renting is not perceived to be a tenure that someone would freely choose.

Moving to reduce housing costs is more common for renters, both renters in social and affordable housing (33%) and private renters (15%). Issues of housing affordability are more acute among renters, who again, have fewer policy supports to address high rental costs and fewer economic resources to mitigate against high costs of housing.

Moving for a more desirable neighbourhood is consistent across all tenures, which could indicate that neighbourhoods may not differ as much between renters and owners as initially

thought. However, <u>Figure 5.7</u> reinforces that more positive housing reasons such as moving for a bigger or better dwelling are higher among owners, and more negative reasons like moving to reduce housing costs are higher among renters.

5.3.3 Family Reasons by Current Tenure

Another major reason for moving are family reasons, and family transitions and housing transitions are often closely linked and influenced by normative life course scripts (Clark, 2012; Mulder, 2013). In the CHS, family reasons include moving to form one's own household, moving to be closer to family, and moving because of a change in household size. In Figure 5.8, I look at the distribution of these detailed reasons for moving by current housing tenure.



Percentage Of Households By Family–Related Reasons For Moving And Current Tenure Outcomes

Figure 5.8 Percentage Of Households By Family-Related Reasons For Moving And Current Tenure Outcomes Moving for household size changes is the most common 'family' reason among all tenure groups, which aligns with the life course perspective of linked lives and how family transitions are connected to housing transitions and specifically how residential room stress associated with changes in household size can be a trigger event to move (Clark, 2012; Mulder & Hooimeijer, 1999). However, moving for household size changes is highest among renters in social and affordable housing, at 20%. This may be because renters in social and affordable housing must comply with the National Occupancy Standards which sets limits on how many people and who can share a bedroom based on age, gender and relationships (de Vos, 2022). This makes renters in social and affordable housing more susceptible to household size related housing changes, including forced downsizing due to "overhousing" – something that is not part of the regulatory framework for owners.

Moving to form one's own household is most common among owners with a mortgage, at 16%. While at first, this might seem to be the option someone would select if they were moving out of their parental home. However, the higher percentage of this reason among owners with a mortgage reinforces life course scripts that link marital and family transitions with homeownership as "forming own household" (Severson & Collins, 2020). This also aligns with previous work indicating that Canadian young adults were staying in their home parental longer but not at the expense of ownership as in other Western countries, but rather at the expense of private renting (Maroto & Severson, 2020).

5.3.4 Work and Other Reasons by Current Tenure

Figure 5.9 plots the last detailed reasons for moving by current tenure outcomes. These reasons for moving include work reasons (moving for employment and moving to reduce commuting time) and other reasons (personal health, school, and other).



Percentage Of Households By Work And Other Related Reasons For Moving And Current Tenure
Figure 5.9 Percentage Of Households By Work And Other Related Reasons For Moving And Current Tenure In the last of the detailed reasons for moving, <u>Figure 5.9</u>, moving for personal health reasons stands out as centralized among social and affordable housing renters. It is significantly more common than in the other tenures, at 17% of households. Other research highlights that households with poorer self-reported health are over-represented among renters in social and affordable housing (Claveau, 2020), health can be an eligibility factor to access social and affordable housing (de Vos, 2022) and households where at least one member reported having a disability face more barriers to economic security and wealth, including barriers to homeownership (Maroto & Pettinicchio, 2020).

Of this group of variables, moving to reduce commuting time is the second most selected reason for moving among private renters, at 9%. This could be reflecting a few different things. First, private renters have more flexibility to be able to move to adjust their commute time compared to homeowners, who face more sunk costs and are incentivized by different systems to stay in place (Clark, 2012; Whelan & Parkinson, 2017). As other research has shown, this institutional environment that favours ownership can create lock in effects where homeowners are more stuck and less responsive to labour market changes (Whelan & Parkinson, 2017). Two, this could also reflect the geography of rental units, where most rental units were built in the 1960s apartment boom and so are located in mature suburbs, which may not map on the geography of employment, such as downtown or industrial parks on the outskirts of urban areas (Suttor, 2015). Three, it may also reflect the composition of private renters who tend to be lower income and lower wealth (Hulchanski, 2004) and are less likely than homeowners to own a vehicle and thus rely on public transit more, while homeowners tend to live in more caroriented neighbourhoods (Moos & Mendez, 2015), meaning that households who are renting may respond to pressures in their commute times through their housing rather than through vehicle ownership.

5.4 Bringing it together – Mobility Patterns by Housing Tenure

As in other Western, tenure discriminatory systems like Australia, the UK, and the US, the Canadian data explored in this chapter similarly shows uneven mobility experiences by housing tenure. While there are some signs of the "housing ladder" that underpins asset-based welfare, it is not evenly distributed, and thus the risks of asset-based welfare are not evenly distributed either. However, like the false-binary of owning-renting that misses the breadth of tenure, mobility experiences are also not cleanly divided into owning vs renting, with differences by mortgage status and social and affordable housing.

As demonstrated in Figure 5.1, owners without a mortgage had the longest residency lengths on average, with over 75% having lived in their current dwelling for 10 years or more. Owners with a mortgage and renters in social and affordable housing displayed similar residency length patterns, which would not be apparent if only looking at renting vs owning. Private renters demonstrated shorter residency lengths on average, with 25% of households having moved less than 2 years ago, but still approximately 40% had lived in their home for 5 years or more. Additionally, Figure 5.2 highlighted that most people are not planning to move and want to stay where they are, including among private renters and among renters in social and affordable housing.

Considering both residency length and mobility intentions across tenure challenges perceptions of private renting as a transitional and time-limited "stop" on the way to ownership and of social and affordable housing as a short-term safety net rather than a long-term home - incongruous with the housing careers model that underpins Canadian housing policy, and more in line with the housing transitions framework and the broader destandardization of the life course. At the same time, it is important to recognize that both private renters and renters in social and affordable housing demonstrated more precarity than owners - both with higher proportions of households who moved more frequently and who were unsure of their mobility intentions than among owner households. Owner households had higher proportions of households those planning to move in the next five years and not planning to move, demonstrating a form of agency that is more available to owners due to their broader tenure security and increased control over their own mobility and housing decisions.

When looking at tenure trajectories across past, current, and future tenure, there is very little tenure change experienced or expected. Most current owners were previously owners and are planning to stay as owners, while most renters were previously renters and are planning to stay as renters (see Figure 5.5). This highlights how previous life course experiences like tenure have

ripple effects across the life course and form part of processes of cumulative advantage and disadvantage, even before controlling for other factors.

Housing reasons dominate reasons for moving across all tenures (see Figure 5.6), but there are key differences looking at housing reasons in more detail (see Figure 5.7). Those living in owned tenures tended to have longer residency lengths and indicated they had moved for more positive or controlled reasons, such as moving for a bigger or better dwelling and moving to form a new household. Those living in rented tenures indicated they had moved for a wider variety of reasons, including moving due to housing costs, moving due to employment, moving to reduce commuting time, and moving for school. "Other" reasons, specifically health, seems to be driving pathways into social and affordable housing (see Figure 5.9), particularly for those who "fall" out of ownership into social and affordable housing. Forced moves are centralized among renters, particularly among those who move from social and affordable housing to social and affordable housing (see Figure 5.6), highlighting important questions about program design where households are continuing to experience forced moves (see also Collins et al., 2021). Taken together, the patterns across for reasons for moving highlights both the linked and intersecting nature of housing in our lives, and the unequal ability to respond to transitions in other parts of the life course based on the differential treatment of housing tenure in the Canadian housing system.

These findings also suggest that experiences of mobility are complex and sometimes contradictory. They reinforce housing and mobility as processes of cumulative advantage or disadvantage, where more "positive" outcomes of moves make it easier to have future "positive" moves (such as the ownership to ownership to ownership trajectory that is so dominant in Figure 5.5), they also challenge the design of the housing system that has made private renting precarious and unequal for many households. More than 2.8 million privately renting households and over 415,000 renters in social and affordable housing are not planning to move or to move and rent again; these households will not be assisted by the myriad of policies to support owner-occupiers and to encourage the development of owned homes (see chapter 3).

While I have explored questions of when, why, and how households moved mostly separated by current housing tenure, with some interaction across these experiences, we know that these mobility experiences are not experienced in isolation from each other, and that mobility and housing tenure is also related to other life course characteristics. The next chapter moves from the descriptive to the inferential to explore how past tenure and mobility experiences are associated with current tenure outcomes considering and controlling for these interrelationships.

6 Exploring the Relationship Between Residential Mobility and Current Tenure Outcomes

The last chapter highlighted how mobility patterns differ by housing tenure, demonstrating diverging experiences for owners and renters, but also problematizing stereotypes of renters, both in the private market and in social and affordable housing as transitional, time-limited stops on the way to homeownership. What chapter 5 was unable to do however, was explore the relationship between the mobility experiences of households and their current tenure outcomes, controlling for other aspects of people's lives that are connected to both housing and mobility processes. As Beer and Faulkner (2011) outline in their work on housing and mobility in developing the housing transitions framework, housing decisions are interrelated with broader life course transitions, including age and household transitions, and unevenly constrained, including by economic resources. A household's "housing history" is one of five interrelated factors in the housing transition framework, which also includes: (2) the household's stage in life, (3) their economic resources, (4) health and wellbeing, and (5) lifestyle values and aspirations.

In this second of three empirical chapters, I turn to the results of the multinomial model that allows for a deeper exploration of the relationship between residential mobility and housing tenure. Specifically, this chapter explores research question 2, **How are past tenure and mobility experiences associated with current housing tenure?** Although I am primarily interested in the relationship between a household's past tenure and mobility experiences (i.e., their housing history, in the housing transitions framework) and their current tenure outcomes, the third research question is concerned with how the relationship between residential mobility and past tenure experiences and current tenure varies across income, age, and health status. As described in chapter 4, these three group characteristics are included as proxies for three of the other four factors from the housing transitions framework described above and in chapter 2.¹³ As such, in this chapter, I also highlight the relationship between age (as a proxy for the household's stage in life), income (as a proxy for economic resources), and self-reported health

¹³ See Chapter 7 next for an exploration of this question.

status (as a proxy for health and wellbeing) and current tenure outcomes. I refer to these three variables as "other housing transitions factors", linking these characteristics to the broader conceptual framework.

In this chapter, I first start descriptively, exploring the composition of these four tenure groups across the series of predictor, interaction, and control variables, drawn from the housing transitions framework outlined in the conceptual framework (chapter 2) and the analytical strategy (chapter 4). I then explore the association between these variables and current tenure outcomes, controlling for their interrelationships, using a multinomial logistic model, which extends from binary logistic regression by comparing the probability of membership in each tenure category to the referent category. I present the model results as first as odd ratios comparing each tenure category to the referent category before presenting the average marginal effects (AME) related to the overall probabilities of current tenure outcomes. I end this chapter by presenting the predicted probabilities of current tenure across the predictor variables (past tenure, residency length, and reasons for moving) and the interaction variables (income, age, and health).

6.1 Composition of Current Housing Tenure Groups

Table 6.1 below presents weighted descriptive statistics separated by current tenure.¹⁴ While chapter 5 explored how mobility patterns varied by housing tenure, Table 6.1 allows for a deeper exploration of the composition of each housing tenure group. In this section, I highlight some key characteristics for each tenure group, outlining both similarities and differences.¹⁵

Characteristic	Owner no mortgage, n = 11,981 ¹	Owner with mortgage, n = 15,479 ¹	Renter in private rental, n = 16,311 ¹	Renter in social and affordable housing, n = 5,574 ¹
Previous Housing Tenure				
Owned	66% (0.0070)	47% (0.0066)	17% (0.0052)	10% (0.0063)
Lived there rent free	6% (0.0039)	10% (0.0043)	11% (0.0045)	7% (0.0062)
Privately rented	26% (0.0065)	41% (0.0065)	70% (0.0065)	57% (0.0116)
Rented in social & affordable housing	1% (0.0014)	2% (0.0018)	2% (0.0019)	26% (0.0104)

Table 6.1 Weighted Descriptive Statistics By Current Tenure Ou	Outcomes
--	----------

¹⁴ Descriptive statistics for all households are described in chapter 4, Table 4.1.

¹⁵ A note on temporality - while the CHS enables an exploration of past mobility experiences and past tenure, sociodemographic and socioeconomic variables reflect the head of household at the time of the survey.

	Owner no	Owner with	Renter in	Renter in social and	
Characteristic	mortgage, n = 11,981 ¹	mortgage, n = 15,479 ¹	private rental, n = 16,311 ¹	affordable housing, r = 5,574 ¹	
Length of time in current dwelling					
Less than 2 years ago	3% (0.0026)	10% (0.0039)	25% (0.0062)	12% (0.0075)	
2 years to less than 5 years ago	8% (0.0041)	24% (0.0057)	34% (0.0069)	24% (0.0101)	
5 years to less than 10 years ago	10% (0.0045)	27% (0.0059)	20% (0.0056)	26% (0.0102)	
10 or more years ago or always lived here	79% (0.0061)	39% (0.0064)	21% (0.0056)	38% (0.0116)	
Moved for housing reasons	60% (0.0072)	71% (0.0059)	47% (0.0071)	57% (0.0118)	
Moved for family reasons	30% (0.0067)	37% (0.0064)	35% (0.0068)	31% (0.0110)	
Moved for work reasons	13% (0.0049)	14% (0.0044)	19% (0.0056)	6% (0.0058)	
Moved for other reasons	10% (0.0043)	6% (0.0033)	15% (0.0051)	22% (0.0092)	
Moved for forced reasons	1% (0.0012)	2% (0.0020)	10% (0.0042)	10% (0.0076)	
Total Household Income					
Mean	102,700	123,500	68,200	31,200	
Median	75,000	110,000	55,000	23,000	
Income Quintiles					
First Quintile	20% (0.0061)	7% (0.0038)	31% (0.0065)	76% (0.0114)	
Second Quintile	22% (0.0060)	14% (0.0048)	27% (0.0062)	16% (0.0095)	
Third Quintile	20% (0.0057)	19% (0.0052)	20% (0.0058)	6% (0.0072)	
Fourth Quintile	18% (0.0055)	27% (0.0058)	13% (0.0049)	2% (0.0034)	
Fifth Quintile	21% (0.0060)	32% (0.0061)	8% (0.0044)	1% (0.0027)	
Age					
Mean	64	47	48	59	
Median	65	46	45	60	
Age Groups					
29 years or younger	1% (0.0024)	7% (0.0037)	17% (0.0056)	4% (0.0070)	
30 to 39 years	3% (0.0028)	26% (0.0058)	24% (0.0064)	11% (0.0079)	
40 to 49 years	7% (0.0038)	26% (0.0056)	16% (0.0055)	14% (0.0094)	
50 to 59 years	20% (0.0061)	23% (0.0056)	15% (0.0050)	18% (0.0096)	
60 to 69 years	32% (0.0067)	13% (0.0043)	14% (0.0045)	22% (0.0090)	
70 to 79 years	23% (0.0061)	4% (0.0026)	9% (0.0036)	19% (0.0083)	
80 years or older	13% (0.0050)	1% (0.0012)	5% (0.0025)	11% (0.0062)	
Health Status					
Health rated excellent, very good or good	86% (0.0054)	90% (0.0042)	83% (0.0053)	62% (0.0113)	
Health rated fair or poor	14% (0.0054)	10% (0.0042)	17% (0.0053)	38% (0.0113)	
Current Dwelling Type	. (. (,		
Apartment building 5 stories and higher	6% (0.0044)	5% (0.0036)	24% (0.0062)	38% (0.0122)	
Apartment building less than 5 stories	6% (0.0034)	8% (0.0035)	47% (0.0071)	45% (0.0116)	
Rowhouse or townhouse	5% (0.0035)	7% (0.0036)	6% (0.0030)	12% (0.0076)	
Semidetached or duplex	8% (0.0042)	12% (0.0045)	11% (0.0047)	2% (0.0029)	
Single detached dwelling	74% (0.0068)	68% (0.0064)	12% (0.0048)	2% (0.0031)	
Unaffordable	6% (0.0043)	24% (0.0061)	34% (0.0068)	33% (0.0108)	
Unsuitable (overcrowded)	1% (0.0023)	4% (0.0031)	8% (0.0044)	6% (0.0068)	
Inadequate (major repairs needed)	5% (0.0031)	7% (0.0034)	8% (0.0040)	9% (0.0074)	
Inaccessible (needs adaptations)	5/0 (0.0051)	770 (0.000 1)	0/0 (0.00 10)	570 (0.007 1)	
Does not need adaptations	92% (0.0042)	95% (0.0032)	95% (0.0031)	83% (0.0088)	
Does not have adaptations	3% (0.0028)	2% (0.0024)	2% (0.0021)	6% (0.0061)	
Has adaptations	4% (0.0033)	2% (0.0022)	3% (0.0023)	11% (0.0068)	
Urban/Rural Status	470 (0.0055)	270 (0.0022)	570 (0.0025)	11/0 (0.0000)	
Rural	27% (0.0061)	22% (0.0050)	13% (0.0042)	17% (0.0060)	
Urban	73% (0.0061)	78% (0.0050)	87% (0.0042)	83% (0.0060)	
Location of previous dwelling	7570 (0.0001)	7870 (0.0050)	07/0 (0.0042)	8578 (0.0000)	
In different city/town, Indian reserve or	38% (0.0072)	38% (0.0065)	33% (0.0067)	21% (0.0094)	
outside Canada In same	. ,		67% (0.0067)		
in sume city/town/village/township/Indian reserve	62% (0.0072)	62% (0.0065)	0770 (0.0007)	79% (0.0094)	
Province	400/ (0.0070)	200/ (0.0000)	260/ (0.0072)	169/ (0.0400)	
Ontario	40% (0.0078)	39% (0.0069)	36% (0.0072)	46% (0.0122)	
Alberta	10% (0.0034)	12% (0.0034)	9% (0.0031)	7% (0.0039)	
Atlantic	8% (0.0021)	6% (0.0015)	5% (0.0014)	5% (0.0019)	
BC	14% (0.0046)	13% (0.0039)	14% (0.0046)	12% (0.0068)	
Manitoba and Saskatchewan	6% (0.0020)	6% (0.0017)	4% (0.0015)	6% (0.0035)	
Québec	22% (0.0061)	24% (0.0056)	32% (0.0068)	23% (0.0095)	

	Owner no	Owner with	Renter in	Renter in social and	
Characteristic	mortgage, n =	mortgage, n =	private rental,	affordable housing, I	
	11,981 ¹	15,479 ¹	n = 16,311¹	= 5,574 ¹	
Female	50% (0.0074)	48% (0.0066)	50% (0.0071)	64% (0.0116)	
Male	50% (0.0074)	52% (0.0066)	50% (0.0071)	36% (0.0116)	
Household Composition					
one couple no children	43% (0.0072)	23% (0.0053)	20% (0.0058)	5% (0.0047)	
one census family plus others	4% (0.0034)	10% (0.0046)	4% (0.0031)	2% (0.0039)	
one couple with children	16% (0.0058)	40% (0.0064)	15% (0.0055)	8% (0.0082)	
one lone parent family	6% (0.0038)	8% (0.0037)	9% (0.0039)	17% (0.0099)	
one person not in census family	29% (0.0068)	17% (0.0048)	44% (0.0070)	66% (0.0121)	
two or more persons not in a census family	2% (0.0019)	2% (0.0022)	8% (0.0042)	2% (0.0041)	
Household Indigeneity Status					
No household member is Indigenous	97% (0.0025)	96% (0.0021)	97% (0.0021)	95% (0.0038)	
At least one household member is	3% (0.0025)	4% (0.0021)	3% (0.0021)	5% (0.0038)	
Indigenous					
Household Visible Minority Status					
No household member belongs to a visible	87% (0.0058)	76% (0.0063)	75% (0.0067)	73% (0.0125)	
minority group					
At least 1 hhld member belongs to a visible	13% (0.0058)	24% (0.0063)	25% (0.0067)	27% (0.0125)	
minority group					
Household Highest Education Level					
BA or higher	37% (0.0072)	47% (0.0066)	37% (0.0070)	14% (0.0095)	
Less than BA	63% (0.0072)	53% (0.0066)	63% (0.0070)	86% (0.0095)	
Household Employment Status					
At least one member of the household was	48% (0.0074)	90% (0.0040)	71% (0.0062)	28% (0.0117)	
employed					
No member of the household was employed	52% (0.0074)	10% (0.0040)	29% (0.0062)	72% (0.0117)	
Overall dwelling satisfaction					
Dissatisfied or very dissatisfied	3% (0.0027)	3% (0.0023)	10% (0.0044)	13% (0.0083)	
Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied	7% (0.0039)	10% (0.0041)	18% (0.0056)	14% (0.0089)	
Satisfied	41% (0.0073)	48% (0.0066)	48% (0.0071)	45% (0.0118)	
Very satisfied	49% (0.0074)	38% (0.0064)	24% (0.0058)	28% (0.0098)	

¹Percentage for estimates (Proportion for standard error) for categorical variables; Median and Mean for estimates for numerical variables (rounded to the nearest 100, as per the user guide for the CHS PUMF (Statistics Canada, 2021))

6.1.1 Owners without a mortgage

Owners without a mortgage have a few key characteristics demonstrated by Table 6.1. First, considering previous mobility and tenure experiences (housing history in the housing transitions framework), the majority of current owners without a mortgage previously owned, at 66%, followed by households who moved from private rental, at 26%. The vast majority have also lived in their current home for ten or more years or always lived there, at 79% and are also the oldest group on average, with an average age of 64, giving these households time to pay off their mortgage and change tenure statuses without physically moving. There are few signs of downsizing, with most households living in single detached dwellings, at 74%.

Owners without a mortgage are also the most satisfied with their current dwelling, with 49% who are very satisfied, higher than the overall population and higher than any other tenure

group. Additionally, owners without a mortgage have the highest quality housing, with the lowest percentage across all four tenure groups of households facing unaffordability (6%), unsuitability (1%), or inadequacy (5%).

Owners without a mortgage also tend to be couples without children, likely older adults as owners without a mortgage are also the oldest on average, with 32% 60 to 69 years old and another 23% 70 to 79 years old. The higher percentage of households where no member of the household was employed, at 52%, combined with the age characteristics, suggests these households are retired.

Due to systemic barriers and discrimination, households racialized as non-white often face barriers to accessing owned housing (see e.g., Novac et al., 2002; Skaburskis, 1996), and that is apparent in Table 6.1 as well. Households where at least one member belongs to a visible minority group are underrepresented among owners without a mortgage, at 13% compared to the general population, at 21%.

Owners without a mortgage have a balanced income distribution, with 20% in the lowest income quintile and 21% in the highest income quintile, with a mean total household income of 102,700. This may be related to the age and employment characteristics, as these households tend to be retired and on fixed incomes, resulting in less variation.

Overall, aligning with life course theories, owners without a mortgage tend to be older couples without children at home who have retired and who have lived in their homes the longest, likely paying down their mortgages over time. This also aligns with the housing careers conceptualization that links housing outcomes with analogous changes (read, improvements) in employment and family trajectories (see e.g., Clark et al., 2003; Kendig, 1984). At the same time, recognizing that owners without a mortgage have lived in their home the longest, these households would have moved to their homes in a different socioeconomic context which may have supported this pattern more than the current context can now.

6.1.2 Owner with a mortgage

As demonstrated in Table 6.1, owners with a mortgage share some characteristics with owners without a mortgage and some characteristics with renters in private rental. For example, like

owners without a mortgage, most current owners moved from another owned dwelling, but a higher percentage also moved from private rental. There is also more variety in residency lengths compared to owners without a mortgage, but still have longer residency lengths than private renters. There is a higher percentage of attached dwelling types among owners with a mortgage, likely due to younger owners who cannot afford single detached dwellings as well as increasing diversity of housing types in recent years with increasing density in urban areas (Moos, 2014; Moos et al., 2018).

While owners with a mortgage and private renters have a similar mean age, the age profile looks different, with owners with a mortgage having more households in the middle age years between 30 and 59 years old. Connecting this to other life course transitions, there is a higher percentage of couples with children, at 40%, and the vast majority of households are employed, at 90%. Owners with a mortgage also have the highest proportion of household referent persons who self-rated their health excellent, very good, or good, at 90%.

Owners with a mortgage stand out as having the highest mean household income across the four tenure groups, at \$123,500, and households in the top two income quintiles are over-represented compared to the total population, particularly households in the fifth quintile, at 32%. However, despite the higher income profile, owners with a mortgage standout with a much higher proportion of households in unaffordable situations, at 24% compared to owners without a mortgage. This highlights the increasingly riskier and more expensive nature of contemporary homeownership (Arundel & Ronald, 2021; Ronald, 2008).

Overall, Table 6.1 demonstrates that owners with a mortgage tend to be couples with children in the middle age groups with the highest incomes. Again, thinking about life course theories, moves to ownership are often (normatively) associated with other changes in family and employment transitions, particularly linked to the transition to parenthood (Mulder, 2013; Mulder & Lauster, 2010). However, the changing nature of ownership is also clear – with more diversity of housing types and particularly, a much higher percentage of owners with a mortgage paying more than 30% of their income on housing compared to owners without a mortgage. This highlights how as the context that may have supported patterns that aligned

with the housing career model is changing, so too may be patterns of housing over the life course.

6.1.3 Renters in private rental tenure

Looking at Table 6.1, renters in private rental also demonstrate some distinct characteristics. As demonstrated in chapter 5 and considering how mobility patterns differ by tenure, renters in private rental demonstrate different housing histories than owners. Most private renters were previously also privately renting, but nearly 1 in 5 private renters were previously owners, at 17%. A higher percentage of renters in private rental moved more recently than other tenure groups, with 1 in 4 having moved less than 2 years ago compared to 10% of owners with a mortgage. Renters in private rental also tend to be living in multi-unit dwellings, primarily apartment stories less than 5 stories high, at 47%

While private renters share a similar mean age to owners with a mortgage, there are more households at either end of the age distribution among private renters compared to owners with a mortgage, with 17% of households with a household referent person 29 years old and younger and 5% of households with a household referent person 80 years old and older, compared to 7% and 1% among owners with a mortgage, respectively. There is also a higher proportion of lone person households among renters, at 44%, second only to renters in social and affordable housing at 66%.

Renters in the private market also have lower incomes, with an average household income of about half that of owners with a mortgage, at \$68,200. However, despite lower incomes on average, most households have at least one employed household member, at 71%. Connected to this, a much higher proportion of renter households are in unaffordable situations, at 34%. Renters in private rental also face more issues with overcrowding (8%) and with needing repairs (8%) compared to owners with a mortgage.

Overall, in Table 6.1, renters in private rental stand out as having more variation across their housing history and other factors from the housing transitions framework, as well as across housing, sociodemographic, and socioeconomic variables compared to the other tenure group. Table 6.1 highlights how private renting is home to many diverse Canadians and for extended

periods of time rather than a transitional or time-limited stop in their housing trajectory. At the same time, renters in private rental tend to have lower incomes and face more housing issues, highlighting structural tenure inequality between renters and owners who do not face the same issues and who have more opportunities and fewer constraints to address housing issues that do arise.

6.1.4 Renter in social & affordable housing

Lastly, exploring the composition of renters in social and affordable housing in Table 6.1 demonstrates some unique characteristics across the four tenure groups. The largest share of row houses are among renters in social and affordable housing, which aligns with when most social and affordable housing units were built in Canada in the 1970s and 1980s primarily in townhouse complexes (Suttor, 2016). Renters in social and affordable housing demonstrate the most extremes in terms of satisfaction with their dwelling, with 28% who are very satisfied and 13% who are dissatisfied or very dissatisfied, over four times higher than both owner tenure groups. Likely related, renters in social and affordable housing also demonstrate the highest percentage of households needing repairs in their homes, at 9%.

Renters in social and affordable housing stand out as having the highest percentage of households who moved within the same urban area, at 79% compared to 64% for the total population. Moving farther distances takes more household resources, and the social and affordable housing system is highly fragmented and disconnected across cities and provinces, making it difficult to move, even within the same urban area (de Vos, 2022; Pomeroy, 2017).

Renters in social and affordable housing also demonstrate a different household composition profile than other tenures, with 17% of households being a lone parent family and 66% of households being a single person household. Additionally, women-led households are overrepresented among households in social and affordable housing, at close to two-thirds of households, highlighting important gender-based inequality considerations. There is also a much higher percentage of households who rated their health fair or poor among renters in social and affordable housing than other tenures, at 38% who rated it fair or poor compared to 17% or less for the other tenure groups. Health and housing are linked (Dunn et al., 2006) and health needs can be a reason why households are in need of affordable housing as households with health issues and disabilities face barriers to homeownership and economic security (Hiscock et al., 2003; Maroto & Pettinicchio, 2020). This relationship is also demonstrated by the highest percentage of households either having adaptions in their home (11%) or who need adaptions (6%).

Households renting in social and affordable housing also have very low incomes, with 76% of households in the first income quintile and an average household income of \$31,200. Nearly 3/4 households in social and affordable housing are unemployed, at 72%, and most households do not have a university degree, at 86%, highlighting how households face barriers to economic security in a changing socioeconomic context that is more dependent on higher education (e.g., Côté & Bynner, 2008). Further, despite being in social and affordable housing, one-third of households are paying more than 30% of their income on shelter costs, nearly the same proportion as households in the private rental market, highlighting ongoing issues of affordability as incomes have stagnated and other costs have increased for low income households (Collins et al., 2021).

Overall, Table 6.1 demonstrates how due to barriers to economic security combined with increasing welfare conditionality and means testing to access social and affordable housing, there is a concentration of households who have been made marginalized through racism, colonialism, ableism, sexism, and other structural constraints renting in social and affordable housing. At the same time, similar to the private rental market, social and affordable housing is home to many diverse Canadians who live in social and affordable housing for extended periods of time, demonstrating residency lengths similar to owners with a mortgage, despite social and affordable housing being conceptualized as a "safety net" in the housing system (see chapter 3).

6.1.5 Summary of Current Tenure Groups

Table 6.1 highlights different composition of current tenure groups. Looking at the composition of owners without a mortgage, these households are more likely to be older retired couples who have lived in their home longer and are more satisfied with their homes and face fewer

affordability, adequacy, or suitability concerns. Owners with a mortgage tend to be in the middle age group with children and are working with higher rated health. They also have the highest incomes of the four tenure groups, but also nearly one-quarter are in unaffordable situations. Renters in private rental tend to be younger and older, with more diversity of household compositions, housing types, and socioeconomic characteristics. Renters in social and affordable housing are centralized in the lowest income quintile, and are more likely to be single parent, women-led, and with lower rated health. Both renter groups demonstrate higher proportions of households struggling with affordability, adequacy, and suitability issues, and renters in social and affordable housing standout with the highest proportion of households either in housing with adaptations or needing adaptations.

The changing nature of housing trajectories that contributed to Beer and Faulkner (2011) developing the housing transitions framework is clear in Table 6.1. While owners without a mortgage demonstrate patterns that are more aligned with the housing careers model that underpins the Canadian housing system, owners with a mortgage demonstrate the dichotomy that is homeownership in this current context. As house prices have increased as countries have "subsidized, idealized, and lubricated" homeownership at the expense of renting as part of asset-based welfare (Christophers, 2019; Hulchanski, 2004), households who have moved into ownership have more security of tenure and better quality housing than renters, while struggling with affordability compared to older owners, highlighting implications for intergenerational inequality.

To further explore the relationship between housing tenure and residential mobility in this context and controlling for these other housing, geographic, sociodemographic, and socioeconomic characteristics that are related to both housing tenure and mobility, I turn to the results of the multinomial models in the next part of this chapter.

6.2 Model Results - Current Tenure Outcomes

Table 6.2 below presents the model results for the multinomial model comparing each tenure category to the referent category, owning without a mortgage, as odd ratios. The model includes survey weights to account for the survey design.

	Owner wit	h mortgage	Renter in	private rental	Renter in social and affordable housing		
Characteristic	OR ^{1,2}	SE ²	OR ^{1,2}	SE ²	OR ^{1,2}	SE ²	
Previous Housing Tenure							
Owned	_	_	_	_	-	_	
Lived there rent free	0.86*	0.065	1.89***	0.077	3.79***	0.109	
Privately rented	1.37***	0.037	6.45***	0.044	9.69***	0.065	
Rented in social & affordable housing	1.08	0.121	4.80***	0.123	42.4***	0.132	
Length of time in current dwelling							
Less than 2 years ago	_	_	_	_	_	_	
2 years to less than 5 years ago	1.15*	0.065	0.69***	0.063	0.87	0.079	
5 years to less than 10 years ago	1.20**	0.063	0.40***	0.062	0.64***	0.078	
10 or more years ago or always lived	0.46***	0.058	0.09***	0.058	0.15***	0.074	
here	0.40	0.050	0.05	0.050	0.15	0.074	
	1.26***	0.037	0.45***	0.043	0.67***	0.059	
Moved for housing reasons	1.16***						
Moved for family reasons		0.036	0.96	0.043	1.00	0.061	
Moved for work reasons	1.02	0.050	1.39***	0.059	0.78**	0.095	
Moved for other reasons	0.88*	0.061	1.29***	0.061	2.00***	0.075	
Moved for forced reasons	1.42***	0.080	3.59***	0.058	4.06***	0.070	
Income Quintiles							
First Quintile		_	_	_	_	_	
Second Quintile	5.87***	0.070	1.40***	0.056	0.17***	0.073	
Third Quintile	9.44***	0.075	1.07	0.063	0.06***	0.108	
Fourth Quintile	12.1***	0.077	0.75***	0.070	0.02***	0.166	
Fifth Quintile	11.7***	0.080	0.43***	0.078	0.01***	0.080	
Age (mean centered)	0.93***	0.002	0.96***	0.002	0.97***	0.003	
Age (mean centered)	1.00**	0.000	1.00***	0.000	1.00***	0.000	
Health Status							
Health rated excellent, very good or	_	_	_	_	_	_	
good							
Health rated fair or poor	1.07	0.051	1.23***	0.054	1.75***	0.065	
Current Dwelling Type							
Apartment building 5 stories and	_	_	_	_	_	_	
higher							
Apartment building less than 5 stories	1.38***	0.069	0.94	0.052	0.70***	0.060	
Rowhouse or townhouse	1.47***	0.074	0.27***	0.064	0.33***	0.079	
Semidetached or duplex	1.23**	0.067	0.17***	0.058	0.04***	0.075	
			0.03***				
Single detached dwelling	0.94	0.056		0.049	0.00***	0.098	
Unaffordable	35.2***	0.072	8.61***	0.065	1.97***	0.073	
Unsuitable (overcrowded)	1.28**	0.083	2.44***	0.065	1.81***	0.080	
Inadequate (major repairs needed)	1.15*	0.067	1.06	0.074	0.88	0.101	
Inaccessible (needs adaptations)							
Does not need adaptations	—	—	—	—	—	-	
Does not have adaptations	1.28*	0.118	0.86	0.136	1.13	0.160	
Has adaptations	0.99	0.107	0.81	0.111	1.58***	0.123	
Urban/Rural Status	0.98	0.038	0.61***	0.047	0.29***	0.065	
Location of previous dwelling	0.95	0.037	1.12**	0.043	1.21**	0.060	
Province							
Ontario	_	_	_	_	_	-	
Alberta	0.97	0.056	0.78***	0.067	1.27*	0.093	
Atlantic	1.52***	0.049	1.50***	0.058	1.19*	0.080	
BC	0.86*	0.060	0.62***	0.068	0.84	0.093	
Manitoba and Saskatchewan	1.16**	0.053	0.92	0.064	1.13	0.089	
Québec	1.92***	0.053	1.44***	0.063	1.46***	0.085	
Gender	1.16***	0.034	1.44	0.038			
	1.10	0.032	1.10.	0.038	0.99	0.055	
Household Composition							
one couple no children	-	_		—	— •	_	
one census family plus others	2.16***	0.079	2.35***	0.104	9.13***	0.054	
one couple with children	1.57***	0.046	1.75***	0.063	10.9***	0.123	
one lone parent family	1.36***	0.067	1.75***	0.078	13.2***	0.111	
one person not in census family	1.32***	0.046	1.13*	0.049	2.71***	0.077	
two or more persons not in a census	1.33**	0.105	2.77***	0.102	2.24***	0.056	
family							

Table 6.2 Multinomial Regression Results Predicting Current Tenure Outcomes, Odds Ratios

	Owner wit	h mortgage	e Renter in	private rental	Renter in social and affordable housing		
Characteristic	OR ^{1,2}	SE ²	OR ^{1,2}	SE ²	OR ^{1,2}	SE ²	
Household Indigeneity Status	1.24*	0.085	1.61***	0.101	2.22***	0.134	
Household Visible Minority Status	0.86**	0.056	0.74***	0.066	1.60***	0.095	
Household Highest Education Level	1.36***	0.035	1.94***	0.043	3.04***	0.074	
Household Employment Status	0.42***	0.048	0.55***	0.054	1.70***	0.075	
Overall dwelling satisfaction							
Dissatisfied or very dissatisfied	_	_	_	_	_	_	
Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied	1.03	0.074	0.90	0.062	0.72***	0.078	
Satisfied	1.10	0.063	0.69***	0.049	0.65***	0.060	
Very satisfied	1.00	0.064	0.58***	0.051	0.62***	0.063	

²OR = Odds Ratio, SE = Standard Error

While the odd ratios in Table 6.2 present one way of looking at the relationship between past tenure, mobility experiences, and current tenure outcomes, it does not present the magnitude of these different variables nor use a unit of measurement that is relatively comprehensible - and this is where average marginal effects enter.

Table 6.3 below presents the same model results as Table 6.2 but as average marginal effects. While the term marginal effects or average marginal effects may be used to refer to a number of different underlying conceptualizations, including taking the average of each variable and calculating the predicted probability (also called the marginal effect at the means) or taking the effect at different referent points for each variable (marginal effects at user specified values), I am using average marginal effects in the way that Vincent Arel-Bundock (n.d.) and Andrew Heiss (2022) describe it. That is, calculating the fitted values for all variables and then calculating the average effect of each variable on the outcome (i.e., the predicted probability of current tenure) when the variable changes. Another way this is understood as the relative effect of a one-unit change in the variable on the outcome variable, averaged across all fitted values. In the case of categorical variables, the unit change is changing from the referent category to another category.

Variables		Owner no mortgage	Owner with mortgage	Renter in private rental	Renter in social and affordable housing
Predictor Variables Housing History Variables	Lived there rent free	-0.0208 **	-0.0568 ***	0.0332 ***	0.0444 ***

Variables Privately rented		Owner mortga	-	mortga	Owner with mortgage		r in te al ***	Renter in social and affordable housing	
Previous Housing Tenure (Ref:	Privately rented Rented in social & affordable	-0.0922		-0.0742		0.1273	***	0.0391	
Owned)	housing	-0.0829	***	-0.0926	***	0.0185		0.1571	***
	2 years to less than 5 years ago	0.0057		0.0405	***	-0.0556	***	0.0094	**
-	ng 5 years to less than 10 years ago	0.0204	***	0.0799	***	-0.1180	***	0.0177	***
Ref: Less than 2 years ago)	10 or more years ago or always lived here	0.1400	***	0.0442	***	-0.1897	***	0.0055	
Moved for housing reasons (Ref No)	Yes	0.0099	**	0.0712	***	-0.0936	***	0.0125	***
Noved for family reasons (Ref: No)	Yes	-0.0084	**	0.0201	***	-0.0132	***	0.0014	
Noved for work reasons (Ref: N	o) Yes	-0.0087		-0.0149	**	0.0491	***	-0.0255	***
Noved for other reasons (Ref: N	lo) Yes	-0.0032		-0.0308	***	0.0076		0.0263	***
Noved for forced reasons (Ref:	Yes	-0.0622	***	-0.0338	***	0.0800	***	0.0160	***
No) Interaction Variables Socioeconomic Variables									_
	Second Quintile	-0.0782	***	0.1663	***	0.0595	***	-0.1476	***
ncome Quintiles (Ref: First Quintile)	Third Quintile	-0.0962	*** ***	0.2541 0.3221	*** ***	0.0175 -0.0328	* ***	-0.1754	***
(unrule)	Fourth Quintile Fifth Quintile	-0.1021 -0.0849	***	0.3221	***	-0.0328	***	-0.1872 -0.1904	***
Sociodemographic Variable		0.0049		0.3011		0.0057		0.1004	
see (mean centered)	dY/dX	0.0060	***	-0.0062	***	-0.0004	*	0.0005	***
ge (mean centered) squared Health and Wellbeing	dY/dX	-0.0001	***	-0.0000	***	0.0001	***	-0.0000	***
lealth Status (Ref: Health rated xcellent, very good or good) Controls	Health rated fair or poor	-0.0130	**	-0.0049		-0.0026		0.0205	***
Housing Variables	Apartment building less than 5	0.0004		0.0202	***	0.0424		0.0240	***
urrent Dwelling Type (Ref:	stories	-0.0021	_	0.0393	***	-0.0124	_	-0.0249	***
partment building 5 stories	Rowhouse or townhouse	0.0567	***	0.1559	***	-0.2007	***	-0.0118	*
nd higher)	Semidetached or duplex	0.1103	***	0.1817	***	-0.1859	***	-0.1062	***
Inoffordable (Def. No)	Single detached dwelling	0.2287	*** ***	0.2869 0.2663	*** ***	-0.3738	*** ***	-0.1417	***
Jnaffordable (Ref: No) Jnsuitable (overcrowded) (Ref:	Yes	-0.2217		0.2663		0.0217		-0.0663	
lo)	Yes	-0.0419	***	-0.0216	*	0.0723	***	-0.0088	
nadequate (major repairs eeded) (Ref: No)	Yes	-0.0095		0.0137	*	0.0051	**	-0.0092	*
accessible (needs adaptations) lef: Does not need	not have adaptations	-0.0133		0.0371	17 1¥	-0.0356	**	0.0118	*
daptations) Geographic Variables	Has adaptations	0.0030		0.0070		-0.0443	***	0.0343	***
rban/Rural Status (Ref: Rural)		0.0219	***	0.0265	***	-0.0053		-0.0430	***
Ref: In different city/town, ndian reserve or outside anada)	In same city/town/village/township/Indian reserve	-0.0009		-0.0123	***	0.0082	*	0.0050	*
	Alberta	0.0068		0.0081		-0.0384	***	0.0235	***
	Atlantic	-0.0380	***	0.0274	***	0.0197	***	-0.0091	**
rovince (Ref: Ontario)	BC	0.0240	***	0.0060		-0.0407	***	0.0107	**
	Manitoba and Saskatchewan	-0.0081		0.0210	***	-0.0220	***	0.0091	*
.	Québec	-0.0524	***	0.0569	***	-0.0065		0.0020	
Sociodemographic Variables		0.0400	***	0.0400	***	0.0011		0.0040	*
ender (Ref: Female)	Male	-0.0120	*** ***	0.0128	***	0.0041	*	-0.0049	*
	one census family plus others	-0.0842 -0.0592	***	0.0417 0.0183	***	-0.0280 -0.0562	***	0.0705 0.0970	***
lousehold Composition (Ref:	one couple with children one lone parent family	-0.0592	***	0.0183		-0.0562	***	0.10970	***
ne couple no children)	one person not in census family	-0.0318	***	0.0005	***	-0.0369	***	0.1098	***
ne coupie no children)	two or more persons not in a								
		-0.0538	***	-0.0208	*	0.0778	***	-0.0032	

Variables		Owner no Owner wit mortgage mortgage			private		Renter in social and affordable housing		
Household Indigeneity Status (Ref: No household member is Indigenous)	At least one household member is Indigenous	-0.0302	***	-0.0020		0.0110		0.0213	***
Household Visible Minority Status (Ref: No household member belongs to a visible minority group) Socioeconomic Variables	At least 1 hhld member belongs to a visible minority group	0.0141	**	-0.0048		-0.0476	***	0.0383	***
Household Highest Education Level (Ref: BA or higher)	Less than BA	-0.0450	***	-0.0010		0.0187	***	0.0274	***
Household Employment Status (Ref: At least one member of the household was employed)	No member of the household was employed	0.0757	***	-0.0798	***	-0.0525	***	0.0566	***
Aspirations Overall dwelling satisfaction	Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied	0.0031		0.0099	de els els	-0.0010	ala ala ala	-0.0121	**
(Ref: Dissatisfied or very dissatisfied)	Satisfied Very satisfied	0.0070 0.0179	***	0.0317 0.0298	***	-0.0317 -0.0467	***	-0.0069 -0.0010	

Model Performance: AIC: 66104.04 BIC: 67372.19 R²: 0.49 R² Adjusted 0.49 RMSE 0.31

Colour coding: Dark blue = 15 percentage point decrease or greater; Light blue = 5 to less than 15 percentage point decrease; Light red = 5 to less than 15 percentage point increase; Dark red = 15 percentage point increase or greater;

Significance: * = p < 0.05; ** = p < 0.01; *** = p < 0.001

Overall, the model results reinforce that past tenure and mobility experiences have different relationships with current tenure outcomes. For many variables, there are opposite relationships for owning and renting. Additionally, the past tenure and mobility experiences are associated with some of the largest average marginal effects of all the variables in the model, controlling for housing, geographic, sociodemographic, and socioeconomic variables, which is clearly demonstrated by the colour coding. The model performs relatively well at predicting current tenure, with an R² value of 0.49.

In this section, I highlight the associations for the housing history variables (past tenure, residency length, and reasons for moving) and for the housing transition framework proxies (income quintiles, age, and health status) before reviewing the associations with the control variables.

6.2.1 Residential Mobility and Previous Tenure (Housing History) Variables

6.2.1.1 Previous Tenure

Having previously privately rented is associated with a 9.22 percentage point decrease (-0.0922 *100) and a 7.42 percentage point decrease in the predicted probability of being an owner without a mortgage or an owner with a mortgage, respectively, compared to having previously

owned and holding all else constant. However, it has the opposite effect for the predicted probability of currently renting privately or renting in social and affordable housing, where having privately rented in the past is associated with a 12.73 and a 3.91 percentage point increase in the predicted probability of currently renting or renting in social and affordable housing, respectively.

Overall, like the descriptive statistics in Table 6.1 and the odds ratio results in Table 6.2, previous tenure is strongly associated with current tenure. For example, having previously rented in social and affordable housing is associated with a 15.71 percentage point increase in the predicted probability of currently renting in social and affordable housing compared to having previously owned. Similarly, having privately rented is associated with a 12.73 percentage point increase in the predicted probability of currently renting privately rented is associated with a 12.73

6.2.1.2 Residency Length

Looking at the average marginal effects of when households moved to their current dwelling, longer residency lengths are positively associated with owning both with and without a mortgage while shorter residency lengths are associated with renting. There are also differences - for example, having moved to their current dwelling 5 years to less than 10 years ago is associated with a 7.99 percentage point increase in the predicted probability of currently owning with a mortgage compared to having moved their less than 2 years ago. However, this decreases to a 4.42 percentage point increase in the predicted probability of currently owning with a mortgage when having moved 10 years ago or have always lived there, while being associated with a 14-percentage point increase in the predicted probability of currently owning without a mortgage. The average marginal effects of residency length are particularly pronounced among private renters, highlighting how more recent moves are centralized among private renters relative to the other three tenure groups.

Having moved there ten years ago or always lived there is associated with the second largest average marginal effect on the predicted probability of currently owning without a mortgage across all variables, second only to currently living in a single detached dwelling (compared to living in an apartment building 5 stories or higher). This suggests that the biggest predictor of

having paid off one's mortgage is time, even when considering the association with dwelling type, as previously, mortgages were restricted to single detached dwellings and only relatively recently has ownership in multi-family dwellings become available through condominium or strata legislation (Lauster, 2016; Rosen & Walks, 2013).

6.2.1.3 Reasons for Moving

Exploring the average marginal effects for the different reasons for moving in Table 6.3 also shows different patterns across all four tenure groups. Having moved for housing reasons is associated with 7.12 increase and a 9.36 decrease in the predicted probabilities of owning with a mortgage and renting in private rental, but only a 0.99 and a 1.25 percentage point increase in the predicted probabilities of owning without a mortgage and renting in social and affordable housing.

Moving for family reasons was associated with relatively small average marginal effects for all current tenure categories, ranging from a 2.01 percentage point increase for owning with a mortgage and a 1.32 percentage point decrease for renting in private rental. Having moved for work reasons is associated with a slightly larger average marginal effect on the predicted probability of private renting but otherwise had very small effects across tenure. Among private renting, moving for work reasons is associated with a 4.91 percentage point increase in the predicted probability.

Having moved for "other" reasons is associated with similar average marginal effect but in the opposite direction for owning with a mortgage and renting in social and affordable housing, being associated with a 3.08 percentage point decrease for owning with a mortgage and a 2.63 percentage point increase for renting in social and affordable housing. "Other" reasons for moving include moving for moving for school moving for health reasons, and moving for other reasons, and from chapter 5, health reasons stood out among renters in social and affordable housing.

Lastly for this section, having moved for forced reasons is associated with an 8-percentage point increase in the predicted probability of currently renting in private rental, a 1.6 percentage point increase in the predicted probability of renting in social and affordable

housing, and a 3.38 and a 6.22 percentage point decrease in the predicted probability of owning with a mortgage and owning without a mortgage, respectively. This highlights that forced moves are primarily drivers within the private rental market, rather than driving moves into social and affordable housing. As there is limited stock of social and affordable housing and waitlists are long, it is likely not accessible to households needing to relocate due to evictions and other forms of forced moves. Further, depending on the reason for the eviction or forced move, households may face very different experiences in trying to access social and affordable housing, where evictions due to affordability increase a household's priority for social and affordable in the Alberta context, but evictions due "behavioural" reasons may make a household ineligible (de Vos, 2022). The stronger negative relationship with owning with a mortgage also suggests the cumulative disadvantage effects of forced moves that make it more difficult to access mortgage financing, including impacts on credit (see Desmond & Kimbro, 2015).

Overall, the average marginal effects of the reasons for moving suggests that there are different drivers for different tenures, with households more likely to be a homeowner if they moved for more positive, voluntary, and/or controlled reasons and households more likely to be a renter if they moved for more negative, involuntary, and/or uncontrolled reasons. Among owners with a mortgage, only moving for housing reasons has a marginal effect greater than 5.0 percentage points, while among private renters, housing, work, and other are all associated with a greater than or close to 5.0 percentage point effect. At the same time, the reasons for moving have very small marginal effects on the likelihood of owning without a mortgage or renting in social and affordable housing, suggesting other factors at play (such as time for owners without a mortgage).

6.2.2 Other Housing Transitions Factors (Interaction Variables)

6.2.2.1 Income Quintiles

Moving now from the residential mobility and past housing tenure (housing history) variables to the key group characteristics that are proxies for the other housing transitions factors, I start with the associations with income quintiles, included as economic resources are a key

constraint on the ability to make choices about housing and mobility. This is clearly demonstrated in Table 6.3. Household income quintiles demonstrates linear but opposing effects on the predicted probabilities of the different tenure categories. Income also has some of the largest associations of all variables in the model, particularly among owners with a mortgage and among renters in social and affordable housing (as demonstrated by the clustering of red and blue cells in the table).

Income is positively associated for both owner categories, but while the magnitude of the average marginal effect on the predicted probability of owning without a mortgage increases for higher income quintiles compared to the first income quintile, the increases are larger among owners *with* a mortgage compared to without. For example, having a household income in the third quintile compared to the first income quintile is associated with a 9.62 percentage point increase in the predicted probability of owning without a mortgage, rising to 10.21 percentage points for the fourth income quintile. However, the same contrast is associated with a 25.41 percentage point increase on the predicted probability of being an owner with a mortgage, rising to 32.21 percentage point increase for the fourth income apoint increase for the fourth income apoint increase for the fully of owning with a mortgage, while differences are smaller for owners without a mortgage. From the descriptive statistics in Table 6.1, owners without a mortgage are retired and moved into homeownership at a time when house prices were more balanced, and income now matters more to move into ownership.

Comparatively, income is negatively associated with the predicted probability of renting in private rental and a stronger relationship with the probability of renting in social and affordable housing. In terms of predicting the probability of renting in social and affordable housing, each income quintile is associated with an approximately 1.5 percentage point decrease compared to the first income quintile, with the relationship plateauing between the fourth (18.72 percentage points) and the fifth quintile (19.04 percentage point). In terms of renting in the private rental, the relationship is largest for the second quintile (5.95 percentage point increase) and the fifth quintile (8.57 percentage point decrease). This highlights how the private

rental market has become the home for many moderate-income households who are not eligible for social and affordable housing and who cannot afford or are unable to access financing for homeownership. Social and affordable housing has income limits for both initial access and continued eligibility, and thus the income effect is likely in large part due to the program design. However, social and affordable housing has become more centralized among lowest income renters as the private market has become more inaccessible and access to the social and affordable housing system has become more means tested. The income effect among private renters also highlights how private renting has become more residualized as higher income households have moved to homeownership as renting became less desirable relative to owning (Christophers, 2019; Ronald, 2008).

While Table 6.3 demonstrates that income has very clear associations with current tenure, it is likely that the mobility and past tenure variables are not evenly distributed across income. This will be explored more in the next chapter.

6.2.2.2 Age

The average marginal effects for age demonstrates a quadratic relationship with current tenure, as demonstrated by the opposite signs for age and age squared, except for the likelihood of owning with a mortgage which has a negative association across both age terms. This is more clearly demonstrated in the predicted probabilities in the next section of this chapter, and so will be discussed there.

6.2.2.3 Self-Reported Health Status

Self-reported health status was associated with relatively small average marginal effects across tenure except for renting in social and affordable housing. Aligning with the reasons for moving results discussed above, self-reported health of fair or poor was associated with a 2.05 percentage point increase in the predicted probability of renting in social and affordable housing. Having poorer rated health was negatively associated with and had very small average marginal effects on the predicted probability of renting in the private market, owning with a mortgage, and owning without a mortgage, reinforcing health issues and the often related economic insecurity as a driver of social and affordable housing pathways (de Vos, 2022; Hiscock et al., 2003; Maroto & Pettinicchio, 2020). This will be further explored in the chapter 7.

6.2.3 Controls

Lastly, reviewing the relationships between the control variables and the predicted probabilities of current tenure demonstrates both differences and similarities between tenure outcomes.

6.2.3.1 Housing characteristics

Other housing characteristics are included to account for the composite nature of housing beyond housing tenure and to consider structural aspects of housing quality. Dwelling type is differently associated with different tenure categories, having some of the largest average marginal effects in the model across all four tenures. Being in a single detached dwelling compared to a high-density multi-family building is associated with a 22.87 and a 28.69 percentage point increase in the predicted probability of owing without a mortgage and owning with a mortgage, respectively. It has the opposite relationship for renting, being associated with a 37.38 and a 14.17 percentage point decrease on the predicted probability of renting in private rental or social and affordable housing, respectively. Considering these relationships for dwelling type in connection to the relationship to suitability (or being overcrowded), which is positively associated with renting in the private rental market but negatively associated with owning, highlights how differences in the types of dwellings available structures opportunities and constraints to move. Rented dwellings tend to be smaller and older, with fewer purpose-built rentals having been built in the last 30 years, while owned housing has had more focus and thus has more options within the available housing stock.

Further looking at the associations between tenure and the housing quality indicators demonstrates unique results as well. Despite the higher rates of households struggling with affordability in rental tenures (see Table 6.1), unaffordability has the largest average marginal effects among owners with a mortgage, being associated with a 26.63 percentage point increase on average. It has nearly the opposite relationship among owners without a mortgage, being associated with a 22.17 percentage point decrease on average. This highlights how the presence of a mortgage mediates affordability for owners – and reinforces how current owners,

who are taking on much larger and riskier mortgages are much more vulnerable in this current context (Aalbers, 2008; Macdonald, 2015).

6.2.3.2 Geographic Characteristics

Second, exploring geographic characteristics, having stayed in the same town/city/province at the time of the last move is positively associated with the predicted probability of owning without a mortgage, renting in private rental, and renting in social and affordable housing, but has a very small average effect of less than 0.5 percentage point. Moving within the same town/city/province is negatively associated with the predicted probability of being an owner with a mortgage, having a slightly larger effect (1.23 percentage point decrease). This suggests that longer distance moves (inter-urban or inter-province) are more common among owners with a mortgage, which also requires more resources to make longer distance moves.¹⁶

The other two geographic characteristics - urban/rural status and province - are associated with different average marginal effects. Somewhat counter-intuitively, living in an urban area is positively associated with both ownership groups and negatively associated with both renting groups, although the association is negligible for privately renting. For renting in social and affordable housing, being in an urban area is associated with a 4.3 percentage point decrease in the predicted probability compared to being in a rural area and holding all else constant, despite that the majority of renters in social and affordable housing live in urban areas (83%, see Table 6.1).

Province of residence also has relatively small marginal effects for all tenure groups. The standout is Québec, where living in Québec compared to Ontario is associated with a 5.24 decrease in the predicted probability of owning without a mortgage, and a 5.69 increase in the predicted probability of owning without a mortgage, and a 5.69 increase in the predicted probability of owning with a mortgage. Québec has other distinctions in the Canadian housing system, including a much higher proportion of renters, a much higher proportion of attached housing types, and a more active social and affordable housing that did not

¹⁶ This relationship would likely be more pronounced with the more detailed data available in the Research Data Centre since the previous location data is highly aggregated in the PUMF. See more on this in Chapter 4.

experience the same level of disinvestment as other provinces (Statistics Canada, 2017c; Suttor, 2016).

6.2.3.3 Sociodemographic characteristics

While age is included as a predictor as a proxy for stage in the life course, drawn from the housing transitions framework, there are other sociodemographic characteristics associated with both mobility and housing. Exploring the relationship between tenure and household composition, the presence of children is positively associated with both owning with a mortgage and renting in social and affordable housing, while negatively associated with both owning with a the amortgage and renting in private rental. Being a lone parent household is associated with a 10.98 increase in the predicted probability of renting in social and affordable housing. Being in a household with two or more persons not in a census family (i.e., roommates) is positively associated with renting in private rental, with a 7.78 percentage point increase on average. Being in a one-person household is positively associated with renting in social and affordable housing (3.94 percentage point increase on average), negatively associated with privately renting (3.69 percentage point decrease on average), positively associated with a mortgage (2.57 percentage point increase), and negatively associated with owning with a mortgage (2.82 percentage point decrease on average).

The positive associations with renting in social and affordable housing and being a single parent or a single person aligns with broader trends that as private renting has become more expensive, it is more difficult to afford without roommates or a partner, so more single person households rely on social and affordable housing. This is particularly true for older adults and people who face barriers on the labour market, including single parents. There are also other life course transitions that are connected to housing – so that all other household compositions than being a couple without children are negatively associated with owning with a mortgage suggesting that these are older households whose adult children have moved out – and may not have "downsized" as the housing career ladder conceptualization suggests.

6.2.3.4 Socioeconomic Characteristics

Similar to age, income is included as a predictor as a proxy for economic resources from the housing transitions framework, but other socioeconomic characteristics are also associated with mobility and housing. Education level and employment status demonstrate different relationships across tenure. Having less than bachelor's degree is negatively associated with both owning categories and positively associated with both renting categories, with a bigger association for both owning without a mortgage (4.5 percentage point decrease) and renting in social and affordable housing (2.74 percentage point increase). However, having no member of the household employed in the last week was positively associated with both owning without a mortgage and renting in social and affordable housing without a fordable housing and negatively associated with owning without a mortgage and renting in private rental.

As with household composition explored above, employment transitions are also linked to housing transitions. However, these patterns suggest different trajectories across housing tenure. Owners with a mortgage and renters in private rental both tend to be younger and in prime working ages, while suggesting different pathways for owning without a mortgage (with higher education and more likely retired) compared to renting in social and affordable housing (often facing barriers to employment and economic security, including lower education).

6.2.3.5 Aspirations and Motivations

And fifth, our homes are also connected to subjective characteristics and aspirations, a core principle of the housing pathways framework developed by David Clapham (2002) and integrated by Beer and Faulkner (2011) into the housing transitions framework. Aspirations and motivations are partially reflected through the reasons for moving variables, included as key predictors. Further exploring dwelling satisfaction, higher rated satisfaction with their current dwelling was positively associated with both owning categories and negatively associated with both renting categories, with larger average marginal effects for renting in private rental. Being satisfied compared to dissatisfied or very dissatisfied was associated with a 3.17 percentage point decrease in the predicted probability of renting in private rental on average, increasing to a 4.67 percentage point decrease on average for very satisfied compared to dissatisfied or very

dissatisfied. Conversely, being satisfied or being very satisfied compared to dissatisfied or very dissatisfied are associated with an approximately 3.0 percentage point increase in the predicted probability of currently owning with a mortgage, on average.

This suggests that as renter households have less control and security of tenure in their homes, due to the tenure discriminatory housing system, and have made more reactive moves, they may have made more constrained housing choices that are less aligned with their preferences, reflected in the negative association with dwelling satisfaction in Table 6.3. Comparatively, owner households, who have more policy support, both to move and to stay, with more control over their housing decisions and with better availability and better quality housing stock to choose from are privileged to be able to make less constrained housing choices that are more in line with their housing preferences, as reflected in the positive association with dwelling satisfaction.

6.3 Predicted Probabilities of Current Tenure Outcomes by Key Variables

From the results so far, it is clear that past tenure and mobility experiences are differentially associated with current housing tenure outcomes. The descriptive statistics presented in Table 6.1 demonstrated that there are differences in the composition of the four tenure groups, linked to broader life course transitions and structural constraints in the housing system. The model results presented in Table 6.3 demonstrated the association between the key predictor, interaction, and control variables on the predicted probability of each of the four tenure groups, holding all else constant, demonstrating that these variables often had opposite relationships with tenure, but that it was not as clearly divided into owning and renting. In the last section of this chapter, I plot the predicted probabilities for current tenure by the key housing and mobility variables – previous tenure, residency length, and reasons for moving - and for the other housing transition factor variables - household income quintiles, age, and health status. The predicted probabilities present another way of exploring the relationship between current tenure outcomes and the key variables. Rather than focusing on the association of each variable on the tenure outcomes like in Table 6.3, the predicted probabilities focus on the predicted tenure outcomes given the different categories for the

predictor variables, holding all else constant. In other words, the predicted probabilities present the predicted tenure patterns across the key variables, holding all else constant.

In each figure below, I present the predicted percentage of households in each of the four tenure outcome categories given the different predictor variables, holding all else constant. All other variables than the predictor of focus are held to their referent value or to their mean for continuous variables, except for income quintile (held at Third Quintile) and dwelling satisfaction (held at Satisfied). Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals.

Housing History Variables 6.3.1

6.3.1.1 Previous Tenure

Figure 6.1 plots the predicted probability of current tenure across previous tenure, holding all else constant.



Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Previous Housing Tenure

Figure 6.1 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Previous Housing Tenure

Figure 6.1 demonstrates that among previous owners, most are predicted to still currently own, with 48% predicted to own with a mortgage and 33% predicted to own without a mortgage. The remainder are predicted to rent privately, at 19%. There are more diverse tenure trajectories for those who previously lived rent free. Among these households, 30% are

predicted to own without a mortgage, 37% are predicted to own with a mortgage, 32% are predicted to rent privately, and 2% are predicted to rent in social and affordable housing. Among previous private renters, only 2% are predicted to be renting in social and affordable housing, with the bulk predicted to be renting privately, at 54%, and another 44% predicted to be owning either with or without a mortgage. Among previous renters in social and affordable housing, more respondents than any other past tenure are predicted to be renting in social and affordable housing, at 11%.

Overall, the predicted probabilities demonstrate again the positive relationship between previous tenure and current tenure: the highest predicted probability of being an owner with a mortgage or an owner without a mortgage is among those who previously owned, at 81%. The highest predicted probability of renting privately is among those who previously rented privately, at 54%. And the highest predicted probability of renting in social and affordable housing is among those who previously rented in social and affordable housing, at 11%. This again reinforces the cumulative impacts of tenure across the life course, providing different opportunities and constraints in the ability to make housing transitions.

6.3.1.2 Residency Length

Holding all else constant, <u>Figure 6.2</u> plots the predicted probability for each current housing tenure outcome across the time in the current dwelling, demonstrating a clear linear relationship in opposite directions for private renters and owners with a mortgage.



Figure 6.2 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Length Of Time In Current Dwelling

The predicted probability of being a renter in private rental steadily decreases as the time since the last move increases. Among households who had moved less than 2 years ago, 63% are predicted to be renting privately, while 24% are predicted to be owning with a mortgage. Comparatively, among households who had moved 5 years to less than 10 years ago, 38% are predicted to be renting privately while 43% are predicted to be owning with a mortgage. For owners with a mortgage, the predicted probability increases with time until 5 years to less than 10 years ago, where it declines slightly.

Conversely, for owners without a mortgage, there is a large increase in the predicted probability between 5 years and less than 10 years to 10 or more years or always lived there. Among households who had lived in their home for 5 years to less than 10 years, 17% are predicted to be owning without a mortgage, rising to 39% among households who had lived in their home for 10 years or more. Among households who have lived in their homes 10 years or longer, the same proportions are predicted to be owning with a mortgage (39%), while in all other residency lengths, the proportion of owners with a mortgage is much higher than those without a mortgage. As with the average marginal effects in Table 6.3, Figure 6.2 demonstrates how time is positively associated with likelihood of owning without a mortgage.

Additionally, for renters in social and affordable housing, the predicted probabilities vary little over time, from 1.7% among households who moved less than 2 years ago to 0.9% among households who moved 10 years ago or more, suggesting that moving into social and affordable housing is less impacted by residency length. These results reinforce how recent moves are centralized among private renters who both have the flexibility to move compared to owners but also are more susceptible to unplanned and forced moves – the focus of Figure 6.3 discussed next.

6.3.1.3 Reasons for Moving

Figure 6.3 plots the predicted probabilities of current tenure by the five grouped reasons for moving – housing, family, work, other, and forced – and clearly demonstrates opposing relationships for owners and renters.





Figure 6.3 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure Outcomes By Reasons For Moving

The predicted probabilities of being an owner, either with or without a mortgage, are higher for more positive and voluntary reasons like housing and family. Among households who moved for housing reasons, 46% are predicted to be owning with a mortgage and 27% are predicted to be renting privately. Among households who moved for family reasons, 42% are predicted to be owning with a mortgage and 34% are predicted to be renting privately. The predicted

probabilities of being a renter, both in the private market and in social and affordable housing, are higher for more negative, involuntary reasons, including "other" and forced moves. Among households who moved for other reasons, 33% are predicted to be owning with a mortgage, 42% are predicted to be renting privately, and 2% predicted to be renting in social and affordable housing. Work moves are somewhere in the middle, with a higher predicted probability for renters in the private market (43%) compared to owners with a mortgage (33%).

Focusing on forced moves only again reinforces that involuntary moves are centralized among renters than owners, but more strongly so for renters in the private market than renters in social and affordable housing. Among households who moved for forced reasons, 59% are predicted to be renting privately, and 3% are predicted to be renting in social and affordable housing. This is the highest predicted probability of renting privately among the five grouped reasons for moving, highlighting the precariousness of renters in the private market who have less supports and security of tenure than other tenures in the Canadian housing system.

6.3.2 Housing Transitions Proxies (Interaction Variables)

6.3.2.1 Income Quintiles

Figure 6.4 plots the predicted probability of current tenure against income quintiles, again showing a clear linear relationship in the opposite direction for renters in private rental and owners with a mortgage.



Figure 6.4 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Income Quintiles

Owners with a mortgage have a stronger positive relationship with income, with the predicted probability increasing by 27 percentage points between the first (9%) and the second (36%) income quintile. It then increases by an average of 8 percentage points between each income quintile. Similarly, renters in the private market have a strong negative relationship with income, decreasing by an average of 12 percentage points as income increases along each quintile . Among households in the first income quintile, 9% are predicted to be owning with a mortgage, while 47% are predicted to be renting privately. By the third quintile, owners with a mortgage are the largest share of the distribution, with 52% predicted to be owning with a mortgage and 30% predicted to be renting privately. Among the fifth quintile, 69% are predicted to be owning with a mortgage while 15% are predicted to be renting privately.

The relationship between income and the predicted probability of owning without a mortgage is more mixed, suggesting that income has a weaker association with the probability of owning without a mortgage compared to other tenure groups. Among households in the first income quintile, 28% are predicted to be owning without a mortgage. There is little variation between the second and fifth income quintiles, ranging from a low of 16% in the fourth income quintile to a high of 18% in both the second and fifth income quintile. As highlighted in Table 6.1, the income distribution among owners with a mortgage was more balanced than the other tenure groups.

For renters in social and affordable housing, there is a large decrease in the predicted probability between first and second quintile, and then relatively small changes after that. Among households in the first quintile, 15% are predicted to be renting in social and affordable housing, dropping to 2% in the second quintile and less than 0.5% to 0% between the third and fifth quintile. This suggests that it is the difference between being very low income (first quintile) and any other income quintile that matters the most for social and affordable housing that has become more means-tested and more difficult to access (Fitzpatrick & Pawson, 2014; Watts & Fitzpatrick, 2018). Canadian research has demonstrated that low-income renters have become more centralized in social and affordable housing and that eligibility requirements that prioritize income means that access is only available to those with lowest incomes. At the same time, most low-income households are predicted to be renting on the private market, as the availability of social and affordable housing has decreased since federal funding and most provincial funding for new social and affordable housing ended in the early 1990s (Hulchanski, 2004; Suttor, 2016).

6.3.2.2 Age

Figure 6.5 presents the predicted probabilities of current tenure across age, with age increasing in 10-year increments from 23 years old to 83 years old.





Figure 6.5 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Age (Years)

As mentioned above, when looking at the average marginal effects in Table 6.3, age and current tenure is a mostly quadratic relationship except for owning without a mortgage which is mostly linear. This relationship is clearly presented in Figure 6.5. The quadratic, "u-shaped" relationship is most evident in the predicted probabilities of renting privately, which starts at a predicted 49% among 23 years olds, decreases to 36% of 53 year olds, then increases again to a peak of a predicted 54% of 83 year olds. There is a steeper change in the predicted probabilities for owners. For owning with a mortgage, the predicted probabilities peak at 53% of 33 year olds, then decreases steadily to a predicted 10% of 83 year olds. For owning without a mortgage, there is an opposing relationship, from a low of 2% among the youngest age group, rising to a predicted 36% of 73 year olds before dropping slightly to 35% of 83 year olds. The predicted probability of renting in social and affordable housing also increases with age, from an estimated 0.7% to 1.7%. However, these changes are very small, highlighting that age has
minimal relationship with the likelihood of renting in social and affordable housing and that there are likely other factors at play impacting pathways into social and affordable housing.

The relationship with age and current housing tenure presented in Figure 6.5 again problematizes the idea of the housing ladder, where relatively few households are predicted to end their housing trajectory as an owner without a mortgage. While the predicted probabilities of renting privately do decrease with age and the predicted probabilities of owning increase with age, as conceptualized in the housing career ladder, there is a trade-off in older ages, with older households predominately privately renting again, with the second largest group predicted to be owning without a mortgage. Drawing from life course theory and the housing transitions framework that housing experiences earlier in life impact housing experiences later in life and considering the descriptive statistics in Table 6.1 that demonstrated that owners with a mortgage tended to be younger, living in more diverse housing types and with nearly 1/4 struggling with affordability, these findings suggest that this trade-off may become more pronounced in the future as it becomes more difficult to convert to an owner without a mortgage.

6.3.2.3 Health Status

Lastly, Figure 6.6 plots the predicted probabilities of current tenure across self-reported health status.



Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Self-Reported Health Status

Figure 6.6 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Self-Rated Health

Figure 6.6 presents fairly similar patterns for the predicted tenure distribution across selfreported health status. There is a slightly higher predicted probability of being an owner without a mortgage among households with better rather health compared to poorer rated health (24% compared to 21%), and a slightly lower predicted probability of being a renter, either in the private market (35% to 39%) or in social and affordable housing (1.3% to 2.0%). As highlighted in Table 6.3, health status was only statistically significant for owners without a mortgage and for renters in social and affordable housing, but in the opposite direction. Among renters in social and affordable housing, health status may be a driver of tenure outcomes by interacting with economic insecurity, as well as being part of program eligibility criteria to access social and affordable housing (de Vos, 2022), suggesting that health status may have a mediating effect on the relationship between past tenure and mobility and current tenure outcomes. 6.4 Summary – Past tenure and mobility experiences and current tenure outcomes This chapter has explored the research question How are past tenure and mobility experiences associated with current housing tenure? The short answer is - significantly and differentially across housing tenure. The longer answer is that the findings in this chapter reinforce that past tenure and mobility experiences are unequally intertwined in the housing transitions of Canadians across the life course. As demonstrated in Table 6.1 and in Figures 6.1 to 6.3, previous tenure and mobility experiences have some of the largest average marginal effects in the model, particularly past tenure where there was a positive association with current tenure. Other housing variables included to account for the composite nature of housing also had large average marginal effects in the models, while the other geographic, sociodemographic, and socioeconomic variables, included to account for the contextual nature of housing and links with other life course trajectories (see chapter 4), had relatively smaller average marginal effects. The large average marginal effects for the housing characteristics reinforce the importance of considering housing as a composite good, beyond just tenure – while at the same time, these housing characteristics have become clustered with and are key to our experiences of housing tenure. They also reflect another aspect of constrained choice, as tenure choices are wrapped up in choosing these attributes that are differentially associated with tenure, including dwelling type, quality, affordability, and suitability.

Building from this, not only do housing characteristics and mobility experiences have some of the largest average marginal effects, but they also demonstrate clustering by housing tenure category, where more positive variables – such as higher rated satisfaction, having moved for housing reasons, and having a higher income – are usually positively associated with owning and negatively associated with renting. More negative aspects – such as having moved for forced reasons, being dissatisfied or very dissatisfied with their dwelling and having lower income – are both more often positively associated with private renting but also tended to have larger average marginal effects. This indicates not only that renters experience more negative or involuntary moves and more negative housing experiences than owners but also that these negative experiences have bigger effects for renters compared to owners. Further, in many cases, the average marginal effects are larger among private renters than renters in social and

affordable housing, suggesting that it is renting privately that has become more precarious and more residualized compared to renting in social and affordable housing in the tenurediscriminatory context of the Canadian housing system.

There are also important differences when looking within owners, where there are clear differences based on the presence of a mortgage. Particularly, affordability has an opposing relationship, where spending more than 30% of household income on shelter costs (considered affordable by CMHC) is associated with a 27-percentage point increase in the predicted probability of owning with a mortgage and a 22-percentage point decrease in the predicted probability of owning without a mortgage. Younger homeowners who are taking on mortgages now are doing so in a different context, with high and rising housing prices and much higher and longer owing debt than previous generations, with more risks and vulnerabilities.

The clustering of positive and negative mobility experiences across tenure has important repercussions when thinking about the broader life course theory informing this thesis work – housing and mobility experiences accumulate across the life course, enabling and constraining future opportunities. This is clearly demonstrated in the positive associations between past and current tenure that demonstrate how difficult it is to change tenures, which have been treated as distinct forms of housing in most Canadian housing policy (see chapter 3). When discussing differences across tenure, it always worth repeating – these differences are *structurally produced* by the way that tenure is treated in housing policy, not by compositional or behavioural difference inherent to owners and renters. Renters have fewer protections to prevent unwanted mobility, have fewer housing options to pick from when moving, and thus face more constraints both in the choice to move and in the choice of where to live when moving.

The results also suggest that the associations between past tenure and mobility variables and current tenure outcomes may differ, particularly across income, age, and health status. The proxies for other factors in the housing transitions framework also demonstrated important associations. Income, included as a key variable as a proxy for the household's economic resources, another constraining and enabling factor in the housing transitions framework (see Beer & Faulkner, 2011), also had large average marginal effects in the model, in an opposing

132

but linear relationship for owners with a mortgage and renters in the private market. Having poorer rated health was also associated with an increase in the predicted probability of renting, both in the private market and in social and affordable housing, reinforcing the findings from chapter 5 that health challenges may be a factor in pathways to social and affordable housing. The question emerging from this is how the relationship between past tenure, mobility experiences, and current tenure may vary across these groups. In other words, do high-income households show different housing transitions than low-income households? Or do households with better rated health show different housing transitions than households with poorer rated health? The next chapter will explore this in more detail, exploring differences in the relationship between past tenure and mobility experiences and current tenure outcomes across income, age, and health status groups.

7 Differences in Housing Tenure Outcomes and Residential Mobility Across Groups

In this last of a series of empirical chapters exploring the relationship between mobility experiences and current tenure, I turn to research question 3, **How does the relationship between past tenure and mobility experiences and current housing tenure vary based on income, age, and health status?** These three group characteristics are selected for a few different reasons. First, they are proxies for other parts of the housing transitions framework (Beer & Faulkner, 2011), namely:

- the household's economic resources, proxied by income.
- the household's stage in life, proxied by age.
- the household's health and wellbeing, proxied by self-rated health status.

As Beer and Faulkner (2011) describe, housing transitions are shaped by opportunities and constraints, and these three characteristics are key ways that structural opportunities and constraints present themselves. For example, economic resources are key to enabling more choice in an increasingly unaffordable housing market system. At the same time, health status is often part of eligibility and/or prioritization criteria for social and affordable housing.

These three characteristics also emerged in exploring research questions 1 and 2. First, considering income, the multinomial model presented in chapter 6 (see Table 6.3) demonstrated a clear linear but opposing relationship with current tenure and income, with income positively associated with owning and negatively associated with renting. Additional research highlights how tenure has become more income segregated over time (Suttor, 2015; Walks, 2014b, 2016). Considering this relationship, I explore how mobility and past tenure is differentially associated with current tenure for low-, middle-, and high-income households.

Second, I explore the relationship between past tenure, mobility experiences, and current tenure for young, middle, and older households. Age acts as a proxy for the household's stage in life, recognizing life course differences between current tenure outcomes, with owners without a mortgage and renters in social and affordable housing being older on average while owners with a mortgage and renters in private rental being younger. Normative life course

scripts that connect life course transitions in employment and family trajectories and housing outcomes are key to the housing careers conceptualization of housing over the life course, which informs the idea of the housing ladder that is core to the Canadian housing system (see chapter 3). However, as demonstrated in chapter 6, the relationship between age and current tenure is not as clearly divided, with the predicted probabilities highlighting a "u"-shaped quadratic relationship between age and current tenure, primarily private renting (see Fig 6.5). Age is also included to consider cohort effects and the context in which households making housing transitions which has an impact on life course trajectories (see chapter 3). Considering these findings, in this chapter, I explore how the relationship between a household's housing history (mobility experiences and past tenure) and their current tenure outcomes may vary across age.

The third group I explore is differences by health status. Including health, wellbeing, and disability as an independent factor in the housing transitions framework developed by Beer and Faulkner (2011) is unique among the other conceptualizations of housing over the life course. Health emerged from the findings as a key variable associated with renting in both the private market and in social and affordable housing (see Fig 6.6). Health status also emerges through the "other" reasons for moving, which is primarily driven by "moved for health reasons" (see Fig 5.9) and positively associated with renting in social and affordable housing (see Fig 6.3). Together, this suggests that the relationship between mobility experiences, past tenure, and current tenure may be differentiated by health status.

Like the chapters before, I start descriptively, exploring the composition of each of these groups, starting with income quintiles, then age groups, then health status. I run a series of multinomial logistic models predicting the probability of each of the current tenure outcomes stratified by income, age, and health status. For ease of interpretation, I present the predicted probabilities for current tenure across the housing history variables (past tenure, residency length, and reasons for moving) and the other housing transitions framework factors (income, age, and health status). Results tables for the average marginal effects for each model run separately by group are in the Appendices.

135

7.1 Current Tenure Outcomes by Income Quintile

7.1.1 Composition of Income Quintile

Table 7.1 Weighted Descriptive Statistics By Income Quintiles

	First	Second	Third	Fourth	Fifth
Characteristic	Quintile,	Quintile,	Quintile,	Quintile,	Quintile,
	n = 13,572 ¹	n = 10,315 ¹	n = 8,800 ¹	n = 8,217 ¹	n = 8,441
Total Household Income		,			,
Mean	23,700	50,200	78,000	113,700	221,500
Median	24,000	50,000	77,500	115,000	180,000
Current Housing Tenure					
Owner no mortgage	29% (0.0083)	32% (0.0081)	30% (0.0082)	26% (0.0077)	28% (0.0078
Owner with mortgage	16% (0.0074)	29% (0.0085)	40% (0.0092)	56% (0.0089)	62% (0.0085
Renter in private rental	43% (0.0083)	36% (0.0081)	29% (0.0079)	18% (0.0066)	10% (0.0054
Renter in social and affordable housing	13% (0.0036)	3% (0.0018)	1% (0.0013)	0% (0.0006)	0% (0.0004
Previous Housing Tenure					
Owned	34% (0.0084)	41% (0.0085)	41% (0.0089)	45% (0.0090)	55% (0.0088
Lived there rent free	9% (0.0053)	9% (0.0053)	10% (0.0059)	9% (0.0057)	7% (0.0049
Privately rented	51% (0.0086)	48% (0.0087)	47% (0.0091)	44% (0.0090)	36% (0.008
Rented in social & affordable housing	6% (0.0029)	2% (0.0027)	2% (0.0026)	1% (0.0018)	1% (0.0020
Length of time in current dwelling			,		
Less than 2 years ago	13% (0.0054)	13% (0.0058)	13% (0.0061)	12% (0.0058)	10% (0.0050
2 years to less than 5 years ago	21% (0.0069)	21% (0.0072)	25% (0.0081)	23% (0.0078)	20% (0.007)
5 years to less than 10 years ago	19% (0.0068)	19% (0.0072)	19% (0.0071)	20% (0.0075)	23% (0.007
10 or more years ago or always lived here	47% (0.0086)	46% (0.0086)	44% (0.0090)	45% (0.0089)	48% (0.008
Moved for housing reasons	53% (0.0085)	56% (0.0086)	61% (0.0088)	67% (0.0084)	68% (0.008)
Moved for family reasons	34% (0.0081)	35% (0.0083)	35% (0.0088)	34% (0.0086)	34% (0.0084
Moved for work reasons	10% (0.0055)	13% (0.0056)	16% (0.0067)	15% (0.0064)	18% (0.006
Moved for other reasons	16% (0.0061)	11% (0.0050)	10% (0.0054)	7% (0.0050)	6% (0.0042
Moved for forced reasons	7% (0.0039)	5% (0.0038)	4% (0.0034)	2% (0.0029)	2% (0.0025
Age	· · · · ·	, ,	. ,	· · ·	
Mean	59	55	51	49	49
Median	63	57	51	48	49
Age Groups					
29 years or younger	7% (0.0047)	9% (0.0051)	10% (0.0057)	8% (0.0055)	6% (0.0047
30 to 39 years	10% (0.0056)	16% (0.0069)	19% (0.0071)	24% (0.0080)	21% (0.0072
40 to 49 years	10% (0.0055)	13% (0.0058)	18% (0.0074)	20% (0.0070)	26% (0.0074
50 to 59 years	16% (0.0065)	17% (0.0067)	18% (0.0074)	21% (0.0074)	28% (0.0079
60 to 69 years	25% (0.0072)	21% (0.0068)	19% (0.0068)	17% (0.0064)	14% (0.0060
70 to 79 years	19% (0.0064)	16% (0.0060)	11% (0.0054)	7% (0.0046)	5% (0.0036
80 years or older	13% (0.0054)	9% (0.0047)	4% (0.0032)	3% (0.0027)	2% (0.0021
Health Status		,	. (,		
Health rated excellent, very good or good	74% (0.0073)	84% (0.0065)	87% (0.0064)	92% (0.0049)	92% (0.005:
Health rated fair or poor	26% (0.0073)	16% (0.0065)	13% (0.0064)	8% (0.0049)	8% (0.0051
Current Dwelling Type	20/0 (0.007.0)	20/0 (010000)	20/0 (0.000 1)	0,0 (0.00 10)	0,0 (0.0001
Apartment building 5 stories and higher	19% (0.0067)	13% (0.0061)	13% (0.0066)	8% (0.0056)	6% (0.0046
Apartment building less than 5 stories	35% (0.0077)	26% (0.0072)	18% (0.0066)	12% (0.0058)	7% (0.0043
Rowhouse or townhouse	5% (0.0038)	7% (0.0044)	7% (0.0045)	7% (0.0048)	6% (0.0043
Semidetached or duplex	9% (0.0052)	10% (0.0056)	10% (0.0057)	12% (0.0040)	11% (0.005)
Single detached dwelling	32% (0.0084)	44% (0.0086)	52% (0.0091)	61% (0.0090)	71% (0.0082
Unaffordable	61% (0.0081)	28% (0.0084)	14% (0.0074)	7% (0.0053)	2% (0.0025
Unsuitable (overcrowded)	2% (0.0025)	4% (0.0041)	5% (0.0041)	5% (0.0046)	6% (0.0023
Inadequate (major repairs needed)	10% (0.0054)	7% (0.0041)	6% (0.0041)	6% (0.0040)	4% (0.0031
Inaccessible (needs adaptations)	1070 (0.0034)	70 (0.00+5)	0/0 (0.0044)	0/0 (0.00+1)	+/0 (0.0037
Does not need adaptations	91% (0.0050)	93% (0.0046)	94% (0.0050)	96% (0.0040)	96% (0.003
Does not have adaptations	4% (0.0033)	3% (0.0048)	2% (0.0032)	2% (0.0028)	2% (0.0026
-		3% (0.0030) 3% (0.0030)	2% (0.0032) 4% (0.0039)	2% (0.0028) 2% (0.0029)	
Has adaptations	5% (0.0039)	370 (0.0030)	4/0 (0.0059)	2/0 (0.0029)	2% (0.0028
Urban/Rural Status	220/ (0.0065)	220/ (0.0000)	219/ (0.0069)	219/ (0.0069)	10% (0.000
Rural Urban	22% (0.0065) 78% (0.0065)	22% (0.0068)	21% (0.0068) 79% (0.0068)	21% (0.0068) 79% (0.0068)	19% (0.006) 81% (0.006)
	/ X% (U) (UD65)	78% (0.0068)	79% IU UU68)	79% III (IIIbX)	X 1% (U UUh'

	First	Second	Third	Fourth	Fifth
Characteristic	Quintile,	Quintile,	Quintile,	Quintile,	Quintile,
	n = 13,572 ¹	n = 10,315 ¹	n = 8,800 ¹	n = 8,217 ¹	n = 8,441 ¹
In different city/town, Indian reserve or outside	33% (0.0083)	35% (0.0084)	36% (0.0088)	38% (0.0089)	37% (0.0085)
Canada					
In same city/town/village/township/Indian reserve	67% (0.0083)	65% (0.0084)	64% (0.0088)	62% (0.0089)	63% (0.0085)
Province					
Ontario	35% (0.0089)	38% (0.0091)	39% (0.0095)	39% (0.0095)	43% (0.0091
Alberta	8% (0.0036)	8% (0.0036)	10% (0.0042)	12% (0.0045)	15% (0.0050
Atlantic	7% (0.0023)	7% (0.0022)	7% (0.0023)	6% (0.0020)	5% (0.0017)
ВС	14% (0.0055)	12% (0.0053)	13% (0.0055)	14% (0.0058)	14% (0.0053
Manitoba and Saskatchewan	5% (0.0021)	6% (0.0022)	6% (0.0023)	6% (0.0023)	6% (0.0021)
Québec	31% (0.0080)	29% (0.0079)	26% (0.0081)	24% (0.0077)	19% (0.0068
Gender	. ,	. ,	. ,	. ,	
Female	58% (0.0086)	53% (0.0087)	47% (0.0091)	47% (0.0090)	45% (0.0087)
Male	42% (0.0086)	47% (0.0087)	53% (0.0091)	53% (0.0090)	55% (0.0087
Household Composition					-
one couple no children	14% (0.0061)	30% (0.0077)	35% (0.0084)	34% (0.0083)	26% (0.0072
one census family plus others	1% (0.0022)	2% (0.0033)	5% (0.0046)	8% (0.0055)	16% (0.0073
one couple with children	3% (0.0034)	12% (0.0064)	24% (0.0084)	37% (0.0088)	49% (0.0088
one lone parent family	8% (0.0049)	12% (0.0057)	9% (0.0053)	7% (0.0048)	3% (0.0030)
one person not in census family	73% (0.0081)	40% (0.0084)	22% (0.0071)	10% (0.0054)	4% (0.0035)
two or more persons not in a census family	2% (0.0029)	4% (0.0035)	5% (0.0042)	4% (0.0036)	3% (0.0031
Household Indigeneity Status	, ,	· · ·	· · ·	· · · ·	
No household member is Indigenous	97% (0.0027)	96% (0.0031)	96% (0.0031)	96% (0.0028)	97% (0.0024
At least one household member is Indigenous	3% (0.0027)	4% (0.0031)	4% (0.0031)	4% (0.0028)	3% (0.0024)
Household Visible Minority Status	. ,	. ,	. ,	· · ·	
No household member belongs to a visible minority	85% (0.0071)	81% (0.0079)	78% (0.0086)	76% (0.0085)	76% (0.0082
group	. ,	. ,	· · · ·	. ,	
At least 1 hhld member belongs to a visible minority	15% (0.0071)	19% (0.0079)	22% (0.0086)	24% (0.0085)	24% (0.0082
group	. ,	. ,	· · · ·	. ,	
Household Highest Education Level					
BA or higher	20% (0.0075)	28% (0.0082)	39% (0.0091)	48% (0.0091)	64% (0.0084
Less than BA	80% (0.0075)	72% (0.0082)	61% (0.0091)	52% (0.0091)	36% (0.0084
Household Employment Status	. ,	. ,	· · · ·	. ,	
At least one member of the household was employed	32% (0.0083)	60% (0.0084)	77% (0.0073)	87% (0.0057)	94% (0.0040
No member of the household was employed	68% (0.0083)	40% (0.0084)	23% (0.0073)	13% (0.0057)	6% (0.0040)
Overall dwelling satisfaction	,,		, - <i>y</i>	,	,
Dissatisfied or very dissatisfied	8% (0.0048)	6% (0.0042)	5% (0.0038)	4% (0.0037)	3% (0.0028)
Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied	13% (0.0058)	13% (0.0060)	12% (0.0058)	11% (0.0059)	9% (0.0053)
Satisfied	45% (0.0085)	47% (0.0087)	46% (0.0091)	47% (0.0090)	44% (0.0087
Very satisfied	34% (0.0081)	34% (0.0080)	37% (0.0088)	38% (0.0087)	44% (0.0087

¹Percentage for estimates (Proportion for standard error) for categorical variables; Median and Mean for estimates for numerical variables (rounded to the nearest 100, as per the user guide for the CHS PUMF (Statistics Canada, 2021))

Table 7.1 presents summary descriptive statistics separately by income quintile for the key housing history variables, the other housing transitions factors, and the control variables. There are a few key things to highlight before turning to the model results. Descriptive statistics for all households are presented in Table 4.1 in Chapter 4.

Across income quintiles, a much higher proportion of households in the first income quintile are renting in social and affordable housing, at 13%, compared to 3% of all households. The proportion of renters in private rental is also higher, at 43%. This also extends to past tenure,

where a higher proportion of households previously rented, either in the private market 51% or in social and affordable housing, at 6%. Comparatively, the proportion of current owners with a mortgage increases across income. Among the fifth income quintile, 62% were currently owning with a mortgage, compared to 16% of households in the first quintile.

There is little variation across income and residency length except for the highest income quintile, where 48% of households had lived in their home for 10 or more years. Where there is more variation is across the reasons for moving variables, where among the highest income quintile, 68% of households moved for housing reasons compared to 53% of households in the first quintile. Likewise, among the first quintile, 16% of households moved for other reasons and 7% of households moved for forced reasons, compared to 6% and 2% in the fifth quintile, respectively.

Drawing out self-reported health differences, 26% of households in the first quintile rated their health as fair or poor compared to 8% in the highest income quintile. Additionally, more than the majority of households in the first income quintile are in unaffordable housing situations, at 61%, as well as higher proportions facing adequacy issues (10%) and accessibility issues (4%). For additional comparison, the median income in the fifth quintile is approximately 7.5 times as much as the median income of the first quintile.

There are also sociodemographic and socioeconomic differences, with higher proportions of female-led households (58%), one person households (73%), and households with less than a university degree (80%) or where no household member was employed (68%) among the first income quintile.

I highlight these differences between income groups because they suggest that there will also be differences in the relationship between a household's housing history and current tenure when interacting with income.

7.1.2 Predicted Probabilities by Income Quintile

In this section, I turn to the multinomial model results for the key housing history variables and the two other housing transitions factors, separated by income quintile. Detailed model results are available in the Appendix. For ease of comparison, I focus on the first, third, and fifth

138

income quintiles and discuss predicted probabilities for current tenure outcomes by the housing history variables (past tenure, residency length, and reasons for moving) and the remaining interaction variables (age and health status). All controls are held to their referent value or to their mean, except for dwelling satisfaction (held at Satisfied). Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. Full model results are available in the Appendix.

7.1.2.1 Past Tenure by Income Quintiles

Figure 7.1 presents the predicted probabilities of current tenure outcomes by past tenure outcomes, separated by income quintile.



Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Previous Housing Tenure

Figure 7.1 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Previous Housing Tenure Separated By Income Quintile A few patterns are apparent in <u>Figure 7.1</u>. First, low-income households are more likely to be renting in social and affordable housing than in other income quintiles, but most likely among those who previously rented in social and affordable housing, at 76%. Among all other past tenures, households are more likely to be renting in private rental. Even among past owners, 49% are predicted to be privately renting, with another 22% predicted to be renting in social and affordable housing. In the first income quintile, households are more likely to be renting in social and affordable housing than in other income quintiles. There is a different pattern among high income households. Regardless of past tenure, households in the highest income quintile are most likely to be owning with a mortgage, including among households who previously privately rented (79%) and among households who previously rented in social and affordable housing (76%), rising to 83% of previous owners.

The middle-income group is where the relationship between past tenure and current tenure that was highlighted in chapter 6 is most clear. While past tenure and current tenure were positively associated among high- and low-income households, the predicted probabilities of current tenure change more across past tenure among middle-income households. Among middle-income households who previously owned, 75% are predicted to be owning with a mortgage and 18% are predicted to be renting privately. Among those who previously privately rented, 49% are predicted to be renting privately again and 48% are predicted to be owning with a mortgage. Among those who previously lived rent free, 64% are predicted to be owning with a mortgage and 29% predicted to be renting privately. Among those who were previously renting in social and affordable housing, 53% are predicted to be owning with a mortgage compared to 42% predicted to be renting privately.

These findings suggest both that social and affordable housing has become more income restricted, isolated almost exclusively to households in the lowest income quintile, but also restricted to households already in the social and affordable housing system. Most low-income households are renting on the private market as the number of social and affordable housing homes has declined since funding for new affordable homes was cut in the early 1990s (see Suttor, 2016). Combined with the high-income panel, this demonstrates how strongly tenure has become income segregated, becoming even more strongly segregated when considering past tenure. This also reinforces how the relationship between current tenure and past tenure is mutually reinforcing and accumulates across the life course.

140

7.1.2.2 Residency Length by Income Quintiles

Figure 7.2 below plots the predicted probability of current tenure across residency length,



separated by income quintile.



Figure 7.2 displays a similar profile for residency length across income quintiles to past tenure in Figure 7.1, with privately renting dominating the predicted probabilities in the lowest income quintile across all residency lengths, owning with a mortgage dominating in the highest income quintile across all residency lengths, and clear cross-over between renting and owning with time in the middle income quintile. In the lowest income quintile, while there is a decline in the predicted probability of renting privately as time since the last move increases, the difference is made up by increasing probability of renting in social and affordable housing. The exception is among households who have lived in their home for 10 years or longer, where there is an increase in the predicted probability of owning without a mortgage, rising to 15%. Among households who moved less than 2 years ago, 58% are predicted to be renting privately, decreasing to 47% among who have lived in their home 10 years or longer. The highest predicted probability of renting in social and affordable housing is among households who have lived in their home 5 years to less than 10 years, at 40%.

Among households in the fifth income quintile, the probability of owning with a mortgage starts high and increases slightly with time, peaking at 86% of households who have lived in their home 5 years to less than 10 years. It declines slightly among high income households who have lived in their home 10 or more years and is made up from a higher probability of owning without a mortgage, rising from 7% to 25%.

The relationship between residency length and current income that was highlighted in chapter 6 (see Fig 6.2) is most clear among households in the middle-income quintile, where the declining probability of renting in private rental over time is made up with an increasing probability of owning with a mortgage. It is clearly linear, with 38% of households who moved most recently predicted to be owning with a mortgage and 60% predicted to be renting in the private market, switching to 70% predicted to be owning with a mortgage and 19% predicted to be privately renting among households who have lived in their homes the longest.

Like with <u>Figure 7.1</u>, <u>Figure 7.2</u> suggests that relationship between residency length and current tenure outcomes does not matter as much for high and low income households, primarily showing a relationship across the middle income group.

7.1.2.3 Reasons for Moving by Income Quintiles

Looking at the relationship between reasons for moving and current tenure separated by income quintile in Figure 7.3 again demonstrates that it is the middle-income quintile that shows the most variation.



Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Reasons For Moving

Figure 7.3 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Reasons For Moving Separated By Income Quintile Among households in the lowest income quintile, regardless of the reason for moving, close to

50% of households are predicted to be renting privately across all reasons for moving, jumping to 62% among those who moved for work reasons. Among low-income households who moved for other reasons, 45% are predicted to be renting in social and affordable housing. Based on the findings in chapter 5 and chapter 6, it is likely health reasons driving this pattern.

For high income households, the predicted probabilities of owning with a mortgage vary little across reasons for moving, ranging from 80% among those who moved for work reasons to 83% among those who moved for housing reasons. The remainder of the predicted probabilities are primarily made up by owning without a mortgage, at around 15% except among those who moved for forced reasons, where 13% are predicted to be renting privately among high income households.

Among middle income households, the predicted probability of owning with a mortgage is highest among those who moved for family (66%) and housing reasons (72%). This compares

with an estimated 23% and 29% of households predicted to be renting privately among those who moved for housing reasons or family reasons, respectively. Among households who moved for other reasons or work reasons, the predicted probability of owning with a mortgage decreases and the predicted probability of renting privately increases, relative to housing and family reasons (55% owning with a mortgage and 41% renting privately for other reasons and 56% owning with a mortgage compared to 40% renting privately for work reasons). The predicted probability of renting privately jumps among those who moved for forced reasons, to 57%. This demonstrates the clustering of more positive, voluntary reasons for moving with owning; negative, involuntary reasons (forced moves) with renting privately; and work and other reasons somewhere in between – but only for the middle-income group. For low income households who face more constraints and have fewer resources to respond to these push-pull factors proxied by the reasons for moving, the predicted probabilities of current tenure change relatively little except for among work reasons, where there is an increase in the predicted probability of privately renting and a decrease in the predicted probability of renting in social and affordable housing, who have more constraints, including work-related constraints due to program design (de Vos, 2022; Watts & Fitzpatrick, 2018). Equally for high income households who face far fewer constraints and thus are less pressured by these factors, it is only among forced moves where the predicted probability of renting privately rises, at the expense of owning without a mortgage. Overall, Figure 7.3 very clearly demonstrates the concept of unequally constrained housing choice across housing tenure.

7.1.2.4 Age by Income Quintiles

Moving now from the past tenure and mobility variables to the other housing transitions factors, looking at the relationship between age and current tenure separated by income in Figure 7.4 demonstrates different patterns across income.



Figure 7.4 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Age (Years) Separated By Income Quintile

The "u-shaped" pattern across age that was displayed in chapter 6 (see Fig 6.5) is clear across all income quintiles, but with different options and outcomes across current tenure. Among the first income quintile, there is a very clear "u-shape" for the predicted probabilities of renting privately, where the predicted probabilities of renting privately are higher among younger and older households. Among the youngest households, 80% are predicted to be renting privately, decreasing to 54% at age 63, then rising again to 62% for the oldest ages. There is a similar, inverse "u-shape" for the predicted probabilities of renting in social and affordable housing, though not as strongly – and which was not apparent when looking at the results across all households in chapter 6. Among households in the first income quintile, renting in social and affordable housing ranges from 14% at age 23, peaking at 36% at age 63 and then falling slightly to 31% among the oldest households.

Among the third income quintile, there is a bit of mix, with a mostly linear relationship between owning, where owning with a mortgage is highest for households with the head of household

aged 33 and 43, then decreases, while there is an increasing probability of owning without a mortgage and of renting privately. This profile is more similar to the results in chapter 6 when looking at the full model across all households in Fig 6.5. Comparatively, for the fifth income quintile, there is a linear relationship between age and owning, where the predicted probability of owning with a mortgage decreases with age and the predicted probability of owning without a mortgage increases linearly with age. Renting in private rental varies from a low of 3% for households in the middle age group to a high of 11% for the oldest households.

These results suggest that for low-income households, primarily they are transitioning between private rental and social and affordable housing as they age, relying on social and affordable for safe and secure housing. Among middle income households, as they age, some are potentially converting their owned homes (and the equity) and moving (downsizing) to private rental, although housing careers research highlights that "downwards" moves out of ownership are uncommon (Clark et al., 2003). Equally, some middle-aged households are unable to move to ownership, which becomes more difficult as they age and has repercussions considering cumulative advantage and disadvantage. Higher-income households appear to stay in their owned homes as they age – potentially as they do not need the stored equity in their homes to fund their retirement and do not need to downsize, reinforcing and reflecting broader economic and social inequality.

7.1.2.5 Health Status by Income Quintiles

Lastly for this section, <u>Figure 7.5</u> plots the predicted probabilities of current tenure by health status.



Figure 7.5 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Self-Reported Health Status Separated By Income Quintile Again, in Figure 7.5, there is very little variation across health status in the highest income quintile, where owning with a mortgage ranges from a predicted 84% among households with self-rated health of fair or poor to 82% among households with health rated excellent, very good or good. Additionally, there is less variation in the middle-income quintile than with other key variables, although the predicted probability of renting privately is higher among households with poorer rated health (36%) compared to better rated health (32%), made up by increases in the predicted probability of owning with a mortgage (59% rising to 62%).

There is more variation in the lowest income quintile, where the predicted probability of renting in social and affordable housing rises from 34% among households with health rated excellent, very good or good to 42% among households with health rated fair or poor. Combined with the reasons for moving results, poor rated health (and the often associated economic insecurity) is highlighted as a driver of moves to social and affordable housing among low-income households. These findings suggest that poorer rated health and lower income are mutually reinforcing as households with poorer rated health and lower incomes face more barriers and constraints in the housing system.

7.1.3 Summary of Differences by Income Quintile

Overall, exploring the relationship between current tenure outcomes and past tenure and mobility experiences and the other interaction variables (age and health status) by income highlights the role of economic resources as a constraint or enabling factor for housing transitions. There are clear signs of income segregation in the relationship between mobility and housing on either side of the income distribution. For most variables, it is only in the third (middle) income quintile that the relationships with the mobility, tenure, and interaction variables that was illustrated in chapter 6 become apparent. For high income households, little else matters other than income on the likelihood of owning with a mortgage, with the predicted probability almost never dropping below 75%, the exception being among high income households who have lived in their home for 10 or more years where there is an increase in the predicted probability of owners who have no mortgage.

Low-income households are concentrated in rental tenures, and it is only in the lowest income group that renting in social and affordable housing is visible. There is some variation in the lowest income group, shifting between private rental and renting in social and affordable housing across past mobility and tenure. There are noticeable increases in the predicted probability of renting in social and affordable housing among households who moved for other reasons and for forced reasons and among households with poorer rated health. However, the biggest jump is among households who also previously rented in social and affordable housing (76% of households predicted to be currently renting in social and affordable housing).

It is the middle-income group where the positive association between past and current tenure is most clear, where the opposite relationship with residency length and renting and owning is most clear, and where the clustering of positive reasons with owning and negative reasons with renting is most clear.

There were some differences across age and income, with none of the income groups strongly showing indications of the housing ladder. Among low-income households across age, they

appeared to move between private renting and renting in social and affordable housing. Among middle income households, the "u-shaped" relationship with housing tenure that was also presented in chapter 6 was clear, particularly with the predicted probabilities of private renting rising with age. Among high income households, most households start by owning with a mortgage and move to owning without a mortgage as they age. With this in mind, I now turn to differences across housing history and current tenure outcomes by age groups.

7.2 Current Tenure Outcomes by Age Groups

In this middle section of the chapter, I focus on differences in the relationship between past tenure and mobility experiences across age groups. Table 7.1 below presents weighted descriptive statistics for households across three age groups based on the age of the household referent person - younger households aged 18 to less 40 years old; middle aged households aged 40 to less than 60 years old; and older households aged 60 and older.

7.2.1 Composition of Age Groups

Characteristic	39 y/o and younger,	40 to 59 y/o,	60 y/o and older,	
Lnaracteristic	n = 10,749¹	n = 16,631¹	n = 21,965¹	
Age				
Mean	32	50	70	
Median	32	50	69	
Current Housing Tenure				
Owner no mortgage	5% (0.0040)	21% (0.0054)	54% (0.0060)	
Owner with mortgage	51% (0.0082)	53% (0.0065)	21% (0.0053)	
Renter in private rental	42% (0.0080)	23% (0.0052)	20% (0.0044)	
Renter in social and affordable housing	2% (0.0014)	3% (0.0013)	5% (0.0014)	
Previous Housing Tenure				
Owned	21% (0.0069)	45% (0.0066)	58% (0.0060)	
Lived there rent free	20% (0.0068)	6% (0.0034)	4% (0.0023)	
Privately rented	57% (0.0082)	46% (0.0066)	35% (0.0058)	
Rented in social & affordable housing	2% (0.0022)	3% (0.0019)	2% (0.0016)	
Length of time in current dwelling				
Less than 2 years ago	25% (0.0069)	9% (0.0036)	6% (0.0027)	
2 years to less than 5 years ago	40% (0.0080)	20% (0.0052)	12% (0.0038)	
5 years to less than 10 years ago	25% (0.0072)	23% (0.0056)	14% (0.0041)	
10 or more years ago or always lived here	10% (0.0051)	49% (0.0066)	68% (0.0056)	
Moved for housing reasons	63% (0.0078)	63% (0.0063)	57% (0.0060)	
Moved for family reasons	40% (0.0080)	34% (0.0063)	30% (0.0057)	
Moved for work reasons	19% (0.0063)	15% (0.0045)	11% (0.0038)	
Moved for other reasons	9% (0.0049)	8% (0.0036)	12% (0.0038)	
Moved for forced reasons	4% (0.0034)	4% (0.0025)	4% (0.0021)	
Total Household Income				
Mean	100,500	120,200	77,900	
Median	87,500	97,500	55,000	
Income Quintiles				
First Quintile	13% (0.0054)	13% (0.0045)	31% (0.0055)	
Second Quintile	19% (0.0065)	16% (0.0048)	25% (0.0052)	
Third Quintile	21% (0.0066)	19% (0.0053)	18% (0.0047)	

Characteristic	39 y/o and younger,	40 to 59 y/o,	60 y/o and older
Characteristic	n = 10,749 ¹	n = 16,631 ¹	n = 21,965 ¹
Fourth Quintile	24% (0.0071)	21% (0.0053)	14% (0.0043)
Fifth Quintile	22% (0.0069)	31% (0.0060)	12% (0.0042)
Health Status			
Health rated excellent, very good or good	92% (0.0042)	86% (0.0047)	81% (0.0048)
Health rated fair or poor	8% (0.0042)	14% (0.0047)	19% (0.0048)
Current Dwelling Type			
Apartment building 5 stories and higher	16% (0.0065)	8% (0.0038)	12% (0.0040)
Apartment building less than 5 stories	26% (0.0068)	16% (0.0046)	18% (0.0041)
Rowhouse or townhouse	7% (0.0042)	7% (0.0033)	6% (0.0029)
Semidetached or duplex	10% (0.0051)	11% (0.0045)	9% (0.0037)
Single detached dwelling	41% (0.0081)	57% (0.0065)	56% (0.0060)
Unaffordable	24% (0.0073)	21% (0.0058)	22% (0.0052)
Unsuitable (overcrowded)	6% (0.0044)	6% (0.0037)	1% (0.0015)
Inadequate (major repairs needed)	7% (0.0040)	7% (0.0034)	6% (0.0030)
Inaccessible (needs adaptations)	070/ (0.0021)	0.4% (0.0022)	010/ (0 0007)
Does not need adaptations	97% (0.0031)	94% (0.0033)	91% (0.0037)
Does not have adaptations	1% (0.0021)	3% (0.0023)	4% (0.0026)
Has adaptations Urban/Rural Status	1% (0.0023)	3% (0.0024)	5% (0.0028)
Rural	18% (0.0059)	19% (0.0047)	24% (0.0049)
Urban	82% (0.0059)	81% (0.0047)	76% (0.0049)
Location of previous dwelling	82% (0.0055)	81/8 (0.0047)	70% (0.0049)
In different city/town, Indian reserve or outside Canada	36% (0.0080)	34% (0.0063)	37% (0.0060)
In same city/town/village/township/Indian reserve	64% (0.0080)	66% (0.0063)	63% (0.0060)
Province	0476 (0.0080)	00% (0.0003)	0378 (0.0000)
Ontario	38% (0.0086)	40% (0.0069)	38% (0.0064)
Alberta	13% (0.0042)	11% (0.0032)	9% (0.0027)
Atlantic	5% (0.0017)	6% (0.0016)	7% (0.0016)
BC	13% (0.0050)	13% (0.0041)	14% (0.0038)
Manitoba and Saskatchewan	6% (0.0021)	5% (0.0016)	6% (0.0015)
Québec	25% (0.0072)	24% (0.0057)	27% (0.0055)
Gender		. (,	()
Female	51% (0.0082)	48% (0.0066)	50% (0.0061)
Male	49% (0.0082)	52% (0.0066)	50% (0.0061)
Household Composition		. ,	(<i>,</i>
one couple no children	22% (0.0069)	18% (0.0046)	41% (0.0060)
one census family plus others	7% (0.0047)	8% (0.0042)	4% (0.0031)
one couple with children	33% (0.0076)	38% (0.0065)	7% (0.0037)
one lone parent family	6% (0.0037)	11% (0.0042)	5% (0.0030)
one person not in census family	23% (0.0068)	22% (0.0053)	41% (0.0059)
two or more persons not in a census family	8% (0.0046)	2% (0.0021)	2% (0.0016)
Household Indigeneity Status			
No household member is Indigenous	96% (0.0026)	96% (0.0022)	97% (0.0019)
At least one household member is Indigenous	4% (0.0026)	4% (0.0022)	3% (0.0019)
Household Visible Minority Status			
No household member belongs to a visible minority group	71% (0.0080)	76% (0.0062)	88% (0.0048)
At least 1 hhld member belongs to a visible minority group	29% (0.0080)	24% (0.0062)	12% (0.0048)
Household Highest Education Level			
BA or higher	53% (0.0082)	42% (0.0066)	29% (0.0057)
Less than BA	47% (0.0082)	58% (0.0066)	71% (0.0057)
Household Employment Status			
At least one member of the household was employed	93% (0.0043)	89% (0.0040)	35% (0.0059)
No member of the household was employed	7% (0.0043)	11% (0.0040)	65% (0.0059)
Overall dwelling satisfaction			
Dissatisfied or very dissatisfied	7% (0.0039)	6% (0.0029)	4% (0.0025)
Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied	16% (0.0059)	13% (0.0045)	7% (0.0033)
Satisfied	51% (0.0082)	47% (0.0066)	41% (0.0060)
Very satisfied	27% (0.0074)	35% (0.0063)	47% (0.0061)

¹Percentage for estimates (Proportion for standard error) for categorical variables; Median and Mean for estimates for numerical variables (rounded to the nearest 100, as per the user guide for the CHS PUMF (Statistics Canada, 2021))

Similar to Table 7.1 and exploring income differences, Table 7.2 demonstrates differences in the composition of age groups. Households in the youngest age group demonstrate different current and previous housing tenure profiles, with higher proportions of private renters (42%) currently and in the past (57%). There is also a higher percentage of households who previously lived rent free (20%). Higher proportions of younger households also moved more recently, moved for work reasons, and are living in apartment buildings.

Comparatively, there is a higher percentage of owners with a mortgage in the middle age group (53%). Households in the middle age group also have higher incomes, with more than 30% in the highest income quintile. Most households in the middle age group are couples with children, and the majority are living in single detached dwellings.

In the oldest age group, there is a higher percentage of owners without a mortgage (20%). There is a higher proportion of households in the lowest income quintile, and a lower average income than the other age groups. Very few older households struggle with overcrowding at 1% compared to 6% among the youngest age group. Reflecting this, an equal proportion of households are either a couple without children or a single person household. However, far more households either have adapted their home (5%) or need adaptations (4%) for accessibility reasons. Relatedly, more households in the older age group have poorer rated health (19%).

Again, these differences across age groups are important to note before focusing on how the relationship between a household's housing history and current tenure varies across age. Age groups demonstrate other differences that likely interact with housing - including associations with other life course transitions, drawing from the housing transitions framework and life course theories, but also income and economic resources and aspirations and values, as well as "placing" households in social and historical context – which form part of the bounding box for households as they make housing choices.

151

7.2.2 Predicted Probabilities by Age Group

To further explore how the relationship between a household's housing history and current tenure outcomes vary across age, I plot the predicted probabilities of current tenure across the three key housing history variables and the two other housing transitions factors (income and health status). All controls are held to their referent value or to their mean, except for income quintile (held at Third Quintile) and dwelling satisfaction (held at Satisfied). Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. Full model results are available in the Appendix.

7.2.2.1 Past Tenure by Age Group

Looking at <u>Figure 7.6</u> and the predicted current tenure outcomes across previous tenure, separated by age group, demonstrates a few unique patterns.



Figure 7.6 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Previous Housing Tenure Separated By Age Group Looking at the youngest age group, there is again a cross-over pattern between currently owning with a mortgage and currently renting in the private rental, where owning with a mortgage is higher among households who moved from another owned home or who previously lived rent free, while renting in the private market is higher among households who moved from another rented home, either private market or social and affordable housing. Looking at the middle age group, renting privately is lower among all previous tenures, including among households who previously rented privately or among households who moved from social and affordable housing. Among households who previously owned or who lived rent free, there is a higher proportion of owners without a mortgage. And lastly, looking at the oldest age group, owning without a mortgage is predicted to be a larger proportion of all current tenure compositions, either the majority of households (among households who moved from an owned home or who previously lived rent free) or the second largest group (among those who previously privately rented or among those who previously rented in social and affordable housing).

While owning without a mortgage makes up a much larger proportion of households across all past tenures, among households who previously privately rented or rented in social and affordable housing, most are predicted to be renting in the private market. This suggests that among older households, if they have not yet moved to an owned tenure, they are more likely to be renting, whereas the middle age group is more likely to be owning regardless of past tenure – highlighting how previous tenure experiences can enable or constrain tenure choices as these experiences accumulate across the life course.

Among older households, there is also a noticeable rise in the predicted probability of renting in social and affordable housing, particularly among households who moved from another social and affordable housing home. Considering older households who face fixed incomes and many of whom are living longer, for households who do not have an owned home to rely on for security under the system of asset-based welfare, social and affordable housing makes up a bigger part of the housing outcomes for older households.

7.2.2.2 Residency Length by Age Group

Figure 7.7 presents the predicted probability of current tenure across residency length separated by age groups.



Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Length Of Time In Current Dwelling (Years)

Figure 7.7 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Length Of Time In Current Dwelling Separated By Age Group

Figure 7.7 mirrors the results of past tenure in Figure 7.6. Among all age groups, there is a positive relationship between residency length and ownership and a negative relationship between residency length and renting privately. The key difference is that among both the youngest and the middle age group, the positive relationship is with owning *with* a mortgage, and among older households, the positive relationship is with owning *without* a mortgage and residency length.

Among middle and younger households, the predicted probability of owning with a mortgage increases as time since the last move decreases, decreasing slightly among middle aged households who moved 10 or more years ago, where the difference is primarily made up in the predicted probability of owning without a mortgage.

Among older households, the predicted probability of currently renting makes up the majority of households across all residency lengths except for households who moved more than 10

years ago or always lived there, where 56% are predicted to be owning without a mortgage. Otherwise, between 70% and 53% of older households are predicted to be renting privately. This again suggests that for older households who have not yet moved to ownership, they are more likely to be renting privately.

7.2.2.3 Reasons for Moving by Age Group

Looking at the relationship between reasons for moving and current tenure in Figure 7.8 demonstrates some different patterns by age group.



Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Reasons For Moving



Among younger households, the predicted probability of owning with a mortgage is highest among households who indicated they moved for housing reasons (57%). While the predicted probability of owning with a mortgage or renting privately is the same among households who moved for family reasons (48%), renting privately is much higher among households who moved for work (63%), other (67%), and forced reasons (66%).

Conversely, among the middle age group, owning with a mortgage is highest among all reasons for moving, including forced moves. Among households who indicated they moved for forced reasons, 48% are predicted to be owning with a mortgage and 43% are predicted to be renting privately, which is the highest share across reasons for moving for the middle age group. There is also a rising share of owning without a mortgage across all reasons for moving, though it is lowest among households who indicated they moved for forced reasons (made up by the rise in renting privately).

Among the oldest age group, it is again renting privately and owning without a mortgage that show opposite patterns, as well as a higher proportion of households predicted to be renting in social and affordable housing. Among older households who moved for forced reasons, 70% are predicted to be renting privately and another 5% predicted to be renting in social and affordable housing. Renting in social and affordable is rarely predicted to be more than 1% among the younger or middle age groups across any reason for moving.

These findings suggest these different push-pull factors and life course events that are reflected in the reasons for moving are associated with different tenure outcomes across the life course. For example, comparing other reasons and work reasons across the youngest and middle age groups have completely opposite predicted outcomes. The clustering of ownership with more positive reasons for moving and renting with more negative or involuntary reasons for moving that was presented in chapter 6 (Fig 6.3) is apparent primarily among the youngest age group.

7.2.2.4 Income By Age Group

Figure 7.9 presents the predicted probabilities of current tenure outcomes by income quintiles, separately by age groups.



Figure 7.9 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Income Quintiles Separated By Age Group

The linear and opposite relationship between income and owning with a mortgage and renting privately is most apparent for the youngest age group. It is almost exactly a mirror opposite. Among households in the first quintile, 78% are predicted to be renting privately while among households in the fifth quintile, 77% are predicted to be owning with a mortgage. The predicted probability of renting privately is elevated however, compared to the other age groups. For example, among younger households in the highest income quintile, 21% are predicted to be renting privately, compared to 9% in the middle age group.

For the middle age group, there is some clustering of renting privately in the first and second income quintiles. The first income quintile is nearly split between renting privately (40%) and owning without a mortgage (38%). In the second income quintile, the predicted probabilities of current tenure are primarily split between owning with a mortgage (45%) and renting privately (37%) After the second income quintile, the predicted probabilities of owning with a mortgage rises sharply, while the predicted probability of renting privately decreases.

The patterns among the older age group are more distinct. Generally, owning without a mortgage is the largest or second largest share across all income quintiles, between 40% in the first income quintile to 43% in the fifth quintile. There is a still an opposite relationship between owning with a mortgage and renting privately over income, but the differences are smaller (made up by the rise in owning without a mortgage).

These findings highlight issues of both inter- and intra-generational inequality. As housing wealth is transferred *between* generations, inequality *within* generations increases (Arundel, 2017; Christophers, 2018), and that is clearly demonstrated in Figure 7.9. The differences in the predicted probability between tenures across income are much larger for the younger age group compared to the older age group. As housing outcomes (including wealth) accumulate across the life course, the differences between high- and low-income households along tenure lines are likely to continue to grow – also highlighting the ongoing and increasing stratification of the life course along lines including tenure.

7.2.2.5 Health Status by Age Group

Lastly for this section, looking at the relationship between current tenure and health status by age group in Figure 7.10 demonstrates less variation.



Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Self-Reported Health Status

Figure 7.10 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Self-Reported Health Status Separated By Age Group Among the youngest households, renting privately makes up the largest predicted current tenure across both households with better rated health (53%) and poorer rated health (58%), though higher for poorer rated health. Among households in the middle age group, owning with a mortgage is the largest share across both better (59%) and poorer health (56%). There is slightly more variation for the oldest age group, with owning without a mortgage highest among better rated health (43%) and renting privately higher among poorer rated health (43%). Renting in social and affordable housing makes up 1% or less for the youngest and middle age group, while among the oldest age group, 2% of households with better rated health were predicted to be renting in social and affordable housing, rising to 3% among poorer rated health.

These findings suggest that similar to <u>Figure 7.5</u>, where health status mostly had an impact on the predicted probabilities of current tenure among low income households, already facing more constraints, health status primarily has an impact among the oldest age group, who may

face other constraints on their housing choices including decisions about care needs and mobility needs.

7.2.3 Summary of Differences by Age Group

Overall, disaggregating the relationship between past tenure, residency length, reasons for moving, income, and health and current tenure by age group demonstrates two key things. First, most of the previous patterns that have emerged – the positive relationship between past tenure and current tenure, the opposite effects of residency length on owning and renting, the clustering of positive reasons and owning and negative reasons and renting, the opposite effects of income on owning and renting – are most visible among the youngest age group. For the middle age group, owning with a mortgage is nearly always elevated, while among the oldest age group, owning without a mortgage is more elevated. This suggests that that the effects of mobility can have the most impact earlier in a person's life course and housing history – aligning with the concepts of cumulative advantage and disadvantage. It becomes harder as households age and life happens to move into owned housing – as further evidenced by the higher rates of private renting among the oldest age group, in some cases higher than among the youngest age group.

Second, the predicted probability of renting in social and affordable housing basically only emerges among the oldest age group and in the first income quintile. This suggests again these effects of cumulative advantage and disadvantage – that older households who can rely on their owned home do, while older households who do not have that asset and have fixed incomes rely on social and affordable housing for secure and affordable housing as they age. Both of these points problematize the idea of the housing career ladder than underpins assetbased welfare, as there are two distinct tenure groups that appear in the oldest age group, where the predicted probability of both owning without a mortgage and of renting privately are elevated compared to the middle age group. Again, based on the results across income in Figure 7.4, it is likely only high income older households who are owning without a mortgage and who thus are also higher wealth households, and more able to support adult children in the housing system. This is reinforced by Figure 7.9, where there was more disparity in predicted

160

tenure outcomes across income quintiles in the youngest age group compared to the oldest age group. This highlights issues of intragenerational inequality along intergenerational tenure lines and how housing transitions have impacts not only on the life course of current generations but of future generations through linked lives (Arundel, 2017; Christophers, 2018).

7.3 Current Tenure by Health Status

Lastly for this chapter, I explore the relationship between a household's housing history and current tenure by self-reported health status of the household referent person.

Before exploring the differences though, it is important to remember that differences in outcomes are produced by systems and structures and are not inherent to household behaviour. Households with poorer rated health face a number of structural barriers to economic security and may face more constrained housing needs, including accessibility and location needs (see Wiesel, 2020).

7.3.1 Composition of Health Status Groups

	Health rated excellent, very good	Health rated fair or	
Characteristic	or good,	poor,	
	n = 41,149 ¹	n = 8,1961	
Current Housing Tenure			
Owner no mortgage	29% (0.0039)	29% (0.0099)	
Owner with mortgage	43% (0.0043)	29% (0.0104)	
Renter in private rental	26% (0.0036)	32% (0.0094)	
Renter in social and affordable housing	2% (0.0007)	9% (0.0035)	
Previous Housing Tenure			
Owned	44% (0.0042)	41% (0.0105)	
Lived there rent free	9% (0.0027)	7% (0.0054)	
Fix table Privately rented	44% (0.0042)	48% (0.0105)	
Rented in social & affordable housing	2% (0.0011)	5% (0.0035)	
Length of time in current dwelling			
Less than 2 years ago	12% (0.0027)	11% (0.0063)	
2 years to less than 5 years ago	22% (0.0036)	20% (0.0081)	
5 years to less than 10 years ago	20% (0.0035)	19% (0.0080)	
10 or more years ago or always lived here	45% (0.0042)	51% (0.0105)	
Moved for housing reasons	62% (0.0041)	55% (0.0105)	
Moved for family reasons	34% (0.0041)	34% (0.0102)	
Moved for work reasons	15% (0.0030)	12% (0.0066)	
Moved for other reasons	9% (0.0024)	16% (0.0073)	
Moved for forced reasons	3% (0.0015)	7% (0.0053)	
Total Household Income			
Mean	104,200	71,200	
Median	82,500	52,500	
Income Quintiles		·	
First Quintile	17% (0.0031)	36% (0.0098)	
Second Quintile	20% (0.0033)	23% (0.0089)	
Third Quintile	19% (0.0034)	17% (0.0084)	
Fourth Quintile	21% (0.0035)	12% (0.0067)	

Table 7.3 Weighted Descriptive Statistics By Self-Reported Health Status

	Health rated excellent, very good	Health rated fair or	
haracteristic	or good,	poor,	
	n = 41,149 ¹	n = 8,196 ¹	
Fifth Quintile	23% (0.0036)	12% (0.0075)	
Age			
Mean	52	58	
Median	52	59	
Age Groups			
29 years or younger	9% (0.0026)	3% (0.0036)	
30 to 39 years	19% (0.0035)	11% (0.0067)	
40 to 49 years	18% (0.0033)	14% (0.0075)	
50 to 59 years	19% (0.0034)	24% (0.0093)	
60 to 69 years	18% (0.0032)	24% (0.0086)	
70 to 79 years	11% (0.0025)	16% (0.0075)	
80 years or older	5% (0.0018)	9% (0.0057)	
Current Dwelling Type			
Apartment building 5 stories and higher	11% (0.0028)	16% (0.0076)	
Apartment building less than 5 stories	18% (0.0031)	24% (0.0081)	
Rowhouse or townhouse	6% (0.0021)	7% (0.0052)	
Semidetached or duplex	11% (0.0027)	9% (0.0068)	
Single detached dwelling	54% (0.0043)	44% (0.0106)	
Jnaffordable	20% (0.0037)	31% (0.0098)	
Unsuitable (overcrowded)	4% (0.0021)	4% (0.0047)	
nadequate (major repairs needed)	6% (0.0020)	13% (0.0070)	
naccessible (needs adaptations)		. ,	
Does not need adaptations	96% (0.0018)	81% (0.0084)	
Does not have adaptations	1% (0.0012)	10% (0.0066)	
Has adaptations	2% (0.0014)	9% (0.0061)	
Urban/Rural Status	ζ, ,	· · · ·	
Rural	21% (0.0032)	23% (0.0081)	
Urban	79% (0.0032)	77% (0.0081)	
Location of previous dwelling			
In different city/town, Indian reserve or outside Canada	36% (0.0042)	33% (0.0100)	
In same city/town/village/township/Indian reserve	64% (0.0042)	67% (0.0100)	
Province		- ()	
Ontario	38% (0.0045)	46% (0.0108)	
Alberta	11% (0.0021)	9% (0.0046)	
Atlantic	6% (0.0010)	6% (0.0026)	
BC	13% (0.0026)	15% (0.0066)	
Manitoba and Saskatchewan	6% (0.0011)	5% (0.0025)	
Québec	27% (0.0038)	19% (0.0082)	
Gender			
Female	50% (0.0043)	51% (0.0105)	
Male	50% (0.0043)	49% (0.0105)	
Household Composition			
one couple no children	28% (0.0037)	24% (0.0087)	
one census family plus others	6% (0.0024)	7% (0.0071)	
one couple with children	27% (0.0039)	16% (0.0081)	
one lone parent family	7% (0.0023)	10% (0.0062)	
one person not in census family	28% (0.0037)	40% (0.0100)	
two or more persons not in a census family	4% (0.0017)	3% (0.0039)	
Household Indigeneity Status			
No household member is Indigenous	97% (0.0013)	95% (0.0043)	
At least one household member is Indigenous	3% (0.0013)	5% (0.0043)	
Household Visible Minority Status	0,0 (0,0020)		
No household member belongs to a visible minority group	79% (0.0039)	78% (0.0098)	
At least 1 hhld member belongs to a visible minority group	21% (0.0039)	22% (0.0098)	
Household Highest Education Level		/0 (0.0000)	
BA or higher	42% (0.0043)	27% (0.0100)	
Less than BA	58% (0.0043)	73% (0.0100)	
Household Employment Status	33/3 (0.00+3)	, 575 (0.0100)	
At least one member of the household was employed	73% (0.0036)	53% (0.0104)	
No member of the household was employed	27% (0.0036)	47% (0.0104)	
No member of the household was employed	2770 (0.0030)	+770 (0.0104)	
Overall dwelling satisfaction			

	Health rated excellent, very good	Health rated fair or poor,	
Characteristic	or good,		
	n = 41,149 ¹	n = 8,1961	
Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied	10% (0.0027)	18% (0.0084)	
Satisfied	46% (0.0043)	45% (0.0105)	
Very satisfied	39% (0.0042)	25% (0.0090)	

¹Percentage for estimates (Proportion for standard error) for categorical variables; Median and Mean for estimates for numerical variables (rounded to the nearest 100, as per the user guide for the CHS PUMF (Statistics Canada, 2021))

As with income quintiles in Table 7.1 and age groups in Table 7.2, Table 7.3 demonstrates differences in current tenure outcomes across self-rated health status. Among households with better rated health, a higher proportion own with a mortgage compared to households with poorer rated health, at 43% compared to 29%. Comparatively, among households with poorer rated health, a higher proportion are renting in private rental (32% for households with poorer rated health and 26% for households with better rated health) or in social and affordable housing (9% and 2%). Similarly, there is also a higher percentage of households who previously rented in the private market or in social and affordable housing among households with poorer rated health.

The distribution of residency length is similar across health status, except for a higher proportion who have lived there for 10 or more years, at 45% among households with better rated health and 51% among households with poorer rated health. Households with poorer rated health also have a much higher proportion of households who moved for other reasons (16% compared to 9% among households with better rated health) and forced reasons (7% compared to 3%), and much lower incomes on average (\$71,200 compared to \$104,200).

Reinforcing structural impacts, a higher proportion of households with poorer rated health faced issues with affordability (31% compared to 20%), adequacy (13% compared to 6%), and accessibility (10% compared to 1%). Likely as a consequence, a higher proportion of households were dissatisfied with their current dwelling (11% compared to 4%).

A higher proportion of households with poorer rated health were also single person households (40% compared to 28%). Additionally, households with health issues face more barriers to economic security including employment disparities. In the 2018 CHS, a higher proportion of

households with poorer rated health had lower levels of employment (47% with no household member employed in the past week compared to 27%) and lower levels of education (73% with less than a bachelor's degree compared to 58%).

Similar to income and age group, there are clear compositional differences between households based on self-reported health status due to structural barriers and constraints, and it is likely that these structural barriers also impact the relationship between current tenure outcomes and a household's housing history.

7.3.2 Predicted Probabilities by Health Status

Like age and income, I focus on predicted probabilities for current tenure outcomes across health status by the key housing history variables and the two other housing transitions (interaction) terms: past tenure, residency length, and reasons for moving, and income quintile and age group. All controls are held to their referent value or to their mean, except for income quintile (held at Third Quintile) and dwelling satisfaction (held at Satisfied). Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. Full model results are available in the Appendix.

7.3.2.1 Past Tenure by Health Status

Figure 7.11 highlights that among households with better rated health, the positive relationship between past tenure and current tenure that was demonstrated in chapter 6 is clear.


Figure 7.11 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Previous Housing Tenure Separated By Self-Rated Health Status

Among households with better rated health who moved from an owned home, 53% are predicted to be owning with a mortgage. Among those who moved from a privately rented home, 47% are predicted to be privately renting currently. And among those who moved from social and affordable housing, the highest percentage are predicted to be renting in social and affordable housing currently, at 7% compared to 1% or less among the other past tenures.

Comparatively, among households with poorer rated health, the predicted probabilities of renting, both privately and in social and affordable housing are elevated across all past tenures. Particularly, renting in social and affordable makes up a much larger percentage of all past tenures, from 5% among households who previously owned to 46% of households who moved from another home in the social and affordable housing sector. Among households who moved from a privately rented home, 73% are predicted to be renting privately and another 14% are predicted to be renting in social and affordable housing, for a total of 87%. Among households who moved so who moved from social and affordable housing, 45% are predicted to be renting privately and another social and affordable housing.

46% are predicted to be renting in social and affordable housing, for a total of 91% of households.

These results suggests that health mediates the relationship between current and past tenure, where for households with better health, this relationship operates as expected based on previous results, with past tenure and current tenure positively associated. For households with poorer rated health, health seems to have a depressing effect on this relationship, with households concentrated in rental housing, particularly social and affordable housing, across all previous tenures.

7.3.2.2 Residency Length by Health Status

Figure 7.12 displays the predicted probability of current tenure by residency length, separated by health status.



Figure 7.12 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Length Of Time In Current Dwelling Separated By Self-Rated Health Status

Like Figure 7.11 and differences across past tenure, there are distinct differences between households with better rated health and those with poorer rated health. Among households with better rated health, the negative relationship between the predicted probability of renting privately and residency length is clear, where among households who moved 2 or less years ago, 56% are predicted to be renting privately, decreasing to 17% among households who have lived in their home 10 or more years. Similarly, the positive relationship between owning and residency length is clear, with owning with a mortgage peaking among households who moved 5 to less than 10 years ago, at 51% before decreasing slightly. The increase in owning without a mortgage over time is also clear, rising from 12% among households who have lived in their home 10 or more years.

Comparatively, among households with poorer rated health, the predicted probabilities of both renting privately and renting in social and affordable housing are elevated compared to households with better rated health. The predicted probability of renting in social and affordable housing is mostly stable across residency length, ranging from 11% to 14%, and is much higher than among households with better rated health. While the predicted probability of renting privately does decrease with time since the last move similar to among households with better rated health, it still much higher across all residency lengths, decreasing from 81% among the most recent movers to 45% among households who have lived in their home 10 or more years.

This again suggests both that the likelihood of renting in social and affordable housing does not vary much with time the most recent move, as demonstrated in chapter 6 (Fig 6.2), but also that households with poorer rated health who face more barriers to economic security and thus more barriers in the housing system are concentrated in rental tenures, both in the private market and in social and affordable housing.

7.3.2.3 Reasons for Moving by Health Status

As with the other disaggregations, there are clear differences based on health status between the predicted probabilities of current tenure by reasons for moving, as displayed in Figure 7.13.





The patterns among households who have better rated health align with other results for reasons for moving demonstrated in Chapter 6 (Figure 6.3) and in Figure 7.3 and Figure 7.8. Among households with better rated health, there is a clustering of higher predicted probabilities of owning with a mortgage across more positive reasons, with 52% of households who moved for housing reasons and 48% of households who moved for family reasons predicted to be currently owning with a mortgage. Likewise, there is a clustering of higher predicted probabilities of renting privately across less voluntary reasons, with 36% of households who moved for other reasons predicted to be renting privately compared to 22% of households who moved for other reasons and 28% of

households who moved for family reasons. Among households who moved for forced reasons, 52% are predicted to be renting privately, with less than 2% predicted to be renting in social and affordable housing, and still 32% predicted to be owning with a mortgage.

The patterns look quite different for households with poorer rated health. Like Figure 7.11 and Figure 7.12, the predicted probability of renting privately and renting in social and affordable housing is elevated across all reasons for moving. For example, renting in social and affordable housing ranges from a low of 8% among work reasons to a high of 18% among other reasons (likely health related - see chapter 5, Fig 5.9). The predicted probabilities of owning with and without a mortgage are very similar across all reasons for moving, between approximately 15% and 10% each, except among households who moved for forced reasons, where owning without a mortgage is predicted at 3% and owning with a mortgage is predicted at 7%. This is made up by the highest predicted probabilities of renting privately among households who moved for forced reasons, at 75% of households, with another 15% of households predicted to be renting in social and affordable housing.

These findings again suggest that health status has a mediating effect on the relationship between reasons for moving and current tenure outcomes. As households with poorer rated health face more structural constraints, including less resources, households with poorer rated health are limited in their ability to respond to the pressures reflected in these reasons for moving. Comparatively, households with better rated health face fewer constraints in both the related life course domains reflected in the reasons for moving and in the housing choices available, resulting in more variation across the reasons for moving in <u>Figure 7.13</u>.

7.3.2.4 Income by Health Status

Looking at the relationship between income and current tenure across health status in Figure 7.14 reinforces poorer rated health (and the often associated economic insecurity) as a driver of social and affordable housing pathways.



Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Income Quintiles

Figure 7.14 Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Income Quintiles Separated By Self-Rated Health Status Among households with poorer rated health in the first income quintile, 37% of households are predicted to be renting in social and affordable housing, compared to 13% of households in the first income quintile among households with better rated health. The difference is primarily made up by higher predicted probability of owning *without* a mortgage among households in the first income quintile with better rated health (32% of households).

The interaction of health and income is further highlighted looking at the predicted probabilities of renting in private rental. Among households with poorer rated health, the predicted probability of renting privately peaks among the second quintile, at 66% before decreasing to 37% in the fifth income quintile. The predicted probability of renting privately only crosses with the predicted probability of owning with a mortgage in the fifth income quintile, where owning with a mortgage is predicted at 50% of households and renting privately is predicted at 37%. Comparatively, for households with better rated health, owning with a mortgage crosses over with the predicted probability of renting privately in the third quintile.

(56% compared to 26%), and peaks in the fifth quintile at 71%. This highlights the depressing effect of poorer rated health on the likelihood of owning, even among high income households who again, face more structural barriers and more constraints on their housing choices.

7.3.2.5 Age by Health Status

Looking at the relationship between current tenure and age separately by health status in Figure 7.15 reinforces the results when looking at current tenure and age by income quintiles in Figure 7.4.



Predicted Probability Of Current Tenure By Age (Years)



renting in social and affordable housing is basically non-existent among households with better rated health across all age groups, rising to 1% at age 73.

This is quite different than among households with self-rated health of poor or fair. The "ushape" pattern is still apparent, but is much higher across all ages, and the inverse "u-shape" for renting in social and affordable housing is clearer, peaking around age 63. Among households with poorer rated health, the predicted probability of private renting is highest at age 23, at 76%, dropping to a low of 62% at age 53, then rising again to 71% at age 83. The predicted probability of renting in social and affordable housing starts at 5% at age 23, peaks at 13% at 63, then drops to 9% at age 83. These findings reinforce that poorer health has a depressing effect on current tenure outcomes across the life course. Again, this is *not* due to inherent characteristics, but due to structural constraints and barriers and that accumulate across the life course as part of processes of cumulative advantage and disadvantage.

7.3.3 Summary of differences by health status

The findings suggest that health status has a mediating effect on the relationship between current tenure outcomes and housing history (past tenure, residency length, and reasons for moving). Across the variables, households with better rated health displayed patterns very similar to the patterns in Chapter 6 (Figures 6.1 to 6.6). Comparatively, poorer rated health had a depressing effect on many of the variables so that the predicted probabilities of renting, both in the private market and in social and affordable housing, are always elevated relative to households with better rated health. The predicted probabilities of renting in social and affordable housing are effectively only apparent among households with poorer rated health and in the particularly so for households in first income quintile (see Figure 7.14). Health status (and the associated barriers to economic security due to structural constraints) interacts with income so that the predicted probabilities of renting are always higher among households with poorer rated health, even among the highest income quintile (37% among households with poorer health compared to 11% among better rated health). Social and affordable housing and health are clearly linked, including programmatically as health needs are often criteria to access social and affordable housing (de Vos, 2022). Further, as private renting has become more precarious relative to owning in the Canadian tenure-discriminatory housing system, older

households with poorer rated health who faced barriers in accessing owned housing increasingly rely on social and affordable housing for secure housing as they age (see Figure 7.15). Again, this is not to say that renting is inherently negative or problematic, but in a tenure discriminatory housing system where ownership is privileged and associated with other rights and positive outcomes, limited access to ownership and concentration in rental tenures contributes to broader disparities across the life course.

7.4 Summary of differences in tenure outcomes across groups

In this chapter, I sought to explore how the relationship between a households' mobility experiences and their current housing tenure varied across groups. Specifically, I explored differences across income, age, and health status, drawing these groups from the housing transitions framework (Beer & Faulkner, 2011) and broader life course theory that sees lives linked and lived in context (Coulter et al., 2016; Elder Jr. et al., 2003). The results from the interaction models are very clear – the relationship does vary, in many ways, with implications across the life course.

The patterns between a household's previous tenure and mobility experiences (i.e., their housing history, drawing from the housing transitions framework) and their current tenure that emerged from chapters 5 and 6 are mostly only apparent for middle income households, younger age groups, and households where the head of household rated their health excellent, very good, or good. There were different patterns for low-income households, high income households, middle age groups, older age groups, and households where the head of households where the head of households where the head of households.

For middle income households, younger households, and households where the head of household rated their health excellent, very good, or good, most of the relationships between a household's previous tenure and mobility experiences and current tenure outcomes that were presented in Chapter 6 were still apparent, holding all else constant. This included the positive association between past tenure and current tenure, the linear but opposite associations between residency length and current tenure, the positive association between housing and family reasons and owning and between work and other reasons and renting, and the linear but opposite associations between income and current tenure. In other words, for these

households, the differential treatment of housing tenure in the Canadian housing system is clearly demonstrated, with the structural differences in how secure or precarious tenure has been made playing a key role in the patterns across past tenure and mobility experiences.

For high income households and middle-aged households, there were elevated predicted probabilities of owning with a mortgage across all other predictor variables and holding all else constant. Particularly for high income households, the predicted probabilities of owning with a mortgage changed very little across any variable, except for older high-income households where it was made up by rising probabilities of owning without a mortgage (see Figure 7.4). In other words, these households had fewer constraints and more resources to express their agency and overcome structural and contextual factors in the housing system, including high housing prices. These households thus had the most opportunities to take advantage of the differential treatment of ownership and enter the housing market, pay down their mortgage, and transfer wealth to future generations – increasing inequality within generations along tenure lines. This is demonstrated in Figure 7.9, where the tenure disparities between high income and low-income households are much larger among younger households than among older households.

For low-income households, older households, and households where the head of household rated their health fair or poor, there were elevated predicted probabilities of renting privately and renting in social and affordable housing across all other variables, holding all else constant. Among low income households and households with poorer health, there was a new pattern of an inverse "u-shape" with age and renting in social and affordable housing that was not previously apparent (see Figure 7.4 and Figure 7.15). Low income and poorer rated health were also mutually reinforcing. In other words, these households had more constraints and fewer resources to overcome structural and contextual factors in the housing system and had been made more vulnerable to unplanned and reactive moves, the outcomes of which accumulate across the life course.

These results highlight how income, age, and health status mediates the relationship between past tenure and mobility experiences and current tenure, with households who face more structural constraints having a different choice set than households who face fewer structural

constraints. This has important repercussions considering how housing and mobility contribute to processes of cumulative advantage and disadvantage. In the next chapter, I expand on these repercussions and consider the results from all three empirical chapters together and explore the next research question – what do these results suggest about how the relationship between housing and mobility contributes to inequality.

8 Discussion – Choice, Control and Agency in the Housing and Mobility Relationship

The previous three chapters have collectively examined the relationship between housing and residential mobility in Canada, exploring the questions:

- 1. How do residential mobility patterns differ by housing tenure?
- 2. How are past tenure and mobility experiences associated with current housing tenure?
- 3. How does the relationship between past tenure and mobility experiences and current housing tenure vary based on income, age, and health status?

Chapter 5, 6 and 7 demonstrated that residential mobility patterns do differ by housing tenure, but it is not clearly divided into owning and renting. There are differences based on presence of a mortgage as well as between renting on the private market and renting in social and affordable housing. While there are some signs of the normative, housing career that ends in an owned home, there were also findings that problematized this normative relationship between housing and mobility that underpins Canadian housing policy. While owners, particularly owners without a mortgage, demonstrated more stability than renters, renting is also not a time-limited, transitional tenure. As demonstrated in Figure 5.5 in chapter 5, more than 1.8 million households living in the private rental market in 2018 are not planning to move or are planning to move and rent again. There is relatively little tenure change present in the findings, with past tenure positively associated with current tenure outcomes (see Figure 6.1).

At the same time, the unequal treatment of tenure in Canadian housing policy is also present in the findings, with more voluntary and positive reasons for moving positively associated with owning while more involuntary and more negative reasons for moving positively associated with renting (see Figure 5.6 and Figure 6.3). Particularly, health reasons appear to be a driver for trajectories into and through the social and affordable housing system (see Figure 5.9 and Figure 7.14). There are also differences in the relationship between past tenure and residential mobility experiences and current tenure outcomes across income, age, and health status, with differential constraints and opportunities.

In this chapter, I consider these key findings and connect them to the fourth research question:

4. How does the relationship between residential mobility and housing contribute to inequality?

I draw from the housing transitions framework (Beer & Faulkner, 2011), conceptualizations of residential mobility as active, relational practices (Coulter et al., 2016) and characterized by the ability to exert agency (de Haas, 2021) and both housing and mobility as embedded in broader life course perspectives that sees lives linked and lived in context. Shared by these perspectives is the interplay between individual agency and structural conditions, that this interplay is unequally experienced, and that these experiences accumulate (unequally) across the life course.

Drawing from this, I outline three connected themes that revolve around the differential ability to make choices and the unequal distribution of constraints and how that is connected to housing and mobility before discussing the idea of the housing ladder that underpins Canadian housing policy. Although the findings presented in chapters 5, 6, and 7 are similar to many other Western countries with similar housing systems, demonstrating more negative mobility experiences for renters, more positive mobility experiences for owners, and changing housing transitions that are looking less and less like the housing ladder the systems are based on, the results are still stark in their contrasts. They reinforce the housing and mobility process as a contributor and reflection of growing inequality between owners and renters, but also within owners based on mortgage status – which is particularly important in light of rising interest rates and the potential exhaustion of homeownership (Ronald, 2008). And, as cannot be said enough, the relationship between housing and mobility is *produced* by the tenure discriminatory housing system, and not inherent to the behaviour of owners and renters, nor to housing tenure itself, and thus can be changed.

8.1 The (unequal) fallacy of housing choice and the distribution of constraints In chapter 2 of this thesis, I explored the housing "choice" process, highlighting the body of literature on the constrained housing choice process which is differentially available to different groups. Recognizing how constrained choices are for (some) households, some researchers describe the illusion or fallacy of choice (McKee et al., 2017). Both the differential choice sets available *and* the ability to make choices and exert agency and control over your housing

situation reflect another dimension of inequality which is closely tied to housing tenure. From both the descriptive results in Figure 5.6 and in the model results in Table 6.3, while housing reasons tended to be the most common reason for moving across all tenures, there was a clear clustering of more positive, voluntary reasons for moving with owned tenures and more negative, involuntary reasons for moving with rental tenures. While "forced" moves are the most clearly involuntary moves and were associated with an approximately 8 percentage point increase in the predicted probabilities of renting in the private market, a lack of voluntariness is evident in the other reasons, including moving for health reasons, moving for a job, or moving to reduce your commute – all positively associated with renting. Comparatively, housing reasons and family reasons generally reflect the most positive, planned, and controlled reasons, including moving for a bigger home and moving to form one's own household, which are more positively associated with ownership.

Another way of more clearly outlining the differences in control across the reasons for moving is to think about "pull factors" and "push factors". Pull factors relate more to the "destination" and involves more planning, control, and agency – such as moving for a bigger dwelling, for a better neighbourhood, and to become a homeowner. Push factors are more reactive and unplanned and relate more to the "source" – such as moving to reduce housing costs, moving for health reasons, and moving to reduce commute. Pull factors are more positively associated with owning while push factors are more positively associated with renting. Structurally, homeowners tend to have more resources and more options to respond to pull factors and mitigate push factors – in other words, more options and less constraints. This includes more housing options as homebuilding has focused on owned homes, more policy supports to support moving into and staying in ownership, and more control and agency in their legal relationship to their home (see also chapter 3). Comparatively, renter households tend to face more constraints and less opportunities to respond to push factors and mitigate pull factors as renting has been made more precarious and fewer rental units in either the private market or in social and affordable housing have been built in the past 30+ years (Christophers, 2019; Hulchanski, 2004; Suttor, 2016).

Further reinforcing the unequal housing choice process, when disaggregated by groups, the positive effects of reasons for moving were most evident for middle income households (see Figure 7.3) and younger households (see Figure 7.8). For low-income households, there were elevated probabilities of renting in the private market and in social and affordable housing across all variables (see Figures 7.1 to 7.5), reflective of their more constrained housing choice set available – meaning they could express their agency through the reasons for moving only so much. Similarly, there were more constrained choices for households where the head of household had poorer rated health (see Figure 7.12), particularly when considering accessibility needs, where 9% of households had the adaptations they needed and another 10% needed adaptions to their home (see Table 7.3 in chapter 7). Combined with more constrained economic resources (Maroto & Pettinicchio, 2020), households with poorer health had very constrained housing choices and decreased ability to respond to push and pull factors.

Research on the (in)effectiveness of housing mobility policy programs to improve outcomes for low-income households in the United States focuses on the nexus of choice (or discretion) and constraints in this push-pull framework. Low-income households face more constraints in their ability to respond to push and pull factors, and mobility programs that narrowly focus on one or two factors without considering the broader contextual constraints are thus less likely to result in better outcomes for households (Kleit et al., 2016). This underlies programs like the Housing Choice program – in focusing on one push factor (housing costs) without addressing constraints such as limited housing stock and discrimination, households often continue to struggle with housing inequality. Kleit and colleagues (2016) further highlight how push factors do not inherently lead to more negative outcomes, particularly if households have housing options – reinforcing the structural nature of the unequal relationship between housing tenure and residential mobility.

Constrained choice in the housing system is also demonstrated through the positive association between past and current tenure. Relatively few households have experienced tenure change or are planning to change tenures when they move. In Figure 5.5., three of the four largest flows of households did not experience a change in tenure across the three time points, with the two most common pathways being moving from an owned home to another owned home

and paying off the mortgage, followed by moving from an owned home to another owned home with a mortgage. Moving from a privately rented home to another privately rented home is the fourth largest flow of households. This also reinforces the cumulative effects of housing and mobility outcomes across the life course, where past tenure can be an enabling or constraining factor for future tenure outcomes.

The unequal housing choice process and distribution of constraints is created by systems, not reflective of individual characteristics or decisions. For example, from the results of the multinomial model presented in Table 6.3 in Chapter 6, living in a single detached dwelling had the largest average marginal effects on the probability of owning with a mortgage, while living in a multi-unit building had similarly large average marginal effects on the probability of renting privately. However, due to a history of mortgage processes, zoning, and tax and financial policy (see chapter 3), larger dwellings like single detached homes are almost exclusively available as an owned home, while most rental units are very small. Thus, a move to a bigger dwelling almost always involves a move to ownership, which reflects its own constrained choice set. Further, there are far more single detached dwellings available across metro-areas, with most residential land zoned exclusively for single detached dwellings, while multi-unit dwellings are often constrained to certain neighbourhoods, along arterial roads and in generally less desirable neighbourhoods (Lauster, 2016; Suttor, 2015). Thus, a move to a single detached dwelling may also reflect choices to move to different neighbourhoods or to better quality housing, which has become bundled with the owned single detached home – highlighting another form of tenure inequality.

Together, this highlights how there are more choices available within the owned part of the housing system, while choices within the rental sphere are more limited. Further, there are fewer constraints on the ability to make choices in the owned part of the housing system, compared to renters who have less agency in their housing and mobility choices. This is perhaps most explicitly evident in the survey design itself. As renting has become residualized in tenure discriminatory systems like Canada (Christophers, 2019), it has also become perceived as residualized at an individual level. Of the 13 reasons for moving listed in the survey, "moving to become a homeowner" is an option while "moving to become a renter" is not – reflecting the

implicit conception that renting is not a choice, but a fallback to the normative option of becoming a homeowner.

8.2 To move or not to move? Who even gets to ask

In this thesis, I have been occupied with the relationship between housing and mobility, including the when, why, and how households moved. But also important in this relationship is immobility, and as scholar Hein de Haas described, mobility is more accurately conceived as the *choice* to move or not (de Haas, 2021). The housing choice process that is unequally and structurally distributed across tenure was described in the previous section; the focus of this theme, rather, is on the choice to move or not and how that is connected to the housing system.

Another way the differential ability to exert control over one's housing situation is evident in the results is looking at residency length in Figure 6.2, where there is a positive association with time since the most recent move and the likelihood of owning with a mortgage, peaking at 5 years, and a negative association with the likelihood of renting. Previous research has illustrated how homeownership is perceived as a part of 5-year plan among young adults (Severson & Collins, 2020), and further reinforced by the 5-year mortgage term structure that is common in Canada. While there is a negative association with residency length and renting, many renter households are stable and have lived in their homes for 5 or more years and are not planning to move or are planning to move and stay in the same housing tenure (Figures 5.1 and 5.2 in chapter 5), challenging the conceptualization of renting as a time-limited, transitional stop on the way to ownership. Renting is home to many Canadians for extended periods of time who are not typically part of the policy conversation and are instead portrayed as deviant and unstable (Rollwagen, 2015). These results also reinforce the importance of considering not just mobility (or movement) when studying residential mobility, but rather looking at the relationship between mobility and immobility – most particularly, the choice to be mobile or not (Coulter et al., 2016; de Haas, 2021).

However, while the results problematize renting as a transitional tenure, the precarity of renting is still evident – both in the elevated proportions of more recent moves among private renters, but also in the elevated proportions of households who were unsure about their plans

to stay or to move in the future. Aligned with Baker and colleagues (2016) work in Australia, I similarly demonstrate differential mobility between tenures, where private renters move more frequently and for more diverse reasons, owners with a mortgage move less frequently and more often for housing and family reasons, and renters in social and affordable housing experience the most uncertainty in their mobility. These patterns are a likely product of the Canadian tenure discriminatory housing system that has made private rental more residual and made social and affordable housing more conditional (Christophers, 2019; de Vos, 2022; Hulchanski, 2004). Although recent moves are not intrinsically negative, they highlight a precarity and insecurity for renting that is not nearly as present for owned tenures due to the policy framework that supports ownership (see chapter 3). Mobility uncertainty also reflects increased precarity and insecurity that is a product of tenure policy and specifically of the program design of social and affordable housing.

The broader insecurity and lack of control present for private renters beyond forced moves highlights another aspect of tenure inequality. While research demonstrates the negative and cumulative effects of forced moves, including increased economic insecurity, poorer physical and mental health, and moves to housing in worse conditions (Desmond & Kimbro, 2015; Waldron, 2022), a lack of (perceived) control more generally is linked to higher stress and more negative outcomes across life course domains, including health and wellbeing (Orton et al., 2019). Housing is one of the few, if the only, areas where individuals can exercise control (Dunn et al., 2003). Specifically considering housing, the concept of "ontological security", derived from Giddens' structuration theory, has been used to explore the lack of control and increased precarity in rental housing and its connection to more negative outcomes (Dupuis & Thorns, 1998; Waldron, 2022). Research from Australia highlighted how increased insecurity in the rental sector was associated with increases in mental distress, which decreased for renters who were more stable and secure (Li et al., 2022). Considering the positive association between renting and reasons for moving that are less voluntary beyond just forced moves, this lack of control highlights another element of tenure inequality that has compounding, cumulative effects across life course domains. Similarly, the lack of "ontological security" in rental housing that is structurally created through housing policy that favours ownership impacts how

different tenures are connected to the idea of "home". As Winstanley and colleagues write about residential mobility, housing policy, and the ability to create and feel at home:

"Ownership and autonomy are closely linked in societies where private ownership is both the dominant ideology *and* reality; where state (or public) provision of housing restricts location and housing choices, and a private rental sector reflects the power of landlords rather than tenants." (Winstanley et al., 2002, p. 828)

While they are writing in the New Zealand context, this very much holds true for the Canadian experience where the norm of owner-occupied housing has been pursued aggressively.

It is also not clear from the results which immobility is wanted and which is unwanted – colloquially, the difference between being stable and being stuck (see also Cresswell, 2012). Being stable is associated with higher life satisfaction and other positive life outcomes (Acolin, 2020). Being stuck – another form of a lack of control – has negative effects across life course domains (Coulter, 2013; F. Ferreira et al., 2010). Households may be stuck for various reasons. In their research on housing transitions in Australia, Beer and Faulkner (2011) describe this situation where homeowning households became tied down by mortgages in a declining area after the local automotive plant closed, and in Australia Ong and colleagues (2017) similarly demonstrated the negative effects of homeownership on labour markets and employment due to the decreased residential mobility of homeowners who faced more sunk costs and more costs to move. Renters in social and affordable housing also had decreased residential mobility, with Ong and colleagues noting this may be due to the program and policy design that makes it difficult to move within the affordable housing system. This pattern also holds in the Canadian context, with a similar program design that disincentivizes moving and limits choice (de Vos, 2022; Mendelson, 2016). There is limited stock, long waitlists for new residents, and fragmented systems between cities and provinces which create barriers to mobility, or to move from affordable housing to the private market as the gap between the two has become wider over time. Renters in private rental may also be stuck, as there is low vacancy and high costs in many Canadian cities, and rental costs at turnover and for tenants are much higher than rental costs for occupied homes (CMHC-SCHL, 2023). While the results in this thesis cannot distinguish between being stable and stuck, it is important to contextualize the findings on mobility

patterns by tenure in this broader discussion and reinforce how the difference between being stable and being stuck is also produced by systems.

Mortgage status also takes a special discussion when considering mobility and immobility, as changes in mortgage status change relationships to housing without physically moving. Owning without a mortgage varied very little across most variables except for time, where there was an increase in the proportion among owners who had lived in their home for 10 or more years (see Figure 6.2) and further findings highlighted this primarily among high income households (see Figure 7.2). The findings highlight that income matters for getting a mortgage, time matters for paying it off. The mediating effects of having a mortgage on ownership are evident throughout these results, with the most obvious opposite relationship related to affordability – spending more than 30% of the household income on shelter costs was associated with a 22-percentage point decrease in the probability of owning without a mortgage, while being associated with a 27-percentage point increase in the probability of owning with a mortgage (see Table 6.3 in chapter 6). However, relatively few households seem to convert from an owner with a mortgage to an owner *without* a mortgage – when disaggregated by age and by income (chapter 7), this pattern primarily holds for high income households (see Figures 7.4 and 7.9) and households where they moved from another owned home or from living rent free (see Figure 7.6). For middle income households, there are elevated probabilities of renting in private rental as households age, and for low-income households, elevated probabilities of renting in social and affordable housing as households age (see Figure 7.4).

Like many other results in this thesis, these findings problematize the housing-based assetbased welfare system – which is (unsurprisingly) leaving many households out and many households at risk. As demonstrated in Table 7.2, 51% of households with the head of household aged 39 year or less were owners with a mortgage, rising to 53% among households aged 40 to 59 years old. Among households with the head of household aged 60 or older, 54% were owners without a mortgage. Younger households who are becoming mortgaged homeowners now are doing so in a very different context than older households, with far more risks including increasing interest rates, increased market volatility, and decreasing asset security. For these households, time may not be on their side to achieve the benefits of outright

ownership. As the Bank of Canada has been increasing interest rates aggressively as a response to increasing inflation, these more recent mortgaged households may also find themselves with less control in their mobility decisions – with recent survey results from Manulife suggesting that one in four Canadian homeowners indicating that "if interest rates increase further, they would be forced to sell their homes" (Manulife, 2022). Critical housing researchers have described this as the "false promise of homeownership" - where the context that support the benefits of ownership have changed, but the narrative has not, leading to younger and more marginalized homeowners who are entering the mortgage market now making more risky decisions that *increase* rather than *decrease* their insecurity and precarity (Arundel & Ronald, 2021). This is closely linked with the life course perspective and cohort and period effects – that the sociohistorical context in which life courses are lived impacts life course trajectories, including mobility and immobility (Coulter et al., 2016). Not only then are we seeing increasing tenure inequality, but also inter- and intra-generational inequality between homeowners based on when they entered the market, with cumulative and compounding implications for inequality across the life course as wealth transfers between generations unequally along tenure lines (Arundel, 2017; Christophers, 2018; Ronald, 2008).

Not only then does the tenure discriminatory housing system privilege certain tenures over others and provide differential choice and opportunity, it also, as Coulter and colleagues write, "privileges certain forms of moving and staying" (2016, p. 364). The discursive relationship between housing and mobility through the housing ladder and its supporting policies (see chapter 3) connotes moving for homeownership, both first time and "trading up", as positive moves, while moves within the rental sphere are seen as transient and deviant. Similarly, stability within homeownership is discursively understood as positive and materially supported through policy, while stability within renting is perceived as being "stuck" and materially discouraged.

8.3 Health status: constraining or enabling housing and mobility

In considering the unequal distribution of constraints and how this affects the outcomes of mobility and housing, health status deserves a focused discussion. Health and housing are strongly linked and mutually reinforcing, with housing being a social determinant of health (Dunn et al., 2006). This includes through exposure to materials inside our homes and in our neighbourhoods, access to green spaces, housing-related stress including affordability and precarity, and overcrowding – which are more likely to impact renter households (Dunn et al., 2006; Moloughney, 2004). Research has demonstrated that homeowners tend have better health than renters – likely both through the unequal exposure to environmental variables and through social effects including wealth and control (Dunn et al., 2003; Hiscock et al., 2003; Macintyre et al., 2003) – but also that the homeownership market excludes individuals with poorer rated health and/or disabilities (Easterlow et al., 2000). However, homeownership is not a monolith, and research has also illustrated the negative effects on health of housing affordability and mortgage debt. A Canadian study illustrated a social gradient of health within housing tenure status – tenants experienced the most distress, followed by homeowners with a mortgage. Homeowners without a mortgage experienced the lowest levels of distress (Cairney & Boyle, 2004). Considering that nearly one in four households who own with a mortgage were spending more than 30% of their income on housing in 2018 (see Table 6.1), before interest rates started to rise, this connection between health and mortgage status bears highlighting. Health is also an eligibility factor for access to social and affordable housing in many countries (Baker et al., 2016; Watts & Fitzpatrick, 2018) and across Canadian provinces (de Vos, 2022), recognizing that households with health needs may be more likely to be in need of social and affordable housing due to barriers in the housing system. However, this also structurally reinforced this relationship that renters tend to have poorer rated health than homeowners. This was echoed in the findings, with moving for health reasons appearing to be a driving factor for moving into social and affordable housing (see Figure 6.3) and "other" reasons associated with a 2.63 percentage point increase in the predicted probability of renting in social and affordable housing on average (see Table 6.3).

In the Canadian Housing Survey, the household referent person is asked about self-reported health. It is important to note health and disability are not the same thing. Disability is produced by ableist structures – how an individual's experiences are limited by social, political, economic, and physical structures (Maroto & Pettinicchio, 2022). Disability is also dynamic and contextual and can change across a person's life course. Poorer health can (and often is) a

factor made limiting through these ableist structures, and thus can be a disability. At the same time, people with disabilities can still have good health. Further, the Canadian Housing Survey asks about self-reported health at an individual level, but health and disability impact the whole household. Health and disability is a complex and nuanced topic and not intended to be fully explored in this thesis. Self-reported health provides an indication of how the housing – mobility relationship is differentially experienced across health status. The important consideration is that disability (and often health) is an independent axis of social and economic inequality that is produced by systems (Pettinicchio et al., 2022) – including the housing system – and which further constrains choice, both the choice to move and the choice of where to move.

Due to systemic barriers, households with disabilities and health challenges face multiple constraints in the housing system, including higher rates of economic insecurity and accessibility and adaptation needs which can limit housing choices. Not only is a limited (and mostly unknown) amount of the housing stock "accessible", finding information on accessible housing and what "accessibility" means in practice is very difficult, as there are definitional and scope differences across the multiple jurisdictions involved in housing (OECD, 2022). Access to health care, medical specialists, and other supporting structures can also further limit housing choices for households with disabilities and/or health challenges, reinforcing housing's unique role as legal, financial, social, cultural, physical, and spatial object. The connections between health, disability, housing, and inequality are particularly important in the ongoing fall out of the COVID-19 pandemic, which has sharply illustrated the effects of health on the social and economic circumstances of households and how ableist our social and economic systems are. Homeowner households in larger homes have had better physical and mental health outcomes through the pandemic, and renter households who had more health and disability challenges and were already vulnerable have been made more so (Bower et al., 2021; Horne et al., 2021; Yang & Aitken, 2021).

Despite the connections between housing and health, health has not often been a major consideration in housing and mobility studies, particularly in the Canadian context. Health, wellbeing and disability was explicitly included in the housing transitions framework by Beer

and Faulkner (2011), but not an explicit factor in the housing careers, housing histories, or housing pathways conceptualizations. As with other housing research reviewed, there is a growing body of literature in the Australian context focused on the health, housing, and mobility relationship. In Australia, Beer and Faulkner (2011) highlighted that the housing transitions of households affected by disabilities tended to be in the private and social rental sector. Similar work by Baker and colleagues (2016) demonstrated more advantageous housing outcomes through mobility for households without a disability. Another Australian report by Ian Wiesel (2020) submitted to the Australian Building Codes specifically highlights how the lack of accessible housing limits housing choice for households with a disability, both in the decision to move (due to limited stock of accessible housing) and in the decision to stay (due to the inaccessibility of their own home).

I highlight this broader literature about housing and health and disability because my thesis similarly points to the housing – mobility relationship as another mechanism in the unequal outcomes for households with poorer health. From the findings in chapter 7, health status appears to have either an enabling or a constraining role for relationship between housing and mobility. Across several variables, households with poorer rated health demonstrated elevated probabilities of renting in either the private market and in social and affordable housing (see Figures 7.11 to Figure 7.15). The predicted probabilities were particularly high among households who moved from another home in the social and affordable housing sector (see Figure 7.11) or who were in the first income quintile (Figure 7.14). Poorer rated health had a mediating effect on income, so that even among high income households, there was a higher predicted probability of renting. Conversely, among households with better rated health, 32% of households in the first income quintile are predicted to be owning without a mortgage, the most secure tenure. Similarly, among households with better rated health, there is a positive association between the probability of owning without a mortgage and age, while among households with poorer rated health, older households are primarily living in the private rental market.

Effectively, health status appears to serve as either a floor or a ceiling. For households with better rated health and who face fewer economic and social barriers, including in the housing

system, self-rated health acts like a floor, seemingly limiting the more negative aspects of the relationship between housing and mobility and more opportunities for more positive outcomes. For example, when looking at Figure 7.13, 32% of households are predicted to be owning with a mortgage among households who had better rated health who moved for forced reasons (the most clearly negative, involuntary reason), compared to 7% among households with poorer health. Conversely, for households with poorer rated health who face many more barriers, self-rated health acts like a ceiling, dampening some of the more positive associations between housing and mobility and increasing vulnerability to more negative outcomes. Looking at the reasons for moving as an example, 52% of households are predicted to be owning with a mortgage among households who had better rated health who moved for housing reasons, compared to 16% among households with poorer rated health. Again, this is not to say that either renting or poorer health are intrinsically negative. What is negative is how, through housing-based asset-based welfare and tenure discrimination, homeownership has become a primary way to economic and physical security and how households with poorer health are limited access to homeownership, in turn increasing social and economic disparities based on health status.

8.4 Where goes the "housing ladder"? The unequal housing transitions of Canadians Together, these results problematize the idea of the "housing ladder" and highlight the unequal distribution of constraints, control, and choice in the housing system. As Andrew Beer and Debbie Faulkner demonstrated in their work on the changing housing outcomes of Australians, the results in this thesis can similarly be seen as demonstration of the housing transitions of Canadians. Beer and Faulkner (2011) developed the housing transitions framework partly in response to the normative hegemony of the concept of the "housing ladder" – the idea that households move linearly from their (owned) family home to private rental to an owned home with a mortgage to a bigger owned home then pay off the mortgage and own outright, then eventually downsize, with corresponding changes in the household structure and increasing economic security. This idea of the housing ladder is core to housing-based asset-based welfare, with the assumptions that the mortgaged home will be offset by the increasing equity which will be relied on in retirement (Doling & Ronald, 2010). The housing transitions

framework, instead, is conceptualized as a series of housing decisions shaped by micro-, meso-, and macro-level opportunities and constraints, without a linear or normative pathway (Beer & Faulkner, 2011, p. 31). The results in this thesis similarly demonstrate that the concept of the housing ladder and the implicit relationship between housing and mobility is no longer, if ever, based in the reality of most Canadian household's lives. Although there are some signs of the normative housing – mobility relationship at the population level (see chapter 6), it does not hold as true once disaggregated (see chapter 7).

For many households, the ladder is missing rungs, making it increasingly difficult to move into an owned home, and the rungs keep changing as the cumulative effects of their housing and mobility experiences intersect with the macro-level housing system. This is the experience for many low-income households, many older households, and households with poorer reported health, who are more likely to be renting in private rental or social and affordable housing. These households face more constraints in their housing choices and less control and security in their housing outcomes – which again, are reinforcing and cumulative across the life course. These characteristics also intersect – so for example, low-income older households have elevated probabilities of renting in social and affordable housing, highlighting how older households who do not have the asset of an owned home rely on social and affordable housing for secure housing in their retirement. Similarly, households where the head of household had poorer rated health had elevated probabilities of renting in social and affordable housing, but noticeably rose to 37% of households in the first income quintile.

For some households, there are signs of the normative housing ladder, but even then, there are disparities that are structured by housing and demonstrate the cumulative effects of housing and mobility. For example, a higher proportion of middle-income households are predicted to be owning with a mortgage rather than renting among households who previously owned and among households who previously lived rent free, likely moving from a family home. Comparatively, among middle income households who previously privately rented, nearly equal proportions are predicted to be privately renting or owning with a mortgage (see Figure 7.1). This suggests that households who live in their family home longer and can save money towards a down payment can more easily make the move into owned housing compared to

households who are facing the costs of increasing rent while trying to also save towards a down payment – another constraining element in the housing transitions of Canadians. For these households who moved directly to ownership, they will now have an easier time to make another owned housing move – highlighting the cumulative and uneven effects of housing and mobility. This is presented in Figure 5.5 exploring the flow of households through their tenure at three points in time. Households who were previously rent free and moved to an owned home accounted for the fourth largest flow of households, with most planning to stay in an owned home. This also echoes previous work by Maroto and Severson, demonstrating declining proportions of young adults renting and increasing proportions of young adults residing with parent(s) or owning (Maroto & Severson, 2020), with implications for increasing inequity.

And then for some households, there is no ladder, because there is no need for a ladder. This is the case for high-income households. The housing outcomes of high-income households who face fewer constraints and more opportunities vary little across any variable, almost always resulting in owning with a mortgage (see Figures 7.1 to 7.5 in Chapter 7). The only noticeable variation for high income households is across residency length and age, where higher rates of owning without a mortgage are predicted the longer the household has resided in their current home and as they age (see Figures 7.2 and 7.4). These high-income households who are more likely to be owners are then also more likely to be higher wealth households as owned homes are the largest proportions of most household assets, and thus exacerbating wealth inequality. This highlights the cumulative and reinforcing effects of housing inequality on broader social and economic inequality. This is also the case for many middle aged households, who demonstrate elevated probabilities of owning with a mortgage as well, holding all else constant – and this highlights issues of inter- and intra-generational inequality as well (Christophers, 2018).

Considering the broader de-standardization, individualization, and fragmentation of the life course in the Western world, and a discriminatory Canadian housing system that has privileged ownership over rental tenures, there are reasons to believe that in absence of policy changes, the idea of a housing ladder will become more displaced from the reality of Canadian's lives. In other countries where the material conditions that supported the concept of a housing ladder have changed sooner than the Canadian context, researchers have demonstrated an "aspirations gap", where the subjective aspirations of households have (yet) to change (Crawford & McKee, 2018). Previous Canadian research among young adults highlighted that this gap may be appearing (Severson & Collins, 2020). This thesis posits that this "gap" has likely existed for many households for many years where the material conditions do not support their housing transitions and who were not considered in the concept of the "housing ladder" in the first place.

This discussion of the (lack of) housing ladder for many Canadian households is particularly important because the idea of the housing ladder and its normative and discursive relationship between housing and mobility underpins Canadian housing policy. This suggests that policy based on this conceptualization is and will be inadequate to meet Canadians' housing needs. This premise has important implications considering the cumulative effects of housing and mobility outcomes across the life course as part of processes of cumulative advantage and disadvantage. In this way, I echo the work of Beer and Faulkner, and argue that the idea of the housing careers and the housing ladder "can no longer be sustained and that it is instead important to develop a better understanding of the full spectrum of housing outcomes" (Beer & Faulkner, 2011, p. 159). I would go further, and say not just to develop a better understanding, but a re-orientation of the Canadian housing system that considers more housing outcomes than an owned single detached home which has been contributing to and reflects broader inequality. In the final, concluding chapter of this thesis, I describe these policy implications in more detail and outline policy development options, before concluding with a final discussion of limitations and directions for future research.

9 Conclusion

This thesis started as an exploration of who wins and who loses through the residential mobility process and how housing structures this relationship. It became an exploration of the housing transitions of Canadian households within the context of a tenure-discriminatory housing system and how these transitions reflect and reinforce inequality. Over the past nine chapters, I have explored four research questions:

- 1. How do residential mobility patterns differ by housing tenure?
- 2. How are past tenure and mobility experiences associated with current housing tenure?
- 3. How does the relationship between past tenure and mobility experiences and current housing tenure vary based on income, age, and health status?
- 4. How does the relationship between residential mobility and housing contribute to inequality?

In chapter 2, I explored the broader conceptual framework and existing research surrounding the residential mobility and housing relationship, highlighting the deep connections to inequality and particularly to processes of cumulative advantage and disadvantage across the life course. In chapter 3, I outlined the Canadian policy context that privileges homeowners over renters, but unequally so within tenure as well, with younger, mortgaged homeowners being much more vulnerable. Residential mobility is implicitly and explicitly included as a mechanism of change in the Canadian housing system through the idea of the housing ladder which underpins the tenure-discriminatory housing system. In chapter 4, I outlined the analytical strategy for this this thesis, drawing from the housing transitions framework (Beer & Faulkner, 2011) and broader life course perspectives on residential mobility (Clark, 2012; Coulter et al., 2016). In chapters 5, 6, and 7, forming a series of results chapters, I outlined distinct mobility patterns for owners with and without a mortgage, private renters, and renters in social and affordable housing. And in chapter 8, I examined these patterns in connection to broader inequality, highlighting the unequal distributions of constraints and choices across tenure and across group characteristics, both in the housing choice process and in the choice to move or to stay.

At this point it should be clear, but housing and mobility are inextricably linked to inequality on both sides of the equation. A tenure unequal housing system like Canada's produces different choice sets for different tenures which becomes mutually reinforcing through residential mobility processes. Owners have more choices and move for more positive reasons when they do move, which begets more positive moves and more choices in the future, while renters have fewer choices and more for more involuntary reasons and are more likely to stay renting. And the tenure discriminatory housing system interacts with other characteristics to produce unequal outcomes, as evidenced by the distinct patterns across income, age, and health status. The clear inclusion of health and disability in the housing transitions framework makes it unique among the models of housing over the life course reviewed (see chapter 2), and the still unfolding experience of the COVID-19 pandemic suggests that including health and disability in models of housing over the life course will be increasingly important and relevant.

While these findings may not be surprising or unique given the existing research in other countries with similar housing systems including Australia (Baker et al., 2016), the UK (Clark et al., 2006), and the US (Clark, 2012), and existing Canadian research on residential mobility (Denier, 2017) and on the unequal treatment of housing tenures in Canadian housing policy (Hulchanski, 2004; Loptson, 2017), the results are still impactful in their starkness. More than 330,000 renter households in the private rental market moved for forced reasons, most of whom moved into another rented home and thus were at a higher risk of another forced move, highlighting the compounding and cumulative effects of housing and mobility on the life course. The uneven distribution of this relationship is further important because both housing and mobility are associated with other life outcomes, including economic insecurity, wealth, mental and physical wellbeing, and life satisfaction (see e.g., Acolin, 2020; Beer et al., 2011; Browning et al., 2016). This demonstrates the process of cumulative advantage and disadvantage and the insidious nature of this relationship – the effects are compounding, cumulative, ongoing, and unequal. These differential patterns and outcomes of mobility across housing tenure are produced, materially and discursively by the tenure-discriminatory housing system, and thus it is malleable.

The uneven distribution of the housing – mobility relationship is also important as the implicit (and explicit) conception of how this relationship should work is built into social and economic policy. The findings in this thesis problematize the idea of the "housing ladder", instead demonstrating more diverse housing transitions that are unequally shaped by structural constraints and opportunities. As Coulter and colleagues write about mobility, "practices of residential mobility are configured by power relations and material inequalities (for example between owners and renters)"(Coulter et al., 2016, p. 364) about who should be mobile when and for what reasons – and in tenure discriminatory systems like Canada, it has been moves to become a homeowner or to continue a homeownership trajectory that has been supported. I have hinted at these policy connections and implications throughout this thesis work. With this in the mind, in this concluding chapter, I turn to the last research question for this thesis:

5. What are the implications for housing policy and practice?

I discuss the policy implications of these findings and possible policy development options to support more equitable housing and mobility outcomes. I conclude with some final reflecting thoughts on the limitations of this work and directions for future research.

9.1 Policy Implications

Overall, there are several policy implications deriving from this thesis, reflecting housing's intersecting and interdependent nature in our lives and in our social and economic systems. A full policy analysis that considers each of these policy scenarios is out of scope for this thesis. Instead, I aim to outline broader implications and high-level policy considerations based on these findings and that are linked to three broad policy objectives:

- 1. Protect against forced, involuntary, and reactive moves
- 2. Enable more choice and control in housing, including enabling more positive moves
- 3. Distribute these protections and choices more equitably across tenure

I outline four high level policy implications before lastly discussing limitations and directions for future research.

9.1.1 Housing policy is not just housing policy

As discussed in chapter 3, housing policy is not just housing policy, reflecting its unique role as a physical, financial, legal, social, emotional, and cultural creature. As such, it is not just housing policy that is visible in these findings. Finance policies, labour market policies, land use policies, transportation policies, and health policies are all implicated. This is perhaps most evident through the reasons for moving that reflect pressures in these related policy areas that households are responding to through their housing choices. For example, moving to reduce commute times directly implicates transportation and land use planning, as Canadian cities have become more sprawling and car oriented and commute times and cost have increased (Moos & Mendez, 2015). Transportation costs are the second highest household expense after housing, followed by food costs (Government of Canada, 2021). Researchers have argued for incorporating transportation costs as part of housing affordability measures, and the need for both housing and transportation investments to support affordability for households (Makarewicz et al., 2020). However, these reasons for moving are most apparent among private renters who have the flexibility to respond to these pressures through mobility something which is much harder for households who are tied ("handcuffed") by ownership (Whelan & Parkinson, 2017). Again, mobility is not intrinsically negative, and households should be able to move out of their own choice (Coulter et al., 2016; de Haas, 2021).

Moving for health reasons and health policy deserves a particular call out again, especially in light of the ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic where health and housing policy have been one and the same though stay at home, quarantine, and isolation orders and which was again, unequally available to households based on their housing situations and exacerbated existing inequalities (Benfer et al., 2021; Bower et al., 2021; Waldron, 2022). Canadian research from Statistics Canada highlighted that individuals living in apartments, which are more likely to be rented, had higher risk of dying from COVID-19, while people living in single detached homes, which are more likely to be owned, had the lowest risk (Yang & Aitken, 2021). While connections between housing and health have been made in policy, such as the 2017 National Housing Strategy which partly recognizes the housing needs of Canadians with disabilities and health challenges and incentivizes accessible design and awards higher points to developments

that are geographically closer to health care services, these connections need to be made clearer and stronger. Both increased clarity and standards about accessible and adaptable housing and an absolute increase in the number of accessible homes is needed (Plouin et al., 2021). This is particularly relevant considering that the need for affordable and accessible housing is projected to increase for a number of reasons, including population aging, the fall out of the pandemic, and as chronic disease affects more people (Bowley & Sinclair, 2018; Plouin et al., 2021).

9.1.2 Consider housing holistically

Second, not only is the housing system interdependent with other policy areas, but the housing system is interdependent across housing tenure groups – which has not traditionally been the way Canadian policy has been developed. Housing policy, especially in tenure discriminatory housing systems, is sometimes only thought of as direct spending or impacting social and affordable housing. However, housing does not exist in a vacuum and is impacted by both indirect and direct policy decisions across tenure and across other policies areas like income support, immigration, and employment and labour market protections (Christophers, 2019; Hulchanski, 2004; Loptson, 2017). There is also a tendency in tenure discriminatory systems to consider different tenures independently of one another, which is also partly linked in the Canadian context to our system of federalism, where different tenures are primarily governed by different levels of government (Hulchanski, 2004). This extends to the National Housing Strategy, which is less so a strategy that actually considers the housing system together and its relationship to other policy areas, such as taxation or social benefits, and instead mostly "just another policy paper outlining potential subsidies to help a few, very few, of those in housing need" (Hulchanski, 2017, para. 2). Recently, Scotiabank called for a doubling of the Canadian social housing stock to bring it in line with the G7 average, in part to broadly address affordability challenges across all tenures, highlighting that "Shortages in one segment will have – and are having – spillovers across the continuum. [...] unlocking greater supply across segments should relive price pressures across the system" (Young, 2023, p. 4). Part of changing how we think about housing starts with how we develop housing policy and the need to develop housing policy holistically that sees ownership, private rental, and social and affordable housing, and other tenure arrangements such as co-operative housing or shared housing as part of the same housing ecosystem and that decisions in one area of the housing system impact others (Christophers, 2019).

Despite there being relatively little tenure change demonstrated through these housing transitions, it is still clear that the different dimensions of the housing system impact each other. In fact, the lack of tenure change may actually reflect the impact of Canadian housing policy system that has not considered the different housing tenures as part of the same connected eco-system. We see this in the precarity of the private rental sector – in the pursuit of homeownership, it is the private rental market that has become the most precarious and the most vulnerable (Christophers, 2019; Ronald, 2008), as evidenced by the higher rates of forced moves among private renters, shorter residency lengths, and more uncertainty about future mobility. At the same time, renting is not transitional for many households. It is worth repeating this again because the stereotype of renting as a transitional, time-limited tenure is so strong and pervasive in policy and in public discourse (Gurney, 1999; Rollwagen, 2015; Ronald, 2008). As demonstrated in Chapter 5, more than 2.8 million privately renting households and over 415,000 renter households in social and affordable housing are not planning to move or to move and rent again – these households currently find themselves in a rental sector characterized by limited security of tenure, limited choice, and increased precarity and conditionality. Making renting more secure and affordable means looking at policy options like rent control, eviction protection, landlord regulation – and also enabling more choice – including more and diverse rental homes in more neighbourhoods.

Similarly, the increasing conditionality of the social and affordable housing system, again in the pursuit of housing-based asset-based welfare (Watts & Fitzpatrick, 2018) also demonstrates its own mobility patterns. Aligned with other international research (e.g., Whelan & Parkinson, 2017), I similarly demonstrated that living in social and affordable housing is limited to households with the lowest incomes who typically move from another social and affordable housing home and have the second longest residency lengths next to owners without a mortgage. For households in social and affordable housing, the conditional program design and scarcity of housing is evident. Social and affordable housing is not a short term, ambulatory

housing option for households – for many households, it is not even an option. Households in social and affordable housing should have choice and control in their housing as other tenures do. Treating social and affordable housing as distinct form of housing intended to be a short-term safety net before households "return" to the normative housing market may make it more difficult to move out or in to social and affordable housing. Making social and affordable housing a more enabling housing option means looking at policy options like reviewing eligibility criteria, removing continued eligibility criteria, redesigning subsidy programs, and overall modernizing the social and affordable housing system to better support the people that live in social and affordable housing (de Vos, 2022). Most importantly for social and affordable housing, it means building more social and affordable housing in more neighbourhoods – with beneficial outcomes for all housing tenures (Young, 2023).

Enabling more choice for renters, both in the private market and in social and affordable housing, also includes challenging the stereotypes that portray both private and social and affordable renters as deviant, unsafe, irresponsible, and bad citizens (Gurney, 1999; Rollwagen, 2015). This is where municipalities can play a particularly key role, as these stereotypes are often on full display during rezoning applications, such as in Edmonton with the rezoning of a surplus school site for affordable housing (Zoledziowski, 2019) or discussions of municipal planning documents, such in Calgary with the Guidebook for Great Communities (Klaszus, 2021). As the order of government closest to people's lived lives and often privy to these discussions, municipalities are well placed to challenge these stereotypes and contribute to the re-constitution of renting ideologically and materially and support choice in the housing system.

9.1.3 The unequal distribution of risks and vulnerabilities

Another implication is considering the distribution of risks. Homeowners with mortgages now face a very different economic and social context than previous homeowners. Older homeowners bought homes at a time when rewards were higher and risks were lower. Over the 20th century as housing prices increased, there has been a delay in the distribution of risks and opportunities. Homeownership became high risk and high reward, and as a consequence, Canadian households have become increasingly indebted. Now in the context of rising interest rates and as Ronald (2008) describes it, the "exhaustion of homeownership", homeownership

may be leaning to a higher risk – lower reward situation – which is similar to what private renting has been made through the residualization of renting. Not only then do we see the unequal distribution of risks and vulnerabilities between owners and renters, but increasingly, this distribution aligns with timing of entry to the homeownership market.

Further, transformations in our relationship to housing under asset-based welfare and through related processes of financialization are key ways in which households are unequally made precarious. Households have normatively, discursively, and materially been encouraged to become homeowners, which in turn, through increasing costs and increasing labour precarity, fewer and fewer people can become homeowners (Aalbers, 2008; Doling & Ronald, 2010; Malpass, 2008). Ronald highlights discursive practices that privilege homeownership over renting because of and through the connections between homeownership and housing as investment, where "housing through home ownership has come to represent a means of building an asset, nurturing an investment and making capital gains" (2008, p. 54). These discursive and normative practices around housing are especially crucial to financialization, where households have been encouraged to invest in their housing and where renters are seen as irresponsible non-investors (Langley, 2006; Ronald, 2008). Through the deregulation of the mortgage market to continue to support the move to homeownership, younger and more marginalized households who have been unequally brought into the mortgage market, so that "riskier" (often systemically excluded) homeowners face much higher interest rates and predatory loans and form "high-risk and high-reward" mortgage-backed securities for investors because of the onerous debt repayment schedules (Aalbers, 2008).

Younger homeowners and homeowners who are made vulnerable through systemic exclusion face extremely vulnerable and precarious amounts of debt, while renters face rising rental prices and limited security of tenure. Older, wealthier homeowning households who experienced the most housing equity increases face the most security of tenure and far fewer risks (see also Macdonald, 2015). This is echoed in the results in the thesis, where relatively few homeowner households seemed to convert to owning without a mortgage, and those who did were primarily higher income households (see chapter 7). When looking at the average marginal effects on the predicted probability of current tenure, affordability had opposite
effects for owners based on mortgage status (see Table 6.3, chapter 6). This reinforces that these newer, more indebted homeowners are much more vulnerable to these sorts of risks we are seeing now, and more precarious in their housing, highlighting issues of intergenerational inequity within homeowners. Again, these vulnerabilities are not intrinsic to these newer, more mortgaged households, but are also produced by this tenure discriminatory housing system where households have been discursively and materially encouraged to own, and in doing so, may have traded temporary security for longer term insecurity (see Arundel & Ronald, 2021). Therefore, enabling more choice and protecting against unplanned and involuntary moves across tenures also means looking at policy options to protect owners who have been made more vulnerable in this tenure discriminatory housing system and who, along with renters, are disproportionately bearing the risks of the financialization of housing.

Not only are we seeing the effects of the redistribution of risks from government to individuals through asset-based welfare, and the related privileging of ownership and residualization of renting at the micro-level, but also at the meso- and macro-level. The meso-level – the level of neighbourhoods and the cities we live – has a special consideration as municipalities are critical in rethinking the orientation of our housing system and supporting housing and mobility choice, in part because municipalities are the order of government that is facing the most impacts from the privileging of ownership and residualization of renting (Hulchanski, 2004). This includes urban sprawl and associated infrastructure costs and environmental impacts as households 'drive until they qualify' (Lauster, 2016) and costs of social services and supports for households who have been vulnerable through the housing system (Hulchanski, 2004). Municipalities can play a leadership role through the land use and zoning process by enabling the development of more diverse housing choices and especially more social and affordable housing which can be further supported through the use of public land (Pomeroy & Maclennan, 2019). The City of Edmonton started to do this when they made duplexes and semi-detached homes a permitted use instead of a discretionary use on all land currently zoned for single detached housing (Stolte, 2019). This can and should be scaled up, especially to meet the goals in the new City Plan to support housing choice, affordability, and sustainability (City of Edmonton, 2020), while

still recognizing that decisions about housing and its consequences involve all levels of government.

9.1.4 The inadequacy of the housing ladder

Of course, the main policy implication is that the idea of the "housing ladder" that is core to asset-based welfare and the Canadian policy system (see Chapter 3) and is implicitly and explicitly build on the conceptualization of a linear housing and mobility relationship is not meeting the needs of many Canadians. Overall, Canadian housing policy should seek to enable choice in the housing and mobility relationship – both the choice to move or to stay and the choice of where and how to live – both of which aligns with a more tenure equal housing system. The current housing system does neither of those things. Through a broad orientation towards homeownership, including more favourable taxation and financial environment, households are encouraged to move into ownership and stay, which has resulted in increasing prices and distortion in labour and housing markets. At the same time, regressive rental policies have resulted in the residualization of the private and social rental sectors so that they have become less secure and with fewer options. As noted in chapter 3, policies that have limited and specific focus on elements of the housing and mobility relationship, such as addressing push and pull factors or incentivizing mobility to certain neighbourhoods or housing types do not typically result in long term better outcomes because they do not fundamentally address systemic barriers and constrained choice sets in the housing system – in other words, they do not address the broad orientation of the housing system that privileges one tenure over another.

In a more tenure equal housing system, different housing tenures would not be materially and ideologically privileged (Christophers, 2019; Haffner, 2003). It is clearly linked to choice *and* policy – as Christophers describes it, households:

"would regard these different tenures as more or less equal to one another both in economic terms (choice of tenure would be unlikely to make a material difference to the future of the household economy) and, just as importantly, in non-economic terms. The tenures would be deemed equally valid – one should not be considered superior to another. To this end, policy should also be tenure neutral: its explicit aim should be to not advantage one tenure over others, ensuring that as far as possible, equality between them is maintained" (Christophers, 2019, p. 3).

There are a variety of short- and long-term policy options that can and should be considered by policymakers to move towards a more tenure-equal housing system and redistribute choice and agency across all tenures, many of which have been highlighted earlier in this chapter. These policy options include raising interest rates, tax reform, zoning reform, improving rent regulation and security of tenure for non-owner-occupiers, strengthening mortgage market regulation, modernizing the affordable housing system, and supporting diverse and affordable housing supply, many of which have been discussed above. These policy options have been put forward by a range of organizations, from the United Nations Special Rapporteur on the Right to Housing (Rolnik, 2012) to the OECD (Cheung, 2014; OECD, 2020) to major Canadian banks including the Bank of Montreal (Kavcic & Reitzes, 2021) and Scotiabank (Young, 2023) to academics and journalists (Fawcett, 2021; Gee, 2020; Pomeroy & Maclennan, 2019; Tranjan, 2020). However, as Bank of Montreal economists argued in their report, "Canadian Housing Fire Needs a Response", a root issue is market psychology and argue that 'the action needed today is one that immediately breaks market psychology and the belief that prices will only rise further' (Kavcic & Reitzes, 2021, para. 41 emphasis in original). This highlights that for these policies to be the most effective, we need to also change how we *think* about housing – and that is a bigger question.

Changing how we think about housing includes addressing not just the privileging of homeownership, but the active degradation of other forms of tenure that has occurred concurrently, both materially and ideologically (Christophers, 2019; Ronald, 2008). As Ronald argues in his book on homeownership ideologies, "A more effective strategy may be to rehabilitate renting and reverse the discursive prejudices that have built up against it. This requires a seismic ideological shift and a symbolic reconstitution of rental housing" (Ronald, 2008, p. 253). CMHC, Canada's national housing agency, has publicly been calling for need to address the primacy of ownership that has come at the expense of other tenures. At an event in December 2019, then CMHC President Evan Siddall said:

"we need to call out the glorification of homeownership for the regressive canard that it is. Renting is a perfectly valid option, and may in fact be the best long-term option for many households. Over-promotion of homeownership is both economically and socially counter-productive, contributing to the increasing division between rich and poor" (Siddall, 2019, para. 41).

Thus, it is not just that governments need to develop policy that tempers demand for and prices of owned homes and increases (the right kind of) supply, but maybe more importantly, they need to readdress and reconstitute the role of both private and social rental housing within the housing system and broader social and economic systems. However, as Christophers (2019) notes, moving to a more tenure equal housing system needs to consider that there are wealth and debt-disparities within homeowning groups and that pushing households towards renting will not address inequality if renting remains precarious and financialized. This is the core challenge with housing is crucial to the system of asset-based welfare that underlies broader welfare policy (Doling & Ronald, 2010; Malpass, 2008), systems of finance and flows of capital (Aalbers, 2008; Langley, 2006), and to our own personal wellbeing and security (Dunn et al., 2006; Malpass, 2008). Changes in the housing system will have wide-ranging effects across our social and economic systems. These are very real and very practical and very complex challenges, but the alternative is ongoing, cumulative social and economic inequality that is rooted in our relationship to housing and reinforced through the mobility process.

9.2 Limitations and Future Research

Like all research, this thesis faces limitations. While the Canadian Housing Survey reflects an improvement in the data collected and our understanding of the housing experiences of Canadians, there are still gaps. The survey design itself is implicated in these findings. As discussed earlier, there is no equivalent reason for "moving to become a renter", highlighting how renting is perceived as a residual non-choice. The survey also does not include details on unwanted immobility, or households who are stuck, which is an important aspect of the housing – mobility relationship where choice and agency is expressed (Coulter et al., 2016). While the 2020 Canadian Housing Survey (data not released at the time of writing) included more questions on eviction, and the 2022 Canadian Housing Survey (currently in the field until

spring 2023) includes more questions about previous housing characteristics, being better able to distinguish between voluntary and involuntary mobility and immobility is important for our understanding of the housing – mobility relationship. The survey also does not ask about disability, despite the evidence that Canadians with disabilities have unique housing needs and face unequal outcomes (Government of Canada, 2022) and that disability is its own axis of inequality that is systematically produced (Maroto & Pettinicchio, 2022). Further, as a crosssectional survey, I did not assess causation but focused on relationships and associations.

The Canadian Housing Survey is also not a true panel, longitudinal survey like the Panel Study on Income Dynamics in the US, the Household, Income, and Labour Dynamics in Australia Survey in Australia, and the British Household Panel Survey in the UK, which forms the basis of much of the foundational and emergent research cited in this thesis, including the development of the housing careers conceptualization (Clark et al., 2003; Kendig, 1984) and the housing transitions conceptualization (Beer & Faulkner, 2011). While I was able to look at tenure at three points in time and explore the most recent mobility experiences, research in countries that has this type of longitudinal data allows for a much more rich and dynamic analysis of housing and mobility across the life course and would substantially add to our knowledge in Canada about the relationship between housing and mobility, including a better understanding of how lives are linked across generations.

For the purposes of this thesis, I used the CHS Public Use Micro-Files, which did include bootstrap weights (which would have had larger impacts on the standard errors estimates) and was missing some variables, including immigration status, marital status, and details on distance moved. The user guide for the Public Use Micro-Files includes caveats and recommends that users access the Research Data Centre (Statistics Canada, 2021), which is an important program in making microdata available. However, not everyone has access to a Research Data Centre, and aligned with the themes in this thesis, access to Research Data Centres is distributed unequally. There is again a much bigger conversation about what data we choose to collect and make available (Andrew-Gee & Grant, 2019).

Housing and mobility are also huge topics, and in trying to explore this relationship holistically across tenure and considering the life course, I recognize that there is certainly much more

space to look these relationships in other ways. This includes exploring this relationship for groups who have been made marginalized and are systemically disadvantaged, looking at who does make tenure transitions, looking at more tertiary outcomes like life satisfaction and wellbeing, exploring perceptions and experiences of housing and mobility in more qualitative ways, and exploring in-household mobility decisions. And as I noted earlier in this chapter, I took a high-level approach to discussing the policy implications and options, and more detailed analyses and recommendations of policies to move towards to a more equal tenure housing system should be the subject of other work.

Despite these limitations, this research still adds to our understanding of how, why, and when Canadians move and how it is connected to their housing. It provides Canadian-focused research that integrates housing and mobility experiences beyond the renting-owning binary. It reinforces the need to re-think our relationship with housing and how we implicitly and explicitly produce these currently unequal outcomes across tenure through the housing system. These findings suggest that it is not just material security of tenure and stability as a mechanism of positive outcomes, but the sense of control and the *ability* to express agency and choice that is differentially available to different tenures that contributes to these unequal outcomes. And that highlights that *we* have a choice – to continue to make housing a contributor and reflection of inequality, or to do something different.

References

- Aalbers, M. B. (2008). The Financialization of Home and the Mortgage Market Crisis. Competition & Change, 12(2), 148–166. https://doi.org/10.1179/102452908X289802
- Acolin, A. (2020). Owning vs. Renting: The benefits of residential stability? *Housing Studies*, 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673037.2020.1823332
- Anderson, T. (2019). *Results from the 2016 Census: Housing, income and residential dissimilarity among Indigenous people in Canadian cities* (Insights on Canadian Society No. 75-006– X). Statistics Canada.
- Andrew, M. (2012). The Changing Route to Owner-occupation: The Impact of Borrowing Constraints on Young Adult Homeownership Transitions in Britain in the 1990s. *Urban Studies*, *49*(8), 1659–1678. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098011417905
- Andrew-Gee, E., & Grant, T. (2019, January 26). In the dark: The cost of Canada's data deficit. *The Globe and Mail*. https://www.theglobeandmail.com/canada/article-in-the-dark-the-cost-of-canadas-data-deficit/
- Arel-Bundock, V. (n.d.). *Marginal Effects*. Retrieved September 23, 2022, from https://vincentarelbundock.github.io/marginaleffects/articles/marginaleffects.html#defi nition
- Arundel, R. (2017). Equity Inequity: Housing Wealth Inequality, Inter and Intra-generational Divergences, and the Rise of Private Landlordism. *Housing, Theory and Society, 34*(2), 176–200. https://doi.org/10.1080/14036096.2017.1284154
- Arundel, R., & Ronald, R. (2021). The false promise of homeownership: Homeowner societies in an era of declining access and rising inequality. *Urban Studies*, *58*(6), 1120–1140. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098019895227
- August, M. (2014). Negotiating Social Mix in Toronto's First Public Housing Redevelopment: Power, Space and Social Control in Don Mount Court. *International Journal of Urban and Regional Research*, *38*(4), 1160–1180. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2427.12127
- August, M. (2016). "It's all about power and you have none:" The marginalization of tenant resistance to mixed-income social housing redevelopment in Toronto, Canada. *Cities*, 57, 25–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cities.2015.12.004
- Babones, S. (2016). Interpretive Quantitative Methods for the Social Sciences. *Sociology*, *50*(3), 453–469. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038038515583637
- Baker, E., Bentley, R., Lester, L., & Beer, A. (2016). Housing affordability and residential mobility as drivers of locational inequality. *Applied Geography*, *72*, 65–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2016.05.007
- Baker, E., Pham, A., Leishman, C., Daniel, L., & Bentley, R. (2020). Urban Social Housing Pathways: A Linked Administrative Data Analysis. *Urban Policy and Research*, *0*(0), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/08111146.2020.1838894
- Barlow, J., & Duncan, S. (1988). The use and abuse of housing tenure. *Housing Studies*, *3*(4), 219–231. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673038808720632
- Barnes, T. J. (2009). "Not Only ... But Also": Quantitative and Critical Geography. *The Professional Geographer*, *61*(3), 292–300. https://doi.org/10.1080/00330120902931937

- Beer, A., Baker, E., Wood, G., & Raftery, P. (2011). Housing Policy, Housing Assistance and the Wellbeing Dividend: Developing an Evidence Base for Post-GFC Economies. *Housing Studies*, 26(7–8), 1171–1192. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673037.2011.616993
- Beer, A., & Faulkner, D. (2011). *Housing transitions through the life course: Aspirations, needs and policy*. Policy Press. https://doi.org/10.1332/policypress/9781847424280.001.0001
- Benfer, E. A., Vlahov, D., Long, M. Y., Walker-Wells, E., Pottenger, J. L., Gonsalves, G., & Keene, D. E. (2021). Eviction, Health Inequity, and the Spread of COVID-19: Housing Policy as a Primary Pandemic Mitigation Strategy. *Journal of Urban Health*, *98*(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11524-020-00502-1
- Bleemer, Z., Brown, M., Lee, D., & van der Klaauw, W. (2017). *Tuition, Jobs, or Housing: What's Keeping Millennials at Home?* (Federal Reserve Bank of New York Staff Report No. 700). Federal Reserve Bank of New York.
 https://www.powworkfed.org/modialibrary/modia/research/staff_reports/cr700.pdf2la=

https://www.newyorkfed.org/medialibrary/media/research/staff_reports/sr700.pdf?la= en

- Bolt, G., Phillips, D., & Kempen, R. V. (2010). Housing Policy, (De)segregation and Social Mixing: An International Perspective. *Housing Studies*, 25(2), 129–135. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673030903564838
- Bower, M., Buckle, C., Rugel, E., Donohoe-Bales, A., McGrath, L., Gournay, K., Barrett, E., Phibbs, P., & Teesson, M. (2021). 'Trapped', 'anxious' and 'traumatised': COVID-19 intensified the impact of housing inequality on Australians' mental health. *International Journal of Housing Policy*, 0(0), 1–32. https://doi.org/10.1080/19491247.2021.1940686
- Bowley, P., & Sinclair, A. (2018). Assessment of Adaptable Affordable Housing Design Needs and Solutions (Housing Research Report). CMHC-SCHL. https://eppdscrmssa01.blob.core.windows.net/cmhcprodcontainer/sf/project/archive/r esearch_2/assessment_adaptable_housing_design_needs.pdf
- Breau, S., Shin, M., & Burkhart, N. (2018). Pulling apart: New perspectives on the spatial dimensions of neighbourhood income disparities in Canadian cities. *Journal of Geographical Systems*, 20(1), 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10109-017-0255-0
- Briggs, X. de S. (1997). Moving up versus moving out: Neighborhood effects in housing mobility programs. *Housing Policy Debate*, 8(1), 195–234. https://doi.org/10.1080/10511482.1997.9521252
- Browning, C. R., Cagney, K. A., & Boettner, B. (2016). Neighborhood, Place, and the Life Course.
 In M. J. Shanahan, J. T. Mortimer, & M. Kirkpatrick Johnson (Eds.), *Handbook of the Life Course: Volume II* (pp. 597–620). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-20880-0_26
- Burke, T., Nygaard, C., & Ralston, L. (2020). Australian home ownership: Past reflections, future directions. *AHURI Final Report*. https://doi.org/10.18408/ahuri-5119801
- Cairney, J., & Boyle, M. H. (2004). Home ownership, mortgages and psychological distress. *Housing Studies*, *19*(2), 161–174. https://doi.org/10.1080/0267303032000168577
- Caldera Sánchez, A., & Andrews, D. (2011). Residential Mobility and Public Policy in OECD Countries. *OECD Journal: Economic Studies*, 2011(1), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1787/eco studies-2011-5kg0vswqt240
- Calgary Legal Guidance. (2021). Foreclosures. *Calgary Legal Guidance*. https://clg.ab.ca/programs-services/dial-a-law/foreclosures/

- Canada Revenue Agency. (2019, December 9). What is the Home Buyers' Plan (HBP)? Canada Revenue Agency. https://www.canada.ca/en/revenueagency/services/tax/individuals/topics/rrsps-related-plans/what-home-buyersplan.html
- Canada Revenue Agency. (2021a, January 18). *Homeowners*. Canada Revenue Agency. https://www.canada.ca/en/revenue-

agency/services/tax/individuals/segments/homeowners.html

- Canada Revenue Agency. (2021b, January 18). *Provincial credits and grants you can claim on your tax return*. Canada Revenue Agency. https://www.canada.ca/en/revenue-agency/services/tax/individuals/segments/homeowners/provincial-credits-grants-you-claim-on-your-tax-return.html
- Canadian Centre for Housing Rights. (2022). "Sorry, it's rented." Measuring Discrimination Against Newcomers in Toronto's Rental Housing Market. Canadian Centre for Housing Rights. https://housingrightscanada.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/CCHR-Sorry-itsrented-Discrimination-Audit-2022.pdf
- Causa, O. (2020). Should I stay or should I go? Housing and residential mobility across OECD countries? (OECD Economics Department Working Papers No. 1626). OECD. https://doi.org/10.1787/d91329c2-en
- Causa, O., Woloszko, N., & Leite, D. (2019). Housing, wealth accumulation and wealth distribution: Evidence and stylized facts (OECD Economics Department Working Papers No. 1588; OECD Economics Department Working Papers, Vol. 1588). https://doi.org/10.1787/86954c10-en
- Chaskin, R. J., & Joseph, M. L. (2015). *Integrating the inner city: The promise and perils of mixed-income public housing transformation*. The University of Chicago Press.
- Chen, W.-H., Myles, J., & Picot, G. (2012). Why Have Poorer Neighbourhoods Stagnated Economically while the Richer Have Flourished? Neighbourhood Income Inequality in Canadian Cities. *Urban Studies*, *49*(4), 877–896. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098011408142
- Cheung, C. (2014). *Deconstructing Canada's Housing Markets: Finance, Affordability and Urban Sprawl* (No. 1145; OECD Economics Department Working Papers). OECD Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1787/5jz0zbg20h34-en
- Christophers, B. (2018). Intergenerational Inequality? Labour, Capital, and Housing Through the Ages. *Antipode*, *50*(1), 101–121. https://doi.org/10.1111/anti.12339
- Christophers, B. (2019). A tale of two inequalities: Housing-wealth inequality and tenure inequality. *Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space*, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1177/0308518X19876946

City of Edmonton. (2020). Edmonton City Plan (Charter Bylaw 20,000). City of Edmonton.

- Clapham, D. (2002). Housing Pathways: A Post Modern Analytical Framework. *Housing, Theory* and Society, 19(2), 57–68. https://doi.org/10.1080/140360902760385565
- Clark, W. A. V. (2012). Residential Mobility and the Housing Market. In D. F. Clapham, W. A. V. Clark, & K. Gibb (Eds.), *The SAGE Handbook of Housing Studies* (pp. 66–83). SAGE Publications Ltd. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781446247570.n4

- Clark, W. A. V. (2013). Life course events and residential change: Unpacking age effects on the probability of moving. *Journal of Population Research*, *30*(4), 319–334. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12546-013-9116-y
- Clark, W. A. V., Deurloo, M. C., & Dieleman, F. M. (2003). Housing Careers in the United States, 1968-93: Modelling the Sequencing of Housing States. *Urban Studies*, 40(1), 143–160. https://doi.org/10.1080/00420980220080211
- Clark, W. A. V., Deurloo, M., & Dieleman, F. M. (2006). Residential Mobility and Neighbourhood Outcomes. *Housing Studies*, *21*(3), 323–342. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673030600585946
- Clark, W. A. V., & Dieleman, F. M. (1996). *Households and housing: Choice and outcomes in the housing market*. Transaction Publishers.
- Clark, W. A. V., & Huang, Y. (2006). Balancing move and work: Women's labour market exits and entries after family migration. *Population, Space and Place, 12*(1), 31–44. https://doi.org/10.1002/psp.388
- Clark, W. A. V., & Maas, R. (2015). Interpreting Migration Through the Prism of Reasons for Moves. *Population, Space and Place, 21*(1), 54–67. https://doi.org/10.1002/psp.1844
- Clark, W. A. V., & Onaka, J. L. (1983). Life Cycle and Housing Adjustment as Explanations of Residential Mobility. *Urban Studies*, 20(1), 47–57. https://doi.org/10.1080/713703176
- Clark, W. A. V., van Ham, M., & Coulter, R. (2014). Spatial mobility and social outcomes. *Journal of Housing and the Built Environment*, *29*(4), 699–727. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10901-013-9375-0
- Clark, W. A. V., & Withers, S. D. (1999). Changing Jobs and Changing Houses: Mobility Outcomes of Employment Transitions. *Journal of Regional Science*, *39*(4), 653–673. https://doi.org/10.1111/0022-4146.00154
- Clark, W. A. V., & Withers, S. D. (2002). Disentangling the Interaction of Migration, Mobility, and Labor-Force Participation. *Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space*, *34*(5), 923– 945. https://doi.org/10.1068/a34216
- Claveau, J. (2020). The Canadian Housing Survey, 2018: Core housing need of renter households living in social and affordable housing. Statistics Canada. https://epe.lacbac.gc.ca/100/201/301/weekly_acquisitions_list-ef/2020/20-40/publications.gc.ca/collections/collection_2020/statcan/75f0002m/75f0002m202000 3-eng.pdf
- CMHC-SCHL. (2018a). CMHC Mortgage Loan Insurance Highlights. CMHC-SCHL. https://www.cmhc-schl.gc.ca/en/professionals/housing-markets-data-andresearch/housing-data/data-tables/mortgage-and-debt/cmhc-mortgage-loan-insurancehighlights
- CMHC-SCHL. (2018b, August 23). *Rental Housing Solutions*. https://www.cmhcschl.gc.ca/en/professionals/project-funding-and-mortgage-financing/mortgage-loaninsurance/multi-unit-insurance
- CMHC-SCHL. (2020a). Housing Market Outlook Special Edition Summer 2020 Canada's Major Markets. CMHC-SCHL.
- CMHC-SCHL. (2020b, April 3). *Dealing With Mortgage Payment Difficulties | CMHC*. https://www.cmhc-schl.gc.ca/en/professionals/industry-innovation-and-

leadership/industry-expertise/resources-for-mortgage-professionals/dealing-with-mortgage-payment-difficulties

- CMHC-SCHL. (2020c, July 20). *Rental Construction Financing Initiative*. https://www.cmhcschl.gc.ca/en/professionals/project-funding-and-mortgage-financing/fundingprograms/all-funding-programs/rental-construction-financing-initiative
- CMHC-SCHL. (2020d). *Residential Mortgage Industry Report*. CMHC-SCHL. https://assets.cmhcschl.gc.ca/sites/cmhc/data-research/publications-reports/residential-mortgageindustry-report/2020/residential-mortgage-industry-report-2020-en.pdf?rev=c3d60d8af7ad-4ad0-b044-1d649323c68a
- CMHC-SCHL. (2021a). *Mortgage Loan Insurance Homeownership Programs*. CMHC-SCHL. https://www.cmhc-schl.gc.ca/en/professionals/project-funding-and-mortgagefinancing/mortgage-loan-insurance/mortgage-loan-insurance-homeownershipprograms
- CMHC-SCHL. (2021b). *Rental Market Report—Canada and Selected Markets* [Housing Market Information]. CMHC-SCHL. https://assets.cmhc-schl.gc.ca/sites/cmhc/dataresearch/publications-reports/rental-market-reports/2020/rental-market-report-69720-2020-en.pdf?rev=936ca622-a6c5-4cbc-b937-d29b1d63cc14
- CMHC-SCHL. (2021c). Housing Market Assessment—Canada and Metropolitan Areas [Housing Market Information]. CMHC-SCHL. https://assets.cmhc-schl.gc.ca/sites/cmhc/dataresearch/publications-reports/housing-market-assessment/2021/housing-marketassessment-68456-2021-03-en.pdf?rev=9cb7d2f1-344b-4d51-a6e2-44a8b0cce518
- CMHC-SCHL. (2023). *Rental Market Report—January 2023 Edition* [Housing Market Information]. CMHC-SCHL.
- Collins, D., de Vos, E., Evans, J., Severson Mason, M., Anderson-Baron, J., Cruickshank, V., & McDowell, K. (2021). "When We Do Evict Them, It's a Last Resort": Eviction Prevention in Social and Affordable Housing. *Housing Policy Debate*, *0*(0), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/10511482.2021.1900890
- Côté, J., & Bynner, J. M. (2008). Changes in the transition to adulthood in the UK and Canada: The role of structure and agency in emerging adulthood. *Journal of Youth Studies*, *11*(3), 251–268. https://doi.org/10.1080/13676260801946464
- Coulter, R. (2013). Wishful Thinking and the Abandonment of Moving Desires over the Life Course. *Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space*, *45*(8), 1944–1962. https://doi.org/10.1068/a45314
- Coulter, R., Ham, M. van, & Findlay, A. M. (2016). Re-thinking residential mobility: Linking lives through time and space. *Progress in Human Geography*, *40*(3), 352–374. https://doi.org/10.1177/0309132515575417
- Coulter, R., & Scott, J. (2015). What Motivates Residential Mobility? Re-examining Self-Reported Reasons for Desiring and Making Residential Moves. *Population, Space and Place, 21*(4), 354–371. https://doi.org/10.1002/psp.1863
- Crawford, J., & McKee, K. (2018). Hysteresis: Understanding the Housing Aspirations Gap. Sociology, 52(1), 182–197. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038038516661263
- Cresswell, T. (2012). Mobilities II: Still. *Progress in Human Geography*, *36*(5), 645–653. https://doi.org/10.1177/0309132511423349

- Crook, T. (1998). The supply of private rented housing in Canada. *Netherlands Journal of Housing and the Built Environment*, *13*(3), 327–352. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02496782
- Crowder, K., & Hall, M. (2007). Migration: Internal. In *The Blackwell Encyclopedia of Sociology*. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781405165518.wbeosm101
- de Haas, H. (2021). A theory of migration: The aspirations-capabilities framework. *Comparative Migration Studies*, *9*(1), 8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40878-020-00210-4
- de Vos, E. (2022). *Designing For Tenant Wellbeing: A New Approach to Canadian Social Housing*. Royal Roads University.
- Deas, I., Robson, B., Wong, C., & Bradford, M. (2003). Measuring Neighbourhood Deprivation: A Critique of the Index of Multiple Deprivation. *Environment and Planning C: Government and Policy*, *21*(6), 883–903. https://doi.org/10.1068/c0240
- DeLuca, S., & Jang–Trettien, C. (2020). "Not Just a Lateral Move": Residential Decisions and the Reproduction of Urban Inequality. *City & Community*, *19*(3), 451–488. https://doi.org/10.1111/cico.12515
- Denier, N. (2017). Leaving Work, Leaving Home: Job Loss and Socio-Geographic Mobility in Canada. *Canadian Public Policy*, *43*(1), 17–35. https://doi.org/10.3138/cpp.2016-014
- Department of Finance. (2021, February 25). *Report on Federal Tax Expenditures Concepts, Estimates and Evaluations 2021: Part 4*. https://www.canada.ca/en/department-finance/services/publications/federal-tax-expenditures/2021/part-4.html#Capital-gains-exemption-on-personal-use-property
- Desmond, M., Gershenson, C., & Kiviat, B. (2015). Forced Relocation and Residential Instability among Urban Renters. *Social Service Review*, *89*(2), 227–262. https://doi.org/10.1086/681091
- Desmond, M., & Kimbro, R. T. (2015). Eviction's Fallout: Housing, Hardship, and Health. *Social Forces*, *94*(1), 295–324. https://doi.org/10.1093/sf/sov044
- Dieleman, F. M. (2001). Modelling residential mobility; a review of recent trends in research. *Journal of Housing and the Built Environment*, *16*, 249–265.
- Dion, K. L. (2001). Immigrants' Perceptions of Housing Discrimination in Toronto: The Housing New Canadians Project. *Journal of Social Issues*, *57*(3), 523–539. https://doi.org/10.1111/0022-4537.00227
- DiPrete, T. A., & Eirich, G. M. (2006). Cumulative Advantage as a Mechanism for Inequality: A Review of Theoretical and Empirical Developments. *Annual Review of Sociology*, *32*(1), 271–297. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.soc.32.061604.123127
- Doling, J., & Ronald, R. (2010). Home ownership and asset-based welfare. *Journal of Housing* and the Built Environment, 25(2), 165–173. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10901-009-9177-6
- Dunn, J. R., Hayes, M., Hwang, S., Hulchanski, J. D., & Potvin, L. (2003). *Housing as a Socioeconomic Determinant of Health* (A Needs, Gaps, and Opportunities Assessment). The Canadian Institutes of Health Research.
- Dunn, J. R., Hayes, M. V., Hulchanski, J. D., Hwang, S. W., & Potvin, L. (2006). Housing as a Socio-Economic Determinant of Health. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, 97(Supplement 3), S11–S15.

Dupuis, A., & Thorns, D. C. (1998). Home, Home Ownership and the Search for Ontological Security. *The Sociological Review*, *46*(1), 24–47. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-954X.00088

Easterlow, D., Smith, S. J., & Mallinson, S. (2000). Housing for Health: The Role of Owner Occupation. *Housing Studies*, *15*(3), 367–386. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673030050009230

Edmonston, B., & Lee, S. M. (2014). Residential Mobility of Elderly Canadians: Trends and Determinants. *Canadian Journal on Aging / La Revue Canadienne Du Vieillissement*, 33(4), 378–399. https://doi.org/10.1017/S071498081400035X

Elder Jr., G. H. (1994). Time, Human Agency, and Social Change: Perspectives on the Life Course. Social Psychology Quarterly, 57(1), 4. https://doi.org/10.2307/2786971

Elder Jr., G. H., Johnson, M. K., & Crosnoe, R. (2003). The Emergence and Development of Life Course Theory. In J. T. Mortimer & M. J. Shanahan (Eds.), *Handbook of the Life Course* (pp. 3–19). Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-306-48247-2_1

Ellen, I. G. (2020). What do we know about housing choice vouchers? *Regional Science and Urban Economics, 80*, 103380. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.regsciurbeco.2018.07.003

Fawcett, M. (2021, March 15). Canada's housing market is on fire—And headed for disaster. National Observer. https://www.nationalobserver.com/2021/03/15/opinion/canadashousing-market-fire-and-headed-disaster

Ferreira, F., Gyourko, J., & Tracy, J. (2010). Housing busts and household mobility. *Journal of Urban Economics*, 68(1), 34–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jue.2009.10.007

- Ferreira, P., & Taylor, M. (2008). Residential Mobility, Mobility Preferences, and Psychological Health. In M. Brynin & J. Ermisch (Eds.), *Changing Relationships* (pp. 161–179). Routledge.
- Fitzpatrick, S., & Pawson, H. (2014). Ending Security of Tenure for Social Renters: Transitioning to 'Ambulance Service' Social Housing? *Housing Studies*, *29*(5), 597–615. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673037.2013.803043
- Flynn, L. (2017). Delayed and depressed: From expensive housing to smaller families. International Journal of Housing Policy, 17(3), 374–395. https://doi.org/10.1080/14616718.2016.1241936
- Forrest, R. (1987). Spatial Mobility, Tenure Mobility, and Emerging Social Divisions in the UK Housing Market. *Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space*, *19*(12), 1611–1630. https://doi.org/10.1068/a191611
- Foster, T. B., & Kleit, R. G. (2015). The Changing Relationship Between Housing and Inequality, 1980–2010. *Housing Policy Debate*, *25*(1), 16–40. https://doi.org/10.1080/10511482.2014.933118

Frost, R. (2020). Are Americans Stuck in Place? Declining Residential Mobility in the US. Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University. https://www.jchs.harvard.edu/research-areas/research-briefs/are-americans-stuckplace-declining-residential-mobility-us

Fu, M., Exeter, D. J., & Anderson, A. (2015). "So, is that your 'relative' or mine?" A politicalecological critique of census-based area deprivation indices. *Social Science & Medicine*, 142, 27–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.07.036 Furstenberg, F. (2010). On a New Schedule: Transitions to Adulthood and Family Change. *The Future of Children*, *20*(1), 67–87. https://doi.org/10.1353/foc.0.0038

Galster, G. C. (2001). On the Nature of Neighbourhood. *Urban Studies*, *38*(12), 2111–2124. https://doi.org/10.1080/00420980120087072

Galster, G. C., & Sharkey, P. (2017). Spatial Foundations of Inequality: A Conceptual Model and Empirical Overview. *RSF: The Russell Sage Foundation Journal of the Social Sciences*, 3(2), 1. https://doi.org/10.7758/rsf.2017.3.2.01

Gee, M. (2020, October 10). It's time to rethink our fixation on home ownership. *The Globe and Mail*.

Gellatly, G., & Richards, E. (2019). *Indebtedness and wealth among Canadian households*. Statistics Canada. http://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection_2019/statcan/11-626-x/11-626-x2019003-eng.pdf

Goodman, L. S., & Mayer, C. (2018). Homeownership and the American Dream. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, *32*(1), 31–58. https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.32.1.31

Government of Alberta. (2021). *Rental evictions*. https://www.alberta.ca/rental-evictions.aspx

Government of Canada. (2017). *Canada's National Housing Strategy* (p. 41). Government of Canada. https://assets.cmhc-schl.gc.ca/sf/project/placetocallhome/pdfs/canada-national-housing-strategy.pdf?rev=97491935-2a97-405f-bd38-decf72266ee9

Government of Canada, S. C. (2021, January 22). *The Daily—Survey of Household Spending,* 2019. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/210122/dq210122b-eng.htm

Government of Canada, S. C. (2022, August 8). For Canadians with disabilities, another housing affordability crunch. https://www.statcan.gc.ca/o1/en/plus/1548-canadians-disabilities-another-housing-affordability-crunch

Grant, J. L., & Scott, D. E. (2012). Complete Communities Versus the Canadian Dream: Representations of Suburban Aspirations. *Canadian Journal of Urban Research*, 21(1), 132–157.

Gray, B. (2008). Putting Emotion and Reflexivity to Work in Researching Migration. *Sociology*, 42(5), 935–952. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038038508094571

Greenlee, A. J. (2011). A different lens: Administrative perspectives on portability in Illinois' Housing Choice Voucher Program. *Housing Policy Debate*, *21*(3), 377–403. https://doi.org/10.1080/10511482.2011.591409

Greenlee, A. J. (2019). Redefining Rental Housing Choice in the Housing Choice Voucher Program. In K. B. Anacker, M. T. Nguyen, & D. P. Varady (Eds.), *The Routledge Handbook of Housing Policy and Planning* (1st ed., pp. 141–154). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315642338-12

Grinstein-Weiss, M., Key, C., & Carrillo, S. (2015). Homeownership, the Great Recession, and Wealth: Evidence From the Survey of Consumer Finances. *Housing Policy Debate*, 25(3), 419–445. https://doi.org/10.1080/10511482.2014.971042

Gurney, C. M. (1999). Pride and Prejudice: Discourses of Normalisation in Public and Private Accounts of Home Ownership. *Housing Studies*, *14*(2), 163–183. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673039982902

Haan, M. (2005). The Decline of the Immigrant Home-ownership Advantage: Life-cycle, Declining Fortunes and Changing Housing Careers in Montreal, Toronto and Vancouver, 1981-2001. Urban Studies, 42(12), 2191–2212. https://doi.org/10.1080/00420980500331983

- Haan, M. (2007). The Homeownership Hierarchies of Canada and the United States: The Housing Patterns of White and Non-White Immigrants of the past Thirty Years. *International Migration Review*, *41*(2), 433–465. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1747-7379.2007.00074.x
- Haan, M., & Perks, T. (2008). The Housing Careers of Older Canadians: An Investigation Using Cycle 16 of the General Social Survey. *Canadian Studies in Population*, 35(2), 223. https://doi.org/10.25336/P6S32X
- Haffner, M. E. A. (2003). Tenure Neutrality, a Financial-Economic Interpretation. *Housing, Theory and Society, 20*(2), 72–85. https://doi.org/10.1080/14036090304262
- Hamnett, C. (1987). A Tale of Two Cities: Sociotenurial Polarisation in London and the South East, 1966–1981. *Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space*, *19*(4), 537–556. https://doi.org/10.1068/a190537
- Hanifa, R. (2021). *High-Income Black Homeowners Receive Higher Interest Rates than Low-Income White Homeowners* [Housing Perspectives]. Harvard Joint Center for Housing Studies. https://www.jchs.harvard.edu/blog/high-income-black-homeowners-receivehigher-interest-rates-low-income-white-homeowners
- Hanson, S. (2005). Perspectives on the geographic stability and mobility of people in cities. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *102*(43), 15301–15306. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0507309102
- Harkness, J., & Newman, S. J. (2002). Homeownership for the poor in distressed neighborhoods: Does this make sense? *Housing Policy Debate*, *13*(3), 597–630. https://doi.org/10.1080/10511482.2002.9521456
- Hatch, M. E. (2021). Voluntary, forced, and induced renter mobility: The influence of state policies. *Journal of Housing Economics*, *51*, 101689. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhe.2020.101689
- Heiss, A. (2022, May 20). Marginalia: A guide to figuring out what the heck marginal effects, marginal slopes, average marginal effects, marginal effects at the mean, and all these other marginal things are. https://www.andrewheiss.com/blog/2022/05/20/marginalia/
- Heisz, A., & Richards, E. (2019). *Economic Well-being Across Generations of Young Canadians: Are Millennials Better or Worse Off?* (No. 11-626–X; Economic Insights). Statistics Canada.
- Hiscock, R., Macintyre, S., Kearns, A., & Ellaway, A. (2003). Residents and Residence: Factors Predicting the Health Disadvantage of Social Renters Compared to Owner-Occupiers. *Journal of Social Issues*, *59*(3), 527–546. https://doi.org/10.1111/1540-4560.00076
- Horne, R., Willand, N., Dorignon, L., & Middha, B. (2021). Housing inequalities and resilience: The lived experience of COVID-19. *International Journal of Housing Policy*, 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1080/19491247.2021.2002659
- Hou, F. (2010). Homeownership over the life course of Canadians: Evidence from Canadian Census of population. Statistics Canada.
- Hulchanski, J. D. (2004). What Factors Shape Canadian Housing Policy? The Intergovernmental Role in Canada's Housing System. In R. Young & C. Leuprecht (Eds.), *Canada: The State* of the Federation 2004 (pp. 221–247). McGill-Queen's University Press.

- Hulchanski, J. D. (2011). *The three cities within Toronto: Income polarization among Toronto's neighbourhoods, 1970-2005*. Cities Centre, University of Toronto. https://www.deslibris.ca/ID/226176
- Hulchanski, J. D. (2017, December 4). No, Ottawa has not put forth a national housing strategy. *The Globe and Mail*, A.11.
- Hulse, K., Reynolds, M., & Martin, C. (2020). The Everyman archetype: Discursive reframing of private landlords in the financialization of rental housing. *Housing Studies*, 35(6), 981–1003. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673037.2019.1644297
- Jamieson, M. K., Govaart, G. H., & Pownall, M. (2023). Reflexivity in quantitative research: A rationale and beginner's guide. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, *n/a*(n/a), e12735. https://doi.org/10.1111/spc3.12735
- Kavcic, R., & Reitzes, B. (2021). *Canadian Housing Fire Needs a Response*. BMO Economics. https://economics.bmo.com/en/publications/detail/c76a7448-4306-4a50-a335-3a7c98fcbe9e/
- Keeley, B. (2015). *Income Inequality: The Gap between Rich and Poor*. OECD. https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264246010-en
- Keister, L. A., & Moller, S. (2000). Wealth Inequality in the United States. *Annual Review of Sociology*, *26*(1), 63–81. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.soc.26.1.63
- Kemeny, J. (1981). *The myth of home-ownership: Private versus public choices in housing tenure*. Routledge & Kegan Paul.
- Kendig, H. L. (1984). Housing Careers, Life Cycle and Residential Mobility: Implications for the Housing Market. Urban Studies, 21(3), 271–283. https://doi.org/10.1080/00420988420080541
- Killewald, A., Pfeffer, F. T., & Schachner, J. N. (2017). Wealth Inequality and Accumulation. Annual Review of Sociology, 43(1), 379–404. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-soc-060116-053331
- Klaszus, J. (2021, March 20). If NIMBYs had their way in the 1950s, my home wouldn't exist. *The Sprawl.* https://www.sprawlcalgary.com/if-nimbys-had-their-way-in-the-1950s-my-home-wouldnt-exist
- Kleit, R. G., Kang, S., & Scally, C. P. (2016). Why Do Housing Mobility Programs Fail in Moving Households to Better Neighborhoods? *Housing Policy Debate*, 26(1), 188–209. https://doi.org/10.1080/10511482.2015.1033440
- Kwan, M.-P., & Schwanen, T. (2009). Critical Quantitative Geographies. *Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space*, *41*(2), 261–264. https://doi.org/10.1068/a41350
- Langley, P. (2006). Securitising Suburbia: The Transformation of Anglo-American Mortgage Finance. *Competition & Change*, *10*(3), 283–299. https://doi.org/10.1179/102452906X114384
- Lauster, N. T. (2016). *The death and life of the single-family house: Lessons from Vancouver on building a livable city*. Temple University Press.
- Lee, B. A., Matthews, S. A., Iceland, J., & Firebaugh, G. (2015). Residential Inequality: Orientation and Overview. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, *660*(1), 8–16. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716215579832

- Li, A., Baker, E., & Bentley, R. (2022). Understanding the mental health effects of instability in the private rental sector: A longitudinal analysis of a national cohort. *Social Science & Medicine*, *296*, 114778. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2022.114778
- Lindblad, M. R., & Quercia, R. G. (2015). Why Is Homeownership Associated With Nonfinancial Benefits? A Path Analysis of Competing Mechanisms. *Housing Policy Debate*, 25(2), 263– 288. https://doi.org/10.1080/10511482.2014.956776
- Loptson, K. (2017). *The "Housing Economy" and Housing Insecurity in Canada*. University of Alberta.
- Macdonald, D. (2015). *The Young and the Leveraged: Assessing the Impact of a Housing Market Correction on Canada's Homeowners*. Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives.
- Macdonald, D. (2019). *Unaccommodating—Rental Wage in Canada*. Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives.

https://www.policyalternatives.ca/sites/default/files/uploads/publications/National%20 Office/2019/07/Unaccommodating%20-%20Rental%20Wage%20in%20Canada.pdf

- Macintyre, S., Ellaway, A., Hiscock, R., Kearns, A., Der, G., & McKay, L. (2003). What features of the home and the area might help to explain observed relationships between housing tenure and health? Evidence from the west of Scotland. *Health & Place*, 9(3), 207–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1353-8292(02)00040-0
- Macmillan, R. (2005). The Structure of the Life Course: Classic Issues and Current Controversies. *Advances in Life Course Research*, *9*, 3–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1040-2608(04)09001-X
- Makarewicz, C., Dantzler, P., & Adkins, A. (2020). Another Look at Location Affordability: Understanding the Detailed Effects of Income and Urban Form on Housing and Transportation Expenditures. *Housing Policy Debate*, *30*(6), 1033–1055. https://doi.org/10.1080/10511482.2020.1792528
- Malpass, P. (2008). Housing and the New Welfare State: Wobbly Pillar or Cornerstone? *Housing Studies*, 23(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673030701731100
- Manulife. (2022, June 13). Buyer's remorse? Manulife Bank's Debt survey reveals close to 1 in 4 homeowners say if interest rates were to increase further, they would be forced to sell their home. Manulife. https://www.manulife.com/en/news/buyers-remorse-manulifebank-debt-survey-2022.html
- Maroto, M. (2016). Fifteen Years of Wealth Disparities in Canada: New Trends or Simply the Status Quo? *Canadian Public Policy*, *42*(2), 152–167. https://doi.org/10.3138/cpp.2015-040
- Maroto, M., & Aylsworth, L. (2016). Catching Up or Falling Behind? Continuing Wealth Disparities for Immigrants to Canada by Region of Origin and Cohort. *Canadian Review of Sociology/Revue Canadienne de Sociologie*, 53(4), 374–408. https://doi.org/10.1111/cars.12124
- Maroto, M., & Pettinicchio, D. (2020). Barriers to Economic Security: Disability, Employment, and Asset Disparities in Canada. *Canadian Review of Sociology/Revue Canadienne de Sociologie*, *57*(1), 53–79. https://doi.org/10.1111/cars.12268
- Maroto, M., & Pettinicchio, D. (2022). Relational Inequality and the Structures that Disadvantage. In R. Lewis Brown, M. Maroto, & D. Pettinicchio (Eds.), *The Oxford*

Handbook of the Sociology of Disability (p. 0). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780190093167.013.23

- Maroto, M., & Severson, M. (2020). Owning, renting, or living with parents? Changing housing situations among Canadian young adults, 2001 to 2011. *Housing Studies*, 35(4), 679–702. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673037.2019.1630559
- Maroto, M., & Severson Mason, M. (2022). Breaking Down the Wealth Equation: Housing, Assets, and Debt. In M. Hwang, E. Grabb, & J. G. Reitz (Eds.), *Social Inequality in Canada: Dimensions of Disadvantage* (7th Edition). Oxford University Press.
- Massey, D. S., Arango, J., Hugo, G., Kouaouci, A., Pellegrino, A., & Taylor, J. E. (1993). Theories of International Migration: A Review and Appraisal. *Population and Development Review*, 19(3), 431. https://doi.org/10.2307/2938462
- Maxwell, J. A. (2013). *Qualitative research design: An interactive approach* (3rd ed). SAGE Publications.
- Mayer, K. U. (2004). Whose Lives? How History, Societies, and Institutions Define and Shape Life Courses. *Research in Human Development*, 1(3), 161–187. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15427617rhd0103_3
- Mayock, T., & Malacrida, R. S. (2018). Socioeconomic and racial disparities in the financial returns to homeownership. *Regional Science and Urban Economics*, *70*, 80–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.regsciurbeco.2018.01.003
- McDaniel, S., & Bernard, P. (2011). Life Course as a Policy Lens: Challenges and Opportunities. *Canadian Public Policy*, *37*(Supplement), S1–S13. https://doi.org/10.1353/cpp.2011.0005
- McKee, K. (2012). Young People, Homeownership and Future Welfare. *Housing Studies*, 27(6), 853–862. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673037.2012.714463
- McKee, K., Moore, T., Soaita, A., & Crawford, J. (2017). 'Generation Rent' and The Fallacy of Choice. International Journal of Urban and Regional Research, 41(2), 318–333. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2427.12445
- Mendelson, M. (2016). *Designing a Housing Allowance Program*. Caledon Institute of Social Policy. http://www.deslibris.ca/ID/10049509
- Mitchell, B. A. (2006). The Boomerang Age from Childhood to Adulthood: Emergent Trends and Issues for Aging Families. *Canadian Studies in Population*, *33*(2), 155. https://doi.org/10.25336/P6V32J
- Moloughney, B. W. P. (2004). *Housing and population health: The state of current research knowledge*. Canadian Institute for Health Information.
- Moos, M. (2014). "Generationed" space: Societal restructuring and young adults' changing residential location patterns: Young adults' changing residential location. *The Canadian Geographer / Le Géographe Canadien*, *58*(1), 11–33. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1541-0064.2013.12052.x
- Moos, M., & Mendez, P. (2015). Suburban ways of living and the geography of income: How homeownership, single-family dwellings and automobile use define the metropolitan social space. *Urban Studies*, *52*(10), 1864–1882. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098014538679
- Moos, M., Pfeiffer, D., & Vinodrai, T. (Eds.). (2018). *The millennial city: Trends, implications, and prospects for urban planning and policy*. Routledge.

- Morrow-Jones, H. A., & Wenning, M. V. (2005). The Housing Ladder, the Housing Life-cycle and the Housing Life-course: Upward and Downward Movement among Repeat Homebuyers in a US Metropolitan Housing Market. *Urban Studies*, *42*(10), 1739–1754. https://doi.org/10.1080/00420980500231647
- Mortimer, J. (2019). Life-Course Perspective. In G. Ritzer, J. M. Ryan, & B. Thorn (Eds.), *The Blackwell Encyclopedia of Sociology* (pp. 1–6). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781405165518.wbeosl046.pub2
- Mulder, C. H. (1996). Housing choice: Assumptions and approaches. *Netherlands Journal of Housing and the Built Environment*, *11*(3), 209–232. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02496589
- Mulder, C. H. (2013). Family dynamics and housing: Conceptual issues and empirical findings. *Demographic Research*, 29, 355–378. https://doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2013.29.14
- Mulder, C. H., & Hooimeijer, P. (1999). Residential Relocations in the Life Course. In L. J. G. Wissen & P. A. Dykstra (Eds.), *Population Issues* (pp. 159–186). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-011-4389-9_6
- Mulder, C. H., & Lauster, N. T. (2010). Housing and Family: An Introduction. *Housing Studies*, *25*(4), 433–440. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673031003771109
- Newbold, K. B., & DeLuca, P. (2007). Short-Term Residential Changes to Toronto's Immigrant Communities: Evidence from Lsic Wave 1. *Urban Geography*, *28*(7), 635–656. https://doi.org/10.2747/0272-3638.28.7.635
- Northcott, H. C., & Petruik, C. R. (2013). Trends in the residential mobility of seniors in Canada, 1961–2006. *The Canadian Geographer / Le Géographe Canadien*, *57*(1), 43–55. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1541-0064.2012.00449.x
- Novac, S., Darden, J., Hulchanski, J. D., & Seguin, A.-M. (2002). *Housing Discrimination in Canada: The State of Knowledge*. CMHC-SCHL.
 - http://www.hnc.utoronto.ca/pdfs/home/Novac_Discrimination-Lit-Re.pdf
- OECD. (2020). Housing and Inclusive Growth. OECD. https://doi.org/10.1787/6ef36f4b-en
- OECD Social Policy Division. (n.d.). *PH4.2 Social Rental Housing Stock*. OECD. Retrieved March 16, 2021, from https://www.oecd.org/els/family/PH4-2-Social-rental-housing-stock.pdf
- Office of the Parliamentary Budget Officer. (2019). *Federal Program Spending on Housing Affordability*. Office of the Parliamentary Budget Officer. https://www.pbodpb.gc.ca/web/default/files/Documents/Reports/2019/Housing_Affordability/Federal% 20Spending%20on%20Housing%20Affordability%20EN.pdf
- Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions. (2017, June 30). *Residential Mortgage Underwriting Practices and Procedures—Effective January 1, 2018*. https://www.osfibsif.gc.ca:443/Eng/fi-if/rg-ro/gdn-ort/gl-ld/Pages/b20_dft.aspx
- Ong, R., Wood, G., Whelan, S., Cigdem, M., Atalay, K., & Dodson, J. (2017). *Inquiry into housing policies, labour force participation and economic growth* (No. 285; AHURI Final Report). Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute. https://www.ahuri.edu.au/research/final-reports/285
- Orton, L. C., Pennington, A., Nayak, S., Sowden, A., Petticrew, M., White, M., & Whitehead, M. (2019). What is the evidence that differences in 'control over destiny' lead to socioeconomic inequalities in health? A theory-led systematic review of high-quality

longitudinal studies on pathways in the living environment. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 73(10), 929–934. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech-2019-212565

- Pendakur, R., & Young, N. (2013). Putting on the moves: Individual, household, and communitylevel determinants of residential mobility in Canada. *Demographic Research*, 29, 767– 796. https://doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2013.29.28
- Pettinicchio, D., Maroto, M., & Brooks, J. D. (2022). The Sociology of Disability-Based Economic Inequality. *Contemporary Sociology: A Journal of Reviews*, *51*(4), 249–270. https://doi.org/10.1177/00943061221103313
- Plouin, M., Adema, W., Fron, P., & Roth, P.-M. (2021). A crisis on the horizon: Ensuring affordable, accessible housing for people with disabilities (OECD Social, Employment and Migration Working Papers No. 261; OECD Social, Employment and Migration Working Papers, Vol. 261). OECD. https://doi.org/10.1787/306e6993-en
- Pomeroy, S. (2017). *Discussion Paper: Envisioning a Modernized Social and Affordable Housing Sector in Canada*. Carleton University Centre for Urban Research and Education.

Pomeroy, S. (2021). *Toward Evidence Based Policy: Assessing the CMHC Rental Housing Finance Initiative* (Issue #12). Centre for Urban Research and Education. https://carleton.ca/cure/wp-content/uploads/CURE-Brief-12-RCFI-1.pdf

- Pomeroy, S., & Maclennan, D. (2019). *Rental Housing in Canada's Cities: Challenges & Responses*. Federation of Canadian Municipalities and Maytree.
- Preece, J., Crawford, J., McKee, K., Flint, J., & Robinson, D. (2020). Understanding changing housing aspirations: A review of the evidence. *Housing Studies*, *35*(1), 87–106. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673037.2019.1584665
- Ram, B., & Shin, Y. E. (2007). Educational Selectivity of Out-migration in Canada: 1976-1981 to 1996-2001. *Canadian Studies in Population [ARCHIVES]*, 34(2), Article 2. https://doi.org/10.25336/P6031D
- Rollwagen, H. (2015). Constructing Renters as a Threat to Neighbourhood Safety. *Housing* Studies, 30(1), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673037.2014.925099
- Rolnik, R. (2012). *The right to adequate housing* (A/67/286). United Nations General Assembly. https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Housing/A-67-286.pdf
- Ronald, R. (2008). *The Ideology of Home Ownership*. Palgrave Macmillan UK. https://doi.org/10.1057/9780230582286
- Rosen, G., & Walks, A. (2013). Rising cities: Condominium development and the private transformation of the metropolis. *Geoforum*, *49*, 160–172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2013.06.010
- Scanlon, E., & Devine, K. (2001). Residential mobility and youth well-being: Research, policy, and practice issues. *Journal of Sociology and Social Welfare*, *28*(1), 119–138.
- Schaefer, R. T. (2017). Social Mobility. In *The Blackwell Encyclopedia of Sociology* (pp. 1–4). American Cancer Society. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781405165518.wbeos0909
- Severson, M., & Collins, D. (2020). Young Adults' Perceptions of Life-Course Scripts and Housing Transitions: An Exploratory Study in Edmonton, Alberta. *Housing, Theory and Society*, 37(2), 214–229. https://doi.org/10.1080/14036096.2019.1584586
- Shanahan, M. J. (2000). Pathways to Adulthood in Changing Societies: Variability and Mechanisms in Life Course Perspective. Annual Review of Sociology, 26(1), 667–692. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.soc.26.1.667

- Shapiro, T. M. (2006). Race, Homeownership and Wealth. *Washington University Journal of Law* & Policy, 20, 53–74.
- Siddall, E. (2019, December 6). Affordable Housing for Everyone in Canada: Speaking Notes for Evan Siddall, President and Chief Executive Officer, Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation. https://www.cmhc-schl.gc.ca/en/medianewsroom/speeches/2019/affordable-housing-everyone-canada
- Skaburskis, A. (1996). Race and Tenure in Toronto. *Urban Studies*, *33*(2), 223–252. https://doi.org/10.1080/00420989650011988
- Smith, S. J., Clark, W. A. V., Ong ViforJ, R., Wood, G. A., Lisowski, W., & Truong, N. T. K. (2022).
 Housing and economic inequality in the long run: The retreat of owner occupation.
 Economy and Society, 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1080/03085147.2021.2003086
- Spilerman, S. (2000). Wealth and Stratification Processes. *Annual Review of Sociology*, *26*(1), 497–524. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.soc.26.1.497
- Statistics Canada. (2015, December 2). Visible minority of person. https://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p3Var.pl?Function=DEC&Id=45152
- Statistics Canada. (2017a, May 3). *Census in Brief: Dwellings in Canada, Census year 2016*. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/as-sa/98-200-x/2016005/98-200-x2016005-eng.cfm
- Statistics Canada. (2017b, October 25). *Condominiums in Canada, 2016 Census of Population*. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/11-627-m/11-627-m2017030-eng.htm
- Statistics Canada. (2017c, October 25). *The Daily Housing in Canada: Key results from the 2016 Census*. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/171025/dq171025c-eng.htm
- Statistics Canada. (2017d, November 15). *Dictionary, Census of Population, 2016—Core housing need*. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/households-menage037-eng.cfm
- Statistics Canada. (2019a). Canadian Index of Multiple Deprivation: User Guide. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/45-20-0001/452000012019002-eng.htm
- Statistics Canada. (2019b, October 24). *Release Plan and Concepts Overview of the 2018 Canadian Housing Survey*. https://www.statcan.gc.ca/eng/statisticalprograms/document/5269_D1_V1
- Statistics Canada. (2019c, November 22). *The Daily—First results from the Canadian Housing Survey, 2018*. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/191122/dq191122c-eng.htm
- Statistics Canada. (2021). *Canadian Housing Survey: Public Use Microdata File* [Data set]. Government of Canada. https://doi.org/10.25318/46250001-ENG
- Statistics Canada. (2023). Research to Insights: Consumer price inflation, recent trends and analysis. Statistics Canada. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/11-631-x/11-631-x2023003-eng.htm
- Stolte, E. (2019, January 14). Elise Stolte: Pushing beyond an ugly history. There is now no "single-family" zone in Edmonton. Edmonton Journal. https://edmontonjournal.com/news/local-news/elise-stolte-pushing-beyond-an-uglyhistory-there-is-now-no-single-family-zone-in-edmonton

- Suttor, G. (2015). *Rental Housing Dynamics and Lower-Income Neighbourhoods in Canada* (p. 50). Neighbourhood Change Research Partnership.
- Suttor, G. (2016). *Still renovating: A history of Canadian social housing policy*. McGill-Queen's University Press.
- Teixeira, C. (2009). New immigrant settlement in a mid-sized city: A case study of housing barriers and coping strategies in Kelowna, British Columbia. *The Canadian Geographer / Le Géographe Canadien*, 53(3), 323–339. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1541-0064.2009.00266.x
- The Globe and Mail Editorial Board. (2021, April 5). Globe editorial: Canada's housing frenzy is a problem that won't fix itself. *The Globe and Mail*. https://www.theglobeandmail.com/opinion/editorials/article-canadas-housing-frenzy-is-a-problem-that-wont-fix-itself/
- Tranjan, R. (2020). *The Rent is Due Soon: Financial Insecurity and COVID-19*. Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives.
- Uppal, S. (2019). *Homeownership, mortgage debt and types of mortgage among Canadian families* (No. 75-006–X; Insights on Canadian Society). Statistics Canada.
- van Ham, M. (2012). Housing Behaviour. In *The SAGE Handbook of Housing Studies* (pp. 47–65). SAGE Publications Ltd. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781446247570.n3
- von Bergmann, J., & Lauster, N. T. (2021, March 29). *Forced Out in Canada: New Data from CHS* [Blog]. Mountain Doodles. https://doodles.mountainmath.ca/blog/2021/03/29/forcedout-in-canada-new-data-from-chs/
- Waldron, R. (2022). Experiencing housing precarity in the private rental sector during the covid-19 pandemic: The case of Ireland. *Housing Studies*, *0*(0), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673037.2022.2032613
- Walker, R., & Carter, T. (2010). At home in the city: Housing and neighbourhood transformation. In T. Bunting, P. Filion, & R. Walker (Eds.), *Canadian cities in transition: New directions in the twenty-first century* (4th ed, pp. 342–356). Oxford University Press.
- Walks, A. (2013). Mapping the Urban Debtscape: The Geography of Household Debt in Canadian Cities. *Urban Geography*, *34*(2), 153–187. https://doi.org/10.1080/02723638.2013.778647
- Walks, A. (2014a). Canada's Housing Bubble Story: Mortgage Securitization, the State, and the Global Financial Crisis: Canada's housing bubble story. *International Journal of Urban and Regional Research*, *38*(1), 256–284. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2427.2012.01184.x
- Walks, A. (2014b). From Financialization to Sociospatial Polarization of the City? Evidence from Canada. *Economic Geography*, *90*(1), 33–66. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecge.12024
- Walks, A. (2016). Homeownership, Asset-based Welfare and the Neighbourhood Segregation of Wealth. *Housing Studies*, *31*(7), 755–784. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673037.2015.1132685
- Walks, A., & Clifford, B. (2015). The political economy of mortgage securitization and the neoliberalization of housing policy in Canada. *Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space*, 47(8), 1624–1642. https://doi.org/10.1068/a130226p

 Walks, A., Simone, D., & Hawes, E. (2018). Underwater generation? Debt and wealth among Millennials. In M. Moos, D. Pfeiffer, & T. Vinodrai (Eds.), *The millennial city: Trends, implications, and prospects for urban planning and policy* (pp. 51–64). Routledge.

Watts, B., & Fitzpatrick, S. (2018). Welfare conditionality (1st Edition). Routledge.

Wegmann, J. (2020). Death to Single-Family Zoning...and New Life to the Missing Middle. Journal of the American Planning Association, 86(1), 113–119. https://doi.org/10.1080/01944363.2019.1651217

Whelan, S., & Parkinson, S. (2017). Housing tenure, mobility and labour market behaviour. *AHURI Final Report, 280*. https://doi.org/10.18408/ahuri-7307101

Wiesel, I. (2014). Mobilities of Disadvantage: The Housing Pathways of Low-income Australians. *Urban Studies*, *51*(2), 319–334. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098013489739

Wiesel, I. (2020). *Lived experience and social, health and economic impacts of inaccessible housing* [Report submitted to the Australian Building Codes Board RIS]. University of Melbourne, School of Geography.

Wimmer, A., & Glick Schiller, N. (2002). Methodological nationalism and beyond: Nation-state building, migration and the social sciences. *Global Networks*, 2(4), 301–334. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0374.00043

Winstanley, A., Thorns, D. C., & Perkins, H. C. (2002). Moving House, Creating Home: Exploring Residential Mobility. *Housing Studies*, *17*(6), 813–832. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673030216000

Xuereb, S., Craig, A., & Jones, C. (2021). Understanding Evictions in Canada through the Canadian Housing Survey. Housing Research Collaborative, University of British Columbia.

Yang, F.-J., & Aitken, N. (2021). *People living in apartments and larger households were at higher risk of dying from COVID-19 during the first wave of the pandemic* (StatCan COVID-19 No. 45280001). Statistics Canada.

Young, R. (2023). Canadian Housing Affordability Hurts (Insights & Views). Scotiabank. https://www.scotiabank.com:443/content/scotiabank/ca/en/about/economics/econom ics-publications/post.other-publications.insights-views.social-housing--january-18--2023-.html

Zavisca, J. R., & Gerber, T. P. (2016). The Socioeconomic, Demographic, and Political Effects of Housing in Comparative Perspective. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 42(1), 347–367. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-soc-081715-074333

Zhang, B. (2021). Re-conceptualizing housing tenure beyond the owning-renting dichotomy: Insights from housing and financialization. *Housing Studies*, *0*(0), 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673037.2021.1961693

Zoledziowski, A. (2019, September 12). Hundreds attend photo op to protest proposed housing development in southwest Edmonton | CBC News. CBC. https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/edmonton/keheewin-proposed-developmentsolidarity-1.5280434 Package Citations

- Allaire, J. (2022). *Quarto: R interface to 'quarto' markdown publishing system*. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=quarto</u>
- Allaire, J., Xie, Y., McPherson, J., Luraschi, J., Ushey, K., Atkins, A., Wickham, H., Cheng, J., Chang, W., & Iannone, R. (2023). *Rmarkdown: Dynamic documents for* r. <u>https://github.com/rstudio/rmarkdown</u>
- Arel-Bundock, V. (2022a). *Marginaleffects: Marginal effects, marginal means, predictions, and contrasts*. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=marginaleffects</u>
- Arel-Bundock, V. (2022b). modelsummary: Data and model summaries in R. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 103(1), 1–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v103.i01</u>
- Brunson, J.C., & Read, Q.D. (2020). ggalluvial: Alluvial Plots in 'ggplot2'. http://corybrunson.github.io/ggalluvial/
- El Hattab, H., & Allaire, J. (2017). *Revealjs: R markdown format for 'reveal.js'* presentations. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=revealjs</u>
- Firke, S. (2021). Janitor: Simple tools for examining and cleaning dirty data. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=janitor</u>
- Fox, J. (2003). Effect displays in R for generalised linear models. *Journal of Statistical* Software, 8(15), 1–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v008.i15</u>
- Fox, J., & Hong, J. (2009). Effect displays in R for multinomial and proportional-odds logit models: Extensions to the effects package. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 32(1), 1– 24. <u>https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v032.i01</u>
- Fox, J., & Weisberg, S. (2018). Visualizing fit and lack of fit in complex regression models with predictor effect plots and partial residuals. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 87(9), 1– 27. <u>https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v087.i09</u>
- Fox, J., & Weisberg, S. (2019). An r companion to applied regression (3rd ed.). Sage. <u>https://socialsciences.mcmaster.ca/jfox/Books/Companion/index.html</u>
- Freedman Ellis, G., & Schneider, B. (2022). Srvyr: 'Dplyr'-like syntax for summary statistics of survey data. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=srvyr</u>
- Gohel, D. (2022). *Officer: Manipulation of microsoft word and PowerPoint documents*. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=officer</u>
- Gohel, D., & Skintzos, P. (2022). *Flextable: Functions for tabular reporting*. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=flextable</u>
- Hester, J., & Bryan, J. (2022). *Glue: Interpreted string literals*. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=glue</u>
- Iannone, R., Cheng, J., Schloerke, B., Hughes, E., & Seo, J. (2022). *Gt: Easily create presentation*ready display tables. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=gt</u>
- Larmarange, J. (2022). *Labelled: Manipulating labelled data*. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=labelled</u>
- Lüdecke, D. (2018). Ggeffects: Tidy data frames of marginal effects from regression models. *Journal of Open Source Software*, 3(26), 772. <u>https://doi.org/10.21105/joss.00772</u>

- Lüdecke, D., Ben-Shachar, M. S., Patil, I., Waggoner, P., & Makowski, D. (2021). performance: An R package for assessment, comparison and testing of statistical models. *Journal of Open Source Software*, 6(60), 3139. https://doi.org/10.21105/joss.03139
- Lumley, T. (2004). Analysis of complex survey samples. *Journal of Statistical Software*, *9*(1), 1–19.
- Lumley, T. (2010). *Complex surveys: A guide to analysis using r: A guide to analysis using r*. John Wiley; Sons.
- Lumley, T. (2020). Survey: Analysis of complex survey samples.
- Müller, K. (2020). *Here: A simpler way to find your files*. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=here</u>
- Müller, K., & Wickham, H. (2022). *Tibble: Simple data frames*. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=tibble</u>
- Pedersen, T. L. (2022). *Patchwork: The composer of plots*. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=patchwork</u>
- R Core Team. (2022). *R: A language and environment for statistical computing*. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. <u>https://www.R-project.org/</u>
- Rodríguez-Sánchez, F., Jackson, C. P., & Hutchins, S. D. (2022). *Grateful: Facilitate citation of r* packages. <u>https://github.com/Pakillo/grateful</u>
- Sjoberg, D. D., Whiting, K., Curry, M., Lavery, J. A., & Larmarange, J. (2021). Reproducible summary tables with the gtsummary package. *The R Journal*, 13, 570– 580. <u>https://doi.org/10.32614/RJ-2021-053</u>
- Venables, W. N., & Ripley, B. D. (2002). *Modern applied statistics with s* (Fourth). Springer. <u>https://www.stats.ox.ac.uk/pub/MASS4/</u>
- Wickham, H., Averick, M., Bryan, J., Chang, W., McGowan, L. D., François, R., Grolemund, G., Hayes, A., Henry, L., Hester, J., Kuhn, M., Pedersen, T. L., Miller, E., Bache, S. M., Müller, K., Ooms, J., Robinson, D., Seidel, D. P., Spinu, V., ... Yutani, H. (2019). Welcome to the tidyverse. *Journal of Open Source Software*, *4*(43), 1686. <u>https://doi.org/10.21105/joss.01686</u>
- Wickham, H., François, R., Henry, L., & Müller, K. (2022). *Dplyr: A grammar of data manipulation*. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=dplyr</u>
- Wickham, H., & Girlich, M. (2022). *Tidyr: Tidy messy data*. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=tidyr</u>
- Wickham, H., & Henry, L. (2022). *Purr: Functional programming tools*. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=purrr</u>
- Wickham, H., Hester, J., & Bryan, J. (2022). *Readr: Read rectangular text data*. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=readr</u>
- Wickham, H., & Seidel, D. (2022). *Scales: Scale functions for visualization*. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=scales</u>
- Wilkins, D. (2021). *Ggfittext: Fit text inside a box in 'ggplot2'*. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=ggfittext</u>
- Xie, Y. (2014). Knitr: A comprehensive tool for reproducible research in R. In V. Stodden, F. Leisch, & R. D. Peng (Eds.), *Implementing reproducible computational research*. Chapman; Hall/CRC. <u>http://www.crcpress.com/product/isbn/9781466561595</u>

- Xie, Y. (2015). *Dynamic documents with R and knitr* (2nd ed.). Chapman; Hall/CRC. <u>https://yihui.org/knitr/</u>
- Xie, Y. (2022). *Knitr: A general-purpose package for dynamic report generation in r*. <u>https://yihui.org/knitr/</u>
- Xie, Y., Allaire, J. J., & Grolemund, G. (2018). *R markdown: The definitive guide*. Chapman; Hall/CRC. <u>https://bookdown.org/yihui/rmarkdown</u>
- Xie, Y., Dervieux, C., & Riederer, E. (2020). *R markdown cookbook*. Chapman; Hall/CRC. <u>https://bookdown.org/yihui/rmarkdown-cookbook</u>

Appendix A – Average Marginal Effects for Interaction Models Presented in Chapter 7

A.1 Income Quintiles

9.2.1 First Income Quintile

Table A.1: Average Marginal Effects for Multinomial Model Predicting Current Tenure For First Income Quintile

Variables		Owner no mortgage		Owner with mortgage		Renter in private rental		Renter in a and afford housir	dable
Predictor Variables Housing History Variables									
	Lived there rent free	-0.0690	***	-0.0311	***	-0.0207		0.1208	***
Previous Housing Tenure (Ref:	Privately rented	-0.1109	***	-0.0546	***	0.0631	***	0.1024	***
Owned)	Rented in social & affordable housing	-0.1337	***	-0.0666	***	-0.1621	***	0.3624	***
	2 years to less than 5 years ago	-0.0108	*	0.0227	***	-0.0414	**	0.0295	**
Length of time in current dwelling		-0.0023		0.0398	***	-0.0862	***	0.0488	***
(Ref: Less than 2 years ago)	10 or more years ago or always lived here	0.0758	***	0.0463	***	-0.1348	***	0.0126	
Moved for housing reasons (Ref: No)	Yes	0.0169	***	0.0274	***	-0.0799	***	0.0356	***
Moved for family reasons (Ref: No)	Yes	-0.0065		0.0110	*	-0.0029		-0.0016	
Moved for work reasons (Ref: No)	Yes	0.0141	*	-0.0007		0.0564	***	-0.0698	***
Moved for other reasons (Ref: No)	Yes	-0.0105		-0.0173	***	-0.0400	***	0.0678	***
Moved for forced reasons (Ref: No) Interaction Variables	Yes	-0.0501	***	-0.0096		0.0170		0.0428	***
Sociodemographic Variables									
Age (mean centered)	dY/dX	0.0016	***	-0.0012	***	-0.0024	***	0.0020	***
Age (mean centered) squared Health and Wellbeing	dY/dX	-0.0000	***	-0.0000	*	0.0001	***	-0.0001	***
Health Status (Ref: Health rated excellent, very good or good) Controls	Health rated fair or poor	-0.0121	*	-0.0028		-0.0308	***	0.0457	***
Housing Variables									
Current Dwelling Type (Ref:	Apartment building less than 5 stories	0.0087	**	0.0076	**	0.0562	***	-0.0725	***
Apartment building 5 stories and	Rowhouse or townhouse	0.0636	*** ***	0.0543	***	-0.0546	** ***	-0.0633	***
higher)	Semidetached or duplex	0.1554	***	0.0754	***	0.0761	***	-0.3069	***
Unaffordable (Ref: No)	Single detached dwelling Yes	0.3849	***	0.1898	***	-0.1522	***	-0.4224 -0.1957	***
Unsuitable (overcrowded) (Ref:	res	-0.1570		0.0972		0.2502		-0.1957	
No)	Yes	0.0063	**	-0.0116	***	0.0492		-0.0439	
Inadequate (major repairs needed) (Ref: No)	Yes	0.0036		0.0221	**	0.0096		-0.0353	**
Inaccessible (needs adaptations)	Does not have adaptations	-0.0229	***	0.0141		-0.0251		0.0339	
(Ref: Does not need adaptations) Geographic Variables	•	-0.0049	*	-0.0125		-0.0824	***	0.0998	***
Urban/Rural Status (Ref: Rural)	Urban	0.0506	***	0.0125	**	0.0431	***	-0.1062	***
Location of previous dwelling	In same		-						-
	city/town/village/township/Indian	-0.0083		-0.0011		-0.0036		0.0130	
Indian reserve or outside Canada)									_
	Alberta	0.0198	**	0.0016		-0.1060		0.0846	***
	Atlantic	-0.0244	***	-0.0108	*	0.0363	**	-0.0012	
Province (Ref: Ontario)	BC	0.0336	***	0.0161	*	-0.0771	***	0.0274	*
	Manitoba and Saskatchewan	-0.0014		-0.0038		-0.0269	*	0.0320	**
.	Québec	-0.0569	***	0.0140	*	0.0497	***	-0.0068	
Sociodemographic Variables									

Variables		Ownei mortg	-	Owner mortga	-	Renter priva renta	te	Renter in and affor housir	dable
	one census family plus others	0.0290	***	0.1151	***	-0.1300	***	-0.0141	***
	one couple with children	-0.0461	***	-0.0065		-0.1347	***	0.1873	***
Household Composition (Ref: one	one lone parent family	-0.0332	***	-0.0226	**	-0.2259	***	0.2817	***
couple no children)	one person not in census family	-0.0036		-0.0142	*	-0.1290	***	0.1468	***
	two or more persons not in a census family	0.0237	***	-0.0636	***	0.0403		-0.0004	
Household Indigeneity Status (Ref: No household member is Indigenous)	At least one household member is Indigenous	-0.0101	***	-0.0194	*	-0.0077		0.0372	*
Household Visible Minority Status	5								
(Ref: No household member belongs to a visible minority	At least 1 hhld member belongs to a visible minority group	0.0260	***	0.0125		-0.0744	***	0.0359	*
group) Socioeconomic Variables									
Household Highest Education Level (Ref: BA or higher)	Less than BA	-0.0451	***	-0.0031		-0.0294	*	0.0777	***
Household Employment Status (Ref: At least one member of the household was employed)	No member of the household was employed	0.0201	***	-0.0407	***	-0.1476	***	0.1682	***
Aspirations	Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied	0 0072		0.0062		0.0200		0.0225	*
Overall dwelling satisfaction (Ref:	Satisfied	0.0073 0.0068	*	0.0063 0.0197	***	-0.0172		-0.0335 -0.0094	-
Dissatisfied or very dissatisfied)	Very satisfied	0.0068	•	0.0197	***	-0.0172		-0.0094 0.0008	

Model Performance: AIC: 19462.64 BIC: 20454.72 R2: 0.42 R2 Adjusted 0.42 RMSE 0.32

Colour coding: Dark blue = 15 percentage point decrease or greater; Light blue = 5 to less than 15 percentage point decrease; Light red = 5 to less than 15 percentage point increase; Dark red = 15 percentage point increase or greater; Significance: * = p < 0.05; ** = p < 0.01; *** = p < 0.001

9.2.2 Third Income Quintile

Table A.2 Average Marginal Effects for Multinomial Model Predicting Current Tenure Outcomes for the Third Income Quintile

		Owner	. no	Owner	with	Rente		Renter in	
Variables		mortg		mortg		priva		and affor	
Bardhala aya dablar		_	-	_	-	renta	ai	housi	ng
Predictor Variables Housing History Variables									
	Lived there rent free	-0.0140		-0.0587	***	0.0542	***	0.0186	**
Previous Housing Tenure (Ref: Owned)	Privately rented	-0.0988	***	-0.0888	***	0.1786	***	0.0089	***
ownedy	Rented in social & affordable housing	-0.0564	*	-0.0999	***	0.0940	***	0.0623	***
	2 years to less than 5 years ago	0.0142	ىلە بلە	0.0485	**	-0.0669	***	0.0042	**
	g5 years to less than 10 years ago	0.0362	**	0.1131	***	-0.1578	***	0.0085	* *
(Ref: Less than 2 years ago)	10 or more years ago or always lived here	0.1699	***	0.0874	***	-0.2665	***	0.0092	**
Moved for housing reasons (Ref:			•						
No)	Yes	0.0001		0.1157	***	-0.1108	***	-0.0050	
Moved for family reasons (Ref:	Vac	0 0 2 0 0	**	0.0416	***	0.0145		0.0000	*
No)	Yes	-0.0209		0.0416		-0.0145		-0.0062	
Moved for work reasons (Ref: No)Yes	-0.0282	**	-0.0150		0.0456	***	-0.0024	
Moved for other reasons (Ref:	Yes	-0.0219		-0.0222		0.0430	***	0.0011	
No)									
Moved for forced reasons (Ref: No)	Yes	-0.0578	**	-0.0680	**	0.1229	***	0.0029	
Interaction Variables									
Sociodemographic Variables									
Age (mean centered)	dY/dX	0.0061	***	-0.0078	***	0.0017	***	0.0000	
Age (mean centered) squared	dY/dX	-0.0000		-0.0001	***	0.0001	***	-0.0000	
Health and Wellbeing									
Health Status (Ref: Health rated	Line the units of fairs an units of	0.0024		0.0140		0.0101		0.0001	
excellent, very good or good)	Health rated fair or poor	-0.0034		-0.0148		0.0101		0.0081	
Controls									
Housing Variables									
Current Dwelling Type (Ref:	Apartment building less than 5 stories	-0.0064		0.0308	*	-0.0296		0.0051	
Apartment building 5 stories and	Rowhouse or townhouse	0.0496	**	0.2000	***	-0.2675	***	0.0179	**
higher)	Semidetached or duplex	0.0973	***	0.2100	***	-0.3011	***	-0.0123	** ***
	Single detached dwelling	0.1958	*** ***	0.3323	*** ***	-0.5076	*** ***	-0.0210	***
Unaffordable (Ref: No) Unsuitable (overcrowded) (Ref:	Yes	-0.3000		0.4165		-0.1043		-0.0122	
No)	Yes	-0.0442	***	-0.0185		0.0630	**	-0.0003	
Inadequate (major repairs									
needed) (Ref: No)	Yes	0.0118		0.0018		-0.0034		-0.0102	***
Inaccessible (needs adaptations)	Does not have adaptations	0.0168		-0.0056		-0.0154		0.0042	
(Ref: Does not need adaptations)	Has adaptations	0.0256		-0.0077		-0.0267		0.0088	
Geographic Variables									
Urban/Rural Status (Ref: Rural)	Urban	0.0170	*	0.0311	**	-0.0274	**	-0.0207	***
Location of previous dwelling	In same	0 0027		0.0110		0.0000		0.005.0	*
(Ref: In different city/town, Indian reserve or outside Canada)	city/town/village/township/Indian	-0.0027		-0.0118		0.0089		0.0056	
indian reserve of outside canada,	Alberta	-0.0061		0.0131		0.0011		-0.0082	*
	Atlantic	-0.0415	***	0.0431	***	0.0170		-0.0186	***
Province (Ref: Ontario)	BC	0.0443	**	-0.0018		-0.0507	***	0.0083	
· ·	Manitoba and Saskatchewan	-0.0253	*	0.0397	**	-0.0127		-0.0017	
	Québec	-0.0457	***	0.0591	***	-0.0254	*	0.0119	*
Sociodemographic Variables				_					
Gender (Ref: Female)	Male	-0.0112		0.0140		0.0004		-0.0032	
Use a shall Comerce stills a 10-1	one census family plus others	-0.0501	*	-0.0078		0.0538	*	0.0041	***
Household Composition (Ref: one	•	-0.0561 -0.0627	***	0.0050		0.0278	*	0.0225	***
couple no children)	one lone parent family one person not in census family	-0.0627	***	0.0139 0.0408	***	0.0207 -0.0014		0.0281 0.0020	
	one person not in census family	-0.0414		0.0408		-0.0014		0.0020	

Variables		Owner mortga		Owner v mortga		Renter in private rental		Renter in socia and affordabl housing	
	two or more persons not in a census family	-0.0535	**	-0.0164		0.0681	***	0.0018	
Household Indigeneity Status (Ref: No household member is Indigenous) Household Visible Minority Status	At least one household member is Indigenous	-0.0189		-0.0190		0.0347		0.0031	
(Ref: No household member belongs to a visible minority group) Socioeconomic Variables	At least 1 hhld member belongs to a visible minority group	0.0348	**	-0.0158		-0.0451	***	0.0261	***
Household Highest Education Level (Ref: BA or higher)	Less than BA	-0.0326	***	-0.0048		0.0349	***	0.0025	
Household Employment Status (Ref: At least one member of the household was employed) Aspirations	No member of the household was employed	0.0850	***	-0.0688	***	-0.0521	***	0.0359	***
	Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied	0.0066		0.0081		-0.0137		-0.0009	
Overall dwelling satisfaction (Ref: Dissatisfied or very dissatisfied)	Satisfied	0.0192		0.0143		-0.0275		-0.0060	
	Very satisfied	0.0189		0.0255		-0.0410	*	-0.0034	

Model Performance: AIC: 11502.36 BIC: 12437.25 R2: 0.45 R2 Adjusted 0.45 RMSE 0.3

Colour coding: Dark blue = 15 percentage point decrease or greater; Light blue = 5 to less than 15 percentage point decrease; Light red = 5 to less than 15 percentage point increase; Dark red = 15 percentage point increase or greater; Significance: * = p < 0.05; ** = p < 0.01; *** = p < 0.001

9.2.3 Fifth Income Quintile

Table A.3 Average Marginal Effects for Multinomial Model Predicting Current Tenure Outcomes for the Fifth Income Quintile

Variables		Owner i mortga		Owner w mortga		Renter in private rental		Renter in so and afforda housing	able
Predictor Variables Housing History Variables									
Previous Housing Tenure (Ref: Owned)	Lived there rent free Privately rented	0.0444	*	-0.1052 -0.0618	*** ***	0.1046 *	**	0.0016	*
Length of time in current dwelling	Rented in social & affordable housing 2 years to less than 5 years ago	-0.0459 0.0293 0.0579	***	-0.0673 0.0404 0.0608	* ***	-0.0708 *	**	0.0088 0.0011 0.0019	
(Ref: Less than 2 years ago)	10 or more years ago or always lived here	0.2172	***	-0.0615	***		**	0.0024	*
Moved for housing reasons (Ref: No)	Yes	0.0078		0.0524	***	-0.0602 *	**	-0.0000	
Moved for family reasons (Ref: No)	Yes	-0.0015		0.0167		-0.0167	**	0.0015	
Moved for work reasons (Ref: No Moved for other reasons (Ref:		0.0127		-0.0341	*	0.0200	*	0.0011	
No) Moved for forced reasons (Ref:	Yes	-0.0141		-0.0298		0.0374	**	0.0064	*
No) Interaction Variables	Yes	-0.1630	***	0.0378		0.1241 *	**	0.0011	
Sociodemographic Variables		0.0110	***	0.0100	***	0.0010 *	**	0.0001	
Age (mean centered) Age (mean centered) squared Interaction Variables	dY/dX dY/dX	0.0110 0.0000		-0.0122 -0.0001	**	0.0010	**	-0.0001 -0.0000	
Health and Wellbeing Health Status (Ref: Health rated excellent, very good or good) Controls	Health rated fair or poor	-0.0340	*	0.0207		0.0112		0.0020	
Housing Variables	Apartment building less than 5 stories	0.0155		0.0156		-0.0302		-0.0009	
Current Dwelling Type (Ref: Apartment building 5 stories and higher)	Rowhouse or townhouse Semidetached or duplex	0.0347 0.0720	**	0.1493 0.1489	*** ***	0.1000	**	0.0019 -0.0051	**
Unaffordable (Ref: No)	Single detached dwelling Yes	0.0834	*** ***	0.2025 0.3541	*** ***	0.2002	**	-0.0056 -0.0020	*** ***
Unsuitable (overcrowded) (Ref: No)	Yes	-0.0899	***	0.0282	-	0.0603 *	**	0.0013	
Inadequate (major repairs needed) (Ref: No)	Yes	-0.0239		-0.0062		0.0307	*	-0.0006	
Inaccessible (needs adaptations) (Ref: Does not need adaptations) Geographic Variables	Does not have adaptations Has adaptations	-0.0591 -0.0114		0.1056 0.0257	*	-0.0446 -0.0237	*	-0.0019 0.0093	***
Urban/Rural Status (Ref: Rural) Location of previous dwelling	Urban In same	-0.0075		0.0164		-0.0113		0.0024	***
(Ref: In different city/town, Indian reserve or outside Canada)	city/town/village/township/Indian	0.0068		-0.0163		0.0084		0.0011	
	Alberta Atlantic	-0.0168 -0.0510	***	0.0220	***	-0.0066 -0.0092		0.0014 -0.0008	***
Province (Ref: Ontario)	BC Manitoba and Saskatchewan	-0.0104 -0.0121 -0.0437	**	0.0023 0.0220 0.0759	***	0.0026 -0.0091	**	0.0055 -0.0008	** ***
Sociodemographic Variables Gender (Ref: Female)	Québec Male	-0.0275	***	0.0331	***	-0.0058		0.0025 0.0003	
Household Composition (Ref: one	•	-0.1300 -0.0660	*** *** **	0.1250	*** ***	0.0054 0.0099	*	-0.0004 0.0026	** ** *
couple no children)	one lone parent family one person not in census family	-0.0594 0.0278		0.0181 -0.0536	*	0.0386 0.0267	*	0.0028 -0.0009	**

Variables		Owner no Owner with mortgage mortgage		Renter in private rental		Renter in soc and affordab housing			
	two or more persons not in a census family	-0.1599	***	0.0664		0.0885	***	0.0050	*
Household Indigeneity Status (Ref: No household member is Indigenous)	At least one household member is Indigenous	-0.0433	*	0.0258		0.0099		0.0076	**
Household Visible Minority Status (Ref: No household member belongs to a visible minority group) Socioeconomic Variables	At least 1 hhld member belongs to a visible minority group	0.0346	**	-0.0379	**	0.0016		0.0017	
Household Highest Education Level (Ref: BA or higher)	Less than BA	-0.0564	***	0.0183		0.0368	***	0.0013	
Household Employment Status (Ref: At least one member of the household was employed) Aspirations	No member of the household was employed	0.1446	***	-0.1504 *	**	-0.0074		0.0131	***
Overall dwelling satisfaction (Ref: Dissatisfied or very dissatisfied)	Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied Satisfied Very satisfied	0.0120 0.0238 0.0431		-0.0218 0.0082 0.0069		0.0109 -0.0295 -0.0476	*	-0.0011 -0.0025 -0.0024	*

Model Performance: AIC: 10275.65 BIC: 11205.04 R2: 0.35 R2 Adjusted 0.35 RMSE 0.3

Colour coding: Dark blue = 15 percentage point decrease or greater; Light blue = 5 to less than 15 percentage point decrease; Light red = 5 to less than 15 percentage point decrease; Dark red = 15 percentage point increase or greater; Significance: * = p < 0.05; ** = p < 0.01; *** = p < 0.01

A.2 Age Groups

9.2.4 Youngest

Table A.4 Average Marginal Effects for Multinomial Model Predicting Current Tenure Outcomes for Youngest Age Group

Second Quintle COORS	Variables		Owner r mortga		Owner w mortga		Renter in private rental		Renter in soc and affordab housing	
Previous Housing Tenure (Ref: Owned) Privately rented Rented in social & affordable housing 2-years to less than 5 years ago O.0044 0.0056 Privately rented 0.0156 O.0075 Privately rented Rented in social & affordable housing 2-years to less than 5 years ago O.0054 O.0156 Privately rented 0.0075 O.0038 Length of time in current dwelling (Ref: Less than 2 years ago) D.0 more years ago 0.0164 Privately rented 0.0063 0.0064 Privately rented 0.0064 0.0072 Privately rented 0.0073 Privately rented Privately re										
Length of time in current dwelling 5 years to less than 10 years ago 0.0169 *** 0.0100 *** 0.0137 ** (Ref: Less than 2 years ago) 10 or more years ago or always lived 0.0131 *** 0.00931 *** 0.0270 *** Moved for housing reasons (Ref: No) Yes 0.0002 0.0388 *** 0.0351 *** 0.0011 Moved for or other reasons (Ref: No) Yes 0.0010 -0.0730 *** 0.0055 *** 0.0063 Nowed for or the reasons (Ref: No) Yes 0.0010 -0.0730 *** 0.0555 *** 0.0063 Nowed for forced reasons (Ref: No) Yes 0.0001 -0.0567 ** 0.0063 *** 0.0063 Incorme Quintiles (Ref: First Scoiceconomic Variables Scoiceconomic Variables -0.0172 *** 0.0164 *** 0.1486 *** 0.0164 *** 0.0164 *** 0.0164 *** 0.0164 *** 0.0164 *** 0.0164 *** 0.0164 *** 0.0164 *** 0.0164 *** 0.0164 *** 0.0164 ***		Privately rented Rented in social & affordable housing	-0.0445 -0.0080		-0.1556 -0.1563	*** ***	0.1897 0.0775	*** **	0.0103 0.0868	***
Moved for housing reasons (Ref: No) Yes 0.062 0.189 *** 0.1671 *** 0.011 Moved for family reasons (Ref: No) Yes -0.0020 -0.0388 *** -0.0345 *** -0.0021 Moved for ovark reasons (Ref: No) Yes 0.0100 -0.0730 *** 0.0570 *** 0.0063 Moved for forced reasons (Ref: No) Yes 0.0001 -0.0567 ** 0.0053 *** 0.0053 *** 0.0053 *** 0.0053 *** 0.0053 *** 0.0053 *** 0.0053 *** 0.0053 *** 0.0053 *** 0.0053 *** 0.0053 *** 0.0053 *** 0.0111 *** 0.0053 *** 0.0053 *** 0.0053 *** 0.0053 *** 0.0053 *** 0.0111 *** 0.0053 *** 0.0111 *** 0.0053 *** 0.0111 *** 0.0053 *** 0.0111 *** 0.0111 *** 0.0111		g 5 years to less than 10 years ago 10 or more years ago or always lived	0.0169		0.1094	***	-0.1400	***	0.0137	** ***
No. No. Ves -0.0020 0.0038 0.0038 0.0038 0.0038 0.0038 0.0028 Moved for work reasons (Ref: No) Yes -0.0058 -0.0416 *** 0.0503 *** 0.0036 No) for cer trasons (Ref: Yes 0.0010 -0.0567 *** 0.0503 *** 0.0036 Interaction Variables Second Quintile -0.0630 *** 0.0127 -0.0172 -0.0141 **** Quintile -0.0366 *** 0.0336 *** -0.1389 **** Quintile -0.0630 *** 0.0138 *** -0.1426 **** Quintile -0.0961 *** 0.1388 *** -0.1426 **** Health and Wellbeing Fifth Quintile -0.0971 *** 0.0177 *** -0.1426 **** Health and Wellbeing Health rated fair or poor -0.0221 * 0.0277 *** 0.0177 *** 0.0178 *** 0.0186 *** Apar	e ,	Yes	0.0062		0.1598	***	-0.1671	***	0.0011	
Noved for the reasons (Ref: Noved for forced reasons (Ref: No) Yes 0.0100 -0.0730 *** 0.0036 Interaction Variables Socioeconomic Variables *** 0.0001 -0.0567 ** 0.0003 *** 0.0003 Interaction Variables Socioeconomic Variables Socioeconomic Variables *** 0.1116 *** 0.0127 *** 0.0101 *** 0.0101 *** 0.0101 *** 0.0101 *** 0.0101 *** 0.0101 *** 0.0011 *** 0.0011 *** 0.0011 *** 0.0011 *** 0.0101 *** 0.0101 *** 0.0101 *** 0.0101 *** 0.0101 *** 0.0101 *** 0.0101 *** 0.0101 *** 0.0101 *** 0.0101 *** 0.0101 *** 0.0101 *** 0.0101 *** 0.0101 *** 0.0101 *** 0.0101 *** 0.0101 *** 0.0101 *** 0.0001 **** 0.0101 *** 0.		Yes	-0.0020		0.0388	***	-0.0345	***	-0.0022	
No.) Yes 0.0100 -0.030 *** 0.0036 Moved for forced reasons (Ref: No) Yes 0.0001 -0.0567 ** 0.0503 *** 0.0003 Interaction Variables Socioeconomic Variables Second Quintile -0.0660 *** 0.116 *** -0.0172 -0.0101 *** Quintile) Fourth Quintile -0.0860 *** 0.0354 *** -0.0172 *** 0.0101 *** 0.0121 *** 0.0121 *** 0.0124 *** 0.0124 *** 0.0124 *** 0.0121 *** 0.0124 *** 0.0121 *** 0.0121 *** 0.0124 *** 0.016 ** 0.016 ** 0.016 *** 0.016 *** 0.016 *** 0.016 *** 0.016 *** 0.016 *** 0.016 *** 0.016 *** 0.016 *** 0.016 *** 0.016 *** 0.016 *** 0.0178 *** 0.0121	-)Yes	-0.0058		-0.0446	***	0.0570	***	-0.0066	
No.) Tes 0.0001 0.0050 0.0050 0.0003 0.0003 Interaction Variables Socioeconomic Variables Second Quintile -0.0630 *** 0.1844 *** -0.172 -0.0141 *** Income Quintiles (Ref: First Quintile) Fiourh Quintile -0.0860 *** 0.1844 *** -0.117 * -0.1041 *** Health and Wellbeing Health Status (Ref: Health rated excellent, very good or good) Fifth Quintile -0.0931 *** 0.1353 *** 0.0106 ** Current Dwelling Type (Ref: Apartment building less than 5 stories Higher) -0.0221 * 0.0223 0.0277 0.0077 -0.0079 Nambrase or townhouse Senidetached or duplex -0.0221 * 0.2291 *** -0.0270 ** Unaffordable (Ref: No) Yes -0.0174 0.0133 0.0027 -0.0131 *** No) Yes -0.0221 * 0.2291 *** -0.0278 *** -0.0131 *** No Unstratheding repairs needed) (Ref: No) Yes </td <td>No)</td> <td>Yes</td> <td>0.0100</td> <td></td> <td>-0.0730</td> <td>***</td> <td>0.0595</td> <td>***</td> <td>0.0036</td> <td></td>	No)	Yes	0.0100		-0.0730	***	0.0595	***	0.0036	
Socioeconomic Variables Second Quintile 0.0630 *** 0.1844 *** 0.0172 0.0141 *** Quintile Third Quintile 0.0860 *** 0.3826 *** 0.1116 *** 0.1126 *** 0.0142 *** 0.0142 *** 0.01426 *** 0.01486 *** 0.01486 *** 0.01486 *** 0.01486 *** 0.01486 *** 0.01486 *** 0.01486 *** 0.01486 *** 0.01486 *** 0.01486 *** 0.01486 *** 0.0111		Yes	0.0001		-0.0567	**	0.0503	**	0.0063	
Description Description <thdescription< th=""> <thdescription< th=""></thdescription<></thdescription<>						_				
Incomine Quinties (ner.) instruction Find Quinties 0.0000 0.0000 0.0100 0.01110 0.01100 0.011										***
Currently For an durating Constant		-	0.0000							
Health Status (Ref: Health rated fair or poor -0.0058 -0.0156 0.0107 0.0106 * Controls Housing Variables -0.0058 -0.0156 0.0107 0.0106 * Courrent Dwelling Type (Ref: Apartment building less than 5 stories Apartment building 5 stories and higher) Apartment building 1 stories and the stories of the stories and the stories of the stories of the stories and the stories of the stories o			0.0501							***
Current During Type (Ref: Apartment building 5 stories and higher) Apartment building 1ess than 5 stories Rowhouse or townhouse -0.0212 * 0.0227 **** 0.0077 Unaffordable (Ref: No) Unsuitable (overcrowded) (Ref: No) Yes -0.0212 *** 0.1137 **** -0.0212 **** -0.0228 **** -0.0211 **** 0.0057 **** 0.0057 **** 0.0013 **** 0.0386 **** -0.0212 **** -0.0212 **** 0.0027 **** -0.0298 **** **** -0.0298 **** -0.0298 **** -0.0298 **** -0.0211 **** -0.0211 **** **** -0.0131 **** -0.0131 **** -0.0131 *** **** -0.0131 **** -0.0131 **** -0.0260 **** **** -0.0261 **** -0.0260 **** -0.0260 **** -0.0260 **** -0.0260 **** -0.0211 **** **** -0.0211 **** **** -0.0260 **** -0.0260 **** -0.0260 **** -0.0260 **** -0.02	Health Status (Ref: Health rated excellent, very good or good) Controls	Health rated fair or poor	-0.0058		-0.0156		0.0107		0.0106	*
Apartment building 5 stories and higher) Nownouse or townnouse -0.0232 * 0.0297 *** -0.01211 **** 0.0057 Semidetached or duplex -0.0222 * 0.2299 *** 0.1778 *** -0.0298 **** Unaffordable (Ref: No) Yes -0.0403 *** 0.1937 *** -0.0121 *** -0.0121 *** -0.0121 *** -0.0298 **** Unaffordable (Ref: No) Yes -0.0403 *** 0.1937 *** -0.0121 *** -0.0131 *** Inadequate (major repairs needed) (Ref: No) Yes -0.0074 -0.0738 *** 0.0092 0.0021 0.0061 Inaccessible (needs adaptations) Does not have adaptations -0.0160 -0.0154 0.0290 0.0024 0.0053 (Ref: Does not need adaptations) Does not have adaptations -0.0034 0.0275 *** 0.0020 -0.0260 *** Location of previous dwelling In same - - - - - - - - - - - - -	-	Apartment building less than 5 stories	-0.0201	*	0.0253		0.0027		-0.0079	
higher) Semidetached of duplex -0.0229 w -0.1778 w -0.0298 *** Unaffordable (Ref: No) Yes -0.0403 *** 0.1937 *** -0.0511 *** Unsuitable (overcrowded) (Ref: Yes -0.0074 -0.0738 *** 0.0093 *** -0.0122 *** -0.0131 *** Inadequate (major repairs needed) (Ref: No) Yes -0.0074 -0.0738 *** 0.0002 0.0061 *** Inaccessible (needs adaptations) Does not have adaptations -0.0160 -0.0134 0.0290 0.0024 (Ref: Doesnot need adaptations) 0.0015 0.0020 -0.0260 *** Urban/Rural Status (Ref: Rural) Urban -0.0034 0.0275 *** 0.0020 -0.0260 *** (Ref: In different city/town, city/town/village/township/Indian -0.0034 0.0275 *** 0.0020 -0.0260 *** Province (Ref: Ontario) BC 0.0035 0.0103 -0.0183 0.0045 *** -0.0211 *** Maintoba and Saskatchewan 0.0010 0.0392 ***		Rowhouse or townhouse	-0.0232	*	0.2297	***	-0.2121	***	0.0057	
Unaffordable (Ref: No) Yes -0.043 *** -0.1022 *** -0.0051 *** Unsuitable (overcrowded) (Ref: No) Yes -0.0074 -0.0738 *** 0.0043 *** -0.0122 *** -0.0131 *** Inadequate (major repairs needed) (Ref: No) Yes -0.0074 -0.0133 0.0002 0.0061 *** Inadequate (major repairs needed) (Ref: No) Yes 0.0069 -0.0133 0.0002 0.0061 *** Inaccessible (needs adaptations) Does not have adaptations -0.0160 -0.0154 0.0290 0.0024 (Ref: Does not need adaptations) Does not have adaptations -0.0033 0.0472 -0.0544 0.0165 Geographic Variables Urban -0.0034 0.0275 *** 0.0020 -0.0260 *** Urban/Rural Status (Ref: Rural) Urban -0.0037 0.0255 *** 0.0072 0.0053 0.0045 Indian reserve or outside Canada) reserve Alberta 0.0035 0.0103 -0.0183 0.0045 Province (Ref: Ontario) BC 0.0016 *0.0050 ***		•	-0.0222	*	0.2299	***	-0.1778	***	-0.0298	***
Construction Ves -0.0074 -0.0738 *** 0.0943 *** -0.0131 *** Inadequate (major repairs needed) (Ref: No) Yes 0.0069 -0.0133 0.0002 0.0061 Inaccessible (needs adaptations) Does not have adaptations -0.0074 -0.0133 0.0002 0.0061 Inaccessible (needs adaptations) Does not have adaptations -0.0160 -0.0154 0.0290 0.0024 (Ref: Does not need adaptations) Has adaptations -0.0034 0.0275 *** 0.0020 -0.0260 *** Urban/Rural Status (Ref: Rural) Urban -0.0034 0.0275 *** 0.0072 0.0053 Indian reserve or outside Canada) In same - - - - -0.0037 0.0355 *** -0.0107 -0.0211 *** Province (Ref: Ontario) BC 0.0166 * 0.0050 -0.0283 * -0.0099 Québec -0.0074 0.0614 *** -0.0394 *** -0.0009 Québec <td>ingrier<i>)</i></td> <td>Single detached dwelling</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>-0.3861</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>***</td>	ingrier <i>)</i>	Single detached dwelling					-0.3861			***
No) Yes -0.0074 -0.0738 *** 0.0043 *** -0.0131 *** Inadequate (major repairs needed) (Ref: No) Yes 0.0069 -0.0133 0.0002 0.0061 Inaccessible (needs adaptations) Does not have adaptations -0.0160 -0.0154 0.0290 0.0024 (Ref: Does not need adaptations) Has adaptations -0.0093 0.0472 -0.0544 0.0165 Geographic Variables Urban -0.0034 0.0275 *** 0.0020 -0.0260 *** Location of previous dwelling Indian reserve or outside Canada) In same -0.0035 0.0103 -0.0183 0.0045 Atlantic -0.0037 0.0355 *** -0.0107 -0.0211 *** Province (Ref: Ontario) BC 0.0166 0.0050 -0.0283 * 0.0067 Maintoba and Saskatchewan 0.0010 0.0392 **** -0.0394 *** 0.0019 Sociodemographic Variables Male 0.0042 0.0086 0.0004 -0.0131 **	. ,	Yes	-0.0403	***	0.1937	***	-0.1022	***	-0.0511	***
needed) (Ref: No) Yes 0.0069 -0.0133 0.0002 0.0061 Inaccessible (needs adaptations) Does not have adaptations -0.0160 -0.0154 0.0290 0.0024 (Ref: Does not need adaptations) Has adaptations -0.0093 0.0472 -0.0544 0.0165 Geographic Variables - - -0.0034 0.0275 *** 0.0020 -0.0260 **** Location of previous dwelling In same - - -0.0011 -0.0125 0.0072 0.0053 Indian reserve or outside Canada) reserve - - - - - - - - - 0.0045 +*** - - - - - - - - - 0.0053 - 0.0133 0.0045 +*** +*** - 0.0053 - 0.0133 0.0045 +*** +*** - 0.0067 +*** - 0.0067 +*** - 0.0019 - - 0.0019	No)	Yes	-0.0074		-0.0738	***	0.0943	***	-0.0131	**
(Ref: Does not need adaptations) Has adaptations -0.0093 0.0472 -0.0544 0.0165 Geographic Variables Urban/Rural Status (Ref: Rural) Urban -0.0034 0.0275 *** 0.0020 -0.0260 *** Location of previous dwelling In same -0.0035 0.0101 -0.0125 0.0072 0.0053 Indian reserve or outside Canada) reserve Alberta 0.0035 0.0103 -0.0183 0.0045 Province (Ref: Ontario) BC 0.0166 * 0.0050 -0.0283 * 0.0009 Québec -0.0074 0.0614 *** -0.0099 *** -0.0019 Sociodemographic Variables Male 0.0042 0.0086 0.0004 -0.0131 ***		Yes	0.0069		-0.0133		0.0002		0.0061	
Geographic Variables Urban/Rural Status (Ref: Rural) Urban -0.0034 0.0275 *** 0.0020 -0.0260 *** Location of previous dwelling In same In same -0.0001 -0.0125 0.0072 0.0053 Indian reserve or outside Canada) reserve Alberta 0.0035 0.0103 -0.0183 0.0045 Atlantic -0.0037 0.0355 *** -0.0107 -0.0211 *** Province (Ref: Ontario) BC 0.0166 * 0.0050 -0.0283 * 0.0067 Manitoba and Saskatchewan 0.0010 0.0392 *** -0.0009 with the second se	,	•								
Constant of previous dwelling In same (Ref: In different city/town, city/town/village/township/Indian -0.0001 -0.0125 0.0072 0.0053 Indian reserve or outside Canada) reserve Alberta 0.0035 0.0103 -0.0183 0.0045 Atlantic -0.0037 0.0355 *** -0.0107 -0.0211 *** Province (Ref: Ontario) BC 0.0166 * 0.0050 -0.0283 * 0.0009 Québec -0.0074 0.0614 *** -0.0094 *** -0.0019 Sociodemographic Variables Gender (Ref: Female) Male 0.0042 0.0086 0.0004 -0.0131 ***	Geographic Variables	·								
(Ref: In different city/town, city/town/village/township/Indian -0.0001 -0.0125 0.0072 0.0053 Indian reserve or outside Canada) reserve Alberta 0.0035 0.0103 -0.0183 0.0045 Atlantic -0.0037 0.0355 *** -0.0107 -0.0211 *** Province (Ref: Ontario) BC 0.0166 * 0.0050 -0.0283 * 0.0067 Manitoba and Saskatchewan 0.0010 0.0392 *** -0.0009 *** 0.0019 Sociodemographic Variables Gender (Ref: Female) Male 0.0042 0.0086 0.0004 -0.0131 ***			-0.0034		0.0275	***	0.0020		-0.0260	***
Indian reserve or outside Canada) reserve Alberta 0.0035 0.0103 -0.0183 0.0045 Atlantic -0.0037 0.0355 *** -0.0107 -0.0211 *** Province (Ref: Ontario) BC 0.0166 * 0.0050 -0.0283 * 0.0067 Manitoba and Saskatchewan 0.0010 0.0392 *** -0.0009 *** 0.0019 Sociodemographic Variables Gender (Ref: Female) Male 0.0042 0.0086 0.0004 -0.0131 ***			-0 0001		-0.0125		0 0072		0 0052	
Alberta 0.0035 0.0103 -0.0183 0.0045 Atlantic -0.0037 0.0355 ** -0.0107 -0.0211 *** Province (Ref: Ontario) BC 0.0166 * 0.0050 -0.0283 * 0.0067 Manitoba and Saskatchewan 0.0010 0.0392 *** -0.0094 *** -0.0099 Sociodemographic Variables Gender (Ref: Female) Male 0.0042 0.0086 0.0004 -0.0131 ***			-0.0001		-0.0123		0.0072		0.0000	
Atlantic -0.0037 0.0355 ** -0.0107 -0.0211 *** Province (Ref: Ontario) BC 0.0166 0.0050 -0.0283 * 0.0067 Manitoba and Saskatchewan 0.0010 0.0392 *** -0.0094 *** -0.0094 *** 0.0019 Sociodemographic Variables Gender (Ref: Female) Male 0.0042 0.0086 0.0004 -0.0131 ***			0.0035		0.0103		-0.0183		0.0045	
Province (Ref: Ontario) BC 0.0166 * 0.0050 -0.0283 * 0.0067 Manitoba and Saskatchewan Québec 0.0010 0.0392 *** -0.0394 ** -0.0009 Sociodemographic Variables Omega 0.0042 0.0086 0.0004 *** 0.0019						**				***
Manitoba and Saskatchewan Québec 0.0010 0.0392 *** -0.0394 ** -0.0009 Sociodemographic Variables -0.004 0.0614 *** -0.0560 *** 0.0019 Gender (Ref: Female) Male 0.0042 0.0086 0.0004 -0.0131 ***	Province (Ref: Ontario)			*				*		
Sociodemographic Variables 0.0014 0.0014 0.0017 0.0017 Gender (Ref: Female) Male 0.0042 0.0086 0.0004 -0.0131 ***	. ,					***		**		
Gender (Ref: Female) Male 0.0042 0.0086 0.0004 -0.0131 ***		Québec				***		***		
	Sociodemographic Variables									
one census family plus others 0.0072 -0.0265 -0.0100 0.0293 *	Gender (Ref: Female)	Male								***
		one census family plus others	0.0072		-0.0265		-0.0100		0.0293	*

Variables		Owner mortga		Owner w mortga	-	Rente priva renta	te	Renter in and affor housin	dable
	one couple with children	0.0095	*	-0.0150		-0.0291	**	0.0346	***
Household Composition (Ref: one	one lone parent family	0.0093		-0.0156		-0.0556	***	0.0619	***
couple no children)	one person not in census family	0.0050		0.0492	***	-0.0619	***	0.0077	
. ,	two or more persons not in a census family	0.0062		-0.0988	***	0.0997	***	-0.0070	
Household Indigeneity Status (Ref: No household member is Indigenous)	At least one household member is Indigenous	-0.0089		-0.0415	**	0.0388	*	0.0116	
Household Visible Minority Status	5								
(Ref: No household member belongs to a visible minority group)	At least 1 hhld member belongs to a visible minority group	0.0165	**	-0.0108		-0.0307	***	0.0250	***
Socioeconomic Variables									
Household Highest Education Level (Ref: BA or higher)	Less than BA	-0.0164	***	-0.0185	*	0.0220	**	0.0129	***
Household Employment Status (Ref: At least one member of the household was employed)	No member of the household was employed	0.0501	**	-0.1111	***	0.0206		0.0403	***
Aspirations									
Overall dwelling satisfaction (Ref:	Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied	0.0130	*	-0.0023		-0.0014		-0.0093	
Dissatisfied or very dissatisfied)	Satisfied	0.0145	*	0.0257		-0.0366	*	-0.0036	
Dissatistied of very dissatistied)	Very satisfied	0.0213	**	0.0270		-0.0433	**	-0.0050	

Model Performance: AIC: 11441.54 BIC: 12446.53 R2: 0.46 R2 Adjusted 0.46 RMSE 0.27 Colour coding: Dark blue = 15 percentage point decrease or greater; Light blue = 5 to less than 15 percentage point decrease; Light red = 5 to less than 15 percentage point increase; Dark red = 15 percentage point increase or greater; Significance: * = p < 0.05; ** = p < 0.01; *** = p < 0.001

9.2.5 Middle

Table A.5 Average Marginal Effects for Multinomial Model Predicting Current Tenure Outcomes for Middle Age Group

Variables		Owner i mortga	-	Owner v mortga	-	Renter in private rental		Renter in so and affordal housing	
Predictor Variables Housing History Variables									
Previous Housing Tenure (Ref: Owned)	Lived there rent free Privately rented	0.0050	*** ***	-0.0757 -0.0790 -0.0952	*** ***	0.0693 0.1453 0.0695	*** ***	0.0245 0.0226 0.1137	*** ***
Length of time in current dwelling	Rented in social & affordable housing 2 years to less than 5 years ago 35 years to less than 10 years ago	-0.0880 -0.0163 -0.0024		0.0495	***	-0.0391 -0.1181	***	0.0060	
(Ref: Less than 2 years ago)	10 or more years ago or always lived here	0.1512	***	0.0210		-0.1850	***	0.0128	**
Moved for housing reasons (Ref: No)	Yes	0.0109		0.0828	***	-0.1017	***	0.0080	*
Moved for family reasons (Ref: No)	Yes	-0.0022		0.0215	**	-0.0231	***	0.0039	
Moved for work reasons (Ref: No Moved for other reasons (Ref:)Yes Yes	0.0001 0.0028		-0.0196 -0.0272	*	0.0419 -0.0023	***	-0.0225 0.0267	***
No) Moved for forced reasons (Ref: No)	Yes	-0.0887	***	-0.0045		0.0839	***	0.0093	
Interaction Variables Socioeconomic Variables									
	Second Quintile	-0.1702	***	0.2487	***	0.0567	***	-0.1272	***
ncome Quintiles (Ref: First	Third Quintile	-0.2415	***	0.3504	***	-0.0015		-0.1475	***
Quintile)	Fourth Quintile	0.2455	***	0.4598	***	-0.0429	**	-0.1669	***
	Fifth Quintile	-0.2369	***	0.4951	***	-0.0954	***	-0.1627	***
Health and Wellbeing Health Status (Ref: Health rated excellent, very good or good) Controls	Health rated fair or poor	0.0003		-0.0176		0.0046		0.0128	***
Housing Variables	Apartment building less than 5 stories	-0.0262		0.0547	**	-0.0112		-0.0173	*
Current Dwelling Type (Ref:	Rowhouse or townhouse	0.0241		0.1768	***	-0.2203	***	0.0194	*
Apartment building 5 stories and	Semidetached or duplex		***		***	-0.2087	***	-0.0582	***
higher)	Single detached dwelling	0.1359	***	0.3132	***	-0.3672	***	-0.0819	***
Unaffordable (Ref: No)	Yes	-0.2003	***	0.2892	***	-0.0377	***	-0.0512	***
Unsuitable (overcrowded) (Ref: No)	Yes	-0.0493	**	-0.0102		0.0569	***	0.0026	
nadequate (major repairs needed) (Ref: No)	Yes	-0.0145		0.0026		0.0153		-0.0033	
naccessible (needs adaptations) Ref: Does not need adaptations) <i>Geographic Variables</i>	·	-0.0395 0.0449	*	0.0543 -0.0389	*	-0.0323 -0.0474	**	0.0175 0.0414	* ***
Jrban/Rural Status (Ref: Rural)	Urban In same	0.0091		0.0295	***	-0.0109		-0.0277	***
Ref: In different city/town, ndian reserve or outside Canada)	city/town/village/township/Indian	0.0003		-0.0135		0.0042		0.0090	**
	Alberta	-0.0015		0.0062		-0.0010		-0.0037	
	Atlantic	010100	***	0.0458	***	0.0106		-0.0115	*
Province (Ref: Ontario)	BC	0.0131	*	-0.0069	ىلەر بار بىلە	-0.0041		-0.0021	
	Manitoba and Saskatchewan	-0.0221	*	0.0370	***	-0.0199	*	0.0050	
Sociadamagraphic Variables	Québec	-0.0646	***	0.0663	***	-0.0111		0.0094	
<i>Sociodemographic Variables</i> Gender (Ref: Female)	Male	-0.0144	**	0.0156	*	0.0052		-0.0064	*
	one census family plus others		***	0.1045	***	0.0032		0.0181	
Household Composition (Ref: one	one couple with children		***	0.0784	***	-0.0340	***	0.0566	***
couple no children)	one lone parent family		***	0.0574	***	-0.0187		0.0672	***

Variables		Owner mortga		Owner w mortga		Rente priva renta	te	Renter in and affor housir	dable ng
	one person not in census family two or more persons not in a census family	-0.0687 -0.0778	***	0.0704 -0.0004	***	-0.0268 0.0659	*** ***	0.0251 0.0123	***
Household Indigeneity Status (Ref: No household member is Indigenous)	At least one household member is Indigenous	-0.0532	***	0.0245		0.0112		0.0176	*
Household Visible Minority Status (Ref: No household member belongs to a visible minority group)	s At least 1 hhld member belongs to a visible minority group	0.0126		-0.0097		-0.0380	***	0.0350	***
Socioeconomic Variables Household Highest Education Level (Ref: BA or higher)	Less than BA	-0.0501	***	0.0049		0.0298	***	0.0154	***
Household Employment Status (Ref: At least one member of the household was employed)	No member of the household was employed	0.1491	***	-0.1641	***	-0.0404	***	0.0554	***
Aspirations Overall dwelling satisfaction (Ref: Dissatisfied or very dissatisfied)	Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied Satisfied Very satisfied	0.0011 0.0096 0.0282		0.0019 0.0209 0.0105		-0.0023 -0.0252 -0.0438	*	-0.0007 -0.0053 0.0050	

Model Performance: AIC: 23660.41 BIC: 24725.63 R2: 0.43 R2 Adjusted 0.43 RMSE 0.32

Colour coding: Dark blue = 15 percentage point decrease or greater; Light blue = 5 to less than 15 percentage point decrease; Light red = 5 to less than 15 percentage point increase; Dark red = 15 percentage point increase or greater; Significance: * = p < 0.05; ** = p < 0.01; *** = p < 0.001

9.2.6 Oldest

Table A.6 Average Marginal Effects for Multinomial Model Predicting Current Tenure Outcomes for Oldest Group

Variables		Owner mortga			Owner with mortgage		er in Renter in ate and affo tal hous		ordable	
Predictor Variables Housing History Variables										
Previous Housing Tenure (Ref: Owned)	Lived there rent free Privately rented Rented in social & affordable housing	-0.0509 -0.1330 -0.1325	*** ***	-0.0328 -0.0112 -0.0269	** *	0.0046 0.0824 -0.0457	*** **	0.0792 0.0618 0.2051	*** *** ***	
Length of time in current dwelling (Ref: Less than 2 years ago)	10 or more years ago or always lived	0.0233 0.0347 0.1733	** ***	0.0083 0.0263 -0.0154	*	-0.0405 -0.0843 -0.1555	*** ***	0.0089 0.0233 -0.0024	***	
Moved for housing reasons (Ref: No)	here Yes	0.0128	*	0.0208	***	-0.0529	***	0.0193	***	
Moved for family reasons (Ref: No)	Yes	-0.0189	***	0.0105	*	0.0096		-0.0012		
Moved for work reasons (Ref: No) Moved for other reasons (Ref:	Yes	-0.0111		0.0044		0.0370	***	-0.0302	***	
No)	Yes	-0.0154	*	-0.0220	***	0.0011		0.0363	***	
Moved for forced reasons (Ref: No)	Yes	-0.0828	***	-0.0292	*	0.0833	***	0.0286	***	
Interaction Variables Socioeconomic Variables									_	
	Second Quintile	-0.0449	***	0.1026	***	0.1218	***	-0.1796	***	
Income Quintiles (Ref: First	Third Quintile	-0.0454	***	0.1372	***	0.1176	***	-0.2094	***	
Quintile)	Fourth Quintile	-0.0434	***	0.1947	***	0.0600	***	-0.2113	***	
Health and Wellbeing	Fifth Quintile	-0.0120		0.2038	***	0.0415	*	-0.2334	***	
Health Status (Ref: Health rated excellent, very good or good) Controls Housing Variables	Health rated fair or poor	-0.0228	***	0.0056		-0.0132	*	0.0304	***	
nousing variables	Apartment building less than 5 stories	0.0198	*	0.0347	***	-0.0183		-0.0363	***	
Current Dwelling Type (Ref:	Rowhouse or townhouse	0.1185	***	0.0969	***	-0.1670	***	-0.0485	***	
Apartment building 5 stories and	Semidetached or duplex	0.2144	***	0.1277	***	-0.1690	***	-0.1731	***	
higher)	Single detached dwelling	0.2144	***	0.1277	***	-0.3620	***	-0.2292	***	
Unaffordable (Ref: No)	Yes	-0.3348	***	0.3034	***	0.1184	***	-0.0870	***	
Unsuitable (overcrowded) (Ref:	les	-0.3340		0.3034		0.1104		-0.0870		
No)	Yes	-0.0590		0.0164		0.0646		-0.0220		
Inadequate (major repairs needed) (Ref: No)	Yes	-0.0145		0.0437	***	-0.0062		-0.0229	**	
Inaccessible (needs adaptations) (Ref: Does not need adaptations)	Does not have adaptations Has adaptations	0.0031 -0.0027		0.0253 0.0039		-0.0417 -0.0423	** ***	0.0132 0.0412	***	
Geographic Variables Urban/Rural Status (Ref: Rural)	Urban	0.0456	***	0.0189	***	-0.0040		-0.0605	***	
Location of previous dwelling (Ref: In different city/town,	In same city/town/village/township/Indian	-0.0018		-0.0124	**	0.0132	*	0.0010		
Indian reserve or outside Canada)	Alberta	0.0164		0.0134		-0.0853	***	0.0555	***	
	Atlantic	-0.0496	***	0.0191	**	0.0323	***	-0.0018		
Province (Ref: Ontario)	BC	0.0343	***	0.0180	*	-0.0779	***	0.0256	***	
	Manitoba and Saskatchewan	-0.0044	***	0.0094	***	-0.0213	*	0.0163	*	
Contrademonts to Maria 11	Québec	-0.0706	~ ~ *	0.0554	***	0.0166		-0.0014		
Sociodemographic Variables	D.A.J.	0.0455	**	0.0042		0.0007		0.0046		
Gender (Ref: Female)	Male	-0.0155	**	0.0042	***	0.0067	ىد	0.0046	ىد	
Household Composition (Ref: one	one census family plus others	-0.0918	***	0.0554	***	-0.0978	*	0.1342	*	
couple no children)	one couple with children	-0.0718	***	0.0306	***	-0.0633	*	0.1045	***	
·····	one lone parent family	-0.0334	**	0.0046		-0.0217		0.0505	**	

Variables		Owner mortga		Owner w mortga		Renter priva renta	te	Renter in and affor housir	dable ng
	one person not in census family two or more persons not in a census family	-0.0187 -0.0790	** ***	-0.0026 0.0483	**	-0.0411 0.0533	***	0.0624 -0.0226	***
Household Indigeneity Status (Ref: No household member is Indigenous)	At least one household member is Indigenous	-0.0249		0.0176		-0.0143		0.0217	
Household Visible Minority Status (Ref: No household member belongs to a visible minority group) Socioeconomic Variables	s At least 1 hhld member belongs to a visible minority group	0.0114		0.0205	*	-0.0714	***	0.0395	***
Household Highest Education Level (Ref: BA or higher)	Less than BA	-0.0539	***	0.0043		0.0104		0.0391	***
Household Employment Status (Ref: At least one member of the household was employed)	No member of the household was employed	0.0968	***	-0.0910	***	-0.0663	***	0.0605	***
Aspirations Overall dwelling satisfaction (Ref: Dissatisfied or very dissatisfied)	Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied Satisfied Very satisfied	0.0005 0.0039 0.0163		0.0163 0.0333 0.0307	** **	0.0061 -0.0283 -0.0434	*	-0.0229 -0.0089 -0.0036	*

Model Performance: AIC: 30864.97 BIC: 31968.58 R2: 0.47 R2 Adjusted 0.47 RMSE 0.32

Colour coding: Dark blue = 15 percentage point decrease or greater; Light blue = 5 to less than 15 percentage point decrease; Light red = 5 to less than 15 percentage point increase; Dark red = 15 percentage point increase or greater; Significance: * = p < 0.05; ** = p < 0.01; *** = p < 0.001

A.3 Health Status

9.2.7 Health rated excellent, very good or good

Table A.7 Average Marginal Effects for Multinomial Model Predicting Current Tenure Outcomes Where Health Rated Excellent, Very Good or Good

Variables		Owner no mortgage		Owner with mortgage		Renter in private rental		Renter in social and affordable housing	
Predictor Variables Housing History Variables									
Previous Housing Tenure (Ref: Owned)	Lived there rent free Privately rented Rented in social & affordable housing	-0.0148 -0.0883 -0.0829	* *** ***	0.0040	*** *** ***	0.0366 0.1289 0.0258	*** *** *	0.0363 0.0344 0.1411	*** *** ***
Length of time in current dwelling (Ref: Less than 2 years ago)	2 years to less than 5 years ago g5 years to less than 10 years ago 10 or more years ago or always lived here	0.0053 0.0194 0.1464	*** ***	0.0405 0.0832 0.0379	***	-0.0524 -0.1177 -0.1850	*** ***	0.0065 0.0151 0.0007	***
Moved for housing reasons (Ref: No)	Yes	0.0117	**	0.0756	***	-0.0957	***	0.0084	***
Moved for family reasons (Ref: No)	Yes	-0.0074	*	0.0205	***	-0.0123	**	-0.0007	
Moved for work reasons (Ref: No Moved for other reasons (Ref:		-0.0084 0.0011		-0.0176	** ***	0.0458	***	-0.0198	***
No) Moved for forced reasons (Ref:	Yes	-0.0514	***	-0.0342	***	0.0105	***	0.0226 0.0168	***
No) Interaction Variables Socioeconomic Variables		-0.0514		-0.0+33		0.0805		0.0108	
Income Quintiles (Ref: First	Second Quintile Third Quintile	-0.0850 -0.1089	*** ***	0.2002	*** ***	0.0426 -0.0044	***	-0.1346 -0.1560	*** ***
Quintile)	Fourth Quintile Fifth Quintile	-0.1142 -0.0972	*** ***	0.5505	*** ***	-0.0566 -0.1104	*** ***	-0.1661 -0.1678	***
Sociodemographic Variables Age (mean centered) Age (mean centered) squared Controls Housing Variables	dY/dX dY/dX	0.0063 -0.0001	***	-0.0067 -0.0001	*** ***	-0.0002 0.0001	***	0.0005 -0.0000	*** **
Current Dwelling Type (Ref:	Apartment building less than 5 stories	-0.0030		0.0413	***	-0.0175	*	-0.0209	***
Apartment building 5 stories and higher)	Rowhouse or townhouse Semidetached or duplex	0.0602 0.1039	*** ***	0.1883	*** ***	-0.2081 -0.2041	*** ***	-0.0174 -0.0882	** ***
Unaffordable (Ref: No)	Single detached dwelling Yes	0.2150 -0.2327	*** ***	0.2940 0.2827	*** ***	-0.3966 0.0020	***	-0.1124 -0.0519	***
Unsuitable (overcrowded) (Ref: No)	Yes	-0.0509	***	-0.0137		0.0684	***	-0.0038	
Inadequate (major repairs needed) (Ref: No)	Yes	-0.0159	*	0.0144		0.0057		-0.0043	
Inaccessible (needs adaptations) (Ref: Does not need adaptations) Geographic Variables	Does not have adaptations Has adaptations	-0.0104 -0.0079		0.0228 0.0192		-0.0174 -0.0421	***	0.0051 0.0309	***
Urban/Rural Status (Ref: Rural) Location of previous dwelling	Urban In same	0.0187	***	0.0293	***	-0.0123	**	-0.0357	***
(Ref: In different city/town, Indian reserve or outside Canada	city/town/village/township/Indian) reserve	-0.0016		-0.0102	*	0.0078		0.0041	
	Alberta Atlantic	0.0109 -0.0386	***	0.0066 0.0300	***	-0.0391 0.0157	***	0.0216 -0.0071	***
Province (Ref: Ontario)	BC Manitoba and Saskatchewan	0.0269	***	0.0027	***	-0.0403 -0.0174	***	0.0107	**
Sociodemographic Variables Gender (Ref: Female)	Québec Male	-0.0516	***	0.0601	***	-0.0103 0.0032		0.0018	
	one census family plus others	-0.0896	***	0.0500	***	-0.0284	*	0.0681	***

Variables		Owner no mortgage		Owner with mortgage		Renter in private rental		Renter in social and affordable housing	
	one couple with children	-0.0597	***	0.0215	***	-0.0406	***	0.0788	***
Household Composition (Ref: one	one lone parent family	-0.0583	***	0.0063		-0.0422	***	0.0942	***
	one person not in census family	-0.0323	***	0.0310	***	-0.0239	***	0.0252	***
couple no children)	two or more persons not in a census family	-0.0580	***	-0.0208		0.0801	***	-0.0014	
Household Indigeneity Status (Ref: No household member is Indigenous)	At least one household member is Indigenous	-0.0321	***	0.0026		0.0047		0.0248	***
Household Visible Minority Status									
(Ref: No household member belongs to a visible minority group)	At least 1 hhld member belongs to a visible minority group	0.0126	*	-0.0063		-0.0384	***	0.0322	***
Socioeconomic Variables									
Household Highest Education Level (Ref: BA or higher)	Less than BA	-0.0465	***	0.0032		0.0204	***	0.0229	***
Household Employment Status (Ref: At least one member of the household was employed)	No member of the household was employed	0.0810	***	-0.0848	***	-0.0410	***	0.0448	***
Aspirations									
Overall dwelling satisfaction (Ref:	Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied	0.0076		0.0077		-0.0078		-0.0075	
	Satisfied	0.0141	**	0.0300	***	-0.0382	***	-0.0059	
Dissatisfied or very dissatisfied)	Very satisfied	0.0261	***	0.0298	**	-0.0563	***	0.0004	

Model Performance: AIC: 54673.19 BIC: 55889.31 R2: 0.49 R2 Adjusted 0.49 RMSE 0.31 Colour coding: Dark blue = 15 percentage point decrease or greater; Light blue = 5 to less than 15 percentage point decrease; Light red = 5 to less than 15 percentage point increase; Dark red = 15 percentage point increase or greater; Significance: * = p < 0.05; ** = p < 0.01; *** = p < 0.001

9.2.8 Health rated fair or poor

Table A.8 Average Marginal Effects for Multinomial Model Predicting Current Tenure Outcomes Where Health Rated Fair or Poor

Variables		Owner no mortgage		Owner with mortgage		Renter in private rental		Renter in social and affordable housing	
Predictor Variables Housing History Variables									
Previous Housing Tenure (Ref: Owned)	Lived there rent free Privately rented Rented in social & affordable housing	-0.0497 -0.1121 -0.0955	*** ***	-0.0459 -0.0669 -0.1105	** *** ***	0.0128 0.1180 -0.0387	***	0.0827 0.0610 0.2447	*** ***
Length of time in current dwelling (Ref: Less than 2 years ago)	2 years to less than 5 years ago	0.0056 0.0215	**	0.0416	*** ***	-0.0711 -0.1176	***	0.0239 0.0331	*
Moved for housing reasons (Ref:	here	0.1017	***	0.0763	***	-0.2068	***	0.0288	*
No) Moved for family reasons (Ref:	Yes	-0.0006	*	0.0496	*	-0.0815	***	0.0326	
No) Moved for work reasons (Ref: No	Yes	-0.0142 -0.0048	4	0.0176 -0.0012	Ŧ	-0.0148 0.0610	***	0.0114 -0.0549	***
Moved for other reasons (Ref: No)	Yes	-0.0196	*	-0.0145		-0.0084		0.0425	***
Moved for forced reasons (Ref: No)	Yes	-0.0899	***	-0.0012		0.0781	***	0.0130	
Interaction Variables Socioeconomic Variables							•		
	Second Quintile	-0.0438	***	0.1119	***	0.1462	***	-0.2142	***
ncome Quintiles (Ref: First	Third Quintile	-0.0303	***	0.1733	***	0.1378	***	-0.2808	***
luintile)	Fourth Quintile	-0.0468	***	0.2379	***	0.0980	***	-0.2891	***
	Fifth Quintile	-0.0428	***	0.2763	***	0.0759	**	-0.3094	***
Sociodemographic Variables									
Age (mean centered)	dY/dX	0.0038	***	-0.0036	***	-0.0010	*	0.0008	*
Age (mean centered) squared Controls Housing Variables	dY/dX	-0.0000		-0.0000		0.0001	***	-0.0001	***
-	Apartment building less than 5 stories	0.0065		0.0284	**	0.0057		-0.0407	**
Current Dwelling Type (Ref:	Rowhouse or townhouse	0.0456	***	0.1002	***	-0.1667	***	0.0209	
Apartment building 5 stories and	Semidetached or duplex	0.1515	***	0.1394	***	-0.1016	***	-0.1893	***
nigher)	Single detached dwelling	0.3067	***	0.2405	***	-0.2594	***	-0.2877	***
Inaffordable (Ref: No)	Yes	-0.1707	***	0.1871	***	0.1210	***	-0.1374	***
Insuitable (overcrowded) (Ref: Io)	Yes	-0.0024		-0.0488	**	0.1047	**	-0.0536	*
nadequate (major repairs needed) (Ref: No)	Yes	0.0069		0.0114		0.0074		-0.0257	*
Inaccessible (needs adaptations) (Ref: Does not need adaptations)	Does not have adaptations Has adaptations	-0.0113 0.0146		0.0333 -0.0124	*	-0.0521 -0.0610	** ***	0.0302 0.0588	*
Geographic Variables Irban/Rural Status (Ref: Rural)	Urban	0.0379	***	0.0135		0.0254	*	-0.0768	***
	In same city/town/village/township/Indian	0.0006		-0.0225	**	0.0129		0.0090	
ndian reserve or outside Canada)	Alberta	-0.0124		0.0130		-0.0345	*	0.0339	*
	Atlantic	-0.0124	***	0.0130		0.0418	**	-0.0191	
Province (Ref: Ontario)	BC	0.0117		0.0124		-0.0418	**	0.0108	
	Manitoba and Saskatchewan	-0.0117		0.0157	*	-0.0422	**	0.0108	**
	Québec	-0.0621	***	0.0250	**	0.0246		0.0014	
Sociodemographic Variables									
Gender (Ref: Female)	Male	-0.0022	4.2.2	0.0014		0.0099		-0.0091	
lousehold Composition (Ref: one	one census family plus others	-0.0545	***	0.0075		-0.0054		0.0524	
couple no children)	one couple with children	-0.0569	***	0.0008		-0.1326	***	0.1886	***
	one lone parent family	-0.0246	*	-0.0259	*	-0.1422	***	0.1927	***

Variables			Owner no mortgage		Owner with mortgage		r in te al	Renter in social and affordable housing	
	one person not in census family two or more persons not in a census family	-0.0059 -0.0310	*	-0.0014 -0.0203		-0.1034 0.0721	***	0.1108 -0.0209	***
Household Indigeneity Status (Ref: No household member is Indigenous)	At least one household member is Indigenous	-0.0167		-0.0181		0.0243		0.0106	
Household Visible Minority Status (Ref: No household member belongs to a visible minority group)	5 At least 1 hhld member belongs to a visible minority group	0.0258	*	-0.0000		-0.0937	***	0.0679	***
Socioeconomic Variables Household Highest Education Level (Ref: BA or higher)	Less than BA	-0.0341	***	-0.0254	**	0.0132		0.0463	***
Household Employment Status (Ref: At least one member of the household was employed)	No member of the household was employed	0.0504	***	-0.0538	***	-0.1073	***	0.1107	***
Aspirations Overall dwelling satisfaction (Ref: Dissatisfied or very dissatisfied)	Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied Satisfied Very satisfied	0.0031 -0.0011 0.0023		0.0108 0.0268 0.0192	*	0.0153 -0.0169 -0.0154		-0.0292 -0.0088 -0.0062	*

Model Performance: AIC: 11454.57 BIC: 12443.18 R2: 0.49 R2 Adjusted 0.49 RMSE 0.31

Colour coding: Dark blue = 15 percentage point decrease or greater; Light blue = 5 to less than 15 percentage point decrease; Light red = 5 to less than 15 percentage point increase; Dark red = 15 percentage point increase or greater; Significance: * = p < 0.05; ** = p < 0.01; *** = p < 0.001